Laser Processing and Rapid Thermal Annealing of

High-Efficiency c-Si Photovoltaic Devices

A Ph.D. thesis dissertation

presented to the faculty advisory committee

at the School of Engineering and Applied Science of the

University of Virginia

In partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Charles L. Brown Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering

By

Arpan Sinha

December 2023

Copyright © 2023 Arpan Sinha

All Rights Reserved.

APPROVAL SHEET

This Ph.D. dissertation is submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy (Electrical and Computer Engineering)

Arpan Sinha

This Ph.D. dissertation has been read and approved by the Examining Committee:

Professor Mool C. Gupta, Advisor (ECE)

Professor Jon F. Ihlefeld, Committee Chair (ECE & MSE)

Professor Andreas Beling (ECE)

Professor Avik Ghosh (ECE & Physics)

Professor Kyusang Lee (ECE & MSE)

Accepted for the School of Engineering and Applied Science:

Professor Jennifer West, Dean, School of Engineering and Applied Science

December 2023

To

My parents, Alokesh and Sanchita Sinha

and

ParaBrahman

'All this is Brahman. Everything comes from Brahman, everything goes back to Brahman, and everything is sustained by Brahman. One should therefore quietly meditate on Brahman.' Chandogya Upanishad 3.14.1

Acknowledgments

I am grateful to my advisor, Professor Mool C. Gupta, who has inspired me to strive for excellence, guided me at every step to achieve my goals, and helped me to build my academic career. Through his guidance and support, I had the opportunity to pursue quality research and learned to address any problem with a strict research temperament.

I would also like to thank my committee: Professor Jon F. Ihlefeld for serving as my committee chair as well as training me in atomic layer deposition; Professor Andreas Beling for all the fruitful discussions on my research and future academic career; Professor Kyusang Lee, for enlightening me with the thin-film optoelectronics; and Professor Avik Ghosh, for your unique and captivating pedagogy style in nanoelectronics and quantum mechanics, guidance and moral support during every critical moment. Your collective contributions have made a significant impact on my academic and research journey.

I acknowledge the support and funding of the NASA Langley Professor Program, NSF I/UCRC program grant No. 1338917, NSF ECCS grant No. 2005098, and DOE award No. DE-EE0007534. I would also like to thank my inter-university collaborators and colleagues: Professor Steven Hegedus, Prof. Ujjwal Das, Dr. Kevin Dobson, and Dr. Anishkumar Soman at IEC, UDel; Professor Ajeet Rohatgi, Sagnik and Jake at Georgia Tech and Dr. Berhanu Bulcha at NASA Goddard Space Flight Center.

I would like to extend thanks to the staff and administrators who answered my questions, supported me, and endured my shenanigans throughout my graduate experience: Richard, Dr. Cathy Dukes, Alex Lobo, Joe Beatrice, and Nick of the NMCF and IFAB Cleanroom. I would like to give a special thanks to Beth and Crystal of UVA ECE Dept., who were always there for moral support and help. Thank you for your guidance and helping me with the impossible.

In addition, my gratitude extends to my friends and colleagues who have helped me along the way: Elisa, Alan, Kai, Moon, Tushar, Joel, Chris Duska, Toriqul, Raju, Pawan, Anil, Anustup, Mahantesh, and Abhishek for their companionship and fruitful discussions throughout my time at UVA. My special gratitude goes to George and Vinay for being true and reliable friends.

A thankful note does not suffice when it comes to my parents, Alokesh and Sanchita Sinha, who gave their unwavering support, infinite love, sacrifice, and encouragement. Thank you to my grandparents and all my family members. This whole journey has been an ode to my life for providing me with all the opportunities, achievements, failures, and extraordinary circumstances which have made me more deserving than ever. I devote everything I have and I will to Shri Lakshmi.

Abstract

Recent developments in the c-Si photovoltaic (PV) solar cells based on inter-digitated back-contact heterojunctions (IBC-HJ) and carrier selective layers have resulted in record power conversion efficiencies. Multiple photolithography steps, high-temperature masked deposition, and furnace annealing are employed to fabricate these high-efficiency devices. Unfortunately, such conventional methods increase the thermal budget and technical complexity, affecting the levelized cost.

This thesis describes a comprehensive scientific investigation of laser processing and rapid thermal annealing (RTA) in improving solar cell device performance and circumventing the limitations of conventional fabrication methods. Different materials, optical, and electrical characterization techniques were employed to support the scientific investigations.

This work has investigated: (1) the selective laser ablation of top sacrificial a-Si:H layers without damaging underneath the passivation layer in IBC-HJ solar cell, (2) the use of RTA under different temperatures and atmosphere for B-doped p-TOPCon solar cell fabrication, (3) the effects of RTA thermal and cooling cycles on the passivation quality in B-doped p-TOPCon solar cells, (4) the thermal annealing behavior of transition metal oxide based PV devices, and (5) the use of laser heat for selective KOH etching of Si without any laser-induced damages.

The main results are (1) the achievement of high carrier lifetime and open circuit voltage after optimized nanosecond pulsed laser ablation, (2) the use of Essential MacLeod simulated color charts to determine the laser ablation depth accurately, (3) the effect of RTA treatment on the reduction in the hydrogen-induced blister formation, enhancement of the passivation quality, increased dopant activation and effect of SiN_x capping layer on B-doped p-TOPCon PV devices,

(4) Optimized longer cooling times to achieve good passivation quality and dopant activation in B-doped p-TOPCon solar cells, (5) the optimization of ALD Al_2O_3 , TiO_x and PVD MoOx and successful laser annealing to fabricate bifacial TMO-based CSPC solar cells, and (6) the feasibility of selective laser-assisted chemical etching using a μ s-pulsed laser to create patterns on Si surface without any laser-induced defects and has potential applications in a wide variety of Si devices.

This work shows the successful implementation and limitations of laser processing and RTA in fabricating high-efficiency silicon photovoltaic devices. A fundamental understanding of the laser material interaction and RTA in high-efficiency silicon photovoltaic devices is provided. Both IBC-HJ and TOPCon c-Si devices are expected to dominate the future photovoltaic market, so the presented results will be helpful in the advancement of both technologies.

Table of contents

| APPROVAL SHEET3 |
|--|
| Acknowledgments 5 |
| Abstract7 |
| Table of contents9 |
| List of figures13 |
| List of tables22 |
| List of abbreviations24 |
| CHAPTER 1: Introduction and Motivations26 |
| CHAPTER 2: Theoretical background of the operation principles of Si solar cells and laser- |
| material interactions34 |
| 2.1. Silicon solar cells34 |
| 2.2. Interdigitated Back Contact Heterojunction (IBC-HJ) Si solar cells40 |
| 2.3. Carrier Selective Passivated Contacts (CSPC) Si solar cells41 |
| 2.4. The methodology of laser processing45 |
| CHAPTER 3: Literature Review49 |
| 3.1. Investigation of laser processing in the fabrication of IBC-HJ Si solar cells49 |
| 3.2. Investigation of the role of RTA in the fabrication of p-TOPCon Si solar cells51 |

| 3.3. Fabrication of dopant-free TMO-based bifacial CSPC Si solar cells | 55 |
|--|----------|
| 3.4. Investigation of laser heat-induced chemical etching (LHICE) of Si in KOH | 57 |
| CHAPTER 4: Laser processing of Interdigitated Back Contact Heterojunction (IB | C-HJ) Si |
| Solar cells | 62 |
| 4.1. Experimental | 63 |
| A. Fabrication of IBC-HJ Si Solar cells | 63 |
| B. Laser parameter optimization | 65 |
| 4.2. Results and discussion | 69 |
| A. Passivation quality characterization | 70 |
| B. Optical characterization | 72 |
| C. Surface topology and cross-sectional morphology characterization | 76 |
| D. Surface elemental and chemical characterization | 78 |
| E. Comparison with lithography patterned devices | 83 |
| 4.3. Conclusion | 84 |
| CHAPTER 5: Rapid Thermal Annealing (RTA) of p-TOPCon Si Solar cells | 86 |
| 5.1. Experimental | 86 |
| A. Fabrication of the p-TOPCon test structure | 86 |
| B. Characterization techniques | 92 |
| 5.2. Results and discussion | 94 |
| A. Study of the effects of RTA atmospheres | 94 |
| B. Effects of high-intensity light environment | 106 |
| C. Effect of RTA on SiN _x :H coated TOPCon structure | 108 |

| D. Effects of heating time theat | 112 |
|---|--------|
| E. Effects of holding time t _{hold} | 113 |
| F. Effects of cooling time t _{cool} | 114 |
| G. Optimization of RTA parameters | 115 |
| H. Effect of B-doped poly-Si layer on passivation quality | 116 |
| I. Effects of pulsed RTA processing | 118 |
| 5.3. Conclusion | 119 |
| CHAPTER 6: Fabrication of dopant-free bifacial TMO-based CSPC Si solar cells | 122 |
| 6.1. Experimental | 122 |
| A. Fabrication of the TMO CSPC test structure and characterization | 122 |
| 6.2. Results and discussions | 125 |
| A. Optimization of pre-ALD HF treatment of Si wafers | 125 |
| B. Optimization of ALD Al ₂ O ₃ layers | 126 |
| C. Optimization of ALD TiO _x as electron transport layer (ETL) | 128 |
| D. Investigation of the effects of the deposition of MoO_x as a hole transport layer (HT) | L) 132 |
| E. Comparison with laser annealing methodology | 133 |
| F. Comparison with SiO _x as the passivation layer | 135 |
| G. Comparison of iV_{OC} performances between test devices and literature | 136 |
| 6.3. Conclusion | 137 |
| CHAPTER 7: Conclusion and Future Work | 139 |
| Appendix A: Additional work on laser processing and solar cells | 146 |

| A1. Microscale patterning of semiconductor c-Si by selective laser-heating in | duced KOH |
|--|--------------|
| etching | 146 |
| A1.1. Experimental | 147 |
| I. Laser processing setup | 147 |
| A1.2. Results and discussion | 149 |
| I. Influence of laser processing parameters, surfactant, and solution stirring | 149 |
| II. QSSPCD carrier lifetime characterization of semiconductor c-Si | 156 |
| III. Modelling and simulation for wavelength and power optimizations | 158 |
| IV. Direct applicability of LHICE process to diverse semiconductor device fabr | ication 161 |
| A1.3. Conclusion | 164 |
| A2. NASA Terahertz Heterodyne Spectrometer for In-Situ Resource Utilization | n (THSiRU) |
| Project | 167 |
| A3. 2018 NASA Big Idea Challenge Competition | 168 |
| References | 169 |
| List of peer-reviewed journal publications, conference proceedings and techn | ical reports |
| | 202 |
| Collection of published works | 205 |

List of figures

| Fig. 1. 1. | Data from the Global Carbon Budget 2022 shows the Global CO ₂ emission | |
|------------|---|----|
| | from fossil fuels. (Reproduced from ref. [1] with permission of the | |
| | Copernicus Publications, Earth System Science Data, and Our World in | |
| | Data) | 26 |
| Fig. 1. 2. | Data from IEA 2023 shows the increasing dominance of solar PV | |
| | technology over all other energy resources. (Reproduced from ref. [4] with | |
| | permission of the IEA, under creative commons attribution License: [CC | |
| | by 4.0]) | 27 |
| Fig. 1. 3. | Data from NREL shows the R&D timeline of global solar PV technology | |
| | to date. (Reproduced from ref. [10] with permission of the NREL) | 30 |
| Fig. 2. 1. | Schematic diagram of the photogeneration of $e^{-}h^{+}$ pair due to a single light | |
| | photon followed by separation and extraction of e^-h^+ pair | 34 |
| Fig. 2. 2. | The current-voltage (I-V) characteristics of a non-ideal solar cell under light | |
| | exposure | 35 |
| Fig. 2. 3. | Schematic diagram of the unpassivated surface dangling bonds, passivated | |
| | surface bonds, and hydrogenated surface on a c-Si substrate | 37 |
| Fig. 2. 4. | (a) Setup and (b) block diagram of Sinton lifetime tester to measure | |
| | minority carrier lifetime and iV _{OC} . | 38 |
| Fig. 2. 5. | Energy band diagram of SHJ on (n)c-Si (Reproduced from ref. [22], with | |
| | the Copyright © 2013, IEEE JPV) | 41 |
| | | |

| Fig. 2. 6. | Energy band diagram of SHJ on (n)c-Si (Reproduced from ref. [17] with | |
|-------------|---|----|
| | the permission of Springer Link) | 42 |
| Fig. 2. 7. | Schematic energy band diagram of (a) n^+ poly-Si/SiO _x /c-Si and (b) p^+ poly- | |
| | Si/SiOx/c-Si POLO contacts (Reproduced from ref. [29], with the | |
| | permission of MDPI Photonics) | 43 |
| Fig. 2. 8. | Schematic energy band diagram of the charge separation and transport in a | |
| | CSPC Si solar cell using ESL and HSL (Reproduced from ref. [17], with | |
| | the permission of Springer Link) | 44 |
| Fig. 2. 9. | Schematic diagram of a laser processing experimental setup | 45 |
| Fig. 2. 10. | Schematic diagram of the focused laser beam on the thin film-coated c-Si | |
| | substrate | 46 |
| Fig. 4. 1. | Schematic diagram of laser processing steps comprising of (a) starting IBC- | |
| | HJ test device structure before direct laser ablation, (b) after laser ablation | |
| | of top sacrificial a-Si:H layers, and (c) after chemical etching of underlying | |
| | SiN _x layer | 63 |
| Fig. 4. 2. | Schematic diagram of the rear side of the laser patterned samples (top | |
| | view) | 66 |
| Fig. 4. 3. | The white calibration disc used for white-balancing the optical microscope | |
| | before any optical experiments conducted | 68 |
| Fig. 4. 4. | μ -PL data for different laser fluence ablations. Each of the measurements | |
| | was an average of over 20 scans | 70 |
| Fig. 4. 5. | Peak μ -PL intensity and $\Delta i V_{OC}$ versus laser fluence | 71 |

| Fig. 4. 6. | Optical images of different laser processed regions at different laser | |
|-------------|--|----|
| | fluences (a) 0.254 J/cm^2 , (b) 0.427 J/cm^2 , (c) 0.439 J/cm^2 , (d) 0.595 J/cm^2 , | |
| | (e) 0.783 J/cm^2 , (f) 1.01 J/cm^2 and (g) 1.27 J/cm^2 . All the pictures were | |
| | taken with a scale of 30 μm | 72 |
| Fig. 4. 7. | Optical constants n, k vs. wavelength (nm) curve of the IBC-HJ test | |
| | structure | 73 |
| Fig. 4. 8. | Normalized reflectance versus wavelength (nm) curve for IBC-HJ test | |
| | structure | 74 |
| Fig. 4. 9. | Simulated colors for test structures (a) before any laser ablation, (b) after | |
| | laser-ablation of sacrificial layers which expose SiN_x layer, and (c) | |
| | underlying c-Si exposed due to the higher laser fluence, and (d) to (f) their | |
| | respective optical images of IBC-HJ test structure | 75 |
| Fig. 4. 10. | Top-view SEM images of ablations at different laser fluences of (a) | |
| | 0.254 J/cm^2 , (b) 0.427 J/cm^2 , (c) 0.439 J/cm^2 , (d) 0.595 J/cm^2 , (e) | |
| | 0.783 J/cm ² , (f) 1.01 J/cm ² and (g) 1.27 J/cm ² | 76 |
| Fig. 4. 11. | FIB-SEM image of the cross-section at the edge of an ablated spot at the | |
| | fluence 0.254 J/cm ² | 76 |
| Fig. 4. 12. | Line-map EDS spectra for N K α 1 at different laser fluences of (a) | |
| | 0.254 J/cm^2 , (b) 0.427 J/cm^2 (c) 0.595 J/cm^2 , and (d) 1.01 J/cm^2 . The green | |
| | spectrum denotes N (K α), and the red spectrum denotes Si (LI) | 78 |
| Fig. 4. 13. | (a) Raman spectra of underneath a-Si:H passivation layer undergoing | |
| | amorphous to polycrystalline phase under various laser fluences. (b) Raman | |
| | spectra of decreasing SiNx under different laser fluence conditions | 79 |

| Fig. 4. 14. | XPS Si(2p) spectra of (a) unablated, (b) 0.254 J/cm^2 , (c) 0.427 J/cm^2 , (d) | |
|-------------|--|----|
| | 0.595 J/cm ² , (e) 1.01 J/cm ² fluences and (f) N(1s) spectra of all the laser | |
| | fluences. The average measurement error across all elements was found to | |
| | be ~10.7% | 81 |
| Fig. 4. 15. | Cross-sectional SEM image of IBC device after laser exposure of | |
| | photoresist and selective chemical etching of top sacrificial a-Si:H and | |
| | SiN _x :H layers | 83 |
| Fig. 5. 1. | Schematic diagram of a fabricated TOPCon test structure fabricated at (a) | |
| | lower LPCVD temperature 530 °C and (b). higher LPCVD temperature of | |
| | 588 °C. The dotted a-SiN _x :H layers are considered when the test structure | |
| | is TOPCon/ SiNx:H | 87 |
| Fig. 5. 2. | Schematic diagram of the RTA temperature profile conducted for the first | |
| | set of test samples with lower temperature (530 °C) LPCVD poly-Si layer. | |
| | (Adapted from [87], with the permission of MDPI, Energies) | 89 |
| Fig. 5. 3. | Schematic diagram of the RTA temperature profile conducted for the | |
| | second set of test samples with higher temperature (588 °C) LPCVD poly- | |
| | Si layer | 90 |
| Fig. 5. 4. | Schematic diagram of the 5-pulses RTA temperature profile | 91 |
| Fig. 5. 5. | Top-view SEM images of (a) as-deposited sample, (b) blisters (black areas) | |
| | after RTA at 875 °C in air, and (c) blisters (black areas) after RTA at 875 | |
| | °C in N ₂ | 94 |

- Fig. 5. 6. Graph showing the dependence of iV_{OC} on the RTA temperatures. The data are given for RTA both in N₂ and air atmospheres. The graphs also show the iV_{OC} value for the sample without and after furnace annealing. ------
- Fig. 5. 7. (a) Qualitative dependence of peak PL intensity on the RTA temperatures for various annealing conditions. The iV_{OC} (in mV) numbers are provided on the graph, and (b) the dependence of iV_{OC} on the peak PL intensity. The data are given for RTA in N₂ and subsequent FGA only, and (c) PL intensity on and outside blister areas. ------ 97

96

| Fig. 5. 10. | Depth-profiling XPS spectra showing the atomic percentage profile of (a) | |
|-------------|---|-----|
| | air-annealed and (b) N2-annealed samples based on the atomic | |
| | concentrations of Si (2p), O (1s), C (1s), and N (1s) | 104 |
| Fig. 5. 11. | Surface XPS spectra of ultrathin SiO ₂ layer of TOPCon test structures at (a) | |
| | as-deposited, (b) furnace, (c) air, and (d) N_2 annealing conditions. | 105 |
| Fig. 5. 12. | Spectrum of the RTA lamp used in this study | 106 |
| Fig. 5. 13. | Top-view SEM image showing a blister formed on the SiN _x :H layer after | |
| | RTA at 825 °C in N ₂ | 108 |
| Fig. 5. 14. | XPS spectra of (a) N 1s peaks, (b) Si 2p peaks, and (c) O 1s peaks of the | |
| | TOPCon/SiN _x :H samples after RTA at 825 $^{\circ}\text{C}$ under N ₂ and air | |
| | atmospheres | 110 |
| Fig. 5. 15. | The dependence of peak PL intensity counts and sheet resistance on RTA | |
| | heating times. The data for as-prepared (start), after FGA treatment of as- | |
| | prepared sample, and furnace annealed are also shown | 112 |
| Fig. 5. 16. | The dependence of peak PL intensity counts and sheet resistance on RTA | |
| | holding times. The data for as-prepared (start), after FGA treatment of as- | |
| | prepared sample, and furnace annealed are also shown | 113 |
| Fig. 5. 17. | The dependence of peak PL intensity counts and sheet resistance on RTA | |
| | cooling times. The data for as-prepared (start), after FGA treatment of as- | |
| | prepared sample, and furnace annealed are also shown | 115 |
| Fig. 5. 18. | The dependence of PL intensity counts on the presence of boron-doped | |
| | poly-Si layer | 117 |

- Fig. 6. 1. Schematic diagram of the fabrication steps of the bifacial TMO-based CSPC Si solar cells. Step 1 involves the RCA cleaning and keeping native oxide intact without HF etch. Step 2 requires the thermal ALD of 1.05 nm Al₂O₃, followed by either laser annealing or FGA at 420 °C for 5 min. Step 3 entails the plasma ALD of 4.5 nm TiO_x as ETL, followed by FGA at 200 °C for 10 min. Finally, step 4 involves the 8 nm of MoO_x deposition by thermal evaporation of MoO_x, followed by FGA at 180 °C for 5 min. ----- 123
- Fig. 6. 2.Schematic diagram of the symmetric bifacial TMO-based CSPC Si devicewhere the native oxide is kept intact without HF etch.125
- Fig. 6. 3. Schematic diagram of the symmetric bifacial TMO-based CSPC Si device where the thermal ALD of 1.05 nm Al₂O₃ was done on the native oxides. 127
- Fig. 6. 4. Schematic diagrams of the bifacial TMO-based CSPC Si solar cells with
 (a) thermal ALD of 10 nm Al₂O₃ on the rear side to understand the passivation effects of TiOx as ETL and (b) thermal ALD of 1.05 nm Al₂O₃.and 4.5 nm TiOx on the native oxide symmetrically. The front sides had native oxide, thermal ALD of 1.05 nm Al₂O₃ and 4.5 nm TiO_x. ------ 129
- Fig. 6. 5. Schematic diagram of the complete bifacial TMO-based CSPC Si solar cell.
 After 8 nm of MoO_x deposition by thermal evaporation, FGA was done at 180 °C for 5 min. ------ 132
- Fig. A1. 1. Schematic diagram of the experimental setup for LHICE of silicon. ----- 148
- Fig. A1. 2. Zygo profilometry showing the surface profile of laser-induced KOH etched lines on the c-Si substrate at scan speed (a) 50 mm s^{-1} , (b) 15 mm s^{-1} , and (c) 10 mm s^{-1} , respectively while keeping other parameters 149

constant. The figures (d)–(f) show the depth-color mapping images of the lines corresponding to the scan speeds of 50, 15, and 10 mm s^{-1} , respectively.

- Fig. A1. 4. Zygo profilometry showing the surface profile of the KOH-etched groove lines at various laser duty cycles (a) 5%, (b) 7.5%, and (c) 10% while keeping average power (18.6 W) and scan speed (50 mm s⁻¹) constant.
- Fig. A1. 6. Optical image showing the laser-induced ablation at an average power of 21 W. ----- 153
- Fig. A1. 7. Zygo profilometry showing the surface profile of the KOH-etched groove lines (a) without Triton X-100 and (b) with Triton X-100 while keeping all laser parameters constant (duty cycle = 5% and scan speed = 10 mm s^{-1}). 153
- Fig. A1. 8. Zygo profilometry shows the reproducibility of the etch depths in three different 1×1 inch c-Si samples using the same laser parameters: average power of 18.6 W, 5% duty cycle, and scan speed of 15 mm s⁻¹. ----- 155
- Fig. A1. 9. QSSPCD carrier lifetime measurements before and after LHICE for three different 1×1 inch c-Si samples showing its reproducibility. The temporary

| passivation for lifetime measurement was made by the iodine-methanol | |
|--|-----|
| passivation method | 157 |

Fig.A1. 10. LCPSim simulation results of a single 1064 nm laser pulse showing (a) the maximum temperature profile with respect to time at different average laser powers while other laser parameters are constant and (b) the maximum temperature profile with respect to time at different duty cycles while other laser parameters are constant.
Fig.A1. 11. LCP Sim simulation results for a single laser pulse of spot size 25 μm with the wavelength 355 nm, pulse-width of 25 ns, repetition rate of 50 kHz, and

| average power of 0.05 W | 160 |
|-------------------------|-----|
|-------------------------|-----|

List of tables

| Table. 4. 1. | Data for iV _{OC} and MCL after laser processing | 65 |
|--------------|---|-----|
| Table. 4. 2. | Data of Si:N ratio at various laser fluence | 81 |
| Table. 4. 3. | MCL and iVoc before and after laser exposure of photoresist layer | 84 |
| Table. 5. 1. | The effects of high-intensity RTA lamplight on the PL intensity and $\mathrm{i}V_{\mathrm{OC}}$ | |
| | of TOPCon structures at 875°C | 107 |
| Table. 5. 2. | Effects of SiN_x :H coating on the PL intensity and iV_{OC} of TOPCon | |
| | structures under different RTA atmospheres at 825 °C | 108 |
| Table. 5. 3. | Carrier lifetime, iV_{OC} , and sheet resistance after optimized RTA | 115 |
| Table. 5. 4. | Peak PL intensity of the effects of b-doped poly-Si on the passivation | |
| | quality | 117 |
| Table. 5. 5. | iV_{oc} and sheet resistance after optimized pulsed RTA. Both heating and | |
| | cooling times were fixed at 60 sec | 118 |
| Table. 6.1. | Optimization based on the effects of HF etching of native oxide. All | |
| | samples were symmetrically coated with 1.05 nm thick Al_2O_3 . The FGA | |
| | was conducted at 420 °C for 5 minutes | 126 |
| Table. 6.2. | Optimization based on the effects of type of ALD process for 1.05 nm of | |
| | Al_2O_3 deposition. All the samples had native oxide and did not go through | |
| | HF etching. The FGA was conducted at 420 °C for 5 minutes | 128 |
| Table. 6.3. | Optimization based on the effects of ALD of $4.5 \text{ nm } \text{TiO}_x$ on | |
| | asymmetrically structured devices is shown in Fig. 6.4. (a). The ALD 10 | |
| | nm of Al_2O_3 passivated the rear side of the samples to study the passivation | |
| | effect of TiO _x . The FGA was done at 200 °C for 10 min | 130 |
| Table. 6.4. | Performances of symmetric CSPC device structures, shown in Fig. 6.4. | |
| | (b), using TiO _x as ETL | 131 |
| Table. 6.5. | Schematic diagram of the complete bifacial TMO-based CSPC Si solar | |
| | cell. After 8 nm of MoO_x deposition by thermal evaporation, FGA was | |
| | done at 180 °C for 5 min | 133 |
| Table. 6.6. | Results of laser annealing of complete CSPC device structures using TiO_x | |
| | as ETL and MoO_x as HTL. The laser annealing was done at 18 W after | 130 |

| | Al ₂ O ₃ ALD. The FGA was done after TiO_x and MoO_x depositions for 10 | |
|--------------|---|-----|
| | and 5 minutes, respectively | 134 |
| Table. 6.7. | Results of laser annealing of complete CSPC device structures using TiO_{x} | |
| | as ETL and MoO_x as HTL. The laser annealing was done at 18 W after | |
| | growing SiO_x . The FGA was done after TiO_x and MoO_x depositions for 10 | |
| | and 5 minutes, respectively | 136 |
| Table. 6.8. | Comparison of $\mathrm{i}V_{\mathrm{OC}}$ performances between our test samples and some of | |
| | the iV_{OC} values reported in the literature. | 137 |
| Table. 7.1. | Summary of the accomplishments and novelty of results in this thesis work | 142 |
| Table. A1.1. | QSSPCD measurements to show the reproducibility of the LHICE process | |
| | on c-Si samples | 157 |
| Table. A1.2. | Etching rates of different etchants on various materials at higher operating | |
| | temperatures | 163 |

List of abbreviations

| ALD | Atomic layer Deposition |
|------------------|---|
| CIE | International Commission on Illumination |
| CSPC | Carrier Selective Passivated Contacts |
| CW | Continuous Wave |
| DASH | Dopant-free Asymmetric Hetero-contacts |
| EDS | Energy-dispersive X-ray spectroscopy |
| ETL | Electron Transport Layer |
| FGA | Forming Gas Annealing |
| FIB-SEM | Focused Ion Beam Scanning Electron Microscopy |
| FTIR | Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy |
| FWHM | Full Width Half Maximum |
| HAZ | Heat Affected Zone |
| HTL | Hole Transport Layer |
| IBC-HJ | Interdigitated Back Contact Heterojunction |
| iV _{OC} | Intrinsic Open Circuit Voltage |
| LHICE | Laser Heat-Induced Chemical Etching |
| LPCVD | Low-Pressure Chemical Vapor Deposition |
| MCL | Minority Carrier Lifetime |
| PECVD | Plasma Enhanced Chemical Vapor Deposition |
| PL | Photoluminescence |
| POLO | Polysilicon on oxides |
| PR | Photoresist |
| PVD | Physical Vapor Deposition |
| PV | Photovoltaics |
| QSSPC | Quasi Steady State Photoconductance |
| RTA | Rapid Thermal Annealing |
| SRH | Shockley-Read-Hall |

| TMO | Transition Metal Oxides |
|--------|----------------------------------|
| TOPCon | Tunnel Oxide Passivated Contacts |
| UV | Ultraviolet |
| XPS | X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy |

CHAPTER 1: Introduction and Motivations

The increase in global energy demands has been met by excessive consumption and exploitation of non-renewable fossil fuel resources such as crude oil, natural gas, and coal. Regrettably, these resources are inherently unsustainable and finite. Consequently, the depletion of these resources has resulted in significant price increases.



Fig. 1. 1 Data from the Global Carbon Budget 2022 shows the Global CO₂ emission from fossil fuels. (Reproduced from ref. [1] with permission of the Copernicus Publications, Earth System Science Data, and Our World in Data.).

According to reports from MET Group energy company and substantiated by the Energy Institute (EI) as of 2020, the reserves-to-product (R/P) ratio for coal is estimated to last for 139 years, while oil reserves are expected to sustain for 57 years, and gas reserves for 49 years [2][3].

In addition to these economic and energy reserve challenges, anthropogenic climate changes, including global warming, CO₂ emissions, pollution, ocean acidification, and land degradation, have substantially damaged the world's ecosystems. The Global Carbon Budget 2022 report, as shown in Fig. 1.1., states that the combined global impact of oil, coal, and gas resulted in approximately 35 billion tons of CO₂ emissions in 2021, with coal consumption being the primary contributing factor [1]. Furthermore, the toxic spills and waste generated from fossil fuel usage further harm the environment. Managing these toxic byproducts also increases labor costs, expensive infrastructure requirements, and health concerns. Therefore, such ongoing global issues can be tackled by advocating the use of renewable energy resources as an alternative.



Fig. 1. 2. Data from IEA 2023 shows the increasing dominance of solar PV technology over all other energy resources. (Reproduced from ref. [4] with permission of the IEA, under creative commons attribution License: [CC

by 4.0])

Renewable energy resources encompass sustainable options such as solar photovoltaics (PV), wind power, air energy, geothermal energy, biofuels, and hydropower. These represent vast, sustainable reserves that not only reduce carbon emissions but also avoid the production of harmful byproducts. According to the International Energy Agency's (IEA) International Energy Outlook 2019 (IEO2019) and the Annual Energy Outlook 2022 (AEO2022), renewables are expected to collectively contribute to 49% of global electricity generation and 44% of U.S. electricity by the year 2050 [5][6]. Solar PV technology is anticipated to experience the most rapid growth among renewable sources. In the renewable energy sector, solar PV technology has emerged as a formidable contender, challenging the dominance of wind technology in renewable capacity and commercialization. In fact, the International Energy Agency (IEA) reported that the cumulative power capacity of solar PV generation surged to 12.8% in 2022, as shown in Fig. 1.2., surpassing wind technology for the first time [4]. Solar PV's appeal is further enhanced by its advantages, including predictability, space efficiency, low maintenance requirements, flexible scalability, rapid deployment, modularity, and positive environmental impacts. As a result, investing in scientific research and development of PV technology has become increasingly important to drive global PV capacity growth even further.

The economic dimension of achieving maximum electrical power generation while minimizing expenses is pivotal in sustaining the global dominance of PV technology within the renewable energy market. This economic consideration, often quantified through the Levelized Cost of Energy (LCOE), expresses the cost-effectiveness as the cost per kilowatt-hour (\$/kWh). Lai *et al.* define LCOE as an economic evaluation of the total cost of constructing and operating a power-generating asset over its lifespan, divided by the total energy output produced by that asset over the same period [7]. Consequently, ensuring the systematic and cost-efficient utilization of resources and reducing LCOE becomes essential for advancing PV technology. Recent findings from Lazard indicate a declining trend in the LCOE for unsubsidized solar PV cells, signifying a decrease in the overall cost and a positive trajectory for PV technology in the renewable energy market [8]. This reduction in LCOE can be achieved through two principal approaches: (1) lowering fabrication costs and production time and (2) enhancing power conversion efficiency.

The major shares of the total production expenses associated with PV technology are attributed to fabrication costs and production time. Solar cell fabrication typically involves a series of intricate and time-intensive processes that not only impede overall scalability and efficiency but also contribute to increased expenditure. Additionally, using heavy equipment and managing toxic waste further contribute to the overall cost and time requirements. Photolithography, for instance, entails a sequence of time-consuming steps, including applying toxic photoresists through spincoating, creating costly masks, alignment processes, development, and chemical etching. Hightemperature furnace annealing, carried out over extended durations, can inadvertently damage the underlying layers within solar cell structures, raising the overall thermal budget. Furthermore, during furnace annealing, there is limited control and flexibility regarding heating, holding, and cooling times.

To address these shortcomings in the PV fabrication process, laser processing has emerged as a recognized alternative to traditional methods. Laser processing has proven to be a highly effective tool, offering advantages such as patterning flexibility, precise spatial and depth resolution, exceptional selectivity, and the ability to control temperature precisely. Additionally, various laser parameters, including wavelength, pulse width, repetition rate, peak pulse energy, and fluence, can be tailored to match the material's absorption depth and the specific requirements of the laser processing task [9]. Consequently, systematic research and scientific investigations are imperative to comprehensively understand laser-material interactions and optimize the diverse applications of laser processing to develop cost-effective and manufacturable solar PV cells.



Fig. 1.3. Data from NREL shows the R&D timeline of global solar PV technology to date. (Reproduced from ref. [10] with permission of the NREL).

Photovoltaics (PV) operates on the fundamental principle of converting incident solar energy into useful electrical energy. Thanks to its limitless availability and a broad range of wavelengths, solar energy can be efficiently captured and harnessed by engineering solar PV device structures. According to the most recent NREL Best Research-Cell Efficiency Chart, as shown in Fig. 1.3., the highest laboratory-based efficiencies are achieved by multi-junction solar cells with four or more junctions (concentrator) developed by FhG-ISE, reaching an impressive 47.6%, and three-junction solar cells (non-concentrator) by NREL, achieving 39.46% efficiency [10]. Crystalline silicon (c-Si) based solar cells dominate the global PV market, claiming a staggering 95% share. Among these, monocrystalline Si holds the lion's share, accounting for 70% of all c-Si modules manufactured in 2019 [11]. Noteworthy c-Si based solar cell architectures like the Interdigitated Back Contact Heterojunction (IBC-HJ) and carrier-selective Tunnel Oxide Passivated Contacts (TOPCon) have achieved record laboratory-based efficiencies exceeding 26% [12]. In contrast, commercially available c-Si solar cells typically exhibit 17% to 20% efficiencies. Consequently, there is a compelling need to bridge the efficiency gap between commercial and laboratory-based c-Si solar cells and approach the theoretical limit of 33%, as defined by the Shockley-Queisser limit [13].

The IBC-HJ modules, a prominent design among crystalline silicon (c-Si) solar cell architectures, are projected to capture more than 50% of the global market share by 2030, with the current cost for this technology reduced to \$0.30 per watt [14][15]. This architecture has gained significant traction due to its advantages, including minimal shading loss, reduced series resistance, higher power output per unit surface area, a smaller temperature coefficient, and the

ability to optimize optical and electrical properties independently. However, the drawbacks of the IBC-HJ architecture include its high fabrication complexity and production cost. The manufacturing process involves intricate steps, including lithography, masking, UV exposure, Chemical Vapor Deposition (CVD), selective chemical etching, and complex interdigitated multi-stack heterojunction layers for n+ and p+ emitters diffusion. Mask-metallization and the management of waste chemicals further contribute to the total fabrication time, expenses, and operational and maintenance costs. Laser patterning is a promising alternative to certain lithography-based fabrication stages in this context. Laser ablation, which can be optimized to achieve controlled depths, followed by straightforward selective wet chemical etching, can potentially replace some of these stages. To unlock these possibilities, comprehensive investigations into the physics governing laser-material interactions are required to facilitate the development of laser patterning techniques for IBC-HJ silicon solar cells.

Among crystalline silicon (c-Si) solar cells, another popular category is the carrierselective passivated contacts (CSPC) solar cells, which can be divided into two major subtypes: TOPCon and transition metal oxide (TMO)-based Si solar cells. The TOPCon technology is a formidable contender and is expected to capture over 70% of the global market share in production by 2027, indicating a significant industry shift towards TOPCon [16]. This preference for TOPCon can be attributed to its advantages, including stability during high-temperature fabrication, straightforward manufacturing steps for emitter layers, flexibility in doping, and suitability for screen-printing processes. One crucial but time-consuming step in present TOPCon production involves tube-furnace annealing at temperatures between 800 and 900 °C. This annealing step enhances passivation at tunneling interfaces, activates dopants, induces poly-crystallization carrier selectivity, and overcomes Schottky barriers in metallization. However, furnace annealing has limitations, such as limited control over annealing atmospheres, heating, holding, and cooling times, as well as operational and maintenance costs. On the other hand, novel TMO-based CSPC Si solar cells feature asymmetric band offsets, high work functions ranging from 3.5 eV to 7 eV, carrier mobility, and selective tunneling properties at the bulk–contact interface through electron transport layers (like TiO_x), hole transport layers (like MoO_x), and tunneling dielectric layers (like AlO_x, SiO_x). This architecture eliminates the need for dopants, involves low-temperature processing, employs simpler and cost-effective deposition techniques, minimizes parasitic losses, enhances optical transparency, and aligns well with industrial production processes [17]. However, the drawback is the requirement for furnace annealing at temperatures ranging from 100 to 350 °C after each intermediate deposition step. To overcome the limitations associated with furnace annealing and reduce the overall thermal budget for both CSPC Si device structures, laser annealing and rapid thermal annealing (RTA) hold immense potential. Conducting comprehensive investigations into laser annealing and RTA techniques can significantly enhance the development of high-efficiency CSPC silicon solar cells.

This dissertation studies using RTA, pulsed laser ablation, and heating to improve the performance of major c-Si PV devices like IBC-HJ, CSPC, and TMO solar cell technology. This approach addresses the limitations of traditional furnace annealing and provides a fundamental understanding of laser processing applied to photovoltaic devices. A basic understanding of laser-induced defects is essential for developing improved carrier-selective contacts.

CHAPTER 2: Theoretical background of the operation principles of Si solar cells and laser-material interactions

2.1. Silicon solar cells

A solar cell is a semiconductor optoelectronic device that absorbs the incident solar energy and converts it into usable electrical energy following the principle of photovoltaic effect. If an external load is connected to the solar cell, the electrons will flow through the load, creating an electric current. The amount of current that flows through the load depends on the solar cell's voltage, incident light intensity, and the load's resistance.



Fig. 2.1. Schematic diagram of the photogeneration of e^-h^+ pair due to a single light photon followed by separation and extraction of e^-h^+ pair.

In the Si solar cell architecture, the regions of excess carriers like holes and electrons are created by doping Si substrate with Group III elements (like Boron) and Group V elements (like Phosphorus), respectively, leading to a p-n junction. When an incident light photon energy is absorbed, an electron (e^{-}) is excited to the higher conduction band, leaving a hole (h^+) in its lower

valence band and generating an e^-h^+ pair. Due to the built-in potential and electric fields across the p-n junction, the e^-h^+ pair gets separated, which needs to be extracted by metal contacts before any recombination. Fig. 2.1. shows the schematic of generating and extracting e^-h^+ pairs in a bifacial Si solar cell. For optimal performance, it is essential to minimize series resistance and ensure a sufficiently high shunt resistance.



Fig. 2.2. The current-voltage (I-V) characteristics of a non-ideal solar cell under light exposure.

The solar cell performance is experimentally measured under dark and 1-sun (1000 W/m²) calibrated illumination conditions at constant room temperature (300 K) and AM1.5 conditions. The resultant current-voltage (I-V) characteristic curve, as shown in Fig. 2.2., is used to evaluate the open-circuit voltage (V_{oc}), short-circuit current (I_{SC}), fill factor (FF), and power conversion efficiency (η).

The open-circuit voltage V_{OC} is defined as the maximum voltage output of a solar cell, occurring when there is no current flow, and it results from the inherent forward bias caused by the presence of light-generated current. The equation is as follows:

$$V_{OC} = \frac{nkT}{q} \ln\left(\frac{I_L}{I_0} + 1\right)$$

where n is the ideality factor, k is the Boltzmann constant, T is the temperature in Kelvin, q is the electronic charge, I_L is the photocurrent, and I_0 is the dark "leakage" current.

The short circuit current I_{SC} is defined as the current through the solar cell when the voltage across the solar cell is zero (i.e., when the solar cell is short-circuited), and it is equal to the photocurrent I_L magnitude in short circuit condition. The fill factor (FF) is the ratio of the maximum power (P_{MP}) from the solar cell to the product of V_{OC} and I_{SC} . The equation is stated as follows:

$$FF = \frac{P_{MP}}{V_{OC} \times I_{SC}} = \frac{V_{MP} \times I_{MP}}{V_{OC} \times I_{SC}}$$

The power conversion efficiency η is defined as the fraction of incident power converted to electricity and expressed as the ratio of the product of FF, V_{OC}, and I_{SC} to the input power P_{in}. The equation is as follows:

$$\eta = \frac{V_{OC} \times I_{SC} \times FF}{P_{in}}$$

A theoretical limit of the maximum efficiency that a single p-n junction solar cell can attain under ideal conditions is called the Shockley-Queisser limit [18]. The Shockley–Queisser limit for single junction solar cells is 29.4-33.7%, depending on the bandgap. All the practical c-Si solar cells have failed to achieve this limit due to the optical and electrical losses.


Fig. 2.3. Schematic diagram of the unpassivated surface dangling bonds, passivated surface bonds, and hydrogenated surface on a c-Si substrate.

Recombination losses are caused by the unwanted recombination of electrons and holes before reaching metallic contacts. There are four major types of recombination: radiative, Shockley-Read-Hall (SRH), Auger, and surface states [19]. In c-Si solar cells, high defect density and dopant concentration cause SRH and Auger recombination. Lastly, the dangling bonds at the terminated Si surface act as surface defect states for recombining charge carriers. Passivation of these surface states by dielectrics (e.g., oxides) and external hydrogenations (e.g., forming gas annealing) increases the minority carrier lifetime (MCL) and diffusion length, resulting in inhibition of the recombination process, as shown in Fig. 2.3. Good passivation at the surfaces and interfaces leads to higher MCL and higher efficiency of the Si solar cells. Lee *et al.* have provided the exponential relation between the lifetime τ_{eff} and iV_{OC}, which is as follows [20]:

$$\tau_{eff} = \frac{n_i^2 \exp\left(qV_{OC}/kT\right)}{J_{ph}(N + \Delta n)/qW}$$

where J_{ph} is the photo-generated current density, N is the dopant density, Δn is the excess carrier density, n_i is the intrinsic carrier concentration, q is the elementary charge, k is Boltzmann's constant, W is the wafer thickness, and T is the absolute temperature in Kelvin.

The Sinton Instruments WCT-120 Silicon Wafer Lifetime Tester is a widely used commercial instrument to characterize the performances of solar cells in terms of photoconductance and other solar cell performance parameters like implied open circuit voltage (iV_{OC}), effective minority carrier lifetime (τ_{eff}), effective surface recombination velocity (S_{eff}), sheet resistance and fill factor (FF) are calculated. This apparatus operates on the principle of a time of flight experiment. The apparatus consists of three primary components: a xenon flash lamp mounted on a stand, a sample platen containing a radio frequency (RF) assembly, and computer containing a National Instruments data acquisition card. The system is controlled through Microsoft Excel. The setup picture and the block diagram of the Sinton lifetime tester is shown in Fig. 2.4.



Fig. 2.4. (a) Setup and (b) block diagram of Sinton lifetime tester to measure minority carrier lifetime and iV_{OC}.

After the pulsed flash lamp exposure, the photo-induced carriers increase the photoconductance (σ) in the sample device under test (DUT) and this change is converted to a voltage signal by electromagnetic induction in the RF coils which is as follows:

$$\sigma = aV^2 + bV + c$$

where a, b and c are the calibrated constants. The resistance is calculated from the reciprocal of σ .

The induced excess carrier density (Δn) is calculated by the following equation:

$$\Delta n = \frac{\Delta \sigma}{qW(\mu_n + \mu_p)}$$

where $\Delta \sigma$ is the photoconductance difference between light and dark conditions, W is the device thickness, q is the charge and $(\mu_n + \mu_p)$ is the combined mobilities of electrons and holes.

A reference solar cell synchronizes the conductivity measurement with the light pulse. The decay rate of the light pulse (reference solar cell voltage) is compared to that of the RF coil voltage to determine the effective carrier lifetime in the following generalized form:

$$\tau_{eff} = \frac{\Delta n(t)}{G(t) - \frac{d\Delta n}{dt}}$$

where G(t) is time-dependent generation rate of carriers. Under the quasi-steady state (QSS) illumination conditions, $\frac{d\Delta n}{dt}$ tends to be zero. Hence, in our typical carrier lifetime measurements, the details of the sample DUT like thickness, resistivity, dopant type, minority carrier density, illuminated area fraction and optical constant were provided manually.

Optical losses result from front metal contacts shadowing and reflection from the front surface and contacts. Such losses are minimized by adopting front and back surface microtexturing, IBC architecture, and anti-reflection coatings (ARC) of dielectrics like SiN_x and SiC. The refractive index of ARC is calculated to be the geometric mean of refractive indices of two adjacent material media. Electrical losses arise from the resistances of the electrical contacts and busbars, where the contact dimensions and material have to be optimized for maximum collection of carriers without introducing additional shadowing losses. Moreover, the metal-semiconductor Schottky barrier and Fermi level pinning can be overcome by employing heavy doping regions or carrier selective regions near the patterned contacts. Such strategies are usually used in IBC-HJ, TOPCon, and TMO-based Si solar cells.

2.2. Interdigitated Back Contact Heterojunction (IBC-HJ) Si solar cells

The IBC-HJ architecture utilizes the advantages of IBC and silicon heterojunction (SHJ) architectures. This concept was first developed at the Institute of Energy Conversion (IEC) at the University of Delaware [21]. The fabrication steps involve a lower thermal budget of ~250 °C compared to conventional diffused homojunction cells and contacts at ~800 °C, which causes warping and cracking of thin Si wafers. Moreover, employing PECVD over the dopant-diffusion method makes controlling the p- and n-doped regions more accessible. Consequently, the shunt resistance between the emitter and the base increases favorably.

The IBC structure permits the larger active area of light absorption by moving the front emitter and contacts to the rear side of the solar cell, thus eliminating the metal contact shadowing. It also integrates rear-side texturization for enhanced light-trapping and simplified inter-metal fingers and busbar connections. As a result, higher iV_{OC} and I_{SC} are achieved with less optical and electrical losses.

The SHJ structure utilizes the low-temperature depositions of thin layers of hydrogenated intrinsic amorphous silicon (a-Si:H(i)) on a crystalline silicon (c-Si) substrate. The structure progresses with the deposition of highly doped (p^+ and n^+) a-Si:H layers and ITO/ metallic

contacts. Due to its larger band gap (1.5-2.0 eV) and amorphous structure, the thin a-Si:H(i) layer provides good passivation to the c-Si surface, which increases the V_{OC} without significant parasitic absorption [22][23][24][25].



Fig. 2.5. Energy band diagram of SHJ on (n)c-Si (Reproduced from ref. [22], with the Copyright © 2013, IEEE JPV).

The energy band diagram of SHJ on (n)c-Si is showed in Fig. 2.5. Due to high doping p⁺ and n⁺ a-Si:H regions and thin a-Si:H(i), strong band bending in c-Si induces strong inversion layer at its surface which causes unequal energy band offsets ($\Delta E_V > \Delta E_C$). Hence, minority carriers are attracted to the surface, but majority carriers are repelled. The fill factor gets moderately affected. One such popular example using SHJ architecture is heterojunction with thin intrinsic layer (HIT) Si solar cells.

2.3. Carrier Selective Passivated Contacts (CSPC) Si solar cells



Fig. 2.6. Energy band diagram of SHJ on (n)c-Si (Reproduced from ref. [17] with the permission of Springer Link).

The carrier selective passivated contacts architecture employs asymmetric band offsets, gradient of quasi-Fermi levels, different mobilities of e⁻-h⁺ pairs, and tunneling for charge carrier transport and separation without the actual need for an electrical field across p-n junctions [26]. It also incorporates a thin dielectric passivation layer to inhibit surface defect states and Fermi level pinning and simultaneously allow conductivity of all charge carriers [27][28]. The schematic energy band offsets of different materials' potential for CSPC Si solar cells are shown in Fig. 2.6. The CSPC Si solar cells can be broadly classified into two groups: dopant-dependent (like TOPCon) and dopant-free (like TMO-based Si solar cells).

2.3.1. Dopant-dependent TOPCon Si solar cells

The TOPCon or Polysilicon on oxides (POLO) structure implements an ultrathin interface SiO_2 layer (~1.5 nm) between highly doped poly-Si layers and c-Si substrates. The details of the TOPCon structure and fabrication process have been discussed in Chapter 5. The schematic energy band diagram of POLO contacts is shown in Fig. 2.7.



Fig. 2.7. Schematic energy band diagram of (a) n^+ poly-Si/SiO_x/c-Si and (b) p^+ poly-Si/SiO_x/c-Si POLO contacts (Reproduced from ref. [29], with the permission of MDPI Photonics).

The doped poly-Si layer allows selective conductivity of one type of carrier by inducing strong energy band bending at the c-Si surface. Such structure has high-temperature stability and undergoes traditional furnace annealing at 800-900 °C for poly-Si crystallization, high dopant activation, and sheet resistance reductions. The dopant activation participates in charge carrier generation and provides field-induced passivation [30]. The excellent quality of the ultrathin oxide layer ensures stronger passivation and inhibits the Fermi level pinning at the direct poly-Si and c-Si interface. Moreover, the charge transport mechanism through the ultrathin oxide layer is hypothesized by two major theories: (1) quantum tunneling of charge carriers based on tunneling

layer thickness and band offsets and (2) localized current flow through oxide pinholes and nonuniform oxide thinning formed upon thermal annealing of the poly-Si/c-Si junctions [31]. Although the quantum tunneling hypothesis helps to understand the charge transport mechanism in n^+ poly-Si/SiO_x/c-Si in Fig. 2.7. (a), the pinholes hypothesis helps to understand the charge transport mechanism in p^+ poly-Si/SiO_x/c-Si in Fig. 2.7. (b).

2.3.2. Dopant-free Transition Metal Oxides (TMO) based Si solar cells

The TMO Si solar cell structure implements a dopant-free strategy where an ultrathin dielectric like AlO_x or SiO_2 layer (~1.5 nm) interface layer is employed for passivation and quantum tunneling of charge carriers and wide band gap transition metal oxides of extreme work functions (3.5 to 7 eV) for carrier-selective transport. These structures are low-temperature devices with deposition and annealing temperatures limited to 350 °C. These layers have excellent stability, transparency, and resistance to parasitic losses. The TMO layers are classified into two major categories: (1) electron selective layer (ESL) and (2) hole selective layer.



Fig. 2.8. Schematic energy band diagram of the charge separation and transport in a CSPC Si solar cell using ESL and HSL (Reproduced from ref. [17], with the permission of Springer Link).

The schematic energy band diagram of the charge separation and transport in a CSPC solar cell using ESL and HSL is shown in Fig. 2.8. The ESL uses low work function materials like TiO_x which causes downward band bending at ESL/c-Si interface, low conduction band offset (ΔE_C), higher valence band offset (ΔE_V) and large charge mobility, leading to efficient selective electron collection despite low gradient of Fermi energy. On the other hand, the HSL uses high work function materials like MoO_x, which causes upward band bending at the ESL/c-Si interface, higher conduction band offset (ΔE_C), low valence band offset (ΔE_V), and lesser charge mobility, leading to efficient selective hole collection despite less gradient of Fermi energy. The oxide substoichiometry is essential to modify the atomic structures for maintaining carrier selectivity. Apart from TMOs, organic materials such as PEDOT:PSS, TAPC, and alkaline metal salts like LiF_x have also been identified as potential candidates for ESL and HSL [32][33].



2.4. The methodology of laser processing

Fig. 2.9. Schematic diagram of a laser processing experimental setup.

Laser processing involves the application of high-power lasers with the help of optomechanical systems such as galvo scanners, translational X-Y stages, and modulation of laser light propagation by optics alignments. Fig. 2.9. shows the schematic diagram of a typical laser processing setup. The laser wavelength, pulse width, repetition rate, average and peak pulse power, beam spot size and shape, and laser fluence are some basic parameters that can be chosen according to the type of laser processing and the material. It is a versatile method of patterning, ablation, removal, cutting, drilling, melting, vaporization, and annealing materials, allowing high flexibility and spatial resolution. Fig. 2.10. shows the schematic diagram of the interaction of a focused laser beam resulting in the laser-treated region on a thin-film coated c-Si substrate.



Fig. 2.10. Schematic diagram of the focused laser beam on the thin film-coated c-Si substrate.

Material properties like absorption coefficient, heat diffusion coefficient, thermal stress, nature of surface topology, and chemical state determine the process flow of the laser-material experiments. Using beam shaper optics based on refraction, diffraction, and homogenization, the laser beam can be shaped into Gaussian, flat top-hat, or other Hermite-Gaussian modes. Single-mode laser beams can be easily collimated and focused to a tighter spot size than multi-mode laser beams. A tighter beam spot size is used at the focused position for higher laser fluence, which causes intense laser effects (like ablation and removal) and a widespread heat-affected zone (HAZ). The defocusing strategy is generally used to control and moderate laser heat effects like melting and annealing. The term' laser fluence', the ratio of laser energy (in Joules) to the spot size area (in cm²), is used universally to quantify the amount of energy delivered per unit area of the material. Tighter spot size at focus results in higher laser fluence. Typically, collimated laser beams (~10 mm diameter) are modulated and fed to galvo scanner systems or optics setup and converged to tightly focused laser beams (20-200 μ m diameter) with a 5-30 cm working distance.

The optomechanical systems of galvo scanners and translational stages help to draw intricate patterns and shapes accurately. Galvo scanners are used for patterning stationary material devices at a stage, whereas the translational stages are used for material devices under movement. They control parameters like scan speed, percentage overlap (intra-line and interline) of laser spots, and number of scans. Two basic equations are used in laser processing, which are as follows: $Scan Speed \left(\frac{mm}{s}\right) = (1 - Intraline overlap\%) \times Spot Size (\mu m) \times Repetition rate (Hz)$ $Interline Overlap\% = \left(1 - \frac{Scan lines spacing (\mu m)}{Spot size (\mu m)}\right) \times 100$

Generally, continuous wave (CW) lasers are used for annealing purposes where the localized phase change in the material properties becomes the goal of the laser processing. Previously, Beyer *et al.* provided a few theoretical models and equations for simple laser annealing

setup for single film on the substrate and using a CW laser with a Gaussian beam profile to characterize the temperature in the laser spot [34]. Pulsed lasers with picosecond to microsecond pulse width have been considered for localized ablation, material removal, interfacial debonding, and many more applications with a controlled HAZ.

CHAPTER 3: Literature Review

Presently, there are two popular c-Si solar cell architectures, namely Interdigitated Back Contact Heterojunction (IBC-HJ) and Carrier Selective Passivated Contacts (CSPC), with a growing domination in the commercial c-Si PV market [14][15][16]. Depending on the presence of dopants, CSPC device architectures are divided into two sub-categories: Tunnel Oxide Passivated Contacts (TOPCon) based on dopant and dopant-free transition metal oxides (TMO) based devices. The working principles, including carrier selectivity and related materials, have already been explained in Chapter 2 of the thesis. Additionally, laser-induced selective chemical etching of Si wafers can be helpful in fabricating different Si-based devices, and it can be extended to a wide variety of materials.

3.1. Investigation of laser processing in the fabrication of IBC-HJ Si solar cells

The improvement in solar power conversion efficiency and reduction in manufacturing costs will enhance the competitiveness of silicon solar cells compared to other renewable energy sources. Among the two primary approaches, carrier selective contacts and the interdigitated back contact-heterojunction (IBC-HJ) architecture have yielded the highest efficiencies [35]. The IBC-HJ design represents a rear-contact crystalline silicon (c-Si) solar cell structure featuring strategically patterned, doped hydrogenated amorphous silicon (a-Si:H) layers, creating localized heterojunctions on the rear side [36].

In the past, traditional methods such as conventional lithography and shadow masking were employed to fabricate IBC-HJ solar cells. These methods led to increased overall manufacturing costs and introduced technical complexities [37][38][39]. In recent times, both the scientific and industrial communities have shifted towards a more cost-effective approach, utilizing direct laser patterning with ultrashort picosecond (ps), femtosecond (fs), and short-pulsed nanosecond (ns) lasers for the fabrication of IBC c-Si solar cells. This transition has been driven by several advantages, including mask-free and contactless patterning, precise micrometer-level control over spatial and depth resolution, enhanced flexibility in pattern design, and improved production throughput [40]–[44]. It is anticipated that incorporating specific laser processing steps from this approach will significantly streamline the manufacturing process of IBC-HJ solar cells [45][46]. Nevertheless, recent reports suggest that the use of ultrashort femtosecond (fs) laser processing lead to more damage and result in decreased Voc, fill factor, and efficiency when compared to nanosecond (ns) laser processing [47][48]. Furthermore, producing heterojunction (HJ) structures necessitates utilizing low-temperature processing and annealing [37].

Lately, numerous studies have examined the varying impacts of laser ablation parameters, including pulse duration and wavelength. However, these investigations have not delved into a comprehensive understanding of the thermal effects induced by lasers on each layer within the IBC architecture. Although previous reports show the electrical characterizations conducted on nspulsed laser processed of IBC-HJ solar cells, there is a lack of a holistic perspective on the morphological, structural, and chemical compositional aspects underlying the consequences of ns laser processing on passivation or the alterations in the IBC-HJ layers [42], [48]–[50]. Qi *et al.* explored the influence of ns pulse lasers on amorphous silicon without referencing the impact on the passivation layer [51].

While carrying out laser processing on an IBC-HJ solar cell, there is a risk of causing undesired damage and crystallization of the a-Si layer, which can substantially reduce the carrier lifetime and power conversion efficiency. Laser-induced damage results in increased

50

recombination losses over a considerably broader area than the actual size of the laser spot. This phenomenon occurs due to lateral carrier transport within IBC-HJ solar cells [52]. Consequently, it leads to a substantial decrease in the iV_{OC} and the MCL. This research also applies to mc-Si PERC solar cell fabrication, where high-power ps/ns pulsed lasers are used to make openings in a dielectric layer [53][54].

3.2. Investigation of the role of RTA in the fabrication of p-TOPCon Si solar cells

The Tunnel Oxide Passivated Contacts (TOPCon) Si solar cell is one of the most competitive c-Si solar cell architectures. It is known for its simple architecture, easy fabrication, high thermal stability, and resilience to post-metallization annealing. The TOPCon structure typically involves a layered structure comprising heavily doped (either B-doped or P-doped) polycrystalline silicon (poly-Si) layers and ultra-thin SiO₂ oxide layers on the doped c-Si substrate. Although the term "TOPCon" was originally coined with the assumption of tunneling current as the primary charge transport mechanism in these selective contacts, several publications have also demonstrated that the dominant current transport occurs through the pinholes that form during the annealing process [55][56]. Recent breakthroughs in research laboratories have achieved remarkable efficiencies for both p-TOPCon (based on p-type Si wafers) and n-TOPCon (based on n-type Si wafers) solar cells, with records of 26.1% and 25.8%, respectively [40][57][58].

Numerous factors and constraints in the fabrication process impact a solar cell's intrinsic open-circuit voltage (iV_{oc}) and efficiency. One of the essential steps in the fabrication of TOPCon solar cells is thermal annealing, which is necessary for dopant activation, crystallization, lower c-Si/SiO_x interfacial defects, and lower sheet resistance. Generally, annealing is performed at high temperatures (800 °C to 900 °C) using traditional tube furnace anneal and conveyor belt-furnace

anneal under an inert atmosphere like N₂ [59]–[62]. Thermal processing with heating durations of tens of minutes is widely used in photovoltaic device fabrication and even in some industrial processes for POCl₃ diffusion. Previously, the traditional tube-furnace annealing was used for thermal annealing of n- and p-TOPCon at high temperatures under inert atmospheres, such as N₂ [59], [63]–[68]. The disadvantages of furnace annealing are an enormous thermal budget, longer annealing time, less flexibility, and lower throughput.

Due to its several advantages like choices of annealing atmosphere, better control of the annealing durations (from a few seconds to several minutes), and flexible ramping rates of heating and cooling, rapid thermal annealing (RTA) has emerged as an alternative cost-effective, highyield processing tool for dopant activation and crystallization for n- and p-TOPCon device fabrication [69][70]-[72]. Borden et al. reported a RTA firing process of 30 s for their poly-Si contacts and metallization [73]. Yang et al. reported using RTA over the furnace to achieve 23.04% efficient Al₂O₃-capped P-doped n-TOPCon c-Si solar cells with iV_{oc} as high as 727 mV [71]. Similar studies are needed to fabricate highly efficient p-TOPCon c-Si solar cells comparable to n-TOPCon c-Si solar cells. Moreover, the RTA has been used to perform forming gas annealing (FGA) for external hydrogenation [74]. Since RTA shows such promising results, it is crucial to understand the technical hurdles at the thin-film interface level and the physics behind the thermal cycle dynamics of RTA processing to achieve optimized results equivalent to the traditional furnace annealing for p-TOPCon c-Si solar cells. It will also help understand and optimize fast laser processing for p-TOPCon c-Si fabrication since laser processing involves fast heating and cooling rates [75].

A pinhole formation mechanism has been proposed for the improvement of TOPCon device performance under furnace annealing. As the annealing temperature increases during heating, poly-Si, ultrathin SiO_x, and c-Si substrates expand. Due to the higher thermal expansion coefficients, c-Si and poly-Si expand more than ultrathin SiO_x , which produces compressive stress in the substrate and tensile stress in the ultrathin SiO_x . This tensile stress causes concave distortion and fracture in the SiO_x, forming pinholes to relieve the accumulated tensions. On the contrary, cooling induces more inward shrinkage of both c-Si and poly-Si compared to ultrathin SiO_x, causing tensile stress in the substrate and compressive stress in the SiO_x, eventually increasing pinholes. The highly B-doped poly-Si layer on top of the ultrathin SiO_x layer provides additional field-effect passivation, provided the thickness of SiO_x is < 1.6 nm for tunneling to occur. At annealing temperatures < 850 °C, the charge carrier transport occurs through the quantum tunneling effect as pinhole formation is minimal. At temperatures beyond 850 °C, more pinholes form, and charge conduction through pinholes dominates the tunneling mechanism. The pinholes created in the SiO_x layer act as a gateway for the B-dopant to diffuse into the bulk Si. This diffused layer further enhances the electrical field to maximize the field-effect passivation. On the other hand, excess dopant diffusion into the bulk Si causes more considerable Auger recombination, which cannot be compensated by the enhanced field-effect passivation and leads to passivation degradation [76][30]

Yang *et al.* recently reported the heating and cooling effects of furnace annealing on TOPCon structures using the pinhole creation mechanism [77]. Hollemann *et al.* showed that significant temperature gradients increase mechanical stresses and the density of defect states at the SiO_x/c -Si interface during tube furnace annealing of P-doped poly-Si-based n-TOPCon devices [78][79]. Earlier reports also stated that cooling times influence the severity of thermal stress more than heating times [80]. Although this pinhole mechanism finding provides a good understanding of tube-furnace annealing effects, an understanding of RTA effects is still lacking as the overall

heating, holding, and cooling methodologies differ. Moreover, similar findings on the effects of slower RTA cooling rates on the minority carrier lifetime and defect densities were demonstrated in the fabrication of n⁺-p-p⁺ Si and p-type mc-Si devices. Still, optimization of heating rates and holding times remained unexplored [81]–[83]. It has also been suggested that the high radial-temperature nonuniformity in Si substrates causes stresses beyond its yield point due to the one-sided heating in the RTA system [84]. Earlier, Yang *et al.* had described the optimization of more prolonged RTA holding and cooling times of n-TOPCon devices, and Shou *et al.* had used similar optimization for annealing their TOPCon devices [71][85]. However, their findings were limited to PECVD P-doped n-TOPCon devices with a total RTA processing duration of ~27 min (similar to traditional tube furnace annealing durations), and the effects of heating times were not discussed. So, there is a need to understand the effects of RTA heating and cooling rates and holding time on the surface passivation quality, dopant activation, crystallization, and defect states in B-doped poly-Si-based p-TOPCon devices.

Additionally, the blister formation has been considered an important bottleneck in the fabrication of TOPCon architectures. Under intense dehydrogenation pressure, the physical rupturing of ultrathin SiO_x and poly-Si layers occurs during the tube-furnace annealing. This results in the degradation of the passivation quality [59]. Ingenito *et al.* addressed the blister formation issue during RTA processing [86]. Yang *et al.* reported blister formations during the RTA of n-TOPCon solar cells [71]. Although earlier studies have been on suppressing blisters, there is a lack of a comprehensive study on blister formation under the RTA and the role of different atmospheres, such as air versus nitrogen, for p-TOPCon structures [86][87].

In the RTA chamber, the poly-Si layer in the TOPCon device faces direct exposure to the intense lamp light and heat for the whole period of rapid annealing. In such circumstances, the

effect of intense light intensity under heat during RTA needs to be investigated. Different dielectric capping layers of SiN_x :H and Al_2O_3 and thermal annealing steps are excellent hydrogenation sources for passivating TOPCon structures using tube furnaces [88]–[92]. Moreover, dielectric layers protect TOPCon structures from spiking and damage during screen-printing metallization [93]. Therefore, it is also necessary to investigate the utility of using the dielectric SiN_x :H layer.

3.3. Fabrication of dopant-free TMO-based bifacial CSPC Si solar cells

Recent developments show that dopant-free TMO-based devices have gained attention lately in the global PV community. Such TMO devices can be classified as (i) electron-selective, (ii) hole-selective, or (iii) dopant-free asymmetric hetero-contacts (DASH), which is a combination of both electron- and hole-selective layers [94]. Yang *et al.* demonstrated 20.5% and 21.6% efficient Si solar cells based on TiO₂ as an electron-selective layer [95][96]. Dreon *et al.* and Geissbühler *et al.* reported 23.5% and 22.5% efficient HJ Si solar cells based on MoO_x as holeselective layers, respectively [35][97]. Bullock *et al.* reported 20.7% efficient DASH Si solar cells using TiO_x and MoO_x as carrier-selective layers [98]. Hence, detailed investigations for low-cost, high-efficiency dopant-free TMO-based CSPC Si solar cells are required to continue further improvements.

The high negative charge density and higher hydrogen content make Al_2O_3 a good candidate as a passivation and hole-selective layer [99][100]. However, using Al_2O_3 in CSPC architectures comes with a trade-off between the passivation quality and tunneling ability [101]. Its thickness needs to be optimized to < 2 nm for the tunneling of charge carriers. Although there had been other earlier reports of using Al_2O_3 despite the trade-off of passivation and tunneling layer with TiO_x and MoO_x, a better understanding of the relation between the passivation quality and tunneling phenomena in the context of CSPC devices is required to optimize the thickness of all these functional layers [102][103][104][105].

The electron-selective layer TiO_x is partially responsible for improving the passivation quality at the Si surfaces and interfaces. A thicker passivation Al₂O₃ layer makes the effect of TiO_x on the surface passivation at the c-Si interface weaker [106]. Moreover, it has been claimed that negative charges are formed in Al₂O₃/ TiO_x interfaces, which also influence the passivation quality. Titova *et al.* reported V_{OC} of 652 mV in TiO_x /SiO₂-based devices, but there was a lack of understanding of the effects of tunneling SiO₂ layer thickness on the passivation and carrier selectivity [107]. One of the best results was reported by Yang et al., who showed a high V_{OC} of 676 mV in a TiO_x /SiO₂-based device [96]. Since all these developments have been based on the SiO₂ passivation/tunneling layer, there is a need for scientific inquiry in CSPC devices based on the Al₂O₃ layer.

The holes-selective layer MoO_x has also been shown to partially improve the passivation quality at the Si surfaces and interfaces. It has been demonstrated that the stack SiO_x/ Al₂O₃ passivates the oxygen vacancy defects within the bandgap of the MoO_x [108]. Gerling et al. showed that direct passivation using MoO_x on c-Si substrate led to the iV_{OC} of 637 mV [109]. Thus, there is a need to investigate the effects of introducing Al₂O₃ for better passivation and tunneling capability. Chowdhury *et al.* reported an iV_{OC} of 726 mV in an Al₂O₃/ MoO_x contact-based CSPC device [104]. However, the carrier selectivity was overlooked since the thicknesses of Al₂O₃ layers were above 3 nm, which is not in the tunneling regime. Hence, there is a need to investigate the dynamics of Al₂O₃/MoO_x to achieve optimizations in thickness and annealing for better passivation and carrier selectivity.

Moreover, there is a lack of work on fabricating CSPC device structures employing TiO_x and MoO_x together on the Al₂O₃ layer in a single device structure. Mehmood et al. showed a simulation model using TiO_x and MoO_x on intrinsic a-Si:H layers and predicted $V_{OC} > 700 \text{ mV}$ [110]. Although Davis et al. had earlier shown the optimization works on Al₂O₃/ TiO_x and Al₂O₃/ MoO_x-based CSPC devices separately, no independent study was followed up for a complete CSPC device structure, combining both TiO_x as electron selective and MoO_x as hole-selective layers on Al₂O₃ passivation layer [102][103].

Lastly, these CSPC devices mentioned earlier have used furnace/ thermal annealing in their fabrication steps in N_2 or forming gas. As a result, the thermal budget and the total annealing time will increase the manufacturing cost and complexity of CSPC devices, defeating the purpose of fabricating low-cost, high-efficiency CSPC Si solar cells. Fortunately, laser processing may prove to be the game changer and overcome these limitations. The usefulness of laser processing has been discussed in Chapter 2 of the thesis. So, a scientific investigation is needed to study and optimize the laser processing method to replace furnace annealing steps in fabricating CSPC Si solar cell devices.

3.4. Investigation of laser heat-induced chemical etching (LHICE) of Si in KOH

In 2017, crystalline silicon PV modules held a dominant market share of approximately 90% in the global PV solar cell industry [1]. Recent works have reported that the laser ablation patterning method has been used to achieve recent breakthroughs in the fabrication of POLO-IBC solar cells with reported efficiency of 26.1% and IBC-HJ crystalline silicon (c-Si) solar cells with 26.3% efficiency [40][111]. However, a key challenge associated with laser processing for Si solar cell manufacturing is the emergence of laser-induced defects and thermal stress within the silicon

lattice, ultimately reducing the effective MCL and, consequently, the conversion efficiency. As a result, the widespread commercialization of high-efficiency Si solar cells hinges on the development of a cost-effective laser-patterning technique that minimizes laser-induced damage. In the semiconductor industry, a commonly employed method for isotropic etching of c-Si involves using a mixture of HF (49%) and HNO₃ (69%) in a 1:19 volume ratio [112]. Additionally, to create an anisotropic-etched micro-texture surface on c-Si, potassium hydroxide (KOH) and tetramethylammonium hydroxide (TMAH) are widely utilized [113]–[117].

Recent findings indicate that the utilization of ultrafast lasers with femtosecond (fs), picosecond (ps), and nanosecond (ns) pulse durations, in conjunction with anisotropic chemical etching employing KOH and TMAH solutions, SF₆ or HCl gases, or stain etchants such as HF-HNO₃, NH₄HF₂-H₂O, NH₄HF₂-NaMnO₄, has enabled the creation of diverse micro- and nanoscale structures and textures in c-Si through laser ablation processes [118]–[123] These structures encompass pores, pillars, porosified pillars, macro-pores, pin-holes, and polygonal pits. They have found application in various domains, including the production of photoluminescent porous Si (Poro-Si), enhancement of hydrophobicity and light-trapping mechanisms in c-Si solar cells and self-cleaning c-Si microelectronic devices, control of reflectance, absorbance, and emissivity in Si-based optical devices. Poro-Si has also been employed in diverse applications, such as Li-ion battery anodes and other devices sensitive to carrier traps and defect density, such as photodetectors, thin-film transistors, and LEDs [124]-[127]. Importantly, these micro- and nanostructures have broader implications beyond c-Si-based solar cells and microelectronics, extending to materials-based devices for novel purposes like achieving super-hydrophobic surfaces, manipulating wettability [128][129], producing unique reflected colors [130], affecting tribological behaviors [131], and preventing bacterial biofouling [132]. Notably, when the energy

delivered by the laser to c-Si exceeds the phase explosion threshold (>0.9 Tc, where $T_c = 7925$ K represents the thermodynamic critical temperature of silicon), it triggers an explosion-like release of ionized surface material due to explosive stress, resulting in the formation of micropores on the silicon surface, as described by Ji et al. [120]. However, these processes introduce significant defects to both the surface and bulk of c-Si wafers or substrates due to extensive laser ablation and high-temperature chemical etching. In fact, the direct interactions between the laser and crystalline silicon appear to have a more pronounced effect than the interactions involving laser-assisted chemical etching. Insufficient characterization of laser-induced damage and inadequate investigation into the preservation of MCL have been noted in previous studies. Furthermore, the role of microsecond (µs) pulse width lasers in low-temperature laser-assisted KOH etching of c-Si and their impact on MCL alteration remain poorly understood. While some studies have reported laser-assisted photochemical wet etching methods where exposure to specific laser wavelengths with optimized intensities selectively enhances the photochemical etch rate at localized regions, this approach is limited to semiconductor materials like c-Si and GaAs, as it relies on the generation of electron-hole pairs and necessitates the use of toxic etchants like HF [133][134].

In the realm of semiconductor processing, it is a well-established fact that the etching rate of KOH increases significantly as the temperature rises, following an exponential pattern described by the Arrhenius equation. The most favorable temperature range for this process typically falls between 80-100 °C. To illustrate, when employing a 30 wt% concentrated KOH solution, the etching rate of c-Si (100) at 20 °C is approximately 1.44 μ m/hour (equivalent to 24 nm/min). However, at 80 °C, the etch rate escalates to around 79 μ m/hour (equivalent to 1316 nm/min) [115]. The mechanism behind silicon etching with KOH involves a two-step sequential oxidation

and etching reaction. During the initial, rate-determining oxidation step, H-terminated Si atoms on the surface undergo oxidation, transforming into OH-terminated Si atoms due to the presence of OH- ions from the KOH aqueous solution. In the presence of H₂O, this process induces polarization and weakens the chemical bonds between silicon and oxygen. Consequently, Si atoms are removed in the form of Si(OH)₄ complexes. The rate of this oxidation process can be enhanced within the optimal temperature range of 80-100 °C. Furthermore, KOH is a highly advantageous silicon etchant due to its non-toxic nature, cost-effectiveness, widespread use, straightforward etching setup requirements, ability to achieve high silicon etch rates, significant anisotropy, moderate Si/SiO₂ etch rate ratio, and the generation of minimal surface roughness during the etching process.

Traditionally, the primary objective when creating surface textures and pyramidal shapes on c-Si surfaces has been to enhance light trapping, a process commonly achieved using alkaline etchants like KOH, NaOH, and TMAH to reduce surface reflectivity to as low as 6% [135]. Importantly, the KOH etching and texturizing of c-Si do not inflict significant damage on the surface quality. Additionally, the surface passivation of the etched or textured c-Si can be further improved by depositing stack layers of SiO₂/Al₂O₃ and SiN_x/Al₂O₃ [136]–[138]. In the context of fabricating interdigitated back-contact (IBC) solar cells, surface passivation can also be accomplished by depositing a plasma-enhanced chemical vapor deposition (PECVD) stack consisting of a-Si/SiO₂/SiN_x (aSON) layers onto the textured c-Si, leading to the attainment of effective surface recombination velocities (SRVs) below 1 cm/s [139].

Notably, Zielke *et al.* reported measuring a very low saturation current density of (174 ± 11) fA/cm² on PERC cells after KOH pyramidal texturization, followed by the deposition of atomic-layer-deposited AlOx, indicating improved contact passivation [140]. Werner *et al.*'s

study demonstrates the achievement of a low SRV below 2.9 cm/s with a 10 nm thick Al₂O₃ layer, deposited through a spatial atomic layer deposition (ALD) process, on KOH-etched n-type (Cz) silicon [141]. Therefore, it is crucial to maintain an optimal temperature range (80°C to 100°C) to facilitate KOH etching and texturization effectively. Laser-induced KOH etching can facilitate the etching process on the c-Si surface at a higher control and selectivity. Fast laser processing expedites temperature rise within a small spatial resolution, which allows pattern control at a higher throughput.

Furthermore, a similar approach of laser-assisted temperature-selective micro-etching and texturization can be applied to various materials. For instance, controlled etching of steel in a mixture of FeCl₃ and aqueous solution containing FeCl₃/HCl/HNO₃ can be used to achieve super-hydrophobicity, manipulate wettability, and produce surface-reflected colors [129], [130], [142], [143]. This technique can also be employed on Ni–Co alloys on steel in a 30% v/v HCl/ethyl alcohol etchant to improve tribological properties [131][144], among other applications. Moreover, this methodology has the potential to surpass the extensive electrochemical etching process in Poro-Si texturization, which often leads to a reduction in carrier lifetime [145].

CHAPTER 4: Laser processing of Interdigitated Back Contact Heterojunction (IBC-HJ) Si Solar cells

In this chapter, we describe the results of a thorough investigation and characterization of the impact of ns laser processing parameters on the various layers of an IBC-HJ architecture. The n- and p-layers for the IBC-HJ structure were selectively patterned with minimal laser-induced damage. The laser ablation of the top sacrificial a-Si:H (p and i) layers on top of SiN_x and a-Si:H (n) layers was carried out, exposing the SiN_x layer underneath. The exposed SiN_x layer was later chemically etched away, exposing the a-Si:H (n) layer. This allowed the deposition of metal contacts on the a-Si:H (n) layer. Different analytical techniques such as micro-photoluminescence (µ-PL), quasi-steady-state photoconductance MCL (QSSPC MCL), optical imaging and ellipsometry, Essential Macleod optical simulations, surface and cross-section morphology by scanning electron microscopy (SEM) and focused ion beam (FIB) SEM, surface elemental and chemical characterizations using energy-dispersive X-ray spectroscopy (EDS), Raman spectroscopy, and high-resolution X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (HR-XPS) have been used for this study. The simulated color chart based on optical interference was generated to be a reliable, independent scientific tool to identify the variation in thickness of individual layers because of laser processing in an IBC-HJ architecture. The efficacy of the approach of indirect laser patterning using UV-laser lithography, photoresists, and selective chemical etching was investigated.

4.1. Experimental

A. Fabrication of IBC-HJ Si Solar cells



Fig. 4.1. Schematic diagram of laser processing steps comprising of (a) starting IBC-HJ test device structure before direct laser ablation, (b) after laser ablation of top sacrificial a-Si:H layers, and (c) after chemical etching of underlying SiN_x layer.

Fig. 4.1. illustrates the diagram of the laser processing steps performed on the rear side of the test structures, which were used in our study to simulate the effects on an IBC-HJ device. In Fig. 4.1. (a), a cross-sectional schematic of the IBC-HJ test structure used in our study is depicted. The upper layers of a-Si:H (p and i) are laser-ablated, exposing the SiN_x layer beneath them. Subsequently, the SiN_x layer is chemically etched to reveal the a-Si:H (n) layer underneath, facilitating the deposition of metal contacts onto the a-Si:H (n) layer through a mask. The development of such a structure with minimal laser damage is crucial for achieving high-efficiency laser-processed IBC-HJ cells [52][46]. These structures were manufactured on 135 μ m n-type Cz Si wafers with a <100> orientation and a resistivity ranging from 1 to 8 Ω ·cm. Before texturization, the wafers underwent cleaning using a standard procedure described in our previous work [146].

The pyramidal textures on the front side of the wafer were created using anisotropic silicon etchant tetra-methyl-ammonium-hydroxide (TMAH). To prevent texturization on the rear side intended for laser processing, a silicon nitride encapsulation layer was applied. The wafers featured a passivating intrinsic amorphous silicon (a-Si:H) layer with a thickness of 10 nm on the front side and varying thicknesses of 8–12 nm on the rear side, achieved using DC-plasma-enhanced chemical vapor deposition (DC-PECVD), as detailed elsewhere [147]. Table 4.1. provides information on the different a-Si:H (i) thicknesses used in all the samples. To minimize reflection losses at the front surface, SiN_x (80 nm)/SiC (20 nm) layers were deposited as the antireflection coating. On the semi-polished rear side, 50 nm of n-doped a-Si:H (n layer) and 100 nm of SiN_x layers were deposited in a finger pattern using a Si shadow mask. A thin layer of deposition was observed beneath the shadow mask due to plasma leakage during the PECVD process. This unintentional deposition of a-Si:H (n) layer caused by plasma leakage was selectively removed using 25% TMAH or 45% KOH (see Table 4.1) and followed by the final deposition step of the blanket layer stack consisting of a-Si:H (i) (10 nm)/a-Si:H (p) (20 nm).

In the case of the indirect approach of laser patterning of IBC-HJ devices, 1.4 μ m thick positive photoresist (PR) AZ5214 was spin-coated on the devices at 4000 rpm. The goal of this experiment was the patterning of the PR layer by UV laser-exposure, which would be succeeded by resist development using AZ 400K solution, selective chemical etching of top sacrificial a-Si:H and SiN_x:H layers, and finally, removal of the remaining PR by AZ 100 remover. The a-Si:H and SiN_x:H layers were selectively etched by (1:100 v/v) HNA etch for 10 sec and 2% HF for 5 sec, respectively.

Table 4.1. Data for iV_{OC} and MCL after laser processing

| Sample | Thickness of a-Si:H (i) layer deposited | Type of etchant | Laser Fluence (J/cm ²) | MCL before laser | iVoc (mV) before laser | MCL (µs) after laser | iVoc (mV) after laser |
|--------|---|--------------------|--|------------------------|---------------------------------|-------------------------------|--------------------------------|
| 01 | 8 nm | КОН | 0.254 | 332 | 660 | 302 | 657 |
| 02 | 8 nm | ТМАН | 0.254 | 807 | 682 | 786 | 682 |
| 03 | 10 nm | TMAH | 0.254 | 1141 | 702 | 1131 | 701 |
| 04 | 10 nm | КОН | 0.61 | 997 | 699 | 473 | 680 |
| 05 | 10 nm | ТМАН | 0.254 | 1563 | 707 | 1255 | 705 |
| 06 | 12 nm | TMAH | 0.254 | 2190 | 720 | 1955 | 719 |

B. Laser parameter optimization

The laser setup consisted of a ytterbium fiber laser (YLP-G-10, IPG Photonics) aligned with the galvanometer scan head (SCANcube 14, SCANLAB), and scan patterns were designed in EZCad (Beijing JCZ Technology Co. Ltd). The specifications were 532 nm wavelength, pulse duration of 1.3 ns, average power of 10 W, 30 kHz repetition rate, and a Gaussian beam profile. The test samples were processed at the full-width half-maximum (FWHM) spot size of 20 μ m at the focal plane, and the fluences were varied from 0.427 to 1.27 J/cm². The laser fluences were calculated by directly measuring its energy at different laser powers using Thorlabs energy/power meter and the laser spot size at FWHM. For each laser fluence, the scan pattern consisted of 13 mm of ~150 μ m width laser ablation regions, comprising 0% overlap between laser spots.



Fig. 4.2. Schematic diagram of the rear side of the laser patterned samples (top view).

The schematic diagram of the top view of a laser-patterned sample is shown in Fig. 4.2. The n-busbar connects all the n-stack layer fingers, and the rest of the isolated region acts as the p-stack layer fingers and p-busbar.

In the case of the indirect approach of laser patterning of photoresist-coated IBC-HJ devices, the UV 355 nm laser parameters were optimized to 50 kHz repetition rate, 80% overlap pulse-to-pulse, and ~150 μ m line widths at the focus. The processing fluence window was optimized to 0.12-0.14 J/cm² for exposure.

C. Characterization Techniques:

The μ -PL configuration employed a 532 nm continuous wave (CW) laser, Melles Griot, as an excitation source, featuring an approximate spot size of 80 μ m. This excitation laser's output power was finely tuned to 70 mW using neutral density (ND) filters and quartz glass reflection to ensure precise μ-PL measurements while not impacting the sample device. The spectrometer, a Horiba Jobin Yvon iHR320, operated by SynerJY v3.5 software, along with an InGaAs detector and an SR830 DSP lock-in amplifier (Stanford Research Systems), were integral components of the setup.

Both MCL and iV_{OC} measurements were conducted through a WCT-120 Silicon Wafer Lifetime Tester from Sinton Instruments. The input of sample thickness was manually set as 0.028 cm with 3.5 Ω -cm resistivity, n-type dopant, 0.7 optical constant and generalized analysis mode. The surface morphology and elemental analysis using SEM/EDS were performed on an FEI Quanta 650 Field Emission SEM. Additionally, cross-sectional morphology characterization was accomplished using the Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc. Helios UC G4 Dual Beam FIB-SEM.

A Renishaw InVia Confocal Raman Microscope equipped with a 405 nm wavelength laser and a spot size of 1.8 µm was employed for Raman spectroscopy. The Raman scattering data were derived from an average of 15 scans, each spanning 25 sec of acquisition time, taken at specific locations on each laser-ablated spot. The high-resolution (HR) XPS, aimed at quantitative surface chemical and elemental composition analysis, was conducted using the PHI Versaprobe III Scanning X-ray Photoelectron Spectrometer, featuring an approximate spot size of 50 µm. To determine the optical constants of the device layers, a J. A. Woollam Company M-2000 Ellipsometer was employed, utilizing a focused light beam with a spot size of approximately 130 µm at a 70° incidence angle.

Before any optical images were captured, the optical microscope was calibrated in its bright-field mode following standard white balancing and color default procedures by using white

calibration disc, shown in Fig. 4.3. The white balancing was done to nullify the effects of optical artefacts introduced by the microscope itself. The light intensity was always kept constant.



Fig. 4.3. The white calibration disc used for white-balancing the optical microscope before any optical experiments conducted.

Based on the extracted experimental ellipsometry optical constant data for c-Si, a-Si:H and SiN_x:H, the simulation and forecasting of the reflected light's color chart were executed using Thin Film Center Inc.'s Essential Macleod software. Modeling of the stack layers of c-Si/a-Si:H (~60 nm)/ SiN_x:H (~100 nm)/ a-Si:H (~30 nm) was accomplished similar to the actual n-stack dimensions in Fig. 4.1. The thickness of each layer of the stack model were modified to represent the removal of each of the stack layers. The simulation additionally furnished a color chart spanning an incidence angle ranging from 0° to 70° for each layer. The choice of the illuminant source was D65, representing average daylight while adhering to the observer response defined in the CIE 1931 standard [148]. D65, as specified by the International Commission on Illumination

(CIE), serves as a standard white light illuminant characterized by a correlated color temperature (CCT) of 6504 K. The color-mapping function CIE 1931, known as the standard colorimetric observer, captures the typical chromatic response of an average human within a 2° arc within the fovea. These simulated colors were compared to the calibrated white-balanced optical images. Later, the reflectance spectrum of the complete n-stack layers was simulated, which was later compared to the experimental reflectance data from spectrophotometry.

4.2. Results and discussion

In the IBC-HJ architecture, a-Si:H (i) serves as a passivation layer for the device, providing protection and enhancement. However, any laser-induced damages, such as the generation of defects and crystallization during ns pulsed laser patterning, can potentially decrease the Minority Carrier Lifetime (MCL) and the implied open-circuit voltage (iV_{OC}). Various characterization techniques, including carrier lifetime measurement, optical imaging, surface morphology assessment, and chemical composition analysis, offer both qualitative and quantitative insights into the impact of laser processing on the different layers within the IBC-HJ test structure.

Following the laser processing step, the uppermost layer of a-Si:H is removed, exposing the underlying SiN_x . This SiN_x layer is selectively chemically etched using a 10% HF solution for a duration of 6 minutes. A dry resist layer is applied to safeguard the front Anti-Reflective Coating (ARC) during HF etching, which is subsequently eliminated using 1-methyl-2-pyrrolidone (NMP).

With the underlying a-Si:H (n) layer now accessible for contact purposes, an interdigitated pattern of p and n metals is formed using a shadow masking technique and e-beam evaporation of aluminum (Al) with a thickness of 1 μ m. This final step completes the process of transforming the test structure into a fully realized IBC-HJ solar cell.

A. Passivation quality characterization

It is well known that impurities, dangling bonds, atomic vacancies, and imperfections on the non-passivated silicon surface create intermediary trap levels for electron-hole pairs (e^--h^+). Similar defects emerge during laser processing, impacting the overall performance of IBC-HJ solar cells. The effectiveness of passivation can be assessed through measurements of quasi-steady-state photoconductance (QSSPC) carrier lifetime and the use of the μ -PL technique. These techniques serve as dependable means to quantify the extent of passivation quality.



Fig. 4.4. µ-PL data for different laser fluence ablations. Each of the measurements was an average of over 20 scans.

For passivated c-Si substrates with texturing on both sides, photoluminescence (PL) is emitted around the wavelength range of 1150–1170 nm [149]. Fig. 4.4. illustrates the μ -PL data at various laser fluences. The PL signal attenuated as the laser fluence was elevated from the unablated state to a condition of 1.27 J/cm². All the actual IBC-HJ solar cell test samples, except for sample #04, were processed at the laser fluence of 0.254 J/cm². In Table I, it can be observed that there was a slightly marginal reduction in both implied open-circuit voltage (iV_{oc}) (~3 mV) and Minority Carrier Lifetime (MCL). These measurements were taken at a minority carrier density (MCD) of 1×10^{15} cm⁻³. Sample #04 underwent laser processing at a higher fluence, 0.61 J/cm², resulting in a notable decrease of 19 mV in iV_{oc} and a reduction of approximately 500 µs in MCL.



Fig. 4.5. Peak μ -PL intensity and $\Delta i V_{OC}$ versus laser fluence.

While QSSPC characterization is commonly employed for accurate lifetime and iV_{OC} assessments in IBC devices, a recent report has suggested potential artifacts influencing lifetime results at MCD exceeding 1×10^{15} cm⁻³ due to lateral inhomogeneity in the IBC structures [150].

The μ -PL technique was effectively conducted to identify the optimal laser processing condition for IBC-HJ solar cell production. Fig. 4.5. demonstrates a relationship between μ -PL intensity and the change $\Delta i V_{OC}$ with each incremental rise in laser fluence. As the fluence increased, both the peak μ -PL intensity and iV_{OC} experienced a decline.

B. Optical characterization

The optical characterizations, including optical imaging, ellipsometry, and spectrophotometry, offer valuable perspectives into absorption depth, reflectance, and transmittance alterations for each layer at specific wavelengths. Consequently, they enhance our comprehension of surface modifications following laser processing. A noteworthy facet of these analyses is the utilization of a color identification chart, which serves as a reliable, independent method for gauging adjustments in layer thickness and optical properties during laser processing.



Fig. 4.6. Optical images of different laser processed regions at different laser fluences (a) 0.254 J/cm^2 , (b) 0.427 J/cm^2 , (c) 0.439 J/cm^2 , (d) 0.595 J/cm^2 , (e) 0.783 J/cm^2 , (f) 1.01 J/cm^2 and (g) 1.27 J/cm^2 . All the pictures were taken with a scale of 30 μ m.
The various surface modifications and shifts in color resulting from distinct laser fluence processing settings are shown in Fig. 4.6. Notably, the SiN_x layer exhibited more pronounced concentric fringe formation as the laser fluence increased from 0.254 to 1.27 J/cm². Moreover, the extent of laser-induced damage at the focal point of the laser-ablated spots became more conspicuous with higher fluence levels.



Fig. 4.7. Optical constants n, k vs. wavelength (nm) curve of the IBC-HJ test structure.

The quantitative foundation for designing and interpreting characteristics in multilayer stacks and tandem-structure devices is based on the intrinsic material optical constants. The optical constants, refractive index (n), and extinction coefficient (k) are instrumental in simulating the reflections from various stack layers, aiding in determining approximate thicknesses for laser-ablated and etched layers. The optical constants were precisely determined using an optical ellipsometer, accounting for a roughness of 5 nm and employing a 70° incidence angle. The results are depicted in Fig. 4.7. The acquired n and k values were then integrated into Essential Macleod software, facilitating simulations of normalized reflectance and color representation. Through this

simulation, the overall thickness of the uppermost a-Si:H layers was calculated to be approximately 26 nm, notably close to the anticipated 30 nm thickness for a-Si:H layers deposited via PECVD. The optical reflectance measurements were carried out using an optical spectrophotometer. Although both the experimental and simulated normalized reflectance curves closely align, as evidenced in Fig. 4.8., differences in the magnitudes of normalized reflectance stem from the semi-polished textured surface. Notably, the simulations were conducted with the assumption of a smooth surface.



Fig. 4.8. Normalized reflectance versus wavelength (nm) curve for IBC-HJ test structure.



Fig. 4.9. Simulated colors for test structures (a) before any laser ablation, (b) after laser-ablation of sacrificial layers which expose SiN_x layer, and (c) underlying c-Si exposed due to the higher laser fluence, and (d) to (f) their respective optical images of IBC-HJ test structure.

The optical color chart simulations were carried out after reflectance simulation. In Fig. 4.9. (a)–(c), the simulated colors (at incidence angles of 0° –70°) for the IBC-HJ test structure are presented: firstly, prior to any laser ablation; secondly, following the laser ablation of sacrificial layers exposing the SiN_x layer; and thirdly, due to the higher laser fluence, uncovering the underlying c-Si. Correspondingly, Figures 4.9. (d)–(f) display the actual optical images of these scenarios. Remarkably, the predicted colors closely align with the actual optical colors. By comparing the distinct projected colors with the observed optical colors, it becomes feasible to deduce alterations in the thickness of laser-processed layers. Thus, the color identification chart emerges as a dependable tool for estimating the thickness of specific layers, identifying their removal and controlling the laser fluence.

C. Surface topology and cross-sectional morphology characterization

Utilizing high-resolution SEM imaging enables the analysis of surface topography, structure, and composition modifications resulting from laser interactions. This further corroborates the optical images and color chart findings discussed earlier. The top-view SEM images were captured using a secondary electron (SE) mode at a beam energy of 15 kV.



Fig. 4.10. Top-view SEM images of ablations at different laser fluences of (a) 0.254 J/cm², (b) 0.427 J/cm², (c) 0.439 J/cm², (d) 0.595 J/cm², (e) 0.783 J/cm², (f) 1.01 J/cm² and (g) 1.27 J/cm².



Fig. 4.11. FIB-SEM image of the cross-section at the edge of an ablated spot at the fluence 0.254 J/cm².

In Fig. 4.10., these top-view SEM images illustrate the emergence of circular ring patterns on the SiN_x layer relative to the laser fluence. For fluences surpassing 1.01 J/cm², the uppermost SiN_x layers experience ruptures and detachment at the central region of laser impact, an observation subsequently confirmed by our EDS analysis. Given that SiN_x is transparent to the 532 nm laser, the fluence aligns with the threshold at which Si undergoes melting [151][152]. In this context, at the core of the laser beam, the subjacent a-Si:H (n and i) layers attain a molten liquid state for a duration sufficient to enable the accumulation and release of H₂ gas pressure [153], potentially accompanied by a-Si vapor. This localized melting of a-Si is a consequence of the laser-induced heat, leading to the melting of the surrounding a-Si in proximity to the laser spot.

Fig. 4.10. (a) depicts a minimal removal of the upper sacrificial a-Si:H layer at a fluence of 0.254 J/cm². A more pronounced laser-based removal of the a-Si:H thin film is illustrated in Fig. 4.10. (b) at a laser fluence of 0.427 J/cm², with a reduced debris formation. As the laser fluence is incrementally raised, discernible ring fringes appear on the surface, as evidenced in Fig. 4.10. (c) and (d). With higher laser fluences, the top sacrificial a-Si:H layer is ablated, and the n-layer beneath the SiNx absorbs a portion of the laser energy. The SiN_x layer's transparency to the 532 nm laser wavelength results in predominant light absorption within the n-layer [154]– [156]. This absorption leads to the heating, melting, and vaporizing of the n-layer, accompanied by the liberation of H₂. The vapor absorbs a fraction of the laser energy, attaining elevated temperatures that induce ionization and the formation of plasma [157][158]. Fast localized heating due to laser action, along with plasma creation, triggers an expanding shockwave, generating visible fringes upon the solidification of the material. The presence of the SiN_x overlayer significantly amplifies the generated pressures compared to scenarios without the overlayer. At even higher laser fluences, the plasma pressure intensifies, ultimately leading to the rupture of the SiN_x layer, as depicted in Fig. 4.10. (f) and (g). This interpretation is further substantiated through EDS and XPS characterization methods.

The FIB-SEM imaging allows the characterization of the cross-section morphology after removing materials by the ion-milling process. The gallium source was used for ion milling, and the device was coated with 10 nm of Au and a ~1.5 μ m thick layer of Pt prior to imaging. In Fig. 4.11., the FIB-SEM image shows the cross-section of the laser-ablated region at the fluence of 0.254 J/cm².





Fig. 4.12. Line-map EDS spectra for N K α 1 at different laser fluences of (a) 0.254 J/cm², (b) 0.427 J/cm², (c) 0.595 J/cm², and (d) 1.01 J/cm². The green spectrum denotes N (K α), and the red spectrum denotes Si (LI).

It's important to highlight that line-mapping EDS spectra were acquired at a beam energy of 5 kV. This choice was deliberate to exclusively capture the nitrogen element N (K α 1) (depicted by the green-colored spectrum) along the scan length D, corresponding to the presence of the SiN_x layer. In Fig. 4.12. (a)–(d), an observable trend emerges: an increase in laser fluence correlates with a noticeable dip in the N-peak situated at the center of the laser impact, signifying a reduction in the SiN_x layer's thickness. Notably, at laser fluences of 0.254 and 0.427 J/cm² (as demonstrated in Fig. 4.12. (a) and (b)), the N (K α 1) profiles display considerable similarity, indicating the removal of the upper a-Si:H layer and the exposure of the underlying SiN_x layer. Subsequently, as depicted in Fig. 4.12. (c) and (d), where laser fluences of 0.595 and 1.01 J/cm² were utilized, the line mapping was restricted to half of the laser spot area. Notably, the N peak gradually diminishes, ultimately plummeting at the center. This observation signifies the thickness of the exposed SiN_x tapers as one progresses toward the spot's central region. This finding indicates that, for fluences exceeding 0.427 J/cm², a distinct gradient in SiN_x thickness manifests, ultimately leading to its rupture.



Fig. 4.13. (a) Raman spectra of underneath a-Si:H passivation layer undergoing amorphous to polycrystalline phase under various laser fluences. (b) Raman spectra of decreasing SiN_x under different laser fluence conditions.

Employing the refractive index values (n and k) extracted from Fig. 4.7., the computed absorption depth for the 405 nm blue wavelength Raman excitation laser in the a-Si:H layer (n = 5.155; k = 1.954) is approximately 16.49 nm. Correspondingly, for the SiNx layer (n = 2.344; k =0.0003), the calculated absorption depth is approximately 54.9 μ m. This translates to roughly 16% of the incident blue light intensity traversing through the uppermost 30 nm of the sacrificial a-Si layer and reaching the SiN_x layer. In Fig. 4.13. (a), we present the Raman scattering data originating from the underlying a-Si:H layer, which undergoes phase transitions from an amorphous to a polycrystalline state at different laser fluences. Evidently, a broad Raman peak centered around $\sim 480 \text{ cm}^{-1}$, in line with the literature, signifies the presence of the a-Si:H layer [159]. A slight shift in the a-Si:H peak is observable with the increasing laser fluence. Notably, at a laser fluence of 1.01 J/cm², a distinct sharp peak emerges at 498.6 cm⁻¹, approaching the crystalline Si peak. Moving to Fig. 4.13. (b), a discernible decline in the broad peak at $\sim 800 \text{ cm}^{-1}$ is depicted, correlating with an increase in laser fluences. This peak is attributed to the presence of SiN_x [160][161]. Under conditions of non-ablation, the Raman scattering stems from both the upper sacrificial a-Si:H layers and the underlying SiN_x, with only approximately 16% of the incident blue light reaching the a-Si:H/SiN_x interface. Consequently, the broad SiN_x Raman peak at $\sim 800 \text{ cm}^{-1}$ exhibits the lowest intensity counts. Contrastingly, under ablation conditions, the total intensity counts of the SiN_x peak increase as the remaining amount of a-Si:H layer becomes negligible. As the laser fluences rise, a reduction in the peak's intensity is observed. This trend can be attributed to the diminishing presence of the underlying SiN_x due to ablation, resulting in

reduced Raman scattering. The EDS spectra validate the phenomenon of thinning out of the SiN_x layer.

| Fluences (J/cm ²) | Intensity of Si (2p) (a.u.) | Intensity of N (1s) (a.u.) | Si(2p): N(1s) Ratio |
|----------------------------------|--------------------------------|-------------------------------|------------------------|
| Unablated | 37.1 | 0.4 | 92.8 |
| 0.427 | 22.57 | 2.89 | 7.8096 |
| 0.595 | 22.93 | 3.62 | 6.3342 |
| 1.01 | 25.6 | 2.1 | 7.0718 |

Table 4.2. Data of Si:N ratio at various laser fluence



Fig. 4.14. XPS Si(2p) spectra of (a) unablated, (b) 0.254 J/cm^2 , (c) 0.427 J/cm^2 , (d) 0.595 J/cm^2 , (e) 1.01 J/cm^2 fluences and (f) N(1s) spectra of all the laser fluences. The average measurement error across all elements was found to be ~10.7%.

High-resolution XPS (HR-XPS) measurements were conducted with a spot size of 50 µm, resulting in an average signal obtained over two laser spots with a 20 µm beam diameter. The error bars in all XPS measurements were within ± 0.2 eV. The XPS spectra were calibrated to the C (1s) peak at 284.8 eV following ASTM/NIST guidelines [162]. The collective measurement error across all elements, computed from five distinct XPS measurements in the unablated region, was approximately 10.7%. Table 4.2. highlights a declining Si(2p): N(1s) ratio as the laser fluence increases, indicative of an augmented exposure of the SiN_x layer after removing the sacrificial a-Si:H layers. A marginal upswing in the Si(2p): N(1s) ratio is evident at laser fluences surpassing 1.01 J/cm², attributed to the emergence of underlying c-Si at the laser spot centers. Within Fig. 4.14. (a)–(e), the presence of a Si (2p) peak at 99.4 eV signifies the existence of Si-Si bonds within both the a-Si:H and c-Si layers. A Si-O peak at 103.5 eV indicates the formation of SiO₂, corroborating findings by He et al. [163]. The Si-N peak at 101.84 eV and a potential N-Si-O complex peak at 102.64 eV under a fluence of 0.595 J/cm² align with existing literature [164]-[166]. Fig. 4.14. (a) portrays the presence of the upper a-Si:H layer and its inherent oxide during unablated conditions. In Fig. 4.14. (b), the Si-N peak confirms the targeted ablation of the upper a-Si:H layer, leading to SiN_x exposure. A comparable peak structure is evident in Fig. 4.14. (c). In Fig. 4.14. (d), at a fluence of 0.595 J/cm², the robust emergence of the N-Si-O peak indicates the conversion of the SiN_x layer into a silicon oxy-nitrile (N-Si-O) complex at the laser spot center due to the Gaussian beam profile. Fig. 4.14. (e) displays the disappearance of the N-Si-O peak, aligned with the peel-off phenomenon observed at the laser spot centers. Lastly, Fig. 4.14. (f) showcases the absence of the N (1s) peak in the unablated sample and the emergence of the N (1s) peak at 397.9 cm⁻¹, substantiating the presence of the SiN_x layer owing to the N-Si bond [167].

Hence, the comprehensive XPS and Raman investigation collectively demonstrates that the a-Si:H layer can be laser ablated to uncover the underlying SiN_x layer through ns laser processing, all while preserving passivation.

E. Comparison with lithography patterned devices

The novelty of using a photoresist (PR) coating on IBC-HJ sample devices was that the selective UV laser exposure of the top sacrificial PR layer coating would create patterns without any direct laser-induced heat damaging the device. Later, after the development of the laser-exposed areas, selective chemical etching was conducted, followed by stripping off the remaining PR layer. This concept needs no complex masking and ensures flexible spatial-resolved patterning. The positive PR used in this experiment was AZ5214.



Fig. 4.15. Cross-sectional SEM image of IBC device after laser exposure of photoresist and selective chemical etching of top sacrificial a-Si:H and SiN_x:H layers.

| Sample | Laser Fluence | 1.4 μm thick Photoresist | Before laser exposure | | After laser exposure and selective chemical etchings | |
|--------|------------------|--------------------------------|--------------------------|--------------------------|---|--------------------------|
| | (J/CIII-) | | MCL (µs) | iV _{OC} (mV) | MCL (µs) | iV _{OC} (mV) |
| 01 | 0.14 | AZ5214 | 679 | 699 | 573 | 693 |
| 02 | 0.12 | AZ5214 | 1280 | 721 | 1227 | 720 |

Table 4.3. MCL and iVoc before and after laser exposure of the photoresist layer

The cross-sectional SEM images, shown in Fig. 4.15., showed the success of this approach. A negligible drop in iV_{OC} (< 7 mV) and in MCL (~4.1% decrease), shown in Table 4.3., was observed after laser exposure and selective chemical etchings. Hence, optimized UV laser exposure to the PR layer induced negligible damage to the IBC solar cell devices. This indirect laser patterning has proved to be a potential method of fabricating IBC devices at high throughput and lower complexity.

4.3. Conclusion

The ns pulsed laser patterning for fabricating IBC-HJ solar cells is demonstrated. The laser fluence required for the removal of the top sacrificial a-Si:H layer was found to be 0.254 J/cm^2 . At this laser fluence, minimal effect on carrier lifetime and a change of iV_{OC} of only ~5 mV was observed. At these laser fluences, the a-Si: H sacrificial layer gets ablated, and the SiN_x layer is exposed. With the increase in laser fluence, the removal of the SiN_x layer was observed because of the laser light absorption in the underneath layers and the development of vapor pressure. The underneath a-Si:H (i and n) layers, acting as passivation and dopant layers, convert to the polycrystalline phase as laser fluence is increased beyond 0.595 J/cm². At laser fluences greater than 1.01 J/cm², direct laser crystallization was observed and resulted in the rupturing of the SiN_x layer at the center of the laser spot. The presence of the SiN_x layer because of the laser ablation of the a-Si:H layer was confirmed by line-mapping EDS and Raman measurements. The Raman data also showed gradual crystallization at the laser spot and a decrease of the underlying SiN_x layer with increased laser fluence. The XPS measurements showed the growth of SiO₂, SiN_x, a complex N-Si-O at the surface (at 0.595 J/cm²), and a decrease in the Si/N ratio after laser processing. The optical constants of the layers were measured using ellipsometry, and it helped to generate color charts, which can be reliably used to identify the changes in layer properties under different laser processing parameters. Such a method can also be used for multilayer identification in different thin-film devices. The ns pulsed lasers optimized in this work can successfully fabricate IBC-HJ solar cells with no significant degradation of iV_{OC} by the proper selection of laser fluence. Lastly, the indirect laser patterning of IBC devices using photoresists and selective chemical etchings gave high-performance results of iV_{OC} as high as 720 mV, similar to optimized direct laser patterning of IBC-HJ devices.

CHAPTER 5: Rapid Thermal Annealing (RTA) of p-TOPCon Si Solar cells

In this chapter, the feasibility and efficacy of RTA processing in the fabrication of in-situ B-doped p-TOPCon solar cells have been thoroughly investigated and optimized. We started our scientific investigation on the low-temperature (530 °C) LPCVD TOPCon devices. Here, we present the results of RTA under air versus N_2 and the effect of high-intensity light under heat on in-situ B-doped p-TOPCon solar cells. The mechanism of passivation degradation was investigated through various measurements, such as surface morphology, carrier lifetime, crystallinity, chemical compositional changes, electrical sheet resistances, and oxidation state of SiO_x. The results of SiN_x:H coating under RTA conditions were also characterized.

Later, we continued this scientific investigation for the high-temperature (588 °C) LPCVD TOPCon devices. Here, we used the prior optimizations of RTA processing and studied the effects of RTA heating, holding, and cooling times on the passivation quality, iV_{oc}, and dopant activation. The impacts of B-doped poly-Si and pulsed RTA were also explored. The device characterizations were conducted using photoluminescence (PL), QSSPC, and 4-point probing. This detailed study of RTA processing helps in understanding the effects of fast heating-cooling cycles during annealing and optimization of the potential use of laser processing of p-TOPCon devices.

5.1. Experimental

A. Fabrication of the p-TOPCon test structure

The p-TOPCon architecture employed in this study utilizes an in-situ B-doped poly-Si/SiO_x stack on n-type c-Si wafers. The in-situ boron doping method offers multiple advantages over ex-situ methods, including simplicity, independence from dopant pre-deposition processes, higher throughput, the increased deposition rate of the poly-Si layer, elevated boron concentration, enhanced field-induced passivation, and a reduced optimal annealing temperature [168]–[170].



Fig. 5.1. Schematic diagram of a fabricated TOPCon test structure fabricated at (a) lower LPCVD temperature 530 °C and (b). higher LPCVD temperature of 588 °C. The dotted a-SiN_x:H layers are considered when the test structure is TOPCon/SiN_x:H

Fig. 5.1. presents the schematic diagrams of the symmetric TOPCon test structure and the SiNx:H layer (dotted). These test structures were fabricated on 200 μ m thick n-type monocrystalline Cz-type <100> silicon wafers with a 3.2 Ω ·cm bulk resistivity. Saw damage was eliminated by subjecting the wafers to a 9% wt. KOH solution at 80 °C for 12 minutes, resulting in a semi-planarized surface. The wafers were meticulously cleaned in a sequence involving

piranha solution (96% wt. H₂SO₄: H₂O₂: DI :: 1:1:2) and SC-2 solution (38% wt. HCl: H₂O₂: DI :: 1:1:2), with oxide removal (5% wt. HF solution) performed between each step and at the process conclusion. The temperature of the solutions ranged between 50 and 60 °C. Following this, an ultrathin layer of SiO_x (~1.5 nm) was grown on both sides of the silicon using 70% wt. electronics grade HNO₃ at 100 °C for 15 minutes. The subsequent step involved the growth of in-situ borondoped polysilicon on both sides of the wafer using a Tystar tube low-pressure chemical vapor deposition (LPCVD) system using silane and diborane precursor gases. Two sets of test samples were fabricated, where the first set had a polysilicon layer grown at 530 °C and the second set of test samples at 588 °C for 27 minutes. The resulting thickness of the polysilicon layers in the first set of samples, as shown in Fig. 5.1. (a), was approximately 30 nm, and in the second set of test samples, the thickness was ~ 100 nm, as shown in Fig. 5.1. (b). Furthermore, some samples from the first set were coated with an 80 nm layer of SiN_x : H on both sides in a Centrotherm plasmaenhanced chemical vapor deposition (PECVD) reactor to achieve improved passivation through hydrogenation. The furnace-annealed sample underwent annealing in nitrogen at 875 °C for 30 minutes in a Centrotherm tube furnace with a ramp-up from 600 °C at approximately 10 °C/min. The reason for growing the second set of samples at 588 °C was to enhance the polycrystallinity compared to lower samples grown at lower temperatures.

Before any subsequent processing steps, $1 \text{ cm} \times 1 \text{ cm}$ dimension samples were cut from a singular 6-inch test wafer to serve as the test samples for all material characterization except carrier lifetime measurements. Quasi-steady-state photoconductance (QSSPC) carrier lifetime measurements were conducted on test samples of size 1 in². The QSSPC sensor coil exhibited a diameter of 4 cm. For each thermal annealing test, a total of three samples were meticulously prepared. The film thickness variation across a 1 cm length was determined to have a maximum

deviation of $\pm 5\%$. It is important to note that the homogeneity of boron concentration was not assessed.

Both rapid thermal annealing (RTA) and forming gas annealing (FGA) were conducted within the AnnealSys rapid thermal processing (RTP) system, employing various processing gas environments such as ultrapure N_2 and forming gas (composed of 5% H₂ and 95% Ar) from Praxair. The surrounding air was used for air annealing, with the room's humidity recorded at 40%–42%. It is worth noting that the temperature range for breaking Si-H bonds and dehydrogenation spans from 300 to 550 °C, and a slower heating rate is employed to prevent the formation of blisters [171].



Fig. 5.2. Schematic diagram of the RTA temperature profile conducted for the first set of test samples with lower temperature (530 °C) LPCVD poly-Si layer. (Adapted from [87], with the permission of MDPI, *Energies*.)

In the case of the first set of test samples with lower temperature (530 °C) LPCVD poly-Si, all RTAs consisted of a three-step process, as shown in Fig. 5.2. The three-step approach was adapted from Lee *et al.*'s work, though their study was confined to tube-furnace annealing [87]. The first step involved a 30-minute ramp-up from room temperature to 350 °C, followed by a 30minute dwell. Subsequently, a 30-minute ramp-up to 500 °C was carried out, followed by a 30minute dwell. The final step comprised a 10-minute ramp-up to specific annealing temperatures, such as 625, 750, 825, and 875 °C, with a 5-minute dwell time. Both N₂ and air atmospheres were used for these RTAs. The cooling rate during RTA was about 300 °C/min, compared to about 3 °C/min in the tube furnace. The rapid cooling rate underscores the expeditious nature of our RTA processing. For the FGA process, the annealing treatment occurred at 425 °C, forming gas for 1 hour. To investigate potential light-induced damage from the tungsten-halogen lamp in the RTA system, a 500 µm thick p-type c-Si wafer cover with a $1.05'' \times 1.05''$ area was placed over the test samples during all annealing procedures, regardless of the annealing atmosphere. The avoidance of physical contact between the Si wafer cover and the test sample was ensured using small Si spacers. The test samples were subjected to direct light exposure using the three-step RTA process at 825 °C in N₂ and air to assess the impact of light-induced degradation. Furthermore, a few selected test samples from the first set (of LPCVD 530 °C) with a SiN_x:H layer underwent direct RTA at 825 °C in N₂, followed by FGA.



Fig. 5.3. Schematic diagram of the RTA temperature profile conducted for the second set of test samples with higher temperature (588 °C) LPCVD poly-Si layer.

In the case of the second set of test samples with higher-temperature (588 °C) LPCVD poly-Si, the variations were made in the RTA heating time (30 sec to 150 sec), holding time (10 sec to 150 sec) and cooling time (30 sec to 300 sec) in N₂. The temperature profile of the RTA process is depicted in Fig. 5.3. The pulsed form of RTA, as shown in Fig. 5.4., was also used to study the passivation quality under a series of pulsing heating, holding, and cooling times. Only t_{hold} was varied as 10 sec or 60 sec. All other time frames, including time between any 2 pulses at 550 °C, consisted of 60 sec. Such a design was formulated to relieve thermal stress.



Fig. 5.4. Schematic diagram of the 5-pulses RTA temperature profile.

To investigate the effect of the B-doped poly-Si layer on the passivation quality and the extent of the boron dopant diffusion at the SiO_x/Si interfaces, four test samples of $1 \text{ cm} \times 1 \text{ cm}$

area, including the starting and the reference furnace anneal samples were selected. The B-doped poly-Si layer was selectively etched using 20% wt. KOH at 40 °C for 250 sec at an etch rate of - 0.4 nm/s. The first sample was as-prepared (starting), the second was furnace annealed, the third was KOH etched, and the fourth went through RTA and then KOH etched. The KOH etching kept the SiO_x layer on the silicon wafer.

B. Characterization techniques

Except for the QSSPC iV_{oc} measurements, all characterization studies were conducted on test samples with an area of 1 cm². The surface morphology was examined using a 15° stage tilt in an FEI Quanta 650 Field Emission Scanning Electron Microscope. The QSSPC iV_{oc} measurements were executed on test samples with an area of $(1'' \times 1'')$ using the WCT-120 Silicon Wafer Lifetime Tester from Sinton Instruments. The input of sample thickness was manually set as 0.02 cm with 2.8 Ω -cm resistivity, n-type dopant, 0.7 optical constant and generalized analysis mode. These iV_{oc} measurements were performed under 1 Sun conditions.

For passivation characterization using photoluminescence (PL), an experimental setup was used comprising a continuous-wave laser (Melles Griot) with a wavelength of 532 nm and power of 2 W as the excitation source. The spot size was approximately 1 mm. The spectrometer was a Horiba Jobin Yvon iHR320 operated by SynerJY v3.5 software, coupled with an InGaAs detector and an SR830 DSP lock-in amplifier from Stanford Research Systems. To prevent detector saturation, minimize heating of test samples, and ensure a high signal-to-noise ratio, the laser power was reduced to 70 mW using neutral density filters and quartz glass reflection. Each PL spectrum reading was an average of 10 scans. The absolute PL intensity values are arbitrary but can be used to compare the passivation quality. The PL intensity peak at ~1150 nm was due to the

c-Si bandgap of ~1.1 eV [172]. Micro-PL measurements were also performed to assess and differentiate passivation quality on the blister and non-blister regions. This μ -PL measurement had a spot size of approximately 150 μ m. The PL data carried an approximate intensity error of around $\pm 2.6\%$.

For crystallinity measurements using Raman spectroscopy, a Renishaw InVia TM Confocal Raman Microscope was utilized with a 405 nm excitation wavelength laser and a spot size of 1.8 µm. Each Raman scattering data point was an average of ten scans, each with a 15-second acquisition time. A reference sample was used prior to measuring the test samples to account for factors such as optics, mounting effects, and crystallinity changes.

Sheet resistances were determined using a Jandel four-point probe station for electrical characterization. Chemical compositional characterization was done using Fourier transform infrared (FTIR) spectroscopy on a Thermo Scientific Nicolet iS50 FT-IR instrument. Each FTIR reading comprised an average of 256 scans, with background readings averaged over 200 scans.

X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS) characterization was employed to ascertain quantitative surface chemical and elemental composition, depth profiling, and oxidation state determination. This was carried out on a PHI Versaprobe III scanning X-ray photoelectron spectrometer with a spot size of around 200 μ m and an Al monochromatic X-ray source. The pass energy was set at 280 eV with a 0.5 eV acquisition step. For the XPS spectra of TOPCon structures, the C(1s) peak was calibrated to 284.8 eV following ASTM/NIST standards [162]. For the TOPCon/SiN_x:H samples, the N(1s) peak was calibrated to 397.86 eV [173]. The XPS measurements for SiO_x oxidation states carried an error bar of approximately 0.2 eV.

5.2. Results and discussion

The experimental findings and characterization results are discussed in this section. We investigated the effects of RTA atmospheres, high-intensity lamplight environment, and SiN_x:H coatings on the first set of test samples with lower temperatures (530 °C) LPCVD poly-Si. They have been discussed in sub-sections 5.2.A. to 5.2.C. The scientific findings from this study led us to a newer approach of increasing the LPCVD temperature to 588 °C and a thicker poly-Si layer for the second set of test samples. We continued our detailed scientific investigation into understanding and optimizing the effects of RTA heating, holding, and cooling times, the effects of B-doped poly-Si layers on passivation quality, and the pulsed form of RTA. These results have been discussed in sub-sections 5.2.D. to 5.2.I.

A. Study of the effects of RTA atmospheres

1. Surface morphology



Fig. 5.5. Top-view SEM images of (a) as-deposited sample, (b) blisters (black areas) after RTA at 875 °C in air, and (c) blisters (black areas) after RTA at 875 °C in N₂.

Fig. 5.5. (a) presents a top-view image of the samples in their as-deposited state. No blistering was detected, though octahedral pyramidal features were evident on the surface. These structures resulted from KOH etching during the semi-planarization process and remained

unaffected by variations in annealing temperatures and durations. A study by Schröder *et al.* [174] has previously discussed the observation and potential mechanism behind such pyramidal features during the KOH etching of Si. Fig. 5.5. (b) showcases the top-view SEM image of blisters observed on samples air-annealed at 875 °C. Notably, a higher density of similar blisters was observed in N₂-annealed samples at 875 °C, as depicted in Fig. 5.5. (c). These blisters covered approximately 1% of the total surface area for air-annealed samples, while in N₂-annealed samples, they covered roughly 3%–4% of the total surface area. The morphology of samples annealed in the tube furnace is not shown, as no discernible changes were identified.

The elevated-temperature annealing induced the separation of Si-H bonds, leading to the liberation of atomic hydrogen within the poly-Si/SiO_x/c-Si structure. These atomic hydrogens aggregated to form molecular H₂, which then escaped under its considerable pressure, causing the rupture of the polysilicon layer and manifesting as blisters [175]. The implementation of a three-step procedure involving lower-temperature annealing served to mitigate the formation of blisters. Additionally, samples annealed in the furnace exhibited a diminished presence of blisters, potentially attributed to the slower heating rates compared to the rapid thermal annealing (RTA) process.

2. Surface passivation quality

Fig. 5.6. illustrates the iV_{OC} variation with the RTA temperatures under N₂ and air atmospheres. An optimal annealing temperature range emerged around 825 °C, with iV_{OC} declining beyond this threshold. This trend might be attributed to potential degradation affecting the SiO₂ passivation layer at higher temperatures.



Fig. 5.6. Graph showing the dependence of iV_{OC} on the RTA temperatures. The data are given for RTA both in N₂ and air atmospheres. The graphs also show the iV_{OC} value for the sample without and after furnace annealing.

Notably, the iV_{OC} peak value proved higher in an air environment (649 mV) compared to N₂ (600 mV). Given that the in-situ B-doped poly-Si layers within these test samples were formed through the LPCVD process at a relatively lower temperature of 530 °C, a substantial initial hydrogen content was present, which increased the likelihood of blister formation. Notably, the iV_{OC} value of the RTA sample did not reach the level observed in the tube-furnace-annealed sample (688 mV). This discrepancy may be attributed to the higher blister density associated with the RTA process, potentially leading to the degradation of passivation quality.

3. Photoluminescence



(a)



(b)



(c)

Fig. 5.7. (a) Qualitative dependence of peak PL intensity on the RTA temperatures for various annealing conditions. The iV_{OC} (in mV) numbers are provided on the graph, and (b) the dependence of iV_{OC} on the peak PL intensity. The data are given for RTA in N₂ and subsequent FGA only, and (c) PL intensity on and outside blister areas.

Fig. 5.7. (a) shows the trend of peak PL intensity with respect to RTA temperatures within N_2 and air atmospheres, as well as FGAs. Notably, the optimal annealing temperature of 825 °C yielded the highest peak PL intensity, further enhanced by FGA. Within the N_2 -annealed test sample, the peak PL intensity reached 563 a.u., while FGA propelled it to 632 a.u. Similarly, for air annealing, the highest peak PL intensity achieved was 652 a.u., and FGA facilitated a rise to 673 a.u. Comparatively, the furnace-annealed sample exhibited an even higher peak PL intensity. These findings underscored the superior passivation quality of air-annealed samples compared to their N_2 counterparts. In Fig. 5.7. (b), the observed connection between iV_{OC} and peak PL intensity is displayed. Notably, while a logarithmic relationship is anticipated in the presence of a junction [176], this case demonstrates a linear relationship. This discrepancy is attributed to the interplay

of factors such as oxidation, enhanced crystallinity, and a decrease in defect density, all of which influence the change in PL. Fig. 5.7. (c) highlights the μ -PL intensity discrepancy between the blistered and non-blistered regions. Remarkably, the blister region displayed a peak PL intensity of 9 a.u. compared to the approximately 570 a.u. observed outside the blister region in an air-annealed test sample at 825 °C. This stark contrast indicated that blisters led to considerable passivation degradation within the tested samples.

4) Crystallinity determination



(a)



(b)





Fig. 5.8. (a) Raman spectra for the dependence of crystallization of a-Si:H on the anneal time duration while the sample was kept at a hot stage at various temperatures, (b) Room temperature Raman spectra for the dependence of crystallization on the RTA temperature, anneal time was 5 minutes and curves are normalized to furnace anneal. The as-deposited sample curve is magnified 10X due to lower Raman intensity, and (c) the growth of crystallinity (area under the curve) as a function of temperature.

In Fig. 5.8. (a), the Raman peak intensity corresponding to the polycrystalline phase is plotted against the annealing temperature and duration in the N₂ atmosphere. Choi *et al.* [59] previously emphasized that the deposition temperature of LPCVD poly-Si should be above 580 °C to ensure a reduced hydrogen content that prevents the formation of blisters. Enhanced crystallinity became apparent starting from 588 °C, as indicated by the Raman peak at 508 cm⁻¹, and this enhancement further progressed with extended annealing times. These measurements were performed within a heated N₂-filled chamber. The typical Raman peak of room temperature c-Si at 520.5 cm⁻¹ is slightly shifted to 508 cm⁻¹ due to the high-temperature measurement conditions [177]. The as-deposited in-situ B-doped poly-Si film displayed a composite of amorphous and polycrystalline phases.

Fig. 5.8. (b) showcases the transition of the a-Si:H peak Raman peak at 480 cm⁻¹ towards the crystalline phase at 519.1 cm⁻¹ as RTA temperatures rose from 625 to 875 °C within the N₂ atmosphere. Similar phenomena were observed when the test samples underwent RTA in an air atmosphere (not depicted here). In Fig. 5.8. (c), the increase in the "area under the curve" of the Raman curve with respect to RTA temperatures in the N₂ atmosphere signifies the increased crystallinity. The degree of crystallinity in the in-situ B-doped TOPCon structure is contingent on RTA temperatures and annealing time, independent of annealing atmospheres or post-anneal FGAs. At room temperature, the Raman peaks for poly-Si and the c-Si substrate occur at 520.5 cm⁻¹. The Raman peak of poly-Si is notably broader due to its polycrystalline nature. Given the 405 nm Raman excitation wavelength, the transmission through a 30 nm poly-Si layer is approximately 12% based on the optical n and k values. Consequently, the contribution of the c-Si substrate to the Raman peak was minimal.

5) Chemical composition

Fig. 5.9. (a) presents the FTIR absorbance spectra of c-Si, the as-deposited film, TOPCon structure annealed at 825 °C in N₂ and air atmospheres, and furnace annealed in N₂. The absorbance peak at 1107 cm⁻¹ typically corresponds to the vibrational stretching mode of Si-O, signifying the presence of interstitial oxygen and native oxide [178][179]. The shift of this peak towards the 1080 cm⁻¹ peak aligns with the stretching mode of Si-O-Si, indicating the formation of conventional thermal SiO₂ on the surface after air annealing [180][181]. Notably, the peak at 455.6 cm⁻¹ observed in the air-annealed sample corresponds to the rocking-mode vibration of Si-O bonds, further corroborating the creation of SiO₂ [182]. Moreover, a vibrational state linked to the Si–Si bond was discernible at 611.7 cm⁻¹ [183].



Fig. 5.9. (a) FTIR spectra for c-Si, TOPCon samples annealed at 825 °C in N_2 and air and results are compared with furnace annealed sample, (b) FTIR spectra for TOPCon/SiN_x:H samples as-deposited and annealed at 825 °C in N_2 and air, (c) FTIR spectra for TOPCon/SiN_x:H samples from 3400-2000 cm⁻¹ wavenumber region. All the samples were FGA-treated before FTIR.

The distinct positions of these peaks imply that air annealing led to the transformation of the upper portion of the poly-Si layer into the SiO₂ layer. In contrast, under N₂ RTA and furnace annealing conditions, notable SiO₂ formation did not occur, except for the growth of native oxide.

6) Sheet resistance

The transformation of the a-Si:H layer into poly-Si improves lateral carrier transport, dopant activation, and passivation efficiency. As demonstrated in Fig. 5.8. (c), sheet resistances were measured across various annealing temperatures within an N₂ environment, along with an assessment of crystallinity. Notably, sheet resistances as low as those achieved through furnace annealing were attainable [0.9 k Ω /sq, not depicted in Fig. 5.8. (c)]. For the non-annealed sample, the sheet resistance exceeded 1 M Ω /sq. It's worth noting that the RTA atmospheres, including air, had a negligible impact on the sheet resistance of in-situ B-doped poly-Si when measured at a constant annealing temperature of 875 °C.

7) Oxidation state and elemental composition

The depth-profiling XPS composition spectra depicting test samples after RTA in both air and N₂ environments at 825 °C are presented in Fig. 5.10. (a) and (b), respectively. Considering the expected sputtering rate of SiO₂ to be approximately 8.9 nm/min and a Si/SiO₂ sputter rate ratio of about 1.1, it is essential to acknowledge that the precise positions of the surface oxide, poly-Si, and buried ultrathin oxide layers may contain some level of uncertainty due to the indeterminate sputter rate across the poly-Si layer [184]. A thicker oxide layer was observed atop the remaining poly-Si layer for the air-annealed case. This observation supports the notion that oxygen from the surrounding air diffused through the surface oxide layer onto the poly-Si. The presence of an ultrathin oxide layer is indicated by increased oxygen concentration and decreased Si concentration beneath the poly-Si layer. Past the interface of the ultrathin oxide/c-Si, the concentration ratio of Si to O increased. In contrast, N₂ annealing led to the identification of a very thin surface oxide along with a broader peak representing Si and oxygen concentrations at the ultrathin oxide region. This suggests a higher oxygen concentration within the ultrathin oxide layer in air-annealed samples. Due to its relatively low concentration, boron detection was not possible. The as-deposited sample exhibited an exceedingly thin surface native oxide layer with an intact poly-Si/ultrathin oxide/c-Si structure (not shown here), reaffirming our FTIR findings.



Fig. 5.10. Depth-profiling XPS spectra showing the atomic percentage profile of (a) air-annealed and (b) N_2 -annealed samples based on the atomic concentrations of Si (2p), O (1s), C (1s), and N (1s).

In Fig. 5.11., the XPS spectra of the ultrathin passivating SiO_2 layer are displayed subsequent to the removal of polysilicon through a chemical etching process for distinct annealing conditions at 825 °C. The XPS spectra display a peak at 99.8 eV arising from the Si–Si bond and

another peak at 103.8 eV due to the presence of the SiO_x layer. Deconvolution of the Si-O peak unveiled the prominent oxidation states of Si³⁺ and Si⁴⁺ [185]. The minimal discrepancies in SiO_x/SiO₂ ratios and their respective peak positions indicate that the RTA atmosphere (air or N₂) did not profoundly influence the chemical composition of the ultrathin silicon oxide. Only furnace annealing led to a noticeable shift in the Si-O peak. Furthermore, the silicon peak's area increased following thermal annealing, indicating an increase in elemental Si [186]. Notably, a decrease in SiO₂ concentration was observed, possibly attributed to Si incorporation into the oxide layer [187].



Fig. 5.11. Surface XPS spectra of ultrathin SiO_2 layer of TOPCon test structures for (a) as-deposited, (b) furnace, (c) air, and (d) N₂ annealing conditions.

B. Effects of high-intensity light environment

Initially, the RTA-treated samples exhibited subpar photoluminescence (PL) intensity and notably low iV_{OC} values. It became evident that this performance deterioration was linked to the exposure of the samples to both intense light and heat within the RTA setup for sample heating. To investigate this, we conducted experiments with samples subjected to the high-intensity light of the RTA process alongside samples that were effectively shielded by a Si wafer cover.



Fig. 5.12. Spectrum of the RTA lamp used in this study.

The spectral composition of the halogen IR lamp utilized in the RTA investigations is presented in Fig. 5.12. The RTA durations were approximately 5 minutes at elevated temperatures, a duration sufficient to achieve thermal equilibrium. Around 88.9% of the underlying 4-inch Si wafer received the full spectrum of radiation from the RTA lamp, given that the test samples only occupied 11.1% of the total area. Consequently, the base wafer temperature was anticipated to be

similar to an uncovered setup. The Si wafer cover absorbed all visible light emitted by the lamp, consequently emitting heat towards the test samples. Additionally, the temperature measurement obtained from the thermocouple in contact with the base Si wafer indicated the sample's temperature.

| Sample | | Before FGA | | After FGA | |
|--------------------------|-------|-------------------|-----------------------|------------------|-----------------------|
| | | PL (a.u.) | iV _{OC} (mV) | PL (a.u.) | iV _{OC} (mV) |
| As fabricated | | 41 | 525 | 107 | 537 |
| Without a Civuator aquar | N_2 | 28 | 491 | 37 | ~520 |
| without a Si water cover | Air | 27 | 493 | 45 | ~520 |
| With Citypofon cover | N_2 | 501 | 572 | 517 | 588 |
| | Air | 519 | 585 | 642 | 618 |

Table 5.1. The effects of high-intensity RTA lamplight on the PL intensity and iV_{OC} of TOPCon structures at 875°C.

Fig. 5.7. (a) depicts the light-induced degradation of peak PL intensity, measured at approximately 1150 nm, without the presence of a Si wafer cover (labeled as "underlight" in the legend) for both N_2 and air atmospheres at varying annealing temperatures. All other data points were recorded utilizing a Si wafer cover to prevent light exposure. The summarized data from Fig. 5.7. (a) are presented in Table 5.1. Under high RTA temperatures without the Si wafer cover, it was observed that degradation in iV_{OC} occurred. Subsequent post-anneal FGAs facilitated recovery from this loss of passivation, restoring the initial passivation quality. However, further improvement in iV_{OC} beyond its original value was not achieved. By utilizing the Si wafer cover during both RTA and post-anneal FGAs, it was possible to achieve enhanced iV_{OC} values. Notably, this light-induced degradation was observed regardless of the RTA atmosphere, specifically occurring only at elevated temperatures surpassing 625 °C.

C. Effect of RTA on SiN_x:H coated TOPCon structure

1) Effect on surface morphology

Subjecting a TOPCon sample coated with SiN_x :H to RTA at 825 °C in an N₂ atmosphere resulted in blister formation on the SiNx:H layer, as seen in the top-view SEM image in Fig. 5.13. These blisters emerged due to the elevated hydrogen pressure during the RTA procedure. Notably, fragments of broken SiN_x :H material are visible in proximity to the blister. The assessment revealed that blisters covered approximately 7–9% of the total surface area. If effective measures could be implemented to minimize blister formation, this would likely increase the iV_{OC} value.



Fig. 5.13. Top-view SEM image showing a blister formed on the SiN_x:H layer after RTA at 825 °C in N₂.

2) Effect on passivation quality

Table 5.2. Effects of SiN_x:H coating on the PL intensity and iV_{OC} of TOPCon structures under different RTA

atmospheres at 825 °C.

| Comple | Before FGA | | After FGA | | |
|---------------|------------------|-----------|------------------|-----------|--|
| Sample | PL (a.u.) | iVoc (mV) | PL (a.u.) | iVoc (mV) | |
| As fabricated | 638 | 622 | 678 | 634 | |
| RTA in N ₂ | 935 | 693 | 1414 | 706 |
|-----------------------|-----|-----|------|-----|
| RTA in Air | 730 | 659 | 775 | 672 |

Fig. 5.7. (a) illustrates the peak PL intensity of TOPCon/SiN_x:H test structures following the three-step annealing process at 825 °C under N₂ and air atmospheres and subsequent FGAs. All pertinent data have been concisely summarized and organized in Table 5.2. The highest iV_{OC} value of 706 mV was attained through N₂ annealing. For context, the furnace-annealed p-TOPCon structure reached an iV_{OC} of 688 mV without SiN_x:H and 698 mV with SiN_x:H coating. This underscores the efficacy of employing the SiN_x:H layer for passivation. The optical n and k values of the as-deposited SiN_x:H film were determined via ellipsometry and were found to be 2.108 and 0.00001, respectively, at 532 nm. The SiN_x:H layer serves as an antireflection coating, facilitating enhanced excitation laser light transmission and augmenting the PL intensity. However, it's important to note that our research focus lies in contrasting the change in PL intensity between unannealed and annealed samples. The assumption is that the absorption properties of SiN_x:H remain unchanged following thermal annealing. Consequently, its influence on the PL measurement is negligible, except for the enhancement of the absolute PL signal by approximately 30%, as computed based on light interference calculations.

3) Effect on SiN_x:H stoichiometry

Fig. 5.9. (b) and (c) depict the FTIR absorbance spectra of the TOPCon/SiN_x:H structures subjected to N₂ and air annealing at 825 °C, juxtaposed with the spectra of the as-deposited film. In Fig. 5.9. (b), the observation reveals an increase in the wagging mode peak at 1107 cm⁻¹ and the bending mode peak at 467.8 cm⁻¹ associated with Si-O bonds after air annealing, indicating the formation of a greater quantity of Si-O complexes [188]. Additionally, the absorbance peak

situated at 612.1 cm^{-1} corresponds to the Si–Si bond, while the broad peak centered around 840 cm^{-1} is generally attributed to the presence of the Si-N bond. The spectral range spanning $830.7 \text{ to } 854.2 \text{ cm}^{-1}$ signifies the presence of asymmetric stretching modes of Si-N, which undergo stoichiometric shifts, likely transitioning from Si₃-Si-N to Si₂-(H)Si-N configurations [189].

In Fig. 5.9. (c), the discernible presence of stretching modes corresponding to N-H and Si-H peaks at 3325.4 cm⁻¹ and 2185.2 cm⁻¹, respectively, in the as-deposited samples indicates a high level of hydrogenation [190]. Subsequently, these peaks vanish after RTA due to the process of dehydrogenation.



4) Effect on the chemical composition of SiN_x:H

Fig. 5.14. XPS spectra of (a) N 1s peaks, (b) Si 2p peaks, and (c) O 1s peaks of the TOPCon/SiN_x:H samples after RTA at 825 °C under N_2 and air atmospheres.

Fig. 5.14. shows the compositional XPS spectra of the TOPCon/SiN_x:H stack annealed at 825 °C both in N₂ and air. In Fig. 5.14. (a), it was observed that there was a comparatively lower count of the N (1s) peak at 397.86 eV in the air-annealed sample than in N₂ annealed. This suggested a decrease in the Si-N bond in the top region of the SiN_x:H layer film after air annealing compared with the N₂ annealing. This is due to the possible Si-O bond formation on the SiN_x:H

surface. In Fig. 5.14. (b), it was observed that there was a Si (2p) peak at 100.4 eV in N₂ annealing and 102.1 eV in air. The XPS peak at 100.4 eV, observed after N₂ annealing, is attributed to the presence of the Si-Si₃N₁ complex, and the peak at 102.1 eV, observed after air annealing, is attributed to the formation of SiO_x complexes [191][192][193][194]. The Si-N peak is expected to be located at 101.7 eV, and the SiO₂ peak to be at 103.5 eV, but peak positions are sensitive to stoichiometry [195]. Finally, after air annealing, the O (1s) peak intensity at 533.1 eV was higher than N₂ annealing, as shown in Fig. 5.14. (c). This proved that more surficial SiO₂ and stoichiometric changes occurred during the air annealing, as previously shown by Miller and Linton [196] and Lin and Hwu [197].

The results on crystallinity property determination by Raman spectroscopy, chemical changes by FTIR and XPS, and electrical property changes by sheet resistance measurement have been presented. As the annealing temperature increases, the poly-Si crystalline fraction and iV_{OC} increase, implying lower charge-carrier recombination. The FTIR measurements were not sensitive enough to detect the passivation quality; however, it detects dehydrogenation in SiN_x:H capped samples. The depth-profiling XPS measurements show a higher oxygen concentration in the ultrathin oxide after air annealing, which could lead to higher iV_{OC} than N₂ for uncapped samples. The surface morphology shows the blister formation affecting the carrier selectivity and, hence, the surface passivation.

The disadvantages of lower temperature LPCVD of poly-Si at 530 °C have been observed, which led us to opt for a higher temperature of 588 °C LPCVD. In the upcoming sub-sections, the scientific findings have been described for the second set of test samples with LPCVD poly-Si deposited at 588 °C and a thicker poly-Si layer.

D. Effects of heating time t_{heat}

Fig. 5.15. shows the variation of peak PL intensity and the sheet resistances w.r.t. the RTA heating time t_{heat} at constant $t_{hold} = 300$ sec and $t_{cool} = 300$ sec. At $t_{heat} = 10$ sec or heating rate $R_{heat} = ~80$ °C/s, the peak PL intensity dropped from 450 a.u. to 110 a.u. As the time t_{heat} was increased from 60 sec to 300 sec (or $R_{heat} \le ~13$ °C/s), the peak PL intensity climbed back and saturated at the PL intensity of the starting sample. The FGA recovered the peak PL intensity of test samples treated only at $t_{heat} \ge 60$ sec to a saturated value of ~1525 a.u., comparable to the furnace annealed reference sample (~2100 a.u.), and the fast heated $t_{heat} = 10$ sec sample did not recover. This showed that a fast heating rate ($R_{heat} = ~80$ °C/s) irreversibly degraded the surface passivation quality beyond recovery, and FGA could not improve it further. The optimized value of $t_{heat} \ge 60$ sec.



Fig. 5.15. The dependence of peak PL intensity counts and sheet resistance on RTA heating times. The data for asprepared (start), after FGA treatment of as-deposited sample, and furnace annealed are also shown.

The sheet resistance dropped significantly and saturated at 0.9-1.1 k Ω /sq. at fast heating rate R_{heat} = ~80 °C/s which is comparable to furnace anneal. The dip at t_{heat} = 10 sec should be treated as within the error bar. This proved that a fast heating rate of ~80 °C/s generates significant dopant activation but degrades iV_{OC}.

E. Effects of holding time thold

Fig. 5.16. shows the variation of peak PL intensity and the sheet resistances w.r.t. the RTA holding time t_{hold} at constant $t_{heat} = 60$ sec and $t_{cool} = 300$ sec. From $t_{hold} = 10$ sec to 100 sec, the peak PL intensity showed an increasing trend w.r.t. the starting condition. At $t_{hold} > 100$ sec, PL intensity counts saturate. After FGA, both test samples under $t_{hold} = 60$ sec and 300 sec showed a significant jump in the peak PL intensity and saturated at ~1800 a.u. The test sample with the shortest hold time of 10 sec did not recover the PL intensity. This showed that a short holding time of 10 sec caused irreversible degradation to the surface passivation quality beyond recovery, and FGA could not improve it further. The optimized condition for the value of t_{hold} starts from 60 sec.



Fig. 5.16. The dependence of peak PL intensity counts and sheet resistance on RTA holding times. The data for asprepared (start), after FGA treatment of as-deposited sample, and furnace annealed are also shown.

The sheet resistance dropped significantly and saturated at 0.9-1.1 k Ω /sq., starting at a short holding time of 10 sec, comparable to furnace anneal. Hence, dopant activation occurs at 10 sec or longer hold time.

F. Effects of cooling time t_{cool}

Fig. 5.17. shows the variation of peak PL intensity and the sheet resistances w.r.t. the RTA cooling time t_{cool} at constant $t_{heat} = 60$ sec and $t_{hold} = 300$ sec. At $t_{cool} = 10$ sec or cooling rate $R_{cool} = ~80$ °C/s, the peak PL intensity dropped from 450 a.u. to 12 a.u. As the time regime of t_{cool} was increased from 60 sec to 300 sec (or $R_{cool} \le ~13$ °C/s), the peak PL intensity climbed back gradually to the starting sample PL intensity counts. The peak PL intensity of the test sample treated under the shortest cooling time $t_{cool} = 10$ sec did not recover after FGA. On the other hand, the FGA regained the peak PL intensity of test samples treated at $t_{cool} = 60$ sec to a value of ~800 a.u., and the highest peak PL intensity rise to 1550 a.u. was recorded at $t_{cool} = 300$ sec comparable to furnace annealed reference sample (~2100 a.u.). It was observed that a fast quenching/ cooling rate ($R_{cool} = ~80$ °C/s) irreversibly degraded the surface passivation quality beyond recovery, and FGA could not improve it further. The optimized value of t_{cool} is ≥ 300 sec.



Fig. 5.17. The dependence of peak PL intensity counts and sheet resistance on RTA cooling times. The data for asprepared (start), after FGA treatment of as-deposited sample, and furnace annealed are also shown.

Sheet resistances decreased gradually as the cooling rate fell, which showed that the dopant activation was affected moderately with a fast cooling rate.

G. Optimization of RTA parameters

For better device performance, the optimized RTA heating, holding, and cooling times were 60 sec, 60 sec, and 300 sec. Table 5.3. shows some of the optimized performances of p-TOPCon devices after RTA.

Table 5.3. Carrier lifetime, iV_{oc}, and sheet resistance after optimized RTA

| No. | RTA timing conditions (sec) at 825 °C/ N ₂ | | τ (μs) | iV _{OC} (mV) | Sheet resistance (kΩ/sq.) | |
|-----|--|-----------|--------|--------------------------|---------------------------------|--|
| | | Starting | 15 | 573 | | |
| 1 | theat= 60; thold= 100; tcool= 300 | After RTA | 56 | 602 | 1.0-1.1 | |
| | | After FGA | 97 | 628 | | |
| 2 | $t_{heat} = 60; t_{hold} = 150; t_{cool} = 600$ | Starting | 11 | 571 | 0.9-1.0 | |

| | | After RTA | 78 | 607 | |
|---|--|-----------|-----|-----|---------|
| | | After FGA | 112 | 633 | |
| 3 | | Starting | 14 | 571 | |
| | $t_{heat} = 150; t_{hold} = 150; t_{cool} = 600$ | After RTA | 72 | 609 | 0.9-1.0 |
| | | After FGA | 133 | 638 | |

The reference furnace anneal sample had sheet resistance of 0.9-1.0 k Ω /sq., a lifetime of ~300 µs, and an iV_{OC} of 688 mV. Post-anneal FGA further enhanced the overall performances. The sheet resistances were reduced to ~0.9 k Ω /sq, which showed that complete dopant activation was achievable under RTA conditions. Using longer RTA durations may probably increase the iV_{OC} and lifetime, but it will defeat the purpose of "rapidity" of our RTA processing.

H. Effect of B-doped poly-Si layer on passivation quality

Fig. 5.18. shows the dependence of PL intensity counts on the presence of boron-doped poly-Si layer. The test samples were treated under the RTA conditions $t_{heat} = 60$ sec, $t_{hold} = 100$ sec, and $t_{cool} = 300$ sec at 825 °C in N₂. To evaluate the effect of boron diffusion into Si during the furnace and RTA annealing process, the doped poly-Si layer was chemically etched away after annealing, and the PL was measured. These results were compared with the samples that did not have a doped poly-Si layer but went through RTA and furnace annealing under similar conditions.

The peak PL intensity counts derived from Fig. 5.18. have been tabulated in Table 5.4. Comparing Cases 1 and 2, it is observed that the RTA enhanced the passivation quality of the ultrathin SiO_x layer. Comparing Cases 1 and 3, it is observed that the presence of a poly-Si layer provides additional passivation in the absence of RTA. In case 4, it is observed that the RTA moderately improved the overall passivation quality. Case 5 shows the best passivation quality was obtained after furnace annealing.



Fig. 5.18. The dependence of PL intensity counts on the presence of boron-doped poly-Si layer.

| Case | RTA at 825 °C t _{heat} = 60 s, t _{hold} = 100 s, t _{cool} = 300 s | | | | | |
|------|---|-----|--|--|--|--|
| 1 | SiO _x deposited on Si | 25 | | | | |
| 2 | After the RTA of SiO _x deposited on Si | 57 | | | | |
| 3 | After poly-Si deposition on SiO _x /Si | 33 | | | | |
| 4 | After RTA of poly-Si deposition followed by its chemical etch | 108 | | | | |
| 5 | After Furnace anneal of poly-Si deposition followed by its chemical etch | 127 | | | | |

Table 5.4. Peak PL intensity of the effects of B-doped poly-Si layer on the passivation quality

In the case of RTA with a poly-Si layer, the boron dopants could diffuse through the pinholes in the SiO_x layer into bulk Si and also through the ultrathin SiO_x layer. This diffused layer will provide additional field-effect passivation, exhibiting higher PL counts even after removing the poly-Si layer. The furnace-annealed samples showed the best performance due to the slower boron diffusion in bulk Si under a longer duration of heating and cooling times. In the case of RTA with a poly-Si layer, over-diffusion of boron might have caused Auger recombination, which lowered the passivation quality. This might also explain the cause of the discrepancy in the iV_{OC} between optimized-RTA and reference furnace anneal samples. The performance lag of p-TOPCon compared to the n-TOPCon could possibly be due to lower improvements in interface properties and the amount of boron diffusion in Si. It has been reported that boron diffusion is much faster under RTA compared to slow furnace annealing [198].

I. Effects of pulsed RTA processing

This study aimed to investigate the effects of a series of short pulses of RTA on the dopant activation and passivation quality of p-TOPCon devices. The results have been tabulated in Table 5.5.

| Pulsed RTA Holding time (sec) | Number of RTA pulses | Starting sample peak PL intensity counts (a.u.) | After RTA peak PL intensity counts (a.u.) | After FGA peak PL intensity counts (a.u.) | Sheet resistance (kΩ/sq.) |
|-------------------------------------|-------------------------|--|--|--|---------------------------------|
| 10 | 1 | | 120 | 330 | 1.9 |
| | 5 | | 380 | 1200 | 1.45 |
| | 10 | 110 | 410 | 1350 | 1.35 |
| 60 | 1 | 410 | 100 | 570 | 1.8 |
| | 5 | | 450 | 660 | 1.6 |
| | 10 | | 390 | 1100 | 1.4 |

Table 5.5. iV_{oc} and sheet resistance after optimized pulsed RTA. Both heating and cooling times were fixed at 60 sec.

At both holding times (10 and 60 sec), the number of pulses varied from 1 to 10. There was a preliminary decrease in PL intensity after RTA for each holding time, which improved after multiple pulses. This confirmed that the PL intensity counts increased as the cumulative holding times increased, and the passivation quality improved, reaching back to the starting sample condition. An increasing trend in PL intensity counts was observed with the increase in the number of pulses, which was further improved by post-anneal FGA. It is to be noted that the cooling time of each of the RTA pulses is the most influential aspect, as it eradicates any sort of defects formed during the heating and holding times of each RTA pulse. If we compare the results based on different holding times, the changes in PL intensity counts were similar within the error bar and suggested no significant difference in the final PL intensity counts.

In the case of sheet resistance measurements, a gradual decrease was observed with the increase in the number of RTA pulses. This suggested that the first RTA pulse started the dopant activations process, and the sheet resistance decreased from 2.4 k Ω /sq. to 1.9 k Ω /sq. Later, this trend saturated as the number of pulses increased. It is possible to lower the sheet resistance further by increasing the cumulative holding time and the number of RTA pulses, but it will defeat the purpose of "rapidity" in our RTA processing. Our results show that the RTA process for p-TOPCon does not improve the iV_{OC} at the same level as furnace annealing for n-TOPCon. This possibly could be due to higher boron diffusion under the RTA process.

5.3. Conclusion

This study delved into several aspects of RTA of in-situ B-doped poly-Si-based p-TOPCon solar cells and explored the impact of the RTA atmosphere on various characteristics. Firstly, the investigation encompassed surface morphology, surface passivation, alterations in polysilicon crystallinity, compositional changes, sheet resistance, and the determination of oxidation states in the ultrathin SiO₂ passivation layer under RTA. Additionally, the study revealed that intense light exposure during RTA had a substantially detrimental effect on surface passivation quality, leading

to a decline in iV_{OC} . Moreover, it was discovered that employing a single-step RTA process after depositing a SiN_x:H layer on top of the polysilicon yielded a notably high iV_{OC} value of 706 mV.

To ensure optimal passivation, efforts were directed towards minimizing hydrogeninduced blister formation during annealing, as confirmed by PL measurements indicating their negative impact on surface passivation. Notably, air-based RTA yielded a higher iV_{OC} than nitrogen for SiN_x:H-uncapped samples. It was necessary to avoid UV and visible light radiation exposure during high-temperature RTA to prevent degradation. The Si-O bond transitioned from wagging to stretching mode under annealing at 875 °C. The sheet resistance, as low as 0.9 k Ω /sq, could be achieved for a 30 nm in-situ B-doped polysilicon film under RTA.

The findings emphasized that RTA at around 825 °C maximized the fraction of the polycrystalline phase, and N₂-based RTA for SiN_x:H-coated polysilicon film resulted in higher iV_{OC} values than uncoated films. Addressing the initial hydrogen content during the as-deposited TOPCon structure formation is crucial to minimize blister formation. Additionally, LPCVD of insitu B-doped a-Si:H should be performed at 588 °C to curtail hydrogen incorporation and enhance the poly-crystalline fraction.

The effects of heating, holding, and cooling time on the passivation quality and dopant activations during RTA processing (at 825 °C/N₂) in-situ boron-doped p-TOPCon solar cells were investigated. These test samples had poly-Si layers deposited at 588 °C. Fast heating and cooling rates (\geq 80 °C/s) damaged the passivation quality irreversibly, beyond any post-anneal FGA recovery. Slower heating (\leq 13.3 °C/s) and cooling (\leq 2.6 °C/s) rates provided the best PL intensity results. The start of the dopant activation process required at least 10 sec of holding time, which was determined by the decreasing trend in the sheet resistance. The RTA parameters were optimized at a heating time of 60 sec, a holding time of 60 sec, and a cooling time of 300 sec. At

optimized parameters, considerable improvements in peak PL intensity counts and passivation quality of the test devices were observed, which further improved with the external FGA hydrogenation. The best performances were recorded as carrier lifetime of 133 μ s, iV_{OC} of 638 mV, and sheet resistance of ~0.9 kΩ/sq., at a heating time of 150 sec, a holding time of 150 sec, and a cooling time of 600 sec. The RTA processing of the etched poly-Si layer proved that the boron dopant diffusion could provide additional field-effect passivation. An over-diffused dopant profile creates Auger recombination and is detrimental to the overall passivation quality. The pulsed RTA processing showed the potential to create dopant activation and passivation adequately, and longer cumulative holding times can give better results.

CHAPTER 6: Fabrication of dopant-free bifacial TMO-based CSPC Si solar cells

In this chapter, a preliminary study was conducted to fabricate complete dopant-free bifacial CSPC Si solar cell devices consisting of transition metal oxides (TMO) as carrier-selective layers, passivation, and tunneling interlayers on c-Si substrates. Here, the term 'complete' refers to the fabrication until pre-metallization step in this preliminary study. The effects of predeposition HF etch, growth of SiO_x, optimizations of ALD of Al₂O₃ and TiO_x, thermal evaporation and deposition of MoO_x, consequences of post-deposition FGA, and the potentiality of using short wavelength CW laser annealing have been investigated to improve the passivation quality, carrier lifetime and iV_{OC} of the test CSPC Si devices. The test device samples were characterized using photoluminescence (PL) for passivation quality and quasi-steady state photoconductance (QSSPC) minority carrier lifetime measurements. The results showed a successful approach toward laser processing.

6.1. Experimental

A. Fabrication of the TMO CSPC test structure and characterization

Fig. 6.1. gives an overview of the fabrication steps of the bifacial CSPC device structure. The double-side polished phosphorus-doped FZ c-Si <100> type wafers with a thickness of 280 µm and 1-5 Ω .cm resistivity were used for the experiments. The c-Si wafers were cut into 1inch \times 1-inch samples and then treated with RCA cleaning. The removal of native oxides on the selected Si wafer substrates using 2% HF solution for 2 minutes was not performed.



Fig. 6.1. Schematic diagram of the fabrication steps of the bifacial TMO-based CSPC Si solar cells. Step 1 involves the RCA cleaning and keeping native oxide intact without HF etch. Step 2 requires the thermal ALD of 1.05 nm Al_2O_3 , followed by either laser annealing or FGA at 420 °C for 5 min. Step 3 entails the plasma ALD of 4.5 nm TiO_x as ETL, followed by FGA at 200 °C for 10 min. Finally, step 4 involves the 8 nm of MoO_x deposition by thermal evaporation of MoO_x, followed by FGA at 180 °C for 5 min.

All the ALD processes were done in the Oxford FlexALTM system. The optimization study of the passivation/tunneling Al₂O₃ layers was done in two modes: plasma and thermal. A thickness of 1.05 nm of plasma ALD Al₂O₃ was deposited at 200 °C and 80 mTorr pressure at the rate of 1.2 Å/cyc. The precursor materials were TMA and O₂ plasma. Similar thicknesses of thermal ALD Al₂O₃ were also deposited at 200 °C and 80 mTorr pressure at the rate of 1.0 Å/cyc. The precursor materials were TMA and H₂O. The electron transport layer (ETL) of TiO_x of 4.5 nm thickness was deposited using plasma ALD process at a low temperature of 170 °C and 40 mTorr pressure and at a rate of 0.5 Å/cyc using the precursors TDMAT and O₂ plasma. Due to the unavailability of ALD precursors and recipes, ~8 nm thick hole transport layer (HTL) of MoO_x was deposited in a thermal evaporator using MoO₃ pellets on Mo boat at a pressure of 10^{-5} Torr at the rate of 10 Å/min. For the comparison study of SiO_x and Al₂O₃ as a passivation layer, 1.5 nm of SiO_x were grown on the HF-treated Si substrates using 70% wt. electronics grade HNO₃ at 100 °C for 15 minutes. To study the effect of the furnace annealed SiO_x passivation layer, a Centrotherm tube furnace was used for annealing at 875 °C in N₂ for 30 minutes, similar to the TOPCon fabrication [74]. The forming gas annealing (FGA) was conducted in the AnnealSys rapid thermal processing (RTP) system in forming gas (5% H₂: 95% Ar) from Praxair. The FGA temperatures were varied from 180 °C to 420 °C, according to the need for optimization at different fabrication steps.

The laser annealing was done using a continuous wave (CW) multi-mode laser from NUBURU (AO-150 model) with a wavelength of 450 nm and a maximum average power of 150 W. The laser beam was focused to a spot size of ~100 μ m, and the laser power was optimized at ~18 W. The test samples were mounted on the translational X-Y stage. The scan velocity was set at 3 mm/s, and the overall overlap between the laser spots was 50%.

The photoluminescence (PL) characterization was accomplished using a 532 nm excitation laser at 70 mW power, and the spot size was ~150 μ m. The peak PL intensity counts were determined at a wavelength of 1145 nm within ± 25 a.u. error bar. The QSSPC iV_{OC} measurements were conducted on (1" × 1") area test samples using a WCT-120 Silicon Wafer Lifetime Tester made by Sinton Instruments. The input of sample thickness was manually set as 0.025 cm with 3.5 Ω -cm resistivity, n-type dopant, 0.7 optical constant and generalized analysis mode. The iV_{OC} and the minority carrier lifetime data were generated at 1 Sun condition at the minority carrier density of 1×10^{15} cm⁻³. The error bars in the lifetime and iV_{OC} measurements were ~15 µs and 2 mV, respectively.

- 6.2. Results and discussions
- A. Optimization of pre-ALD HF treatment of Si wafers



Fig. 6.2. Schematic diagram of the symmetric bifacial TMO-based CSPC Si device where the native oxide is kept intact without HF etch.

The effect of HF treatment before the commencement of ALD of Al_2O_3 on Si wafers has been investigated. The schematic diagram of the CSPC device with native oxide is shown in Fig. 6.2. Due to its very high selective etch rate of SiO₂ over Si, HF etching was conducted to remove the native oxide. The thickness of native oxide is said to vary from 1.9 to 7.6 Å [199]. Each case result represents an average of three test samples. Later, all these test samples were symmetrically coated with 1.05 nm of thermal ALD Al_2O_3 layers. The peak PL intensity count was measured at a wavelength of 1145 nm.

| | | В | efore F | GA | After FGA | | | |
|------|----------------------------|--------------|-----------|--------------|--------------|-----------|--------------|--|
| Case | Condition | PL (a.u.) | τ (μs) | iVoc (mV) | PL (a.u.) | τ (μs) | iVoc (mV) | |
| 1 | HF etching of native oxide | 15 | 10 | 547 | 200 | 90 | 556 | |
| 2 | No HF etch | 25 | 33 | 562 | 610 | 180 | 583 | |

Table 6.1. Optimization based on the effects of HF etching of native oxide. All samples were symmetrically coated with 1.05 nm thick Al₂O₃. The FGA was conducted at 420 °C for 5 minutes.

The results have been tabulated in Table 6.1. It was observed that in case 1, the test samples did not have native oxides due to HF etching, and the Al_2O_3 was directly deposited on the RCA-terminated Si wafer surface, which resulted in lower PL intensity counts, carrier lifetime, and iV_{oc}. After the administration of external hydrogenation by FGA, the PL intensity increased 13 times, carrier lifetime 9 times, and the final iV_{oc} reached 556 mV. On the other hand, in case 2, the test samples had both native oxide and Al_2O_3 layers, which resulted in higher starting PL intensity counts, carrier lifetime, and iV_{oc}. FGA improved the overall performances and resulted in an iV_{oc} of 583 mV, 4.85% higher than case 1. This showed that the presence of native oxide was essential for better passivation quality in addition to field-induced passivation of the Al_2O_3 layer, and FGA improved further by passivating interface defects. This finding is also in agreement with the results reported by Getz *et al.* [200].

B. Optimization of ALD Al₂O₃ layers

The effects of two modes of ALD, namely plasma and thermal, for Al_2O_3 deposition on Si/native oxide substrates, have been investigated. Plasma ALD involves low-temperature plasmabased activation of a wide variety of precursor materials into reactive radicals, which get chemisorbed onto the substrate surface. Thermal ALD involves higher temperatures for activating and vaporizing limited precursor materials, which get chemisorbed onto the substrate surface.



Fig. 6.3. Schematic diagram of the symmetric bifacial TMO-based CSPC Si device where the thermal ALD of 1.05 nm Al_2O_3 was done on the native oxides.

Considering the negatively charged field-effect passivation and charge carrier-specific tunneling effect of Al₂O₃ and the thickness of native oxide, the thickness of Al₂O₃ was decided to be kept at 1.05 nm. This ensured that the final passivation and tunneling capabilities of the test devices were not affected by their cumulative thickness. The post-deposition anneal required for ALD Al2O3 is 673-723 K or ~400-450 °C [201][202]. The schematic diagram of a symmetric bifacial CSPC device with native oxide and thermal ALD Al₂O₃ is shown in Fig. 6.3.

Table 6.2. Optimization based on the effects of type of ALD process for 1.05 nm of Al₂O₃ deposition. All the samples had native oxide and did not go through HF etching. The FGA was conducted at 420 °C for 5 minutes.

| Case | | В | efore F | GA | After FGA | | | |
|------|-------------------|------------------|---------|-----------|------------------|--------|-----------------------|--|
| | Type of ALD | PL (a.u.) | τ (μs) | iVoc (mV) | PL (a.u.) | τ (μs) | iV _{OC} (mV) | |
| 1 | Plasma at 200 °C | 9 | 12 | 535 | 603 | 173 | 581 | |
| 2 | Thermal at 200 °C | 124 | 65 | 578 | 604 | 176 | 583 | |

Table 6.2. shows the ALD process optimization results for 1.05 nm Al₂O₃ for symmetric test samples. Each case represents the averaged data of 4 samples. In case 1, the samples had symmetric structures of native oxide and plasma ALD of Al₂O₃ layers. In case 2, the samples had symmetric structures of native oxide and thermal ALD of Al₂O₃ layers. Comparing both cases, it was observed that although the thermal ALD had better starting performance than plasma ALD samples, both modes of ALD caused a similarly high level of surface passivation quality and iV_{OC} of 580-583 mV after FGA.

These results indicate that there should have been a higher hydrogen content in thermal ALD, which improved the passivation quality compared to plasma ALD. Additionally, the in-situ annealing during thermal ALD might have improved passivation quality and iV_{OC} . The saturation in hydrogen content during FGA possibly caused similar performances in thermal and plasma ALD samples. These results coincide with the earlier findings of Dingemans *et al.*, who reported that thermal ALD has 3.6 at.% more hydrogen content than plasma ALD [203]. The thermal ALD approach was undertaken henceforth for the fabrication of CSPC devices.

C. Optimization of ALD TiO_x as electron transport layer (ETL)

The effects of adding ALD TiO_x as ETL on the carrier lifetime and iV_{OC} of the asymmetric structures with thicker Al₂O₃ layer and symmetric structures of c-Si/Native oxide/Al₂O₃ (thermal ALD) test devices have been investigated. The TiO_x was deposited at a low temperature of 170 °C

using Plasma ALD mode. Two test samples were fabricated to study the effectiveness of singleside deposition of TiO_x, where the other side of the test samples was highly passivated by 10 nm of ALD Al₂O₃ layer. The thickness of TiO_x was chosen to be 4.5 nm following the reports made by Yang et al. [95]. Post-deposition FGA was used at a lower temperature of 200 °C for 10 minutes to avoid the anatase phase, film cracking, and lifetime degradation [204]. This ensured that the non-stoichiometric oxygen vacancies and crystalline phase of TiO_x were not affected, which is generally considered essential for the electron transport property [205].



(a)



(b)

Fig. 6.4. Schematic diagrams of the bifacial TMO-based CSPC Si solar cells with (a) thermal ALD of 10 nm Al_2O_3 on the rear side to understand the passivation effects of TiOx as ETL and (b) thermal ALD of 1.05 nm Al_2O_3 .and 4.5 nm TiOx on the native oxide symmetrically. The front sides had native oxide, thermal ALD of 1.05 nm Al_2O_3 , and 4.5 nm TiO_x.

Table 6.3. Optimization based on the effects of ALD of 4.5 nm TiO_x on asymmetrically structured devices is shown in Fig. 6.4. (a). The ALD 10 nm of Al₂O₃ passivated the rear side of the samples to study the passivation effect of TiO_x. The FGA was done at 200 °C for 10 min.

| Sample | Conditions | Before 4.5 nm TiOx | | After 4.5 on sing | 5 nm TiOx gle-side | After FGA | |
|--------|--|-----------------------|--------------|----------------------|-----------------------|-----------|--------------|
| | Conditions | τ (μs) | iVoc (mV) | τ (μs) | iVoc (mV) | τ (μs) | iVoc (mV) |
| 1 | c-Si/Nat.ox/ 10 nm Al ₂ O ₃ | 192 | 601 | 216 | 616 | 319 | 629 |
| 2 | c-Si/Nat.ox/ 10 nm Al ₂ O ₃ | 193 | 606 | 198 | 609 | 302 | 628 |

Table 6.3. shows the tabulated results of optimizing the ALD TiO_x layer in two separate asymmetric test devices shown in Fig. 6.4. (a). This experiment aimed to understand the passivation effects of TiO_x as ETL. It was observed that the 10 nm Al₂O₃ layer caused a high starting iV_{OC} and carrier lifetime due to its superb passivation on one side. This allowed us to investigate the effects of TiO_x on the overall performances of the CSPC devices. The TiO_x layer improved the iV_{OC} by 15 mV to reach 616 mV, which increased further to a final ~629 mV after FGA. The deposition of the TiO_x layer has a minimal improvement in iV_{OC}, so it is not contributing much to the passivation as 10 nm Al₂O₃ was found to be sufficient. Moreover, the FGA should have possibly constructively contributed to the molecular rearrangements at the interfaces and inhibition of defects by hydrogenation without hampering the non-stoichiometric nature of TiO_x.

The investigation was continued by fabricating a symmetric architecture of c-Si/native $oxide/Al_2O_3/TiO_x$ devices, as shown in Fig. 6.4. (b), employing all our previous optimization results. The results have been tabulated in Table 6.4. It was observed that the best result achieved was iV_{OC} of 625 mV of a symmetric structure employing TiO_x as ETL. It was observed that the passivation due to Al_2O_3 was stronger than that of TiO_x.

| Sample | Conditions | Before 4.5 nm TiOx | | After 4.5 | nm TiO _x | After FGA | |
|--------|---|-----------------------|--------------|-----------|---------------------|-----------|--------------|
| Sample | Conditions | τ (μs) | iVoc (mV) | τ (μs) | iVoc (mV) | τ (μs) | iVoc (mV) |
| 1 | Symmetric c-Si/Nat.ox/ 1.05 nm Al ₂ O ₃ | 178 | 582 | 191 | 601 | 283 | 625 |
| 2 | Symmetric c-Si/Nat.ox/ 1.05 nm Al ₂ O ₃ | 167 | 579 | 183 | 591 | 269 | 621 |

Table 6.4. Performances of symmetric CSPC device structures, shown in Fig. 6.4. (b), using TiO_x as ETL.

D. Investigation of the effects of the deposition of MoO_x as a hole transport layer (HTL)



Fig. 6.5. Schematic diagram of the complete bifacial TMO-based CSPC Si solar cell. After 8 nm of MoO_x deposition by thermal evaporation, FGA was done at 180 °C for 5 min.

Two complete test device architectures employing symmetric structures of native oxide, 1.05 nm thermal ALD Al₂O₃, were used. Both these test device samples had optimized 4.5 nm Plasma ALD TiO_x as ETL and thermally evaporated MoO_x as HTL. The schematic of a complete bifacial CSPC solar cell is shown in Fig. 6.5. Due to the unavailability of ALD infrastructure for MoO_x, physical vapor deposition (PVD), also known as thermal evaporation, was used for the deposition of MoO_x. The thickness of the MoO_x layer was chosen to be ~8 nm, according to the earlier optimization study done by Wu *et al.* [206]. The results of two completely fabricated CSPC devices have been tabulated in Table 6.5.

Table 6.5. Performances of complete CSPC device structures using TiO_x as ETL and MoO_x as HTL. The FGA was done after Al_2O_3 and TiO_x depositions for 5 and 10 minutes, respectively. The FGA was done after MoO_x for 5 min.

| Sample | Before 8 nm MoO _x | | After | 8 nm MoO _x | FGA | After FGA | | |
|--------|------------------------------|-----------------------|--------|-----------------------|-------------|-----------|-----------|--|
| | τ (μs) | iV _{OC} (mV) | τ (μs) | iV _{OC} (mV) | temperature | τ (μs) | iVoc (mV) | |
| 1 | 276 | 626 | 283 | 627 | 180 °C | 286 | 629 | |
| 2 | 256 | 621 | 249 | 625 | 250 °C | 188 | 614 | |

It was observed that the best result achieved was iV_{OC} of 629 mV with a minority carrier lifetime of 286 µs after the administration of FGA at 180 °C for 5 min. The results of annealing at 250 °C coincide with the earlier findings by Gregory *et al.*, who showed that temperature above 200 °C caused degradation in MoO_x quality and overall passivation quality [207]. Hightemperature annealing causes additional SiO_x interlayer growth under Al₂O₃, increases the total interlayer thickness, and decreases the tunneling effect and passivation [208]. The deposition of TiO_x and post-deposition annealing should precede the MoO_x deposition since the thermal stability of MoO_x is lower than that of TiO_x.

E. Comparison with laser annealing methodology

The feasibility of laser annealing in the fabrication of complete CSPC devices has been investigated. The laser annealing was accomplished only after the thermal ALD of Al₂O₃ but did not replace the other FGA steps in the fabrication process. Table 6.6. shows the best results of laser annealing of complete CSPC device structures. The laser power used for annealing was optimized to 18 W.

Table 6.6. Results of laser annealing of complete CSPC device structures using TiO_x as ETL and MoO_x as HTL. The laser annealing was done at 18 W after Al_2O_3 ALD. The FGA was done after TiO_x and MoO_x depositions for 10 and 5 minutes, respectively.

| Sample | After Native oxide and 1.05 nm Al ₂ O ₃ deposition | | After laser anneal | | After 4.5 and F 200 | nm TiO _x GA at) °C | After 8 nm MoOx and FGA at 180 °C | |
|--------|---|--------------------------|--------------------|--------------------------|---------------------------|--------------------------------------|---|--------------------------|
| | τ (µs) | iV _{OC} (mV) | τ (μs) | iV _{OC} (mV) | τ (μs) | iV _{OC} (mV) | τ (μs) | iV _{OC} (mV) |
| 1 | 153 | 580 | 206 | 611 | 254 | 622 | 282 | 627 |
| 2 | 161 | 584 | 188 | 606 | 266 | 624 | 267 | 625 |

It was observed that the laser annealing was helpful in the partial improvement of the iV_{OC} and the passivation quality at the interface. The laser annealing helped significantly increment iV_{OC} by 20-30 mV. Given the ultrathin thickness of native oxide and Al₂O₃ and their respective absorbance spectra, it can be safely assumed that these layers were practically transparent to the laser wavelength of 450 nm and all the laser light was absorbed by the Si substrate [209][210]. The CW mode of laser annealing modified the atomic arrangements at the interfaces of the Si substrate while eliminating interfacial defects and improving the overall passivation. Ideally, a deep UV laser in CW mode will be helpful in directly annealing these ultrathin native oxides and Al₂O₃ layers.

It is essential to calculate the temperature induced by the CW laser so that the laser processing parameters can be optimized to replicate the thermal annealing conditions. Far deviation from these annealing conditions will fail laser annealing. Beyer *et al.* provided the theoretical model to calculate the maximum dynamic temperature rise (ΔT_M^d) during the CW laser annealing of thin films and substrates [34]. The equation is as follows:

$$\Delta T_M^d = \frac{P^* / \kappa 2\pi^{0.5} r_0}{1 + z^2 r_0 v / 8D_S}$$

where P^* is the laser power, κ is the heat conductivity, r_0 is the radius of the laser spot, v is the laser scan velocity, D_S is the heat diffusivity, and z is the heat diffusion length in multiples of r_0 . In the

case of c-Si, κ is 1.42-1.56 W(cm.°K)⁻¹, D_s is ~0.8 cm²/s, and z = 1 as the heat diffusion length had been assumed to be contained in laser spot radius [211][212]. The other parameters were r_0 = 0.005 cm (since the spot size was ~100 µm), and the scan velocity was 0.3 cm/s. The incident laser power was 18 W. The maximum dynamic temperature rise was calculated to be 651-715 °K (or 378-442 °C) for κ ranging from 1.42-1.56 W(cm.°K)⁻¹, close to the FGA conditions.

The other FGA processes after each deposition of TiO_x and MoO_x layers were done, and the best result achieved was around 627 mV, similar to the results achieved without laser annealing shown in Table 6.5. This showed the efficacy and potentiality of using laser annealing instead of thermal annealing to get satisfactory performances.

F. Comparison with SiO_x as the passivation layer

The effects of replacing ALD Al_2O_3 with SiO_x layer as the passivation/tunneling interlayer on the passivation quality and iV_{OC} have been investigated. Two test device samples were considered for this experiment. The 1.5 nm SiO_x was grown on each HF-treated Si substrate using 70% wt. electronics grade HNO₃ at 100 °C for 15 minutes. One of the test samples was treated with optimized 450 nm CW laser annealing with ~18 W power, and the other test sample was treated with tube furnace anneal at 875 °C in N₂ for 30 minutes, similar to the TOPCon fabrication. There was no ALD Al_2O_3 since the cumulative interlayer thickness would defeat the purpose of tunneling. The rest of the fabrication steps, like the ALD of TiO_x and the thermal evaporation of MoO_x and FGA, were kept the same. The results have been tabulated in Table 6.7.

Table 6.7. Results of laser annealing of complete CSPC device structures using TiO_x as ETL and MoO_x as HTL. The laser annealing was done at 18 W after growing SiO_x . The FGA was done after TiO_x and MoO_x depositions for 10 and 5 minutes, respectively.

| Sample | After 1 SiO _x gr HN | 1.5 nm owth in IO3 | Annealing | Annealing annealing at | | After 4 TiO _x an at 20 | l.5 nm d FGA 0 °C | After 8 nm MoO _x and FGA at 180 °C | |
|--------|--------------------------------------|--------------------------|-----------|------------------------|--------------|---|-------------------------|---|--------------|
| • | τ (μs) | iVoc (mV) | condition | τ (μs) | iVoc (mV) | τ (µs) | iVoc (mV) | τ (μs) | iVoc (mV) |
| 1 | 167 | 583 | Laser | 166 | 593 | 234 | 623 | 250 | 624 |
| 2 | 155 | 579 | Furnace | 175 | 597 | 211 | 620 | 261 | 626 |

It was observed that the laser annealing improved iV_{OC} by ~10 mV, but this improvement was smaller compared to the laser annealing of Al₂O₃. This is possibly due to the more significant influence of the negative fixed charge in Al₂O₃ on the overall passivation quality compared to SiO_x [213]. On the other hand, the furnace annealing resulted in a comparatively better improvement in iV_{OC} by 18 mV, as such thermal treatment is common in TOPCon fabrication. Ultimately, the overall iV_{OC} value saturates at an average value of 625 mV.

It is to be noted that the performances of all our test devices saturated within a maximum iV_{OC} value of 629 mV. This may be attributed to the lack of further optimization in the thickness, precursor materials, deposition recipes, and architecture novelty for TiO_x and MoO_x, which can be a future research subject. Moreover, the lower quality and functional characteristics of the thermally evaporated MoO_x compared to ALD might also contribute to this saturation of iV_{OC} . Additionally, the cleaning process of the Si substrate wafer at the beginning can also affect the outcome.

G. Comparison of iV_{OC} performances between test devices and literature

The comparisons in Table 6.8., have been made to present an overview between our preliminary results from our test devices and some literature review. All the listed iV_{OC} are recorded post-deposition annealing.

Table 6.8. Comparison of iV_{OC} performances between our test samples and some of the iV_{OC} values reported in the literature.

| Case | Name of the fabrication step | iV _{OC} of our test samples | iV _{OC} extracted from literature | Comments on literature | Ref. |
|------|--|---|--|--|-------|
| 1 | After ALD | | ~650 mV | Only 2 nm ALD Al ₂ O ₃ | [214] |
| - | $Al_2O_3 + Anneal$ | al 583 mV | 640-645 mV | Thickness > 2 nm and no tunneling | [202] |
| | After ALD TiO _x | | | High iV _{OC} without Al ₂ O ₃ ; | |
| 2 | on $Al_2O_3 +$ | 625-629 mV | 698 mV | Rear side passivated by | [95] |
| | Anneal | | | Al ₂ O ₃ / SiN _x / metal | |
| | After PVD | | | Symmetric SiO _x /Al ₂ O ₃ / | [105] |
| 3 | MoO _x on Al ₂ O ₃ | 629 mV | 676-685 mV | MoO _x ; ALD is better than | [207] |
| | + Anneal | | | PVD. | [207] |

It can be observed that in case 1, there is a lag in our test samples by ~70 mV in iV_{OC}, which suggests that the Al₂O₃ deposition is critical and demands more scientific involvement in understanding the c-Si and Al₂O₃ interfacial properties and optimizing deposition recipes. Moreover, the investigation of tunneling is as crucial as passivation quality. In cases 2 and 3, the performances of our test devices saturated at iV_{OC} of 629 mV and lagged by 50-70 mV compared to some of the reported values in the literature. This shows a need for further optimization in TiOx and MoOx stack combination with Al₂O₃. Moreover, cleaning wafers should play a big role in overall performance since it will significantly affect the interfacial defect density.

6.3. Conclusion

The fabrication of transition metal oxides (TMO) based carrier selective passivated contacts (CSPC) Si solar cells have been investigated by optimization at every step based on the passivation

quality, minority carrier lifetime measurements, and the calculation of iV_{OC} . The presence of the native oxides on the Si substrates, without HF treatment, provided the best starting passivation quality. Thermal ALD of 1.05 nm Al₂O₃ at 200 °C provided additional hydrogen and in-situ heating on the native oxide-coated Si substrates. The cumulative thickness of the native oxide and Al_2O_3 was kept within the tunneling regime of < 2 nm. After FGA, the resultant iV_{OC} reached ~580 mV. Using low-temperature plasma ALD at 170 °C, optimized 4.5 nm of TiOx was deposited as ETL, and after FGA treatment, the average resultant iVoc was 629 mV. Similar optimization experiments were carried out for the PVD of MoO_x as HTL for a completely fabricated CSPC device. After FGA at 180 °C, the best result of iV_{OC} of 627 mV was achieved. In our test samples, TiO_x and MoO_x did not improve iV_{OC} significantly, though the carrier selectivity was allowed. Hence, the improvement of Al₂O₃ deposition becomes the critical step. The feasibility of laser annealing of the Al₂O₃ /SiO_x stack structure was investigated, and the iV_{OC} was ~30 mV higher than the FGA results. The optimized CW 405 nm laser annealing with 18 W power, a spot size of $\sim 100 \,\mu\text{m}$, a scan velocity of 3 mm/s, and 50% overlap were used. After laser annealing, the iV_{OC} improved and reached 611 mV, whereas after FGA, the iV_{OC} saturated at ~580 mV. Using theoretical calculations, it was shown that the laser annealing produced an annealing temperature similar to FGA. Further optimization in the thickness, precursor materials, deposition recipes, and architecture novelty for Al₂O₃, TiO_x, and MoO_x could further improve the iV_{OC}, tunneling, and overall passivation quality.

CHAPTER 7: Conclusion and Future Work

A. Conclusion

This thesis investigates the fast laser processing and RTA for the device fabrication of lowcost, high-efficiency c-Si solar cells like IBC-HJ and carrier-selective (p-TOPCon and TMObased) solar cells. The implications of the laser-material interactions and the rapidity of the RTA processing have been investigated and optimized with the help of diverse material, chemical, optical, and electrical characterization techniques. These scientific methods helped build a comprehensive understanding of the passivation quality, minority carrier lifetime, dopant activation, crystallinity, surface morphology changes, chemical constitution modifications at the c-Si, and different thin film interfaces in solar cell devices.

In the case of IBC-HJ c-Si solar cells, the effects of nanosecond (ns) pulsed lasers of wavelength 532 nm and 355 nm were investigated and optimized for selective laser ablation and material removal for the interdigitated back contact device fabrication. A laser fluence of 0.254 J/cm^2 was sufficient to effectively ablate the top sacrificial a-Si:H layer, achieving carrier lifetime and iV_{oc} as high as ~2 ms and 719 mV, respectively. This showed the feasibility of nspulsed laser processing for selective and localized material removal without causing laser heat-induced crystallization and damage to the underneath heterojunction passivation layer. Higher laser fluences resulted in the accumulation and egression of hydrogen gas under immense localized pressure, which caused ruptures in the SiN_x layer with concentric rings after completely removing the top sacrificial a-Si:H layer. Additionally, unwanted poly-crystallization of the a-Si:H (n and i) layer and irreversible degradation to the passivation quality occurred. The chemical constitutions changed due to the laser heat, which led to an N-Si-O complex formation at the center of the

Gaussian laser ablation spots. All these findings were supported by the characterization results from μ -PL, SEM, FIB-SEM, line-mapping EDS, Raman, and X-ray spectroscopy. Using the optical constants calculated from ellipsometry and Essential MacLeod simulation to model color charts, an innovative approach was also made to characterize the laser-induced effects on multithin film layer structures. The optimization of selective ns-pulsed laser ablation in an IBC architecture was shown without compromising the laser heat-induced damages to the passivation quality of a heterojunction. This method not only cut down the complexity of lithography and the required masking in the IBC structures but also increased fabrication throughput of such devices. Compared with white-light microscopy, the potentiality of using Essential MacLeod color chart modeling was established as a stand-alone independent technique to accurately characterize laser ablation depths in multi-thin film layer structures.

In the case of carrier selective boron-doped poly-Si-based p-TOPCon c-Si solar cells, the effects of RTA temperature and atmosphere on the passivation quality, iV_{OC} , crystallinity, dopant activation, and oxidation state at the SiO_x/c-Si interface and the addition of SiN_x coating were investigated. Also, a separate scientific investigation was conducted on the effects of high-intensity lamp light exposure at high temperatures on p-TOPCon device structures. The high-intensity RTA lamp light-induced passivation degradation was prevented by using a thicker Si wafer cover. The RTA conducted in the air resulted in fewer blisters, thicker oxide formation at the expense of the poly-Si layer, and higher passivation quality. The application of SiNx coating improved the iV_{OC} to 706 mV and acted as an additional hydrogenation source for higher passivation quality. Higher LPCVD temperature at 588 °C produced higher poly-Si crystallinity, dopant activation, and less hydrogen content to minimize blisters. Optimal RTA temperature and time improved dopant activations and lowered sheet resistance. The longer RTA cooling time was the most significant

factor that influenced the p-TOPCon device performances. Shorter heating, holding, and cooling time should be avoided to prevent irreversible passivation quality damage. The unique aspect of the presence of poly-Si layer and boron activation after RTA was the positive contribution towards field passivation and increment in peak PL intensity. Over-diffusion of boron was expected to cause more Auger recombination and reduced passivation quality. An innovative approach was the use of pulsed cycles of RTA processing, and it was found that the dopant activation was achieved to lower the sheet resistance. These scientific findings have a broader impact on the fabrication of p-TOPCon and n-TOPCon devices using thermal annealing and fast laser annealing methods. The fundamentals of the RTA affecting the dopant behavior and device-structures were understood and will help us in the overall process development and optimization. Thus, the PV community will be able to improve the lagging performances of the boron-doped p-TOPCon devices and compete with the dominating phosphorus-doped n-TOPCon devices in the market.

Lastly, the preliminary investigation and optimization of ultrathin ALD, thermal evaporated TMOs, and laser annealing were accomplished, and the fabrication of complete bifacial CSPC Si solar cells was demonstrated. The passivation quality, minority carrier lifetime, and iV_{OC} at every fabrication step were determined for the optimization. The presence of the native oxide and the thermal ALD of Al₂O₃, with a cumulative thickness < 2 nm, was beneficial for high passivation quality and tunneling of charge carriers. FGA was helpful in hydrogenation and annealing externally, which improved the passivation quality and iV_{OC} . Due to its lower thermal threshold and propensity towards crystallization and changes in stoichiometry, MoO_x deposition should be done after the FGA of the TiO_x layer. The feasibility of laser annealing methodology and the potential replacement of thermal annealing of the Al₂O₃ layer was demonstrated and compared to furnace thermal annealing, supported by theoretical calculations. The CW laser

annealing was accomplished using optimized 18 W power, a spot size of ~100 μ m, scan velocity of 3 mm/s, and 50% overlap. The laser annealing improved the iV_{OC}, reaching 611 mV, compared to thermal annealing, where iV_{OC} saturated at ~580 mV. Although the devices with an Al₂O₃ passivation layer started with a higher iV_{OC} performance than those using SiO_x, the final iV_{OC} reached ~630 mV. This proved that mechanisms undergoing at the interfaces of c-Si, native oxide, and Al₂O₃ are critical and demand more investigative attention. The research work has a broader impact on the identification of the technical factors influencing the passivation quality, tunneling, and deposition conditions of the dopant-free CSPC Si devices. This will help to improve the iV_{OC} performances of such devices beyond 720 mV, without compromising the tunneling properties. Moreover, the significance of controlled CW laser annealing will help in overcoming the interfacial defects and compete with other carrier-selective devices like TOPCon in terms of device performances and throughput in the PV market.

The summary of all the major accomplishments and novelty of results is provided in Table 7.1.

| Si solar cells structures | Fabrication Problems | Solution to the problems | Novel approach and results |
|---------------------------------|--|--|---|
| (1) IBC-HJ | Requires complex lithography process. fs- & ps-pulsed | Use of pulsed laser patterning, and selective removal of a- Si:H (i) and (p) layers. | Optical thin-film interference simulation to control laser fluence, allowing minimization of laser-induced damage. |
| | laser-induced damages; iV_{OC} loss = <u>-40 mV</u> [47]. | • Use of ns-pulse width laser. | Achieved insignificant laser-induced damages: iV_{OC} loss < -3 mV, resulting in high iV_{OC} ~719 mV. |

Table 7.1. Summary of the accomplishments and novelty of results in this thesis work.

| (2) p- TOPCon | Use of long duration of furnace annealing (875 °C/30min) to achieve high iVoc (~688 mV) and dopant activation. Lack of flexibility. High thermal budget | • Use of RTA with flexibility in the choice of annealing atmosphere; controlling heating, holding and cooling times; and temperature. | RTA at optimal 825 °C/ 7-15 min was achieved. Lower thermal budget accomplished. Air RTA+FGA (iVoc ~656 mV), with fewer blisters and thicker surface oxide, is better than N₂ RTA+FGA (iVoc ~630 mV). N₂ RTA of SiN_x-coated devices resulted in the highest iVoc <u>~706 mV</u>. Light-induced degradation was avoided by using Si wafer cover. Dopant activation and lower sheet resistance were achieved. Slower cooling time (≥ 300s) was found critical for the best performance. |
|---------------------------|---|--|--|
| (3) TMO- based CSPC | Use of long duration of furnace annealing (425 °C/ 30min). Lack of flexibility. High thermal budget | Use of CW laser annealing to improve the c- Si/nat.ox. /Al₂O₃ interfacial quality. | The interfacial quality of c-Si/nat.ox. /Al₂O₃ was improved and iV_{OC} was increased by <u>2.6%</u> using CW 450 nm laser annealing at 18 W, compared to furnace anneal. Lower thermal budget achieved. Presence of native oxide, and use of Thermal ALD Al₂O₃ and Plasma ALD |

| | TiO _x were good as deposition conditions. |
|--|---|
| | ♦ Best performance was iV_{OC} ~629 mV. |

B. Future Work

In the case of IBC-HJ Si solar cells, we have demonstrated using nanosecond pulsed laser processing for selective ablation without damaging the passivation layer. This accomplishment opens new possibilities for investigating ultrafast picosecond and femtosecond lasers for selective ablations without laser-induced heat on HJ solar cells using similar characterization techniques, including Essential Macleod thin-film modeling. Such simulation modeling can also be used for laser isolation to avoid plasma leakage problems [215]. A laser beam of the top-hat profile will be a good start for a future endeavor of uniform ablation as it will avoid the difficulty of laser spots with a Gaussian profile. The extension of fast laser processing from 1-inch to 6-inch devices within an optimized timescale can also be a future area of interest.

In the case of carrier-selective p-TOPCon Si solar cells, we demonstrated the implications of variable heating, holding, and cooling cycles, anneal atmospheres, lamp light-induced degradations, hydrogen content in poly-Si depositions, blistering, and presence of SiN_x :H coatings under RTA. Future work can be extended to investigating CW and microsecond pulsed laser annealing in small vacuum chambers. Study of interface study based on the energy band bending by EELS, cathodoluminescence, atomic bonding by STEM, and dopant profile by SIMS can be a starting point for a detailed study. The application of selective laser annealing can be optimized for a future research endeavor in solar cell architectures using both IBC and TOPCon. Later,
extending fast laser processing from 1-inch to 6-inch devices within an optimized timescale can also be a future area of interest.

In the case of carrier-selective TMO-based CSPC Si solar cells, we conducted a preliminary study on the deposition and optimization of SiO_x, Al₂O₃, TiO_x, and MoO_x and demonstrated complete bifacial CSPC Si devices, supported by FGA and CW laser annealing. The future areas of interest can be improving the c-Si/native oxide/ Al₂O₃ interfacial defects and deposition optimizations to balance the need for good passivation quality and tunneling. TiO_x and MoO_x 's carrier selectivity can be considered an independent optimization work that can be pursued based on various material and electrical characterization. Investigation of the CW deep-UV laser processing will benefit the PV community in fabricating dopant-free CSPC devices at high throughput and low expenditure. Lastly, converting bifacial to IBC architectures using masked-ALD of ETL and HTL and metallization can be an innovative topic of interest for future research.

Appendix A: Additional work on laser processing and solar cells.

A1. Microscale patterning of semiconductor c-Si by selective laserheating induced KOH etching

In this chapter, we present a novel approach for achieving highly localized micronresolution patterning using a microsecond (μ s) pulsed laser, a technique based on the laser heatinginduced chemical etching (LHICE) process that preserves carrier lifetime. The core principle of this methodology involves elevating the temperature in specific areas irradiated by the laser, thereby enhancing the forward reaction rate of temperature-dependent chemical etching on crystalline silicon (c-Si). By carefully selecting laser processing parameters, we successfully patterned c-Si without the need for direct laser ablation. This temperature range was chosen to be both low and safe for the fabrication of silicon solar cells, effectively minimizing direct laserinduced defects and thermal stresses in the c-Si lattice.

Following the microsecond pulse-width laser-heated KOH etch patterning of c-Si, we conducted a comprehensive analysis of its impact on minority carrier lifetime (MCL). Our characterizations involved various analytical techniques, including optical microscopy, scanning electron microscopy (SEM), Sinton QSSPCD MCL measurement, white-light Zygo optical profilometry, and LCPSim simulation, to gain a comprehensive understanding of the laser-assisted chemical etching process.

This cost-effective, low-temperature patterning method holds promise for diverse applications in solar cell designs, encompassing both inorganic and organic materials. Its availability for high-efficiency solar cell fabrication is expected to significantly benefit the solar industry. Furthermore, this approach has the potential to extend its applicability to a wide range of other materials, including metals, ceramics, and semiconductors.

A1.1. Experimental

I. Laser processing setup

The experimental setup utilized an IPG Photonics YLR-150/1500-QCW-AC-Y11 laser emitting at a wavelength of 1070 ± 5 nm, operating in quasi-continuous mode. The laser delivered pulse energy of approximately 1.5 J with a maximum peak power of 1500 W, and a constant repetition rate of 500 Hz was maintained. To investigate the impact of duty cycles on Laser Heating-Induced Chemical Etching (LHICE), various laser pulse widths were employed: 100 µs, 150 µs, 200 µs, and 250 µs, resulting in corresponding duty cycles of 5%, 7.5%, 10%, and 12.5%, respectively. The effects of laser scan speeds on LHICE were also examined, with scan speeds set at 10 mm/s, 15 mm/s, and 50 mm/s. Laser power variations were also studied, utilizing average laser powers of 14.1 W, 16.4 W, 18.6 W, and 21 W. The laser spot size remained constant at approximately 430 µm at FWHM (Full Width at Half Maximum), and the total number of scans was kept at 4.

The experiments employed a double-side polished n-doped FZ c-Si <100> type wafer with a thickness of 300 μ m and a resistivity ranging from 1 to 5 Ω cm. This c-Si wafer was cut into 1 × 1-inch samples and thoroughly cleaned using methanol and HF solutions to eliminate surface contaminants. A total of nine straight parallel lines, similar to those used in the pattern by Sinha *et al.* [172], were patterned on the wafer. Each line was 13 mm long with gaps of approximately 500 μ m in between. The wafer was immersed in a 30 wt% KOH alkaline solution in a polystyrene petri dish. The KOH solution was maintained at a level of approximately 1 mm above the wafer's surface.



Fig. A1.1. Schematic diagram of the experimental setup for LHICE of silicon.

Fig. A1.1. illustrates the schematic diagram of the experimental setup. Measurements of Minority Carrier Lifetime (MCL) were taken before and after laser processing using a chemical passivation technique involving a 0.08 mol 1^{-1} of I₂-methanol solution [216]. The investigation included optical microscopy, Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM), white-light Zygo optical profilometry, and LCPSim simulation [217]. Optical images were captured using a Hirox 3D Digital Microscope. The MCL was determined using the WCT-120 Silicon Wafer Lifetime Tester by Sinton Instruments. Surface morphology was analyzed using an FEI Quanta 650 Field Emission Scanning Electron Microscope, and depth profiles were obtained using the Zygo NewView 7300 white-light optical profilometer.

A1.2. Results and discussion

I. Influence of laser processing parameters, surfactant, and solution stirring

It is crucial to comprehend how different laser processing parameters, such as laser scan speed, duty cycle, and power, influence surface morphology to optimize laser patterning. Additionally, the impact of using a surfactant and the process of solution stirring were investigated. To characterize the depth profiles of the laser-assisted etched groove lines under these varying conditions, non-destructive white-light Zygo optical profilometry was employed.



I.1. The effect of laser scan speed variation.

Fig. A1.2. Zygo profilometry showing the surface profile of laser-induced KOH etched lines on the c-Si substrate at scan speed (a) 50 mm s⁻¹, (b) 15 mm s⁻¹, and (c) 10 mm s⁻¹, respectively, while keeping other parameters constant. The figures (d)–(f) show the depth-color mapping images of the lines corresponding to the scan speeds of 50, 15, and 10 mm s⁻¹, respectively.

We investigated the influence of laser scan speed on LHICE. As seen in Fig. A1.2. (a)–(c), when maintaining a constant average power of 18.6 W and a 5% duty cycle, we observed that the etch depth increased from approximately 25 nm to 135 nm as the scan speed decreased from 50 mm/s to 10 mm/s. Lower scan speeds resulted in a higher number of laser pulses, leading to increased heating and, consequently, deeper etching. The depth-color maps clearly illustrate the development of distinct groove features with the reduction in scan speed, as depicted in Fig. A1.2. (d)–(f).



Fig. A1.3. Top-view SEM image of the laser-induced KOH etched lines obtained under the scan speed 15 mm s⁻¹.

However, when the scan speed dropped below 10 mm/s, excessive heating occurred, causing the direct evaporation of KOH and laser-induced ablation of the c-Si. The color map also confirms that the impact remained negligible outside the desired etched region, emphasizing the high spatial localization of the process. It's important to note that laser processing in a liquid etchant medium differs from laser processing in air or vacuum. Literature suggests that the lattice thermal conductivity of c-Si (\sim 5.1 W/(m K)) surpasses that of 30 wt% KOH (\sim 0.727 W/(m K)) and air (\sim 0.02–0.03 W/(m K)) [218]–[220]. Consequently, most laser-induced heat is redistributed within the c-Si lattice, with only a small portion dissipating into the adjacent liquid etchant. This leads to the heating of the liquid surrounding the laser-irradiated c-Si region.

Fig. A1.3. displays a top-view SEM image of a laser-assisted KOH-etched line on the c-Si substrate at a scan speed of 15 mm/s. The etched groove line exhibited an average width of approximately $280 \pm 10 \,\mu$ m. The SEM results confirm that the localized laser-induced heat was responsible for forming the KOH-etched groove and not direct laser ablation or stress. The laser power was sufficiently low to prevent the silicon surface from melting. Some minor disturbances and boiling of the etchant liquid near the Si surface did result in slightly irregular groove boundaries. It's worth noting that excessive laser power would lead to silicon melting, substantial bubble formation, vaporization, and uncontrolled etching.



I.2. The effect of laser duty cycle.

Fig. A1.4. Zygo profilometry showing the surface profile of the KOH-etched groove lines at various laser duty cycles (a) 5%, (b) 7.5%, and (c) 10% while keeping average power (18.6 W) and scan speed (50 mm s⁻¹) constant.

Fig. A1.4. (a)–(c) depict a progressive increase in etch depth, ranging from approximately 25 nm to 80 nm, and an expansion in groove line width, from around 150 μ m to 350 μ m, as the duty cycle was raised from 5% to 10%. In cases where laser average power and scan speed remained constant, the shorter pulse width led to higher peak energy per pulse, resulting in limited etching despite the elevated temperature induced by the laser. With the increase in the duty cycle,

the pulse width also increased, extending the duration of heating. Consequently, this prolonged heating period allowed more time for the KOH chemical reaction to occur, resulting in deeper etch depths and wider groove lines. Consequently, it becomes evident that the duty cycle plays a significant role in influencing the LHICE process. This observation aligns with the findings from the LCPSim simulation model, discussed in a subsequent section, which underscores the importance of extended heating durations and larger duty cycles.

I.3. The effect of laser power variation.



Fig. A1.5. Zygo profilometry showing the surface profile of the KOH-etched groove lines at various average laser powers (a) 14.1 W, (b) 16.4 W, and (c) 18.6 W while keeping other parameters constant (duty cycle = 7.5% and scan speed = 50 mm s^{-1})

The results illustrating the impact of varying the average laser power while maintaining a 7.5% duty cycle and a scan speed of 50 mm/s are presented in Fig. A1.5. (a)–(c). When the average laser power was raised from 14.1 W to 18.6 W, there was a slight increase in etch depth. Although this increase in etch depth was not particularly pronounced, the groove lines did widen. It's worth noting that average power levels below 14.1 W did not result in the formation of any etch grooves, while average power levels exceeding 18.6 W led to the direct laser ablation of silicon, as

illustrated in Fig. A1.6. Consequently, it was concluded that etch depth in LHICE cannot be determined solely by the average power.



Fig. A!.6. Optical image showing the laser-induced ablation at an average power of 21 W.

I.4. The effect of using surfactant and solution stirring.



Fig. A1.7. Zygo profilometry showing the surface profile of the KOH-etched groove lines (a) without Triton X-100 and (b) with Triton X-100 while keeping all laser parameters constant (duty cycle = 5% and scan speed = 10 mm s⁻¹)

Triton X-100, a common surfactant, is typically employed to enhance surface wetting during the KOH etching of c-Si. This study introduced 100 ppm of Triton X-100 into a 30% KOH solution. Fig. A1.7. (a) & (b) depict the etch depth for samples subjected to KOH solution with

and without the surfactant. When maintaining a constant average power of 18.6 W, a 5% duty cycle, and a scan speed of 10 mm/s, it was observed that the sample etched with Triton-containing KOH exhibited a shallower etch depth (\sim 75 nm) compared to the one etched with KOH alone (\sim 130 nm). It was evident that the etching rate was slower in the case of Triton-added KOH etching, but the average roughness improved from 36 nm to 20 nm. These results align with prior research by Rola *et al.*, which also demonstrated lower etch rates and a smoothening effect resulting from adding Triton to the KOH etchant [221].

Efforts were made to mitigate bubble formation during heating by stirring the solution using a magnetic stirrer rotating at speeds ranging from 50 to 100 rpm. However, this liquid stirring induced undesired turbulence on the liquid surface, leading to irregularities in etch depth due to increased scattering of the laser beam.

I.5. Reproducibility and scalability.

Reproducibility and scalability play pivotal roles in assessing a process's reliability and industrial applicability. Three identical samples were subjected to etching under identical laser parameter conditions in this context. As depicted in Fig. A1.8., it is evident that when employing an average power of 18.6 W, a 5% duty cycle, and a scan speed of 15 mm/s, consistent etch depth (\sim 110 ± 10 nm) and width (\sim 300 ± 20 nm) were achieved. This observation underscores the reproducibility and reliability of the LHICE process.



Fig. A1.8. Zygo profilometry shows the reproducibility of the etch depths in three different 1×1 inch c-Si samples using the same laser parameters: average power of 18.6 W, 5% duty cycle, and scan speed of 15 mm s⁻¹.

I.6. The effect of laser-assisted chemical etch time.

The concentration of KOH and the temperature influences the etching rate of silicon. Our study maintained the KOH concentration at a constant 30 wt%. It's worth noting that the etching rate initially increases with concentration and then begins to decrease. This suggests that selecting a higher KOH concentration might be advantageous as it can elevate the boiling point of the solution and reduce etching in areas untreated by the laser [222].

The practicality of the LHICE process should meet the criterion of being time-efficient to achieve high throughput in the solar cell industry. In the commercial sector, 6×6 -inch silicon solar cells hold a dominant position, making it imperative for selective laser-assisted KOH etching of 6×6 -inch c-Si wafers to be a time-efficient procedure.

The approximate time required to pattern four scans of a single 13 mm straight line, resulting in a $\sim 110 \pm 10$ nm groove depth, was 1.65 seconds. Consequently, the total time needed

to pattern nine parallel patterns of this nature amounted to 14.85 seconds. The time taken for the complete selective laser-assisted KOH etching of c-Si samples can be enhanced through an optimized combination of factors such as multiple-beam systems, spot size, KOH concentration, average laser power, pulse width, laser wavelength, and the number of laser scans. Thus, to create a single line pattern of 6 inches (i.e., 152.4 mm) on a 6-inch wafer with four scans and achieve a similar groove depth, it would require 18.9 seconds. For each etched line with a depth of ~20 nm, the time would be approximately 4 seconds. The choice of etched depth can be tailored to meet industry requirements. Utilizing a multiple-beam system has the potential to further reduce processing time for large areas. Rather than circular laser beams, one-dimensional line beams can be employed to generate faster and more uniform line patterns. Employing higher-power lasers can extend the length of the focused laser beamline, enabling significantly faster throughput compared to what was used in our experiments.

II. QSSPCD carrier lifetime characterization of semiconductor c-Si

The Quasi-Steady-State Photoconductance Decay (QSSPCD) characterization tool is invaluable for assessing the extent of damages and defects present on both the surface and within the bulk of the c-Si substrate following laser processing. Fig. A1.9. illustrates the QSSPCD MCL (Minority Carrier Lifetime) data compared to carrier density measurements taken before and after the LHICE process. For this analysis, we utilized three separate c-Si substrates, each measuring 1×1 inch, which was previously employed for investigating etch-depth reproducibility, as discussed in the section 'Reproducibility and scalability'. Each measurement was conducted with a minority carrier density of 1×10^{15} cm⁻³, and an average of three measurements was taken.



Fig. A1.9. QSSPCD carrier lifetime measurements before and after LHICE for three different 1×1 inch c-Si samples showing its reproducibility. The temporary passivation for lifetime measurement was made by the iodine–methanol passivation method.

| Sample | Laser parameters | Before LHICE | | After LHICE | | Democrate as | |
|--|------------------------------------|---------------------|--------------|-------------|--------------|---|--|
| | | MCL (µs) | iVoc (mV) | MCL (µs) | iVoc (mV) | change (%) | |
| The average of all 3 starting samples | _ | 320 | 640 | _ | - | _ | |
| Sample 1 | 18.6 W, 5% D.C. and 15 mm/s. | - | - | 265 | 632 | $\Delta MCL = -17.1$ $\Delta i V_{OC} = -1.25$ | |
| Sample 2 | -do- | - | - | 285 | 635 | $\Delta MCL = -10.9$ $\Delta i V_{OC} = -0.78$ | |
| Sample3 | -do- | - | - | 301 | 639 | $\Delta MCL = -5.93$ $\Delta i V_{OC} = -0.15$ | |

Table A1.1. QSSPCD measurements to show the reproducibility of the LHICE process on c-Si samples.

The impact of LHICE on c-Si substrates was evaluated based on the MCLs and implied open-circuit voltages (iV_{OC}), both summarized in Table A!.1. In the context of silicon solar cell

manufacturing, the minor decreases observed in MCL (-17.1%) and iV_{OC} (-1.25%) have minimal, if any, profound effects on performance. These negligible reductions in carrier lifetime and iV_{OC} demonstrate our successful execution of localized laser-assisted KOH etching while minimizing the detrimental effects of laser-induced stress and ablation damage on the c-Si substrate. Direct laser ablation would have resulted in a significant reduction in carrier lifetime due to the introduction of defects and damage within the bulk of the material. Wilkes has previously demonstrated that laser processing in an atmospheric environment generally leads to a decrease in carrier lifetime and damages the silicon, although the 1070 nm wavelength is not typically favored for surface micro-patterning on silicon [223].

III. Modelling and simulation for wavelength and power optimizations





Fig. A1.10. LCPSim simulation results of a single 1064 nm laser pulse showing (a) the maximum temperature profile with respect to time at different average laser powers while other laser parameters are constant and (b) the maximum temperature profile with respect to time at different duty cycles while other laser parameters are constant.

We utilized the Fraunhofer ISE simulation software LCPSim 1.3, developed by Fell *et al.*, to generate simulation results that predict the relationship between laser power and temperature on the surface of c-Si [217]. Due to the limited options for wavelength and medium selection within the simulation program, we opted for a Near-Infrared 1064 nm wavelength laser and considered air as the medium for the simulations while maintaining all other physical and laser parameters constant. The simulation process parameters mirrored those of our experimental conditions. The laser spot size was consistently maintained at approximately 430 µm.

The LCPSim simulations were conducted to illustrate the impact of a single 1064 nm laser pulse on c-Si. Fig. A1.10. (a) illustrates the escalation in simulated peak temperature with an increase in average laser power, ranging from 14.1 W to 21 W. All other laser parameters remained constant, such as the duty cycle (7.5%) and scan speed (50 mm/s). The simulations reveal that peak temperatures fall from approximately 140 °C to 1000 °C. As average power increased, the temperature curves' Full Width at Half Maximum (FWHM) also expanded. A broader FWHM indicates a longer duration of heating. After 800 μ s, all the temperature curves reached saturation, registering above approximately 50 °C.

Fig. A1.10. (b) presents the impact of laser duty cycles on LHICE, with all other laser parameters, such as average power and scan speed, held constant at 18.6 W and 50 mm/s, respectively. Two key observations arise from the simulation: (a) lower laser duty cycles result in increased peak temperatures, and (b) higher duty cycles lead to an expansion of the FWHM. In this context, lower duty cycles offer insufficient time for the KOH chemical reaction to generate significant etch depth. Consequently, very shallow grooves are produced, as shown in Fig. A1.4.

(a). Additionally, the narrower FWHM corresponds to a shorter timeframe, further explaining the shallow etch depth observed at lower duty cycles.

It is reasonable to assume that using a liquid medium (KOH/water) resulted in lower peak temperature simulation results due to the higher thermal conductivity of the KOH solution compared to air. Consequently, the simulation outcomes align with our experiments on localized laser-assisted KOH etching of c-Si. The localized temperature was elevated sufficiently to facilitate the KOH etching mechanism while avoiding the direct melting or ablation of the c-Si substrate.

III.B. The effect of laser wavelength.



Fig. A1.11. LCP Sim simulation results for a single laser pulse of spot size 25 μ m with the wavelength 355 nm, pulsewidth of 25 ns, repetition rate of 50 kHz, and average power of 0.05 W.

Near-surface heating is generally preferred when fabricating devices with low defectdensity. In the context of laser-assisted chemical etching, near-surface heating ensures that laser energy is primarily absorbed at the interface between the KOH solution and the c-Si surface, where the actual chemical etching occurs. Bulk heating of the device can potentially induce thermal stress-related defects within the material due to heat accumulation. The depth of laser heating can be controlled by carefully selecting laser fluence, wavelength, spot size, and other related process parameters. According to Beer's law, the choice of laser wavelength determines the depth at which light is absorbed within a particular material. Shorter wavelengths, such as UV wavelengths, are suitable for achieving near-surface heating of c-Si due to their shallow absorption depth. For instance, the absorption depth of UV light with a wavelength of 355 nm in c-Si is approximately 10 nm, whereas for a wavelength of 1070 nm, it extends to about 0.1 cm [224].

Fig. A1.11. illustrates an LCPSim simulation aimed at achieving a maximum temperature of approximately 250 °C with a single laser pulse at a wavelength of 355 nm. The simulation employed laser parameters, including a spot size of 25 μ m, a pulse width of 25 ns, a repetition rate of 50 kHz, and an average power of 0.05 W. It took approximately 0.045 μ s to reach the peak temperature, followed by a rapid decrease to 50 °C within 0.2 μ s. From this, it can be inferred that utilizing nanosecond-pulse-width UV light with a wavelength of 355 nm would be advantageous for LHICE without significant heat diffusion into the bulk of the material. However, shorter heating times may result in shorter chemical etching times and shallower etch depths. One can opt for lasers with higher repetition rates to achieve higher etch rates.

IV. Direct applicability of LHICE process to diverse semiconductor device fabrication

The laser-assisted spatially localized temperature-selective method is applicable for diverse materials, which include semiconductors, dielectrics, metals and alloys, glass, and polymers using different etchants. A few such examples are shown in Table A1.2.

161

The LHICE process can be applied to etch holes and grooves required for various device fabrication purposes. In the case of Passivated Emitter and Rear Cell (PERC) and Aluminum Back Surface Field (Al-BSF) solar cells, previous attempts involved direct laser drilling of lOCal openings in layers such as Al, AlOx, SiO₂/SiNx, and AlOx/SiNx stacks, resulting in some laserinduced defects and passivation damages. These local openings can be achieved through selective laser patterning of SiN_x in H₃PO₄, AlO_x, and Al in KOH, as well as SiO₂ in KOH [225]–[227]. Additionally, Wu et al. demonstrated the KOH etching process for bulk micromachining of a 100 mm diameter (100) silicon substrate, SiO_2 , and SiN_x passivation layers for the fabrication of hightemperature pressure sensors based on polycrystalline and single-crystalline 3C-SiC piezo resistors [228]. This functionality is also attainable by selectively chemical-etching using laser patterning in KOH and H₃PO₄ solutions. The LHICE process proves useful in fabricating microfluidic devices based on glass and silicon, where channel grooves/holes are typically created using photoresists or a-Si masks [229]. Furthermore, the LHICE process can replace conventional etching methods for soda-lime glass in fabricating high aspect ratio microfluidic channels, as previously demonstrated by Lin et al. [230]. Finally, in the production of Micro-Electro-Mechanical Systems (MEMS) devices, the removal of Parylene C layers on silicon and silicon oxide substrates is typically achieved through processes like piranha solution (a 7:3 mixture of H₂SO₄ and H₂O₂) and chloronaphthalene or benzyl benzoate, or wet KOH etching [231], all of which can be implemented using the LHICE process. Consequently, it is evident that this method holds applicability in other fields of thin-film and MEMS device fabrication not discussed here, where flexible localized laser patterning can enable high throughput without introducing defects into the devices.

Furthermore, incorporating fluorescent dyes (both water- and IPA-soluble) into the etchant solution can enhance the absorption of a specific laser wavelength. This approach exclusively heats the KOH solution, accelerating the etching reaction without causing thermal effects on c-Si. Water-soluble dyes such as BBT-mPEG, benzothiopyrylium pentamethine cyanines, and commercial fluorescent dyes like CFTM dyes and LUWSIR4 dyes, known for their diverse wavelength absorption-sensitivities, can be employed in the LHICE process [232]–[235].

| Materials & description | Etchant | Etch rate at a lower temperature | | Etch rate at a higher temperature | | Ref. |
|---|---|-------------------------------------|---------|--------------------------------------|----------------|-----------------|
| Au | Transene Au- etchant TFA | ~ 30 Å/s | 20 °C | ~ 150 Å/s | 60 °C | [236] |
| AlN | Photoresist developer AZ400K. | ~ 50 nm/min | 40 °C | ~ 600 nm/min; | 75 °C | [237] |
| Boron-doped c- Si (100) | Ethylene diamine- pyrocatechol- water (EDP) | 167 nm/min | 66 ℃ | ~ 500 nm/min | 110 ℃ | [238] |
| Monel-400 alloy | FeCl ₃ , CuCl ₂ | 6 μm/min | 40 °C | 12.5 µm/min | 80 °C | [239] |
| Polyimide polymer | 2 M NaOH + 50 % ethylene diamine | 0.1 µm/min | 30 °C | ~ 0.9 µm/min | 80 °C | [240] |
| Si _{0.8} Ge _{0.2} | 25 % TMAH | 5 nm/min | ~ 50 °C | 19 nm/min | ~ 75 °C | [241] |
| SiN _x (Low refractive index) | 30-40 wt% KOH | Negligible | 25 °C | 0.67 nm/min | 80 °C | [242] |
| Si ₃ N ₄ | BOE | 2 nm/min | 40 °C | 62 nm/min; | 90 ℃ | [243] |
| Si ₃ N ₄ | 94.5 % H ₃ PO ₄ | 0.6-3 nm/min | 140 °C | 11.5-20 nm/min; | 180- 200 °C | [244]– [246] |
| SiO ₂ | BOE | 0.2 nm/min | 40 °C | 0.6 nm/min; | 90 ℃ | [243] |
| SiO ₂ | 5 wt% TMAH | 100 Å/hr | 60 °C | >400 Å/hr | 76 ℃ | [247] |

Table A1.2. Etching rates of different etchants on various materials at higher operating temperatures.

| Soda-lime glass | BOE / HCl mixture | 1.5 µm/min | 5 ℃ | ~5.5 µm/min | 55 ℃ | [248] |
|------------------|---|--|-------|--------------------|-------|-------|
| TiO ₂ | H ₂ O ₂ :NH ₄ OH:H ₂ O (1:1:5 by vol.) | $\begin{array}{c} 0.29 \pm 0.09 \\ nm/min \end{array}$ | 25 °C | 15 ± 1.4 nm/min | 65 °C | [249] |

A1.3. Conclusion

A new method of laser patterning using localized laser-heating induced KOH etching of c-Si substrates with minimal impact on electronic properties has been demonstrated. The effect of various processing parameters such as laser scan speed, duty cycle, average power, and other factors like the addition of surfactant, solution stirring, etchant concentration, and etching time was investigated. LCPSim simulations were done to calculate the laser-generated temperature and provided an understanding of the laser-induced heating of KOH.

The etching depth was found to increase as the laser scan speed was reduced from 50 mm s^{-1} to 10 mm s^{-1} . The scan speed, faster than 50 mm s^{-1} , did not induce any observable etching, and slower than 10 mm s^{-1} , introduced direct laser-induced damage to c-Si. The increase in laser pulse width from $100 \,\mu\text{s}$ to $200 \,\mu\text{s}$ increased etching depth. A longer pulse width provided more laser heating and higher KOH chemical etching reaction times. No noticeable etching was observed at an average laser power of 14.1 W, whereas greater than 18.6 W induced damage to the c-Si. The etching depth was found to increase steadily as the laser power was increased. Both average laser power and pulse width can be optimized for the desired etch depth. The addition of surfactant Triton X-100 slowed down the KOH etch rate, resulting in shallower etch depths compared to the condition without surfactant. The surface roughness was reduced with the presence of the surfactant. The solution stirring proved unreliable in driving away bubbles in the liquid etchant as it impacted the incident laser beam.

The reproducibility and scalability of LHICE were examined using three identical samples and measurement of etching depth and MCL. The QSSPCD lifetime measurement observed an insignificant drop in carrier lifetime (~55 μ s) and less than a few percent change in implied opencircuit voltage. Such changes are insignificant for solar cell devices. The optical and SEM images showed smooth etched grooves with no visible damage outside the etched region, which proved the high selectivity and localization. The laser-generated groove boundaries were slightly irregular due to minor turmoil and bubbles in the liquid KOH medium, which could be improved by further optimization of laser parameters. The width of the grooves was found to be approximately ~300 ± 10 μ m, and the highest depth was ~130 ± 20 nm using a laser spot diameter of ~430 μ m. The throughput of chemical etching can be improved further using an optimized combination of KOH etchant concentration, multiple laser beam systems, 1D line beams, and laser processing parameters. Higher KOH concentration will increase the boiling temperature of the liquid and would have less effect on untreated laser areas on the substrate.

The LCPSim simulation software was used to simulate the maximum temperature reached at the center of the laser beam as a function of time for a single laser pulse of different pulse-width and average powers of 14.1–21 W and a wavelength of 1064 nm. The temperature gradient on the c-Si surface was also determined at different times. The simulated peak temperature and the temperature gradient showed the required temperature range of KOH-etch operation at localized regions without reaching the melting point of c-Si. A smaller laser wavelength, like 355 nm, could be used for more surface-oriented etch.

The demonstrated temperature-dependent localized laser-assisted etching methodology could be equally applicable to various kinds of bulk and thin-film materials like semiconductors, metals, dielectrics, polymers, and glasses, which can find applications in surface-enhanced super-

165

hydrophobicity, wettability, tribology, bacterial anti-fouling, solar cells, photodetectors, light emitters, and diverse micro-device fabrication.

A2. NASA Terahertz Heterodyne Spectrometer for In-Situ Resource Utilization (THSiRU) Project

NASA has planned future human missions to the moon and techniques to extract water and fuel to sustain future habitats on the harsh lunar terrain. Thus, it has become essential to invent lightweight and compact systems to detect and identify H₂O and hydroxyl group molecules in the lunar rocks and regolith. Such compact systems include heterodyne spectrometers and lasers to enable elemental and molecular detections. This project was accomplished in collaboration with Dr. Berhanu Bulcha, NASA Goddard Space Flight Center and other group members.

Our work was based on investigations on controlled olivine rock samples using FTIR and the destructive Laser-induced Breakdown Spectroscopy (LIBS) method to detect H₂O and -OH molecules. The 1064 nm wavelength pulsed laser was used to perform LIBS. These experiments were conducted in small vacuum chambers where the coatings of materials were deposited on the sapphire window during LIBS after short periods. The feasibility of using the same laser to clean the window was demonstrated by decreasing the laser fluence to clear the window for laser light transmission. This showed the potentiality of using the same laser to conduct LIBS and glass cleaning autonomously.

A3. 2018 NASA Big Idea Challenge Competition

The goal of the 2018 NASA Big Idea Challenge was to demonstrate novel ideas for designing autonomous systems comprising lightweight structures, compact storage, and high-efficiency photovoltaics to ensure sustained electrical power generation during potential human missions to Mars in the 2030s. The major design aspects addressed using advanced ultra-lightweight materials, high-efficiency solar cells, packaging, deployment, retraction, and dust-abatement strategies in the harsh Martian climate conditions and terrain. This was a team effort.

The design name was Photovoltaic Balloon for Autonomous Energy Generation on Mars (MEGA-PB). Our proposed design was based on deploying a giant spherical Kapton-Kevlar balloon, which would be inflated by pumping in from the Martian CO_2 atmosphere. The top of the balloon would house a 1000 m² area of high-efficiency GaAs PV solar cells. By heating the CO_2 inside, the balloon would gain altitude and ensure the PV systems are free from Martian dust accumulation. The balloon would be prevented from flying away by grounding it in a storage device filled with Martian sand. The electrical power generated from the solar cells would be transferred to this storage device as a power source.

A detailed report can be found on this link: https://bigidea.nianet.org/wpcontent/uploads/2018/03/2018-BIG-Idea-Final-Paper_UVA-1.pdf

References

- P. Friedlingstein *et al.*, "Global Carbon Budget 2022," *Earth Syst. Sci. Data*, vol. 14, no.
 11, pp. 4811–4900, Nov. 2022, doi: 10.5194/essd-14-4811-2022.
- [2] BP Statistical Review of World Energy, "WHEN WILL FOSSIL FUELS RUN OUT?," *MET Group*, 2021. [Online]. Available: https://group.met.com/en/mind-thefyouture/mindthefyouture/when-will-fossil-fuels-run-out.
- [3] Energy Institute, "The Energy Institute (EI) Statistical Review of World Energy 2023,"2023.
- [4] IEA, "Share of cumulative power capacity by technology, 2010-2027," *IEA*, 2023.
 [Online]. Available: https://www.iea.org/data-and-statistics/charts/share-of-cumulative-power-capacity-by-technology-2010-2027. [Accessed: 20-Aug-2023].
- [5] EIA, "International Energy Outlook 2019 with projections to 2050," 2019.
- [6] EIA, "Annual Energy Outlook 2022 with projections to 2050," 2022.
- [7] C. S. Lai and M. D. McCulloch, "Levelized cost of electricity for solar photovoltaic and electrical energy storage," *Appl. Energy*, vol. 190, pp. 191–203, Mar. 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.apenergy.2016.12.153.
- [8] Lazard, "2023 Levelized Cost Of Energy+," Apr. 2023.
- K. C. Phillips, H. H. Gandhi, E. Mazur, and S. K. Sundaram, "Ultrafast laser processing of materials: a review," *Adv. Opt. Photonics*, vol. 7, no. 4, p. 684, Dec. 2015, doi: 10.1364/AOP.7.000684.
- [10] National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL), "Interactive Best Research-Cell Efficiency Chart," 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.nrel.gov/pv/interactive-cellefficiency.html. [Accessed: 20-Aug-2023].

- [11] Fraunhofer ISE, "Fraunhofer ISE. Photovoltaics report.," 2020.
- M. A. Green *et al.*, "Solar cell efficiency tables (Version 60)," *Prog. Photovoltaics Res. Appl.*, vol. 30, no. 7, pp. 687–701, Jul. 2022, doi: 10.1002/pip.3595.
- [13] A. R. Zanatta, "The Shockley–Queisser limit and the conversion efficiency of silicon-based solar cells," *Results Opt.*, vol. 9, p. 100320, Dec. 2022, doi: 10.1016/j.rio.2022.100320.
- [14] E. BELLINI, "IBC solar modules may drive TOPCon out of market by 2028, says tech expert," *PV Magazine*, Nov-2022.
- [15] S. Magazine, "IBC Solar Cells: Definition, Benefits, vs. Similar Techs," Solar Magazine, Apr-2022.
- [16] V. Wang, "TOPCon technology to dominate as costs fall below mono PERC, analysts say," *Solarbe Global*, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.solarbeglobal.com/topcontechnology-to-dominate-as-costs-fall-below-mono-perc-analysts-say/. [Accessed: 07-Sep-2023].
- B. Bilal and H. Najeeb-ud-Din, "Fundamentals of and Recent Advances in Carrier Selective Passivating Contacts for Silicon Solar Cells," *J. Electron. Mater.*, vol. 50, no. 7, pp. 3761–3772, Jul. 2021, doi: 10.1007/s11664-021-08933-5.
- [18] W. Shockley and H. J. Queisser, "Detailed balance limit of efficiency of p-n junction solar cells," J. Appl. Phys., vol. 32, no. 3, 1961, doi: 10.1063/1.1736034.
- [19] A. Goetzberger, J. Knobloch, and B. Voß, "The Principles of Photovoltaics," in *Crystalline Silicon Solar Cells*, Wiley, 2014, pp. 9–48.
- [20] S. H. Lee *et al.*, "Advanced carrier lifetime analysis method of silicon solar cells for industrial applications," *Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells*, vol. 251, p. 112144, Mar. 2023,

doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2022.112144.

- [21] M. Lu, S. Bowden, U. Das, and R. Birkmire, "Interdigitated back contact silicon heterojunction solar cell and the effect of front surface passivation," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 91, no. 6, Aug. 2007, doi: 10.1063/1.2768635.
- [22] A. Descoeudres, Z. C. Holman, L. Barraud, S. Morel, S. De Wolf, and C. Ballif, ">21%
 Efficient Silicon Heterojunction Solar Cells on n- and p-Type Wafers Compared," *IEEE J. Photovoltaics*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 83–89, Jan. 2013, doi: 10.1109/JPHOTOV.2012.2209407.
- [23] D. Diouf, J.-P. Kleider, and C. Longeaud, "Two-Dimensional Simulations of Interdigitated Back Contact Silicon Heterojunctions Solar Cells," in *Engineering Materials*, 2012, pp. 483–519.
- [24] M. Lu, U. Das, S. Bowden, S. Hegedus, and R. Birkmire, "Optimization of interdigitated back contact silicon heterojunction solar cells: tailoring hetero-interface band structures while maintaining surface passivation," *Prog. Photovoltaics Res. Appl.*, vol. 19, no. 3, pp. 326–338, May 2011, doi: 10.1002/pip.1032.
- [25] F. Zhu and J. Singh, "Approach to study the relation between optical energy gap and hydrogen concentration in hydrogenated amorphous silicon thin films," *J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 73, no. 9, pp. 4709–4711, May 1993, doi: 10.1063/1.352742.
- [26] U. Wurfel, A. Cuevas, and P. Wurfel, "Charge Carrier Separation in Solar Cells," *IEEE J. Photovoltaics*, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 461–469, Jan. 2015, doi: 10.1109/JPHOTOV.2014.2363550.
- [27] R. T. Tung, "The physics and chemistry of the Schottky barrier height," *Appl. Phys. Rev.*, vol. 1, no. 1, Mar. 2014, doi: 10.1063/1.4858400.
- [28] T. G. Allen, J. Bullock, X. Yang, A. Javey, and S. De Wolf, "Passivating contacts for

crystalline silicon solar cells," *Nat. Energy*, vol. 4, no. 11, pp. 914–928, Sep. 2019, doi: 10.1038/s41560-019-0463-6.

- [29] T. K. S. Wong and K. Pei, "Double Heterojunction Crystalline Silicon Solar Cells: From Doped Silicon to Dopant-Free Passivating Contacts," *Photonics*, vol. 9, no. 7, p. 477, Jul. 2022, doi: 10.3390/photonics9070477.
- [30] A. S. Kale *et al.*, "Effect of silicon oxide thickness on polysilicon based passivated contacts for high-efficiency crystalline silicon solar cells," *Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells*, vol. 185, pp. 270–276, Oct. 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2018.05.011.
- [31] R. Peibst *et al.*, "A simple model describing the symmetric I-V characteristics of p polycrystalline Si/n monocrystalline Si, and n polycrystalline Si/p monocrystalline Si junctions," *IEEE J. Photovoltaics*, vol. 4, no. 3, pp. 841–850, May 2014, doi: 10.1109/JPHOTOV.2014.2310740.
- [32] S. Jäckle *et al.*, "Junction formation and current transport mechanisms in hybrid n-Si/PEDOT:PSS solar cells," *Sci. Rep.*, vol. 5, no. 1, p. 13008, Aug. 2015, doi: 10.1038/srep13008.
- [33] J. Bullock *et al.*, "Lithium Fluoride Based Electron Contacts for High Efficiency n-Type Crystalline Silicon Solar Cells," *Adv. Energy Mater.*, vol. 6, no. 14, p. 1600241, Jul. 2016, doi: 10.1002/aenm.201600241.
- [34] W. Beyer *et al.*, "Temperature and hydrogen diffusion length in hydrogenated amorphous silicon films on glass while scanning with a continuous wave laser at 532 nm wavelength," *J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 124, no. 15, Oct. 2018, doi: 10.1063/1.5038090.
- [35] J. Dréon *et al.*, "23.5%-efficient silicon heterojunction silicon solar cell using molybdenum oxide as hole-selective contact," *Nano Energy*, vol. 70, p. 104495, Apr.

2020, doi: 10.1016/j.nanoen.2020.104495.

- [36] K. Masuko *et al.*, "Achievement of More Than 25% Conversion Efficiency With Crystalline Silicon Heterojunction Solar Cell," *IEEE J. Photovoltaics*, vol. 4, no. 6, pp. 1433–1435, Nov. 2014, doi: 10.1109/JPHOTOV.2014.2352151.
- [37] A. Tomasi *et al.*, "Back-contacted silicon heterojunction solar cells with efficiency >21%," *IEEE J. Photovoltaics*, vol. 4, no. 4, pp. 1046–1054, 2014, doi: 10.1109/JPHOTOV.2014.2320586.
- [38] J. Nakamura, N. Asano, T. Hieda, C. Okamoto, H. Katayama, and K. Nakamura,
 "Development of Heterojunction Back Contact Si Solar Cells," *IEEE J. Photovoltaics*,
 vol. 4, no. 6, pp. 1491–1495, Nov. 2014, doi: 10.1109/JPHOTOV.2014.2358377.
- [39] G. Yang, A. Ingenito, O. Isabella, and M. Zeman, "IBC c-Si solar cells based on ionimplanted poly-silicon passivating contacts," *Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells*, vol. 158, pp. 84–90, Dec. 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2016.05.041.
- [40] F. Haase *et al.*, "Laser contact openings for local poly-Si-metal contacts enabling 26.1%-efficient POLO-IBC solar cells," *Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells*, vol. 186, pp. 184–193, Nov. 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2018.06.020.
- [41] M. Dahlinger, K. Carstens, E. Hoffmann, R. Zapf-Gottwick, and J. H. Werner, "23.2% laser processed back contact solar cell: fabrication, characterization and modeling," *Prog. Photovoltaics Res. Appl.*, vol. 25, no. 2, pp. 192–200, Feb. 2017, doi: 10.1002/pip.2854.
- [42] E. Franklin *et al.*, "Design, fabrication and characterisation of a 24.4% efficient interdigitated back contact solar cell," *Prog. Photovoltaics Res. Appl.*, vol. 24, no. 4, pp. 411–427, Apr. 2016, doi: 10.1002/pip.2556.
- [43] S. Harrison, O. Nos, G. D'Alonzo, C. Denis, A. Coll, and D. Munoz, "Back Contact

Heterojunction Solar Cells Patterned by Laser Ablation," *Energy Procedia*, vol. 92, pp. 730–737, Aug. 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.egypro.2016.07.051.

- [44] R. Vasudevan *et al.*, "Laser-induced BSF: A new approach to simplify IBC-SHJ solar cell fabrication," in *AIP Conference Proceedings*, 2018, p. 040024, doi: 10.1063/1.5049287.
- [45] L. Zhang, U. Das, and S. Hegedus, "Gap Passivation Structure for Scalable N-Type Interdigitated all Back Contact Silicon Hetero-Junction Solar Cell," in 2017 IEEE 44th Photovoltaic Specialist Conference (PVSC), 2017, pp. 408–411, doi: 10.1109/PVSC.2017.8366339.
- [46] U. Das, L. Zhang, and S. Hegedus, "Processing Approaches and Challenges of Interdigitated Back Contact Si Solar Cells," in 2017 IEEE 44th Photovoltaic Specialist Conference (PVSC), 2017, pp. 1761–1764, doi: 10.1109/PVSC.2017.8366709.
- [47] J. M. Yacob Ali *et al.*, "Analysis of nanosecond and femtosecond laser ablation of rear dielectrics of silicon wafer solar cells," *Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells*, vol. 192, pp. 117–122, Apr. 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2018.12.002.
- [48] S. Hermann, T. Dezhdar, N.-P. Harder, R. Brendel, M. Seibt, and S. Stroj, "Impact of surface topography and laser pulse duration for laser ablation of solar cell front side passivating SiNx layers," *J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 108, no. 11, Dec. 2010, doi: 10.1063/1.3493204.
- [49] S. De Vecchi, T. Desrues, F. Souche, D. Muñoz, and M. Lemiti, "Laser assisted patterning of hydrogenated amorphous silicon for interdigitated back contact silicon heterojunction solar cell," in *Laser Material Processing for Solar Energy*, 2012, p. 84730R, doi: 10.1117/12.929783.
- [50] T. Desrues, S. De Vecchi, F. Souche, D. Munoz, and P. Ribeyron, "SLASH concept: A

novel approach for simplified interdigitated back contact solar cells fabrication," in 2012 38th IEEE Photovoltaic Specialists Conference, 2012, pp. 001602–001605, doi: 10.1109/PVSC.2012.6317901.

- [51] D. Qi, Z. Zhang, X. Yu, and Y. Zhang, "Visualization of nanosecond laser-induced dewetting, ablation and crystallization processes in thin silicon films," *Phys. Lett. A*, vol. 382, no. 23, pp. 1540–1544, Jun. 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.physleta.2018.04.014.
- [52] L. Zhang, N. Ahmed, C. Thompson, U. Das, and S. Hegedus, "Study of Passivation in the Gap Region Between Contacts of Interdigitated-Back-Contact Silicon Heterojunction Solar Cells: Simulation and Voltage-Modulated Laser-Beam-Induced-Current," *IEEE J. Photovoltaics*, vol. 8, no. 2, pp. 404–412, Mar. 2018, doi: 10.1109/JPHOTOV.2017.2783852.
- [53] M. Kim, D. Kim, D. Kim, and Y. Kang, "Analysis of laser-induced damage during laser ablation process using picosecond pulse width laser to fabricate highly efficient PERC cells," *Sol. Energy*, vol. 108, pp. 101–106, Oct. 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.solener.2014.06.020.
- [54] D. Lai *et al.*, "Optical design considerations of rear-side dielectric for higher efficiency of PERC solar cells," *Opt. Express*, vol. 27, no. 12, p. A758, Jun. 2019, doi: 10.1364/OE.27.00A758.
- [55] L. Galleni, M. Fırat, H. S. Radhakrishnan, F. Duerinckx, L. Tous, and J. Poortmans,
 "Mechanisms of charge carrier transport in polycrystalline silicon passivating contacts,"
 Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells, vol. 232, 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2021.111359.
- [56] M. Fırat *et al.*, "Local Enhancement of Dopant Diffusion from Polycrystalline Silicon Passivating Contacts," *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces*, vol. 14, no. 15, pp. 17975–17986, Apr. 2022, doi: 10.1021/acsami.2c01801.

- [57] A. Richter, J. Benick, F. Feldmann, A. Fell, M. Hermle, and S. W. Glunz, "n-Type Si solar cells with passivating electron contact: Identifying sources for efficiency limitations by wafer thickness and resistivity variation," *Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells*, vol. 173, pp. 96–105, Dec. 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2017.05.042.
- [58] F. Haase *et al.*, "Laser contact openings for local poly-Si-metal contacts enabling 26.1%-efficient POLO-IBC solar cells," *Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells*, vol. 186, no. May, pp. 184–193, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2018.06.020.
- [59] S. Choi *et al.*, "Formation and suppression of hydrogen blisters in tunnelling oxide passivating contact for crystalline silicon solar cells," *Sci. Rep.*, vol. 10, no. 1, p. 9672, Jun. 2020, doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-66801-4.
- [60] L. Nasebandt *et al.*, "Sputtered Phosphorus-Doped poly-Si on Oxide Contacts for Screen-Printed Si Solar Cells," *Sol. RRL*, vol. 6, no. 9, Sep. 2022, doi: 10.1002/solr.202200409.
- [61] Z. Zhang *et al.*, "Improvement of Surface Passivation of Tunnel Oxide Passivated Contact Structure by Thermal Annealing in Mixture of Water Vapor and Nitrogen Environment," *Sol. RRL*, vol. 3, no. 10, Oct. 2019, doi: 10.1002/solr.201900105.
- [62] G. C. Wilkes, A. D. Upadhyaya, A. Rohatgi, and M. C. Gupta, "Laser Crystallization and Dopant Activation of a-Si:H Carrier-Selective Layer in TOPCon Si Solar Cells," *IEEE J. Photovoltaics*, vol. 10, no. 5, pp. 1283–1289, Sep. 2020, doi: 10.1109/JPHOTOV.2020.3006273.
- [63] Y. Tao, V. Upadhyaya, K. Jones, and A. Rohatgi, "Tunnel oxide passivated rear contact for large area n-type front junction silicon solar cells providing excellent carrier selectivity," *AIMS Mater. Sci.*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 180–189, 2016, doi: 10.3934/matersci.2016.1.180.

- [64] T. Gao *et al.*, "An industrially viable TOPCon structure with both ultra-thin SiOx and n+-poly-Si processed by PECVD for p-type c-Si solar cells," *Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells*, vol. 200, p. 109926, Sep. 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2019.109926.
- [65] F. Feldmann, M. Bivour, C. Reichel, M. Hermle, and S. W. Glunz, "Passivated rear contacts for high-efficiency n-type Si solar cells providing high interface passivation quality and excellent transport characteristics," *Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells*, vol. 120, no. PART A, pp. 270–274, Jan. 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2013.09.017.
- [66] A. Harter *et al.*, "Influence of Intrinsic Silicon Layer and Intermediate Silicon Oxide Layer on the Performance of Inline PECVD Deposited Boron-Doped TOPCon," *IEEE J. Photovoltaics*, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 936–943, Jul. 2021, doi: 10.1109/JPHOTOV.2021.3071220.
- [67] F. Feldmann, M. Simon, M. Bivour, C. Reichel, M. Hermle, and S. W. Glunz, "Efficient carrier-selective p- and n-contacts for Si solar cells," *Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells*, vol. 131, pp. 100–104, Dec. 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2014.05.039.
- [68] U. Römer *et al.*, "Recombination behavior and contact resistance of n+ and p+ polycrystalline Si/mono-crystalline Si junctions," *Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells*, vol. 131, pp. 85–91, Dec. 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2014.06.003.
- [69] D. K. Ghosh *et al.*, "Fundamentals, present status and future perspective of TOPCon solar cells: A comprehensive review," *Surfaces and Interfaces*, vol. 30, p. 101917, Jun. 2022, doi: 10.1016/j.surfin.2022.101917.
- [70] M. Feng *et al.*, "Rapid-Thermal-Annealing-Induced Passivation Degradation and Recovery of Polysilicon Passivated Contact with Czochralski and Cast Multicrystalline Silicon Substrates," *Phys. status solidi*, vol. 218, no. 21, Nov. 2021, doi:

10.1002/pssa.202100344.

- [71] Q. Yang *et al.*, "In-situ phosphorus-doped polysilicon prepared using rapid-thermal anneal (RTA) and its application for polysilicon passivated-contact solar cells," *Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells*, vol. 210, p. 110518, Jun. 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2020.110518.
- [72] C. Reichel *et al.*, "Tunnel oxide passivated contacts formed by ion implantation for applications in silicon solar cells," *J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 118, no. 20, Nov. 2015, doi: 10.1063/1.4936223.
- [73] P. Borden *et al.*, "POLYSILICON TUNNEL JUNCTIONS AS ALTERNATES TO
 DIFFUSED JUNCTIONS," in *Proc. 23rd EU PVSEC, Valencia, Spain*, 2008, pp. 1149–1152, doi: 10.4229/23rdEUPVSEC2008-2DO.1.4.
- [74] A. Sinha, S. Dasgupta, A. Rohatgi, and M. C. Gupta, "Rapid Thermal Annealing of p-Type Polysilicon Passivated Contacts Silicon Solar Cells," *IEEE J. Photovoltaics*, vol. 13, no. 3, pp. 355–364, May 2023, doi: 10.1109/JPHOTOV.2023.3241790.
- [75] L. P. Welsh, J. A. Tuchman, and I. P. Herman, "The importance of thermal stresses and strains induced in laser processing with focused Gaussian beams," *J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 64, no. 11, pp. 6274–6286, Dec. 1988, doi: 10.1063/1.342086.
- [76] G. Yang *et al.*, "Will SiO -pinholes for SiO /poly-Si passivating contact enhance the passivation quality?," *Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells*, vol. 252, p. 112200, Apr. 2023, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2023.112200.
- [77] Z. Yang *et al.*, "Charge-carrier dynamics for silicon oxide tunneling junctions mediated by local pinholes," *Cell Reports Phys. Sci.*, vol. 2, no. 12, p. 100667, Dec. 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.xcrp.2021.100667.
- [78] C. Hollemann, F. Haase, J. Krugener, R. Brendel, and R. Peibst, "Firing stability of n-type

poly-Si on oxide junctions formed by quartz tube annealing," in 2020 47th IEEE Photovoltaic Specialists Conference (PVSC), 2020, vol. 2020-June, pp. 1274–1278, doi: 10.1109/PVSC45281.2020.9300849.

- [79] C. Hollemann *et al.*, "Changes in hydrogen concentration and defect state density at the poly-Si/SiOx/c-Si interface due to firing," *Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells*, vol. 231, p. 111297, Oct. 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2021.111297.
- [80] S. M. Hu, "Stress-related problems in silicon technology," *J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 70, no. 6, pp. R53–R80, Sep. 1991, doi: 10.1063/1.349282.
- [81] A. Rohatgi, Z. Chen, P. Doshi, T. Pham, and D. Ruby, "High-efficiency silicon solar cells by rapid thermal processing," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 65, no. 16, pp. 2087–2089, Oct. 1994, doi: 10.1063/1.112801.
- [82] P. Doshi, A. Rohatgi, M. Ropp, Z. Chen, D. Ruby, and D. Meier, "Rapid thermal processing of high-efficiency silicon solar cells with controlled in-situ annealing," *Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells*, vol. 41–42, pp. 31–39, Jun. 1996, doi: 10.1016/0927-0248(95)00119-0.
- [83] C. Sen *et al.*, "Assessing the Impact of Thermal Profiles on the Elimination of Light- and Elevated-Temperature-Induced Degradation," *IEEE J. Photovoltaics*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 40–48, Jan. 2019, doi: 10.1109/JPHOTOV.2018.2874769.
- [84] H. A. Lord, "Thermal and stress analysis of semiconductor wafers in a rapid thermal processing oven," *IEEE Trans. Semicond. Manuf.*, vol. 1, no. 3, pp. 105–114, 1988, doi: 10.1109/66.4383.
- [85] C. Shou *et al.*, "Optimization of Tunnel-Junction for Perovskite/Tunnel Oxide Passivated Contact (TOPCon) Tandem Solar Cells," *Phys. status solidi*, vol. 218, no. 24, Dec. 2021,

doi: 10.1002/pssa.202100562.

- [86] A. Ingenito *et al.*, "A passivating contact for silicon solar cells formed during a single firing thermal annealing," *Nat. Energy*, vol. 3, no. 9, pp. 800–808, Sep. 2018, doi: 10.1038/s41560-018-0239-4.
- [87] C. Lee *et al.*, "Amorphous Silicon Thin Film Deposition for Poly-Si/SiO2 Contact Cells to Minimize Parasitic Absorption in the Near-Infrared Region," *Energies*, vol. 14, no. 24, p. 8199, Dec. 2021, doi: 10.3390/en14248199.
- [88] B. W. H. van de Loo *et al.*, "On the hydrogenation of Poly-Si passivating contacts by
 Al2O3 and SiN thin films," *Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells*, vol. 215, p. 110592, Sep. 2020,
 doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2020.110592.
- [89] B. Steinhauser, F. Feldmann, D. Ourinson, H. Nagel, T. Fellmeth, and M. Hermle, "On the Influence of the SiNx Composition on the Firing Stability of Poly-Si/SiNx Stacks," *Phys. status solidi*, vol. 217, no. 21, Nov. 2020, doi: 10.1002/pssa.202000333.
- [90] C. Hollemann *et al.*, "Firing stability of tube furnace-annealed n-type poly-Si on oxide junctions," *Prog. Photovoltaics Res. Appl.*, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 49–64, Jan. 2022, doi: 10.1002/pip.3459.
- [91] G. Nogay *et al.*, "Interplay of annealing temperature and doping in hole selective rear contacts based on silicon-rich silicon-carbide thin films," *Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells*, vol. 173, pp. 18–24, Dec. 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2017.06.039.
- [92] D. Kang *et al.*, "Comparison of firing stability between p- and n-type polysilicon passivating contacts," *Prog. Photovoltaics Res. Appl.*, vol. 30, no. 8, pp. 970–980, Aug. 2022, doi: 10.1002/pip.3544.
- [93] V. Arya et al., "Laser Ablation and Ni/Cu Plating Approach for Tunnel Oxide Passivated
Contacts Solar Cells with Variate Polysilicon Layer Thickness: Gains and Possibilities in Comparison to Screen Printing," *Phys. status solidi*, vol. 217, no. 24, Dec. 2020, doi: 10.1002/pssa.202000474.

- [94] J. Schmidt, R. Peibst, and R. Brendel, "Surface passivation of crystalline silicon solar cells: Present and future," *Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells*, vol. 187, pp. 39–54, Dec. 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2018.06.047.
- [95] X. Yang, P. Zheng, Q. Bi, and K. Weber, "Silicon heterojunction solar cells with electron selective TiOx contact," *Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells*, vol. 150, pp. 32–38, Jun. 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2016.01.020.
- [96] X. Yang, Q. Bi, H. Ali, K. Davis, W. V. Schoenfeld, and K. Weber, "High-Performance TiO 2 -Based Electron-Selective Contacts for Crystalline Silicon Solar Cells," *Adv. Mater.*, vol. 28, no. 28, pp. 5891–5897, Jul. 2016, doi: 10.1002/adma.201600926.
- [97] J. Geissbühler *et al.*, "22.5% efficient silicon heterojunction solar cell with molybdenum oxide hole collector," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 107, no. 8, Aug. 2015, doi: 10.1063/1.4928747.
- [98] J. Bullock *et al.*, "Stable Dopant-Free Asymmetric Heterocontact Silicon Solar Cells with Efficiencies above 20%," *ACS Energy Lett.*, vol. 3, no. 3, pp. 508–513, Mar. 2018, doi: 10.1021/acsenergylett.7b01279.
- [99] B. Hoex, J. J. H. Gielis, M. C. M. van de Sanden, and W. M. M. Kessels, "On the c-Si surface passivation mechanism by the negative-charge-dielectric Al2O3," *J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 104, no. 11, Dec. 2008, doi: 10.1063/1.3021091.
- [100] G. Dingemans, F. Einsele, W. Beyer, M. C. M. van de Sanden, and W. M. M. Kessels,"Influence of annealing and Al2O3 properties on the hydrogen-induced passivation of the

Si/SiO2 interface," J. Appl. Phys., vol. 111, no. 9, May 2012, doi: 10.1063/1.4709729.

- [101] N. M. Terlinden, G. Dingemans, M. C. M. van de Sanden, and W. M. M. Kessels, "Role of field-effect on c-Si surface passivation by ultrathin (2–20 nm) atomic layer deposited Al2O3," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 96, no. 11, Mar. 2010, doi: 10.1063/1.3334729.
- [102] B. E. Davis and N. C. Strandwitz, "A Systematic Investigation of Aluminum Oxide Passivating Tunnel Layers for Titanium Oxide Electron-Selective Contacts," in 2020 47th IEEE Photovoltaic Specialists Conference (PVSC), 2020, vol. 2020-June, pp. 1557–1561, doi: 10.1109/PVSC45281.2020.9300502.
- [103] B. E. Davis and N. C. Strandwitz, "Aluminum Oxide Passivating Tunneling Interlayers for Molybdenum Oxide Hole-Selective Contacts," *IEEE J. Photovoltaics*, vol. 10, no. 3, pp. 722–728, May 2020, doi: 10.1109/JPHOTOV.2020.2973447.
- [104] S. Chowdhury, M. Q. Khokhar, D. P. Pham, and J. Yi, "Al 2 O 3 /MoO x Hole-Selective Passivating Contact for Silicon Heterojunction Solar Cell," *ECS J. Solid State Sci. Technol.*, vol. 11, no. 1, p. 015004, Jan. 2022, doi: 10.1149/2162-8777/ac4d83.
- [105] M. Jeong, J. Park, Y. J. Cho, and H. S. Chang, "Improved passivation performance of Al2O3 interlayer/MoOX thin films continuously grown via atomic layer deposition," *Thin Solid Films*, vol. 766, p. 139667, Feb. 2023, doi: 10.1016/j.tsf.2022.139667.
- [106] D. Suh, D.-Y. Choi, and K. J. Weber, "Al2O3/TiO2 stack layers for effective surface passivation of crystalline silicon," *J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 114, no. 15, Oct. 2013, doi: 10.1063/1.4825258.
- [107] V. Titova, D. Startsev, and J. Schmidt, "Electron-selective atomic-layer-deposited TiOx layers: Impact of post-deposition annealing and implementation into n-type silicon solar cells," in *AIP Conference Proceedings*, 2018, vol. 1999, p. 040022, doi:

10.1063/1.5049285.

- [108] Y. Guo and J. Robertson, "Origin of the high work function and high conductivity of MoO3," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 105, no. 22, Dec. 2014, doi: 10.1063/1.4903538.
- [109] L. G. Gerling, C. Voz, R. Alcubilla, and J. Puigdollers, "Origin of passivation in holeselective transition metal oxides for crystalline silicon heterojunction solar cells," *J. Mater. Res.*, vol. 32, no. 2, pp. 260–268, Jan. 2017, doi: 10.1557/jmr.2016.453.
- [110] H. Mehmood, H. Nasser, T. Tauqeer, and R. Turan, "Simulation of silicon heterostructure solar cell featuring dopant-free carrier-selective molybdenum oxide and titanium oxide contacts," *Renew. Energy*, vol. 143, pp. 359–367, Dec. 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.renene.2019.05.007.
- [111] K. Yoshikawa *et al.*, "Silicon heterojunction solar cell with interdigitated back contacts for a photoconversion efficiency over 26%," *Nat. Energy*, vol. 2, no. 5, p. 17032, Mar. 2017, doi: 10.1038/nenergy.2017.32.
- [112] S. Negi and R. Bhandari, "Silicon isotropic and anisotropic etching for MEMS applications," *Microsyst. Technol.*, vol. 19, no. 2, pp. 203–210, Feb. 2013, doi: 10.1007/s00542-012-1552-7.
- [113] A. V. N. Rao, V. Swarnalatha, and P. Pal, "Etching characteristics of Si{110} in 20 wt% KOH with addition of hydroxylamine for the fabrication of bulk micromachined MEMS," *Micro Nano Syst. Lett.*, vol. 5, no. 1, p. 23, Dec. 2017, doi: 10.1186/s40486-017-0057-7.
- [114] K. Sato *et al.*, "Characterization of orientation-dependent etching properties of singlecrystal silicon: effects of KOH concentration," *Sensors Actuators A Phys.*, vol. 64, no. 1, pp. 87–93, Jan. 1998, doi: 10.1016/S0924-4247(97)01658-0.
- [115] H. Seidel, L. Csepregi, A. Heuberger, and H. Baumgärtel, "Anisotropic Etching of

Crystalline Silicon in Alkaline Solutions: I. Orientation Dependence and Behavior of Passivation Layers," *J. Electrochem. Soc.*, vol. 137, no. 11, pp. 3612–3626, Nov. 1990, doi: 10.1149/1.2086277.

- [116] H. Tanaka, S. Yamashita, Y. Abe, M. Shikida, and K. Sato, "Fast etching of silicon with a smooth surface in high temperature ranges near the boiling point of KOH solution," *Sensors Actuators A Phys.*, vol. 114, no. 2–3, pp. 516–520, Sep. 2004, doi: 10.1016/j.sna.2003.11.036.
- [117] I. Barycka and I. Zubel, "Silicon anisotropic etching in KOH-isopropanol etchant," Sensors Actuators A Phys., vol. 48, no. 3, pp. 229–238, May 1995, doi: 10.1016/0924-4247(95)00992-2.
- [118] C. A. Ross, D. G. MacLachlan, D. Choudhury, and R. R. Thomson, "Optimisation of ultrafast laser assisted etching in fused silica," *Opt. Express*, vol. 26, no. 19, p. 24343, Sep. 2018, doi: 10.1364/OE.26.024343.
- [119] K. W. Kolasinski, D. Mills, and M. Nahidi, "Laser assisted and wet chemical etching of silicon nanostructures," J. Vac. Sci. Technol. A Vacuum, Surfaces, Film., vol. 24, no. 4, pp. 1474–1479, Jul. 2006, doi: 10.1116/1.2188414.
- [120] L. Ji, X. Lv, Y. Wu, Z. Lin, and Y. Jiang, "Hydrophobic light-trapping structures fabricated on silicon surfaces by picosecond laser texturing and chemical etching," *J. Photonics Energy*, vol. 5, no. 1, p. 053094, Apr. 2015, doi: 10.1117/1.JPE.5.053094.
- [121] M. Saito and S. Kimura, "Polygonal pits on silicon surfaces that are created by laserassisted chemical etching," *AIP Adv.*, vol. 7, no. 2, Feb. 2017, doi: 10.1063/1.4973980.
- [122] D. Mills, M. Nahidi, and K. W. Kolasinski, "Stain etching of silicon pillars and macropores," *Phys. status solidi*, vol. 202, no. 8, pp. 1422–1426, Jun. 2005, doi:

10.1002/pssa.200461119.

- [123] M. C. Gupta, J. T. Harrison, and M. T. Islam, "Photoconductive PbSe thin films for infrared imaging," *Mater. Adv.*, vol. 2, no. 10, pp. 3133–3160, 2021, doi: 10.1039/D0MA00965B.
- [124] A. S. Westover *et al.*, "On-chip high power porous silicon lithium ion batteries with stable capacity over 10,000 cycles," *Nanoscale*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 98–103, 2015, doi: 10.1039/C4NR04720F.
- [125] R. A. Ismail, A.-M. E. Al-Samarai, and A. Y. Ali, "Preparation and characteristics study of CdS/macroporous silicon/c-Si double heterojunction photodetector by spray pyrolysis technique," *Optik (Stuttg).*, vol. 168, pp. 302–312, Sep. 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.ijleo.2018.04.101.
- [126] C. Molpeceres *et al.*, "Characterization of UV laser ablation for microprocessing of a-Si:H thin films," in *Photonics for Solar Energy Systems*, 2006, p. 619706, doi: 10.1117/12.663143.
- [127] P. Jaguiro, P. Katsuba, S. Lazarouk, and A. Smirnov, "Porous Silicon Avalanche LEDs and their Applications in Optoelectronics and Information Displays," *Acta Phys. Pol. A*, vol. 112, no. 5, pp. 1031–1036, Nov. 2007, doi: 10.12693/APhysPolA.112.1031.
- [128] A. Chakraborty, A. T. Mulroney, and M. C. Gupta, "Superhydrophobic Surfaces by Microtexturing: A Critical Review," *Rev. Adhes. Adhes.*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 35–64, Mar. 2021.
- [129] J. Long *et al.*, "Superhydrophobic Surfaces Fabricated by Femtosecond Laser with Tunable Water Adhesion: From Lotus Leaf to Rose Petal," *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces*, vol. 7, no. 18, pp. 9858–9865, May 2015, doi: 10.1021/acsami.5b01870.

- [130] B. Dusser *et al.*, "Controlled nanostructrures formation by ultra fast laser pulses for color marking," *Opt. Express*, vol. 18, no. 3, p. 2913, Feb. 2010, doi: 10.1364/OE.18.002913.
- [131] L. Wang, Y. Gao, Q. Xue, H. Liu, and T. Xu, "Microstructure and tribological properties of electrodeposited Ni–Co alloy deposits," *Appl. Surf. Sci.*, vol. 242, no. 3–4, pp. 326–332, Apr. 2005, doi: 10.1016/j.apsusc.2004.08.033.
- [132] J. Valle *et al.*, "Evaluation of Surface Microtopography Engineered by Direct Laser Interference for Bacterial Anti-Biofouling," *Macromol. Biosci.*, vol. 15, no. 8, pp. 1060– 1069, Aug. 2015, doi: 10.1002/mabi.201500107.
- [133] M. L. Ngan, K. C. Lee, and K. W. Cheah, "Photochemical etching of silicon," J. Porous Mater., 2000, doi: 10.1023/A:1009686420494.
- [134] C. Edwards, K. Wang, R. Zhou, B. Bhaduri, G. Popescu, and L. L. Goddard, "Digital projection photochemical etching defines gray-scale features," *Opt. Express*, vol. 21, no. 11, p. 13547, Jun. 2013, doi: 10.1364/OE.21.013547.
- [135] N. Bachtouli, S. Aouida, R. H. Laajimi, M. F. Boujmil, and B. Bessais, "Implications of alkaline solutions-induced etching on optical and minority carrier lifetime features of monocrystalline silicon," *Appl. Surf. Sci.*, vol. 258, no. 22, pp. 8889–8894, Sep. 2012, doi: 10.1016/j.apsusc.2012.05.110.
- [136] J. Benick, B. Hoex, M. C. M. van de Sanden, W. M. M. Kessels, O. Schultz, and S. W. Glunz, "High efficiency n-type Si solar cells on Al2O3-passivated boron emitters," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 92, no. 25, Jun. 2008, doi: 10.1063/1.2945287.
- [137] J. Schmidt, A. Merkle, R. Brendel, B. Hoex, M. C. M. van de Sanden, and W. M. M. Kessels, "Surface passivation of high-efficiency silicon solar cells by atomic-layer-deposited Al2O3," *Prog. Photovoltaics Res. Appl.*, vol. 16, no. 6, pp. 461–466, Sep. 2008,

doi: 10.1002/pip.823.

- [138] C.-H. Hsu *et al.*, "Enhanced Si Passivation and PERC Solar Cell Efficiency by Atomic Layer Deposited Aluminum Oxide with Two-step Post Annealing," *Nanoscale Res. Lett.*, vol. 14, no. 1, p. 139, Dec. 2019, doi: 10.1186/s11671-019-2969-z.
- [139] S. Y. Herasimenka, C. J. Tracy, V. Sharma, N. Vulic, W. J. Dauksher, and S. G. Bowden, "Surface passivation of n-type c-Si wafers by a-Si/SiO2/SiNx stack with <1 cm/s effective surface recombination velocity," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 103, no. 18, Oct. 2013, doi: 10.1063/1.4827821.
- [140] D. Zielke, J. H. Petermann, F. Werner, B. Veith, R. Brendel, and J. Schmidt, "Contact passivation in silicon solar cells using atomic-layer-deposited aluminum oxide layers," *Phys. status solidi Rapid Res. Lett.*, vol. 5, no. 8, pp. 298–300, Aug. 2011, doi: 10.1002/pssr.201105285.
- [141] F. Werner, W. Stals, R. Görtzen, B. Veith, R. Brendel, and J. Schmidt, "High-rate atomic layer deposition of Al2O3 for the surface passivation of Si solar cells," *Energy Procedia*, vol. 8, pp. 301–306, 2011, doi: 10.1016/j.egypro.2011.06.140.
- [142] O. Çakır, "Review of Etchants for Copper and its Alloys in Wet Etching Processes," *Key Eng. Mater.*, vol. 364–366, pp. 460–465, Dec. 2007, doi: 10.4028/www.scientific.net/KEM.364-366.460.
- [143] P. Nageswara Rao and D. Kunzru, "Fabrication of microchannels on stainless steel by wet chemical etching," *J. Micromechanics Microengineering*, vol. 17, no. 12, pp. N99–N106, Dec. 2007, doi: 10.1088/0960-1317/17/12/N01.
- [144] G. C. Wood, J. M. Ferguson, B. Vaszko, and D. P. Whittle, "Substructures in Oxide Scales on Nickel, Cobalt, and Nickel-Cobalt Alloys," J. Electrochem. Soc., vol. 114, no. 6,

p. 535, 1967, doi: 10.1149/1.2426645.

- [145] W. Ou, L. Zhao, H. Diao, J. Zhang, and W. Wang, "Optical and electrical properties of porous silicon layer formed on the textured surface by electrochemical etching," J. *Semicond.*, vol. 32, no. 5, p. 056002, May 2011, doi: 10.1088/1674-4926/32/5/056002.
- [146] U. J. Nsofor *et al.*, "Analysis of silicon wafer surface preparation for heterojunction solar cells using X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy and effective minority carrier lifetime," *Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells*, vol. 183, pp. 205–210, Aug. 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2018.03.006.
- [147] A. Soman, U. Nsofor, U. Das, T. Gu, and S. Hegedus, "Correlation between in Situ Diagnostics of the Hydrogen Plasma and the Interface Passivation Quality of Hydrogen Plasma Post-Treated a-Si:H in Silicon Heterojunction Solar Cells," *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces*, vol. 11, no. 17, pp. 16181–16190, May 2019, doi: 10.1021/acsami.9b01686.
- [148] A. K. R. Choudhury, "Characteristics of light sources," in *Principles of Colour and Appearance Measurement*, Elsevier, 2014, pp. 1–52.
- [149] W. S. Yoo, K. Kang, G. Murai, and M. Yoshimoto, "Temperature Dependence of Photoluminescence Spectra from Crystalline Silicon," *ECS J. Solid State Sci. Technol.*, vol. 4, no. 12, pp. P456–P461, Oct. 2015, doi: 10.1149/2.0251512jss.
- [150] M. Juhl, C. Chan, M. D. Abbott, and T. Trupke, "Anomalously high lifetimes measured by quasi-steady-state photoconductance in advanced solar cell structures," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 103, no. 24, Dec. 2013, doi: 10.1063/1.4840337.
- [151] J. S. Yahng, B. H. Chon, C. H. Kim, S. C. Jeoung, and H. R. Kim, "Nonlinear enhancement of femtosecond laser ablation efficiency by hybridization with nanosecond laser," *Opt. Express*, vol. 14, no. 20, p. 9544, 2006, doi: 10.1364/OE.14.009544.

- [152] W. Marine, N. M. Bulgakova, L. Patrone, and I. Ozerov, "Electronic mechanism of ion expulsion under UV nanosecond laser excitation of silicon: Experiment and modeling," *Appl. Phys. A*, vol. 79, no. 4–6, pp. 771–774, Sep. 2004, doi: 10.1007/s00339-004-2783-y.
- [153] C. Sämann, J. Köhler, M. Dahlinger, M. Schubert, and J. Werner, "Pulsed Laser Porosification of Silicon Thin Films," *Materials (Basel).*, vol. 9, no. 7, p. 509, Jun. 2016, doi: 10.3390/ma9070509.
- [154] R. Baets *et al.*, "Silicon Photonics: silicon nitride versus silicon-on-insulator," in *Optical Fiber Communication Conference*, 2016, p. Th3J.1, doi: 10.1364/OFC.2016.Th3J.1.
- [155] R.-Y. Tsai, L.-C. Kuo, and F. C. Ho, "Amorphous silicon and amorphous silicon nitride films prepared by a plasma-enhanced chemical vapor deposition process as optical coating materials," *Appl. Opt.*, vol. 32, no. 28, p. 5561, Oct. 1993, doi: 10.1364/AO.32.005561.
- [156] E. Ozbay, K. Guven, K. Aydin, and M. Bayindir, "Physics and applications of photonic nanocrystals," *Int. J. Nanotechnol.*, vol. 1, no. 4, p. 379, 2004, doi: 10.1504/IJNT.2004.005976.
- [157] A. H. Clauer, J. H. Holbrook, and B. P. Fairand, "Effects of Laser Induced Shock Waves on Metals," in *Shock Waves and High-Strain-Rate Phenomena in Metals*, Boston, MA: Springer US, 1981, pp. 675–702.
- [158] M. A. Meyers, L. E. Marr, and U. S. Lindholm, "Shock Waves and High-Strain-Rate Phenomena in Metals," *J. Appl. Mech.*, vol. 49, no. 3, pp. 683–683, Sep. 1982, doi: 10.1115/1.3162565.
- [159] W.-E. Hong and J.-S. Ro, "Kinetics of solid phase crystallization of amorphous silicon analyzed by Raman spectroscopy," J. Appl. Phys., vol. 114, no. 7, Aug. 2013, doi: 10.1063/1.4818949.

- [160] W. C. Ding *et al.*, "Strong visible and infrared photoluminescence from Er-implanted silicon nitride films," *J. Phys. D. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 41, no. 13, p. 135101, Jul. 2008, doi: 10.1088/0022-3727/41/13/135101.
- [161] C. J. Oliphant, C. J. Arendse, T. F. G. Muller, and D. Knoesen, "Characterization of silicon nitride thin films deposited by hot-wire CVD at low gas flow rates," *Appl. Surf. Sci.*, vol. 285, pp. 440–449, Nov. 2013, doi: 10.1016/j.apsusc.2013.08.075.
- [162] A. V Naumkin, A. Kraust-Vass, S. W. Gaarenstroom, and C. J. Powell, "NIST X-ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy Database, National Institute of Standards and Technology," *NIST Standard Reference Database Number 20*, 2000.
- [163] J.-W. He, X. Xu, J. S. Corneille, and D. W. Goodman, "X-ray photoelectron spectroscopic characterization of ultra-thin silicon oxide films on a Mo(100) surface," *Surf. Sci.*, vol. 279, no. 1–2, pp. 119–126, Dec. 1992, doi: 10.1016/0039-6028(92)90748-U.
- [164] W. Ding, L. Li, L. Zhang, D. Ju, S. Peng, and W. Chai, "An XPS study on the chemical bond structure at the interface between SiOxNy and N doped polyethylene terephthalate," *J. Chem. Phys.*, vol. 138, no. 10, Mar. 2013, doi: 10.1063/1.4794782.
- [165] G. Beamson and D. Briggs, High Resolution XPS of organic polymers, The Scienta ESCA 300 database John Wiley & Sons. 1992.
- [166] J. F. Moulder, W. F. Stickle, P. E. Sobol, and K. D. Bomben, *Handbook of X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy: a reference book of standard spectra for identification and interpretation of XPS data*. 1992.
- [167] J. Lu et al., "Enhanced retention characteristic of NiSi2/SiNx compound nanocrystal memory," Appl. Phys. Lett., vol. 96, no. 26, Jun. 2010, doi: 10.1063/1.3457870.
- [168] R. C. G. Naber, B. W. H. van de Loo, and J. R. M. Luchies, "LPCVD In-Situ n-Type

Doped Polysilicon Process Throughput Optimization and Implementation into an Industrial Solar Cell Process Flow," *36th Eur. Photovolt. Sol. Energy Conf. Exhib.*, 2019.

- [169] C. Chang, "On the Enhancement of Silicon Chemical Vapor Deposition Rates at Low Temperatures," *J. Electrochem. Soc.*, vol. 123, no. 8, pp. 1245–1247, Aug. 1976, doi: 10.1149/1.2133045.
- [170] W.-J. Choi *et al.*, "Optimization of In-situ and Ex-situ doped p+ Passivating Contact for High Efficiency p-TOPCon Solar Cell Application," in *2021 IEEE 48th Photovoltaic Specialists Conference (PVSC)*, 2021, pp. 1907–1912, doi: 10.1109/PVSC43889.2021.9518759.
- [171] A. de Calheiros Velozo, G. Lavareda, C. Nunes de Carvalho, and A. Amaral, "Thermal dehydrogenation of amorphous silicon deposited on c-Si: Effect of the substrate temperature during deposition," *Phys. status solidi c*, vol. 9, no. 10–11, pp. 2198–2202, Oct. 2012, doi: 10.1002/pssc.201200194.
- [172] A. Sinha, A. Soman, U. Das, S. Hegedus, and M. C. Gupta, "Nanosecond Pulsed Laser Patterning of Interdigitated Back Contact Heterojunction Silicon Solar Cells," *IEEE J. Photovoltaics*, vol. 10, no. 6, pp. 1648–1656, Nov. 2020, doi: 10.1109/JPHOTOV.2020.3026907.
- [173] D. K. Agarwal, N. Maheshwari, S. Mukherji, and V. R. Rao, "Asymmetric immobilization of antibodies on a piezo-resistive micro-cantilever surface," *RSC Adv.*, vol. 6, no. 21, pp. 17606–17616, 2016, doi: 10.1039/C6RA01440B.
- [174] H. Schröder, E. Obermeier, and A. Steckenborn, "Micropyramidal hillocks on KOH etched {100} silicon surfaces: formation, prevention and removal," *J. Micromechanics Microengineering*, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 139–145, Jun. 1999, doi: 10.1088/0960-1317/9/2/309.

- [175] Q. Li *et al.*, "Replacing the amorphous silicon thin layer with microcrystalline silicon thin layer in TOPCon solar cells," *Sol. Energy*, vol. 135, pp. 487–492, Oct. 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.solener.2016.06.012.
- [176] U. Rau, "Reciprocity relation between photovoltaic quantum efficiency and electroluminescent emission of solar cells," *Phys. Rev. B*, vol. 76, no. 8, p. 085303, Aug. 2007, doi: 10.1103/PhysRevB.76.085303.
- [177] C. B. Saltonstall, J. Serrano, P. M. Norris, P. E. Hopkins, and T. E. Beechem, "Single element Raman thermometry," *Rev. Sci. Instrum.*, vol. 84, no. 6, 2013, doi: 10.1063/1.4810850.
- [178] T. N. Tran, T. V. A. Pham, M. L. P. Le, T. P. T. Nguyen, and V. M. Tran, "Synthesis of amorphous silica and sulfonic acid functionalized silica used as reinforced phase for polymer electrolyte membrane," *Adv. Nat. Sci. Nanosci. Nanotechnol.*, vol. 4, no. 4, 2013, doi: 10.1088/2043-6262/4/4/045007.
- [179] M. Watanabe and N. Takenawa, "Ftir measurement of nitrogen in silicon using shuttle type sample stage," in *Proceedings - Electrochemical Society*, 2004, vol. 5.
- [180] L. X. Yi, J. Heitmann, R. Scholz, and M. Zacharias, "Phase separation of thin SiO layers in amorphous SiO/SiO2 superlattices during annealing," *J. Phys. Condens. Matter*, vol. 15, no. 39, pp. S2887–S2895, Oct. 2003, doi: 10.1088/0953-8984/15/39/012.
- [181] T. Jutarosaga, J. S. Jeoung, and S. Seraphin, "Infrared spectroscopy of Si–O bonding in low-dose low-energy separation by implanted oxygen materials," *Thin Solid Films*, vol. 476, no. 2, pp. 303–311, Apr. 2005, doi: 10.1016/j.tsf.2004.10.006.
- [182] S. Matsuda *et al.*, "Correlation between temperature coefficient of elasticity and fourier transform infrared spectra of silicon dioxide films for surface acoustic wave devices,"

IEEE Trans. Ultrason. Ferroelectr. Freq. Control, vol. 58, no. 8, 2011, doi: 10.1109/TUFFC.2011.1996.

- [183] T. F. Young, C. P. Chen, J. F. Liou, Y. L. Yang, and T. C. Chang, "Study on the Si-Si vibrational states of the near surface region of porous silicon," *J. Porous Mater.*, vol. 7, no. 1, 2000, doi: 10.1023/a:1009622601723.
- [184] G. Betz and G. K. Wehner, "Sputtering of multicomponent materials," in *Sputtering by Particle Bombardment II: Sputtering of Alloys and Compounds, Electron and Neutron Sputtering, Surface Topography, Topics in Applied Physics*, 1st ed., vol. 52, R. Behrish, Ed. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer, 1983, pp. 11–90.
- [185] R. Alfonsetti, L. Lozzi, M. Passacantando, P. Picozzi, and S. Santucci, "XPS studies on SiOx thin films," *Appl. Surf. Sci.*, vol. 70–71, no. PART 1, pp. 222–225, Jun. 1993, doi: 10.1016/0169-4332(93)90431-A.
- [186] I. P. Lisovskyy *et al.*, "Transformation of the structure of silicon oxide during the formation of Si nanoinclusions under thermal annealings," *Ukr. J. Phys.*, vol. 54, no. 4, 2009.
- [187] C. M. Park, W. Choi, Y. Hwa, J. H. Kim, G. Jeong, and H. J. Sohn, "Characterizations and electrochemical behaviors of disproportionated SiO and its composite for rechargeable Liion batteries," *J. Mater. Chem.*, vol. 20, no. 23, 2010, doi: 10.1039/b923926j.
- [188] B. B. Zviagina, V. A. Drits, and O. V. Dorzhieva, "Distinguishing Features and Identification Criteria for K-Dioctahedral 1M Micas (Illite-Aluminoceladonite and Illite-Glauconite-Celadonite Series) from Middle-Infrared Spectroscopy Data," *Minerals*, vol. 10, no. 2, p. 153, Feb. 2020, doi: 10.3390/min10020153.
- [189] G. Scardera, T. Puzzer, G. Conibeer, and M. A. Green, "Fourier transform infrared

spectroscopy of annealed silicon-rich silicon nitride thin films," *J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 104, no. 10, Nov. 2008, doi: 10.1063/1.3021158.

- [190] I. Guler, "Optical and structural characterization of silicon nitride thin films deposited by PECVD," *Mater. Sci. Eng. B*, vol. 246, pp. 21–26, Jul. 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.mseb.2019.05.024.
- [191] A. Kitao, K. Imakita, I. Kawamura, and M. Fujii, "An investigation into second harmonic generation by Si-rich SiN x thin films deposited by RF sputtering over a wide range of Si concentrations," *J. Phys. D. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 47, no. 21, p. 215101, May 2014, doi: 10.1088/0022-3727/47/21/215101.
- [192] W. A. M. Aarnink, A. Weishaupt, and A. van Silfhout, "Angle-resolved X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (ARXPS) and a modified Levenberg-Marquardt fit procedure: a new combination for modeling thin layers," *Appl. Surf. Sci.*, vol. 45, no. 1, pp. 37–48, Aug. 1990, doi: 10.1016/0169-4332(90)90018-U.
- [193] J. Finster, E. D. Klinkenberg, J. Heeg, and W. Braun, "ESCA and SEXAFS investigations of insulating materials for ULSI microelectronics," *Vacuum*, vol. 41, no. 7–9, 1990, doi: 10.1016/0042-207X(90)94025-L.
- [194] X. Zhao, M. Leavy, N. P. Magtoto, and J. A. Kelber, "Copper wetting of a tantalum silicate surface: Implications for interconnect technology," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 79, no. 21, pp. 3479–3481, Nov. 2001, doi: 10.1063/1.1418025.
- [195] M. Biesinger, "X-ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy (XPS) Reference Pages." [Online]. Available: http://www.xpsfitting.com/2012/01/silicon.html. [Accessed: 24-Apr-2022].
- [196] M. L. Miller and R. W. Linton, "X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy of thermally treated silica (SiO2) surfaces," Anal. Chem., vol. 57, no. 12, pp. 2314–2319, Oct. 1985, doi:

10.1021/ac00289a033.

- [197] Y. P. Lin and J. G. Hwu, "Quality improvement in LPCVD silicon nitrides by anodic and rapid thermal oxidations," *Electrochem. Solid-State Lett.*, vol. 7, no. 5, 2004, doi: 10.1149/1.1664053.
- [198] S. Guimarães, E. Landi, and S. Solmi, "Enhanced diffusion phenomena during rapid thermal annealing of preamorphized boron-implanted silicon," *Phys. status solidi*, vol. 95, no. 2, pp. 589–598, Jun. 1986, doi: 10.1002/pssa.2210950228.
- [199] M. Morita, T. Ohmi, E. Hasegawa, M. Kawakami, and M. Ohwada, "Growth of native oxide on a silicon surface," J. Appl. Phys., vol. 68, no. 3, pp. 1272–1281, Aug. 1990, doi: 10.1063/1.347181.
- [200] M. N. Getz, M. Povoli, and E. Monakhov, "Improving ALD-Al 2 O 3 Surface Passivation of Si Utilizing Pre-Existing SiO x," *IEEE J. Photovoltaics*, vol. 12, no. 4, pp. 929–936, Jul. 2022, doi: 10.1109/JPHOTOV.2022.3169985.
- [201] N. Batra, J. Gope, Vandana, J. Panigrahi, R. Singh, and P. K. Singh, "Influence of deposition temperature of thermal ALD deposited Al2O3 films on silicon surface passivation," *AIP Adv.*, vol. 5, no. 6, 2015, doi: 10.1063/1.4922267.
- [202] H. Cha and H. S. Chang, "Passivation performance improvement of ultrathin ALD-Al2O3 film by chemical oxidation," *Vacuum*, vol. 149, pp. 180–184, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.vacuum.2017.12.026.
- [203] G. Dingemans, P. Engelhart, R. Seguin, M. M. Mandoc, M. C. M. van de Sanden, and W. M. M. Kessels, "Comparison between aluminum oxide surface passivation films deposited with thermal ALD, plasma ALD and PECVD," in 2010 35th IEEE Photovoltaic Specialists Conference, 2010, pp. 003118–003121, doi: 10.1109/PVSC.2010.5614508.

- [204] M. M. Plakhotnyuk *et al.*, "Surface passivation and carrier selectivity of the thermal-atomic-layer-deposited TiO2 on crystalline silicon," *Jpn. J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 56, no. 8S2, p. 08MA11, Aug. 2017, doi: 10.7567/JJAP.56.08MA11.
- [205] S. F. Shaikh *et al.*, "Low-Temperature Ionic Layer Adsorption and Reaction Grown Anatase TiO2 Nanocrystalline Films for Efficient Perovskite Solar Cell and Gas Sensor Applications," *Sci. Rep.*, vol. 8, no. 1, p. 11016, Jul. 2018, doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-29363-0.
- [206] W. Wu et al., "22% efficient dopant-free interdigitated back contact silicon solar cells," in AIP Conference Proceedings, 2018, vol. 1999, p. 040025, doi: 10.1063/1.5049288.
- [207] G. Gregory, C. Feit, Z. Gao, P. Banerjee, T. Jurca, and K. O. Davis, "Improving the Passivation of Molybdenum Oxide Hole-Selective Contacts with 1 nm Hydrogenated Aluminum Oxide Films for Silicon Solar Cells," *Phys. status solidi*, vol. 217, no. 15, Aug. 2020, doi: 10.1002/pssa.202000093.
- [208] M. T. S. K. Ah Sen, P. Bronsveld, and A. Weeber, "Thermally stable MoOx hole selective contact with Al2O3 interlayer for industrial size silicon solar cells," *Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells*, vol. 230, p. 111139, Sep. 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2021.111139.
- [209] J. Kischkat *et al.*, "Mid-infrared optical properties of thin films of aluminum oxide, titanium dioxide, silicon dioxide, aluminum nitride, and silicon nitride," *Appl. Opt.*, vol. 51, no. 28, p. 6789, Oct. 2012, doi: 10.1364/AO.51.006789.
- [210] S. V. Zhukovsky *et al.*, "Experimental Demonstration of Effective Medium Approximation Breakdown in Deeply Subwavelength All-Dielectric Multilayers," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, vol. 115, no. 17, p. 177402, Oct. 2015, doi: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.115.177402.
- [211] H. R. Shanks, P. D. Maycock, P. H. Sidles, and G. C. Danielson, "Thermal Conductivity

of Silicon from 300 to 1400°K," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. 130, no. 5, pp. 1743–1748, Jun. 1963, doi: 10.1103/PhysRev.130.1743.

- [212] C. J. Glassbrenner and G. A. Slack, "Thermal Conductivity of Silicon and Germanium from 3°K to the Melting Point," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. 134, no. 4A, pp. A1058–A1069, May 1964, doi: 10.1103/PhysRev.134.A1058.
- [213] G. Dingemans and W. M. M. Kessels, "Status and prospects of Al2O3-based surface passivation schemes for silicon solar cells," J. Vac. Sci. Technol. A Vacuum, Surfaces, Film., vol. 30, no. 4, Jul. 2012, doi: 10.1116/1.4728205.
- [214] G. Kökbudak, A. E. Keçeci, H. Nasser, and R. Turan, "Ultra-thin Al2O3 capped with SiNx enabling implied open-circuit voltage reaching 720 mV on industrial p-type Cz c-Si wafers for passivated emitter and rear solar cells," *J. Vac. Sci. Technol. A Vacuum, Surfaces, Film.*, vol. 39, no. 1, Jan. 2021, doi: 10.1116/6.0000692.
- [215] A. Soman, U. K. Das, N. Ahmed, A. Sinha, M. C. Gupta, and S. S. Hegedus, "Processinduced losses by plasma leakage in lithography-free shadow masked interdigitated back contact silicon heterojunction architectures," *Mater. Sci. Semicond. Process.*, vol. 166, p. 107762, Nov. 2023, doi: 10.1016/j.mssp.2023.107762.
- [216] J. W. Chen *et al.*, "Surface Passivation of Silicon Wafers by Iodine-Ethanol (I-E) for Minority Carrier Lifetime Measurements," *Adv. Mater. Res.*, vol. 652–654, pp. 901–905, Jan. 2013, doi: 10.4028/www.scientific.net/AMR.652-654.901.
- [217] A. Fell and G. P. Willeke, "Fast simulation code for heating, phase changes and dopant diffusion in silicon laser processing using the alternating direction explicit (ADE) method," *Appl. Phys. A*, vol. 98, no. 2, pp. 435–440, Feb. 2010, doi: 10.1007/s00339-009-5416-7.

- [218] M. Park, I.-H. Lee, and Y.-S. Kim, "Lattice thermal conductivity of crystalline and amorphous silicon with and without isotopic effects from the ballistic to diffusive thermal transport regime," *J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 116, no. 4, Jul. 2014, doi: 10.1063/1.4891500.
- [219] J. Takeuchi, S. Satake, N. B. Morley, T. Kunugi, T. Yokomine, and M. A. Abdou,
 "Experimental study of MHD effects on turbulent flow of Flibe simulant fluid in circular pipe," *Fusion Eng. Des.*, vol. 83, no. 7–9, pp. 1082–1086, Dec. 2008, doi: 10.1016/j.fusengdes.2008.08.050.
- [220] David R Lide, "CRC Handbook of Chemistry and Physics, 84th Edition, 2003-2004," *Handb. Chem. Phys.*, 2003.
- [221] K. P. Rola and I. Zubel, "Triton Surfactant as an Additive to KOH Silicon Etchant," J. Microelectromechanical Syst., vol. 22, no. 6, pp. 1373–1382, Dec. 2013, doi: 10.1109/JMEMS.2013.2262590.
- [222] A. Wagner, "RCA Clean and KOH Wet-Chemical Etch of Silicon."
- [223] G. C. Wilkes, "Laser Annealing of Carrier-Selective Layers in High-Efficiency Photovoltaic Devices," University of Virginia, 2020.
- [224] C. B. Honsberg and S. G. Bowden, "Photovoltaics Education Website," *www.pveducation.org*, 2019. [Online]. Available: www.pveducation.org.
- [225] K. Biswas and S. Kal, "Etch characteristics of KOH, TMAH and dual doped TMAH for bulk micromachining of silicon," *Microelectronics J.*, vol. 37, no. 6, pp. 519–525, Jun. 2006, doi: 10.1016/j.mejo.2005.07.012.
- [226] P. Jaffrennou *et al.*, "Laser ablation of AlOx and AlOx/SiNx backside passivation layers for advanced cell architectures," in *2011 37th IEEE Photovoltaic Specialists Conference*, 2011, pp. 001074–001078, doi: 10.1109/PVSC.2011.6186138.

- [227] L. Bounaas *et al.*, "Laser Ablation of Dielectric Layers and Formation of Local Al-BSF in Dielectric back Passivated Solar Cells," *Energy Procedia*, vol. 38, pp. 670–676, 2013, doi: 10.1016/j.egypro.2013.07.331.
- [228] Chien-Hung Wu, C. A. Zorman, and M. Mehregany, "Fabrication and testing of bulk micromachined silicon carbide piezoresistive pressure sensors for high temperature applications," *IEEE Sens. J.*, vol. 6, no. 2, pp. 316–324, Apr. 2006, doi: 10.1109/JSEN.2006.870145.
- [229] C. Iliescu, H. Taylor, M. Avram, J. Miao, and S. Franssila, "A practical guide for the fabrication of microfluidic devices using glass and silicon," *Biomicrofluidics*, vol. 6, no. 1, Mar. 2012, doi: 10.1063/1.3689939.
- [230] C.-H. Lin, K.-W. Chen, and T.-Y. Li, "Rapid soda-lime glass etching process for producing microfluidic channels with higher aspect ratio," *Microsyst. Technol.*, vol. 20, no. 10–11, pp. 1905–1911, Oct. 2014, doi: 10.1007/s00542-013-1980-z.
- [231] J. Charmet, J. Bitterli, O. Sereda, M. Liley, P. Renaud, and H. Keppner, "Optimizing Parylene C Adhesion for MEMS Processes: Potassium Hydroxide Wet Etching," J. *Microelectromechanical Syst.*, vol. 22, no. 4, pp. 855–864, Aug. 2013, doi: 10.1109/JMEMS.2013.2248126.
- [232] Y. Hao, M. Zheng, and Y. Chen, "A highly stable and water-soluble fluorescent dye for fluorescence imaging of living cells," *J. Mater. Chem. B*, vol. 2, no. 42, pp. 7369–7374, Sep. 2014, doi: 10.1039/C4TB01210K.
- [233] L. Wang, W. Du, Z. Hu, K. Uvdal, L. Li, and W. Huang, "Hybrid Rhodamine Fluorophores in the Visible/NIR Region for Biological Imaging," *Angew. Chemie Int. Ed.*, vol. 58, no. 40, pp. 14026–14043, Oct. 2019, doi: 10.1002/anie.201901061.

- [234] W. E. Meador *et al.*, "Water-Soluble NIR Absorbing and Emitting Indolizine Cyanine and Indolizine Squaraine Dyes for Biological Imaging," *J. Org. Chem.*, vol. 85, no. 6, pp. 4089–4095, Mar. 2020, doi: 10.1021/acs.joc.9b03108.
- [235] S. Wang *et al.*, "Anti-quenching NIR-II molecular fluorophores for in vivo high-contrast imaging and pH sensing," *Nat. Commun.*, vol. 10, no. 1, p. 1058, Mar. 2019, doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-09043-x.
- [236] Transene Company, "Transene Gold Etchants." [Online]. Available: https://transene.com/au-etchant/.
- [237] J. R. Mileham, S. J. Pearton, C. R. Abernathy, J. D. MacKenzie, R. J. Shul, and S. P. Kilcoyne, "Wet chemical etching of AlN," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 67, no. 8, pp. 1119–1121, Aug. 1995, doi: 10.1063/1.114980.
- [238] H. Seidel and I. Csepregi and A. Heuberger and H. Baumgartel, "Anisotropic Etching of Crystalline Silicon in Alkaline Solutions. II - Influence of Dopants," *J. Electrochem. Soc.*, 1990.
- [239] D. H. Patil, S. B. Thorat, R. A. Khake, and S. Mudigonda, "Comparative Study of FeCl3 and CuCl2 on Geometrical Features Using Photochemical Machining of Monel 400," *Procedia CIRP*, vol. 68, pp. 144–149, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.procir.2017.12.084.
- [240] S.-M. Lian, K.-M. Chen, R.-J. Lee, J.-P. Pan, and A. Hung, "Chemical etching of polyimide film," *J. Appl. Polym. Sci.*, vol. 58, no. 9, pp. 1577–1584, Nov. 1995, doi: 10.1002/app.1995.070580921.
- [241] V. Loup *et al.*, "Si and SiGe Alloys Wet Etching Using TMAH Chemistry," *ECS Trans.*, vol. 58, no. 6, pp. 47–55, Aug. 2013, doi: 10.1149/05806.0047ecst.
- [242] K. R. Williams, K. Gupta, and M. Wasilik, "Etch rates for micromachining processing-

part II," *J. Microelectromechanical Syst.*, vol. 12, no. 6, pp. 761–778, Dec. 2003, doi: 10.1109/JMEMS.2003.820936.

- [243] N. Burham, G. Sugandi, M. M. Nor, and B. Y. Majlis, "Effect of temperature on the etching rate of nitride and oxide layer using Buffered Oxide Etch," in 2016 International Conference on Advances in Electrical, Electronic and Systems Engineering (ICAEES), 2016, pp. 516–519, doi: 10.1109/ICAEES.2016.7888099.
- [244] W. van Gelder and V. E. Hauser, "The Etching of Silicon Nitride in Phosphoric Acid with Silicon Dioxide as a Mask," *J. Electrochem. Soc.*, vol. 114, no. 8, p. 869, 1967, doi: 10.1149/1.2426757.
- [245] Y.-H. C. Chien, C.-C. Hu, and C.-M. Yang, "A Design for Selective Wet Etching of Si 3 N 4 /SiO 2 in Phosphoric Acid Using a Single Wafer Processor," *J. Electrochem. Soc.*, vol. 165, no. 4, pp. H3187–H3191, Mar. 2018, doi: 10.1149/2.0281804jes.
- [246] S. Cho *et al.*, "Development of High Selectivity Phosphoric Acid and its Application to Flash STI Pattern," *ECS Trans.*, vol. 45, no. 6, pp. 251–256, Apr. 2012, doi: 10.1149/1.3700960.
- [247] A. Ashok and P. Pal, "Room temperature synthesis of silicon dioxide thin films for MEMS and silicon surface texturing," in 2015 28th IEEE International Conference on Micro Electro Mechanical Systems (MEMS), 2015, pp. 385–388, doi: 10.1109/MEMSYS.2015.7050970.
- [248] R. Mazurczyk *et al.*, "Low-cost, fast prototyping method of fabrication of the microreactor devices in soda-lime glass," *Sensors Actuators B Chem.*, vol. 128, no. 2, pp. 552–559, Jan. 2008, doi: 10.1016/j.snb.2007.07.033.

[249] D. Suh, "Etch Characteristics and Morphology of Al2O3/TiO2 Stacks for Silicon Surface

List of peer-reviewed journal publications, conference proceedings and technical reports

Peer-review journal articles:

As a first author

- A. Sinha, A. Soman, U. Das, S. Hegedus, and M. C. Gupta, "Nanosecond pulsed laser patterning of interdigitated back contact heterojunction silicon solar cells," *IEEE J. Photovoltaics*, Vol. 10, no. 6, pp. 1648-1656, 2020, DOI: 10.1109/JPHOTOV.2020.3026907
- A. Sinha and M. C. Gupta, "Microscale patterning of semiconductor c-Si by selective laser-heating induced KOH etching", *Semiconductor Science and Technology*, vol.36, no.8, pp.085002, 2021, DOI 10.1088/1361-6641/ac09d1
- A. Sinha, S. Dasgupta, A. Rohatgi, and M. C. Gupta, "Rapid Thermal Annealing (RTA) of p-Type Polysilicon Passivated Contacts Silicon Solar Cells," *IEEE J. Photovoltaics*, Vol. 13, no. 3, pp. 355-364, 2023, DOI: 10.1109/JPHOTOV.2023.3241790

 A. Sinha, S. Dasgupta, A. Rohatgi, and M. C. Gupta, "Rapid Thermal Annealing Effects on Passivation Quality of p-TOPCon Silicon Solar Cells". Submitted to IEEE JPV. Under Review.

As a co-author

- A. Soman, U. Das, N. Ahmed, A. Sinha, M. C. Gupta, S. Hegedus, "Process-induced losses by plasma leakage in lithography-free shadow masked interdigitated back contact silicon heterojunction architectures", *J. Mat. Sci. Semicon. Proc.*, Vol. 166, 2023, DOI: 10.1016/j.mssp.2023.107762.
- A. Soman, U. Das, A. Sinha, U. Nsofor, L. Zhang, M. C. Gupta, S. Hegedus "Understanding V_{OC} loss in lithography-free shadow-masked laser ablated interdigitated back contact silicon heterojunction solar cells". Presently under review in the Journal of Solar Energy.

Conference proceedings:

As a first author

- A. Sinha, A. Soman, U. Das, S. Hegedus, and M. C. Gupta, "Interdigitated Back Contact (IBC) Heterojunction (HJ) Si Solar Cell Fabrication by Laser Patterning," 2020 47th IEEE Photovoltaic Specialists Conference (PVSC), 2020, pp. 0502-0505, doi: 10.1109/PVSC45281.2020.9300857
- 2. A. Sinha, S. Dasgupta, A. Rohatgi, and M. C. Gupta, "Rapid Thermal Annealing (RTA) of Hydrogenated Poly-Si under Air and Nitrogen and Blister Formation," 2022

IEEE 49th Photovoltaics Specialists Conference (PVSC), 2022, pp. 1168-1168, doi: 10.1109/PVSC48317.2022.9938775

 A. Sinha, S. Dasgupta, A. Rohatgi, and M. C. Gupta, "Rapid Thermal Annealing of Symmetric p-TOPCon Silicon Test Structures," 2023 IEEE 50th Photovoltaics Specialists Conference (PVSC), 2023, Abstract not yet published online.

As a co-author

 K. D. Dobson, Z. Sun, U. Nsofor, U. Das, A. Sinha, M. Gupta, and S. Hegedus, "Direct Laser Patterned Electroplated Copper Contacts for Interdigitated Back Contact Silicon Solar Cells," 2019 IEEE 46th Photovoltaic Specialists Conference (PVSC), 2019, pp. 1112-1119, doi: 10.1109/PVSC40753.2019.8981365

Collection of published works

Nanosecond Pulsed Laser Patterning of Interdigitated Back Contact Heterojunction Silicon Solar Cells

Arpan Sinha[©], Anishkumar Soman[©], Ujjwal Das[©], Member, IEEE, Steven Hegedus[©], Senior Member, IEEE, and Mool C. Gupta[©], Fellow, IEEE

Abstract-Careful control of the laser patterning for the fabrication of an interdigitated back contact heterojunction (IBC-HJ) solar cell is needed to avoid laser-induced defects and heat-induced crystallization, which can produce higher carrier recombination and lower power conversion efficiency. The results of nanosecond laser patterning of an IBC-HJ test structure are reported, and it was shown that optimized laser ablation conditions using a sacrificial layer eliminates laser-induced damage of the underlying passivation layer. A rigorous set of characterizations, comprising of minority carrier lifetime, spatially resolved µ-photoluminescence, optical microscopy, ellipsometry, Essential Macleod program simulations, scanning electron microscopy, line-mapping energy-dispersive Xray spectroscopy, X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy, and Raman spectroscopy, were undertaken to provide a deeper understanding of the nanosecond laser processing under a wide range of laser fluence. The evolving changes in surface morphologies of top sacrificial a-Si and SiNx and the use of color chart simulation for ablationdepth analysis were investigated. The µ-photoluminescence, carrier lifetime, and crystallinity in the passivation layer were evaluated. The trend in the change in the surface chemical constituency was determined in terms of Si/N ratio. Finally, the minimum laser fluence for the IBC-HJ test structure was determined and a negligible change in the implied open-circuit voltage was demonstrated.

Index Terms—Interdigitated back contact (IBC) solar cells, laser patterning, photovoltaics, silicon.

I. INTRODUCTION

T HE enhancement in solar power conversion efficiency and lowering of the manufacturing cost will make silicon solar cells more competitive with other renewable energy sources. The two major methodologies—carrier selective contacts [1] and interdigitated back contact-heterojunction (IBC-HJ) architecture—have provided the highest efficiency. The IBC-HJ structure is a back-contact c-Si solar cell architecture with patterned doped hydrogenated amorphous silicon (a-Si:H) layers, thereby forming local heterojunctions at the rear side

Arpan Sinha and Mool C. Gupta are with the University of Virginia, Charlottesville, VA 22904 USA (e-mail: as2ag@virginia.edu; mgupta@ virginia.edu).

Anishkumar Soman, UjjwalDus, and Steven Hegedus are with the Institute of Energy Conversion, University of Delaware, Newark, DE 19711 USA (e-mail: alsoman@udel.edu; ukdas@udel.edu; ssh@udel.edu).

Color versions of one or more of the figures in this article are available online at https://ie eexplore.ie ee.org.

Digital Object Identifier 10.1109/JPHOTOV.2020.3026907

[2]. Recently, a record 26.1% efficiency polycrystalline on oxide junction IBC (POLO-IBC) solar cell and 26.3% efficiency IBC-HJ c-Si solar cell have been reported [3], [4].

Previously, conventional lithography and shadow masking [5] had been used for the fabrication of IBC-HJ solar cells which increases the total manufacturing cost and added technical complexity [6], [7]. In recent years, the scientific and industrial communities have reported cost-effective direct laser patterning using ultrashort picosecond (ps), femtosecond (fs), and short-pulsed nanosecond (ns) lasers for the fabrication of IBC c-Si solar cells because of its several advantages such as mask-free and contactless patterning, micrometer-level spatial and depth resolution, high flexibility in the pattern design, and high throughput [3], [8]–[11]. Implementation of some of these laser processing steps is envisaged to significantly simplify the fabrication process of IBC-HJ solar cells [12]–[14].

However, recent reports suggest that ultrashort fs-laser processing causes more damage and lowers the V_{oc} , fill factor, and efficiency more than ns laser processing [15], [16]. The processing of HJ structures requires low-temperature processing and annealing [5].

Recently, several investigations have been reported on the varying effects of laser ablation parameters such as the pulse duration and wavelength, but they do not provide an understanding of laser-induced thermal effects on each layer in IBC architecture. For example, in their previous reports, Franklin et al. [9], De Vecchi et al. [16], Hermann et al. [17], and Desrues et al. [18] had discussed about the ns laser processing of IBC-HJ solar cells in terms of electrical characterizations only. They do not provide a comprehensive knowledge on the morphological, structural, and chemical compositional aspects behind the effects of ns laser processing on passivation and changes in the IBC-HJ layers. In the paper by Qi et al. [19], the effect of ns pulse laser on amorphous silicon has been discussed with no reference to the effect on the passivation layer.

During the laser processing of an IBC-HJ solar cell, unwanted damages and crystallization could be induced, which will significantly lower the carrier lifetime and power conversion efficiency. The laser-induced damage has been found to introduce higher recombination loss in a much wider region than the physical dimension of the laser spot because of lateral carrier transport in IBC-HJ solar cells [20]. Consequently, this leads to a significant loss in N_{oc} and minority carrier lifetime (MCL). The goal of this article is to selectively achieve patterned n- and p-layers for IBC-HJ cell with minimal laser-induced damage. The laser

2156-3381 © 2020 IEEE. Personal use is permitted, but republication/redistribution requires IEEE permission. See https://www.ieee.org/publications/rights/index.html for more information.

Authorized/licensed use limited to: University of Virginia Libraries. Downloaded on November 01,2023 at 01:41:22 UTC from IEEE Xplore. Restrictions apply.

Manuscript received April 25, 2020; revised July 8, 2020 and August 23, 2020; accepted September 21, 2020. Date of publication October 8, 2020; date of current version October 21, 2020. This work was supported by the U.S. Department of Energy's Office of Energy/Efficiency and Renewable Energy (EERE) under Solar Energy Technologies Office (SETO) Agreement DE EE0007534. (Corresponding authors: Mool C. Gupta.)



Fig. 1. Schematic diagram of laser processing steps comprising of (a) starting IBC-HJ test device structure before direct laser ablation, (b) after laser ablation of topsacrificiala-Si:H layers, and (c) after chemical etching of underlying SiN_x layer.

ablation of top sacrificial a-Si:H (p and i) layers on top of SiN, and a-Si:H (n) layers was carried out, exposing the SiNx layer underneath. The exposed SiN , layer was later chemically etched away, exposing the a-Si:H (n) layer. This allowed the deposition of metal contacts on the a-Si:H (n) layer. In this article, we describe the results of a thorough investigation and characterization of the impact of ns laser processing parameters on the various layers of an IBC-HJ architecture. Different analytical techniques such as microphotoluminescence (µ-PL), quasi-steadystate photoconductance MCL (QSSPC MCL), optical imaging and ellipsometry, Essential Macleod optical simulations, surface and cross-section morphology by scanning electron microscopy (SEM) and focused ion beam (FIB) SEM, surface elemental and chemical characterizations using energy-dispersive X-ray spectroscopy (EDS), Raman spectroscopy, and high-resolution X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (HR-XPS) have been used for this study. The simulated color chart based on optical interference was generated to be a reliable independent scientific tool to identify the variation in thickness of individual layers because of laser processing in an IBC-HJ architecture. This research will also be applicable to mc-Si PERC solar cells fabrication where high power ps/ns pulsed lasers are used for making openings in a dielectric layer [21], [22].

II. EXPERIMENT SETUP

A. Architecture of the IBC-HJ Test Structure

The schematic diagram of the laser processing steps on the rear side of the test structures used in our study to simulate the effects on an IBC-HJ device is shown in Fig. 1. The antireflection coating (ARC), passivation layer of a-Si:H (i), and the texturization at the front side of the devices are not shown in the diagram. In Fig. 1(a), the cross-sectional schematic of the IBC-HJ test structure used for our study is shown. The top a-Si:H (p and i) layers are laser-ablated, exposing the SiN_x layer underneath. The SiN_x layer was then chemically etched to expose the a-Si:H (n) layer underneath. This allows the mask-deposition of metal contacts on the a-Si:H (n) layer. The development of such structure with minimum laser damage is essential to achieve high-efficiency laser-processed IBC-HJ cells [12], [13]. The structures were fabricated on $135 \,\mu\text{m}$ n-type Cz Si wafer having <100> orientation and resistivity of 1–8 Ω cm. Before texturization, the wafers were cleaned using a standard procedure mentioned in our previous work [23]. The pyramidal textures on the front side of the wafer were formed by anisotropic silicon etchant tetra-methyl-ammonium-hydroxide (TMAH). The rear side to be used for the laser processing was prevented from texturization using a silicon nitride encapsulation layer. The wafers had a deposition of a passivating intrinsic amorphous silicon (a-Si:H) layer of 10 nm thickness on the front side and varying thickness of 8-12 nm on the rear side using DC-plasma enhanced chemical vapor deposition (DC-PECVD). the details of which are mentioned elsewhere [24]. Table I shows the different a-Si:H (i) thicknesses used in all the samples. To prevent reflection losses at the front surface, SiNx (80nm)/ SiC (20nm) layers were deposited as the ARC. A 50nm of n-doped a-Si:H (n layer) and 100nm of SiNx layers were deposited in a finger pattern on the semipolished rear side using a Si shadow mask. A thin layer of deposition is observed underneath the shadow mask because of plasma leakage during the PECVD process. This plasma leakage induced deposition of a-Si:H (n) layer was removed selectively by 25% TMAH or 45% KOH(see Table I) and followed by the final deposition step of the blanket layer stack of a-Si:H (i) (10 nm)/a-Si:H (p) (20 nm).

B. Laser

The laser used in the study was a 532nm wavelength, 10W average power ytterbium fiber laser (YLP-G-10, IPG Photonics) with 1.3 ns pulse duration, 4.48 µJ pulse energy, 30kHz repetition rate, and has a Gaussian beam profile. The galvanometer scan head used was a SCANcube 14, SCANLAB, with a scan pattern designed in EZCad (Beijing JCZ Technology Co. Ltd). The laser was used at a 30kHz repetition rate with a full-width half-maximum (FWHM) spot size of 20 µm at the focal plane at different fluences from 0.427 to 1.27 J/cm2. The laser fluences have been calculated by directly measuring its energy at different laser powers using Thorlabs energy/power meter and the laser spot size at FWHM. For each laser fluence, the scan pattern consisted of 13 mm of ~150 µm width laser ablation regions, comprising of 0% overlap between laser spots. The schematic diagram of the top view of a laser-patterned sample is shown in Fig. 2. The n-busbar connects all the n-stack layer fingers and the rest of the isolated region acts as the p-stack layer fingers and p-busbar.

C. Characterization

The μ -PL setup consists of a 532 nm 2W continuous wave (CW) laser (Melles Griot) to be an excitation source with a spot size of ~80 μ m, a spectrometer Horiba Jobin Yvon iHR 320 operated by SynerJY v3.5 software, an InGaAs detector, and a SR830DSP lock-in amplifier (Stanford Research Systems). The output power of this excitation laser was optimally reduced to 70 mW by neutral density (ND) filters and quartz glass reflection for μ -PL measurement without affecting the sample device. The MCL and iV_{occ} were measured using WCT-120 Silicon Wafer Lifetime Tester made by Sinton Instruments. The Essential Macleod software from Thin Film Center Inc. was used for simulation and prediction of the color chart of the reflected light

Authorized licensed use limited to: University of Virginia Libraries. Downloaded on November 01,2023 at 01:41:22 UTC from IEEE Xplore. Restrictions apply.

| Sample | Thickness of a- Si:H (i) layer deposited | Type of etchant | Laser Fluence (J/cm3) | MCL(µs) before laser | $\begin{array}{l} iV_{ii} \ (mV) \\ before \ laser \end{array}$ | MCL (µs) after laser | iVoc (mV) after laser |
|--------|--|-----------------|--------------------------|-------------------------|---|-------------------------|--------------------------|
| 01 | 8 nm | KOH | 0.254 | 332 | 66.0 | 30.2 | 657 |
| 0.2 | 8 nm | TMAH | 0.254 | 807 | 68.2 | 786 | 68.2 |
| 0.3 | 10 nm | TMAH | 0.254 | 1141 | 70.2 | 1131 | 701 |
| 0.4 | 10 nm | KOH | 0.61 | 997 | 69.9 | 473 | 68.0 |
| 0.5 | 10 nm | TMAH | 0.254 | 1563 | 707 | 12.55 | 70.5 |
| 06 | 12 nm | TMAH | 0.254 | 2190 | 720 | 1955 | 719 |

TABLE I DATA FOR $N_{\rm OC}$ and MCL AFTER LASER PROCESSING AT MINORITY CARRIER DENSITY OF 1 \times 10¹⁵ cm⁻³



Fig. 2. Schematic diagram of the sear side of the laser patterned samples (top view).

using experimental optical constant data. The SEM/EDS surface morphology and elemental analysis were done using FEI Quanta 650 Field Emission SEM. The cross-sectional morphology characterization was done using Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc. Helios UC G4 Dual Beam FIB-SEM. The Raman spectroscopy was done on Renishaw InVia Confocal Raman Microscope with a 405 nm wavelength laser and spot size of 1.8 µm. All Raman scattering data had been taken to be an average of 15 scans with each of 25 s of acquisition time at a particular location on each laser-ablated spot. The high-resolution (HR) XPS for quantitative surface chemical and elemental composition analysis was done on PHI Versaprobe III Scanning X-ray Photoelectron Spectrometer with a spot size of ~50 µm. The measurement of the optical constants of the device layers was done on J. A. Woollam Company M-2000 Ellipsometer with a focused light beam of ~130 µm spot size at 70° incidence angle.

III. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

In the IBC-HJ architecture, the a-Si:H (i) acts as a passivation layer for the device. Any laser-induced damages such as

defects generation and crystallization during the ns pulsed laser patterning will reduce the MCL and implied open-circuit voltage (iV_{cc}). Different characterizations such as carrier lifetime, optical imaging, surface morphology, and chemical composition provide us both qualitative and quantitative insights to the effects of such laser processing on the various stack layers of IBC-HJ test structure. After the laser processing is done, the ablated top a-Si:H layer exposes the underlying SiNx, which would be chemically etched selectively using 10% HF solution for 6 min. The front ARC is protected by a dry resist during HF etching, which would be later removed using 1-methyl-2-pyrrolidone (NMP). Now, since the underlying a-Si:H (n) layer is opened up for contact purpose, the interdigitated p and n metal pattern could be made using shadow masking e-beam evaporation of 1 µm thick Al. This is how the test structure could be eventually made into a complete IBC-HJ solar cell.

A. µ-PL and Carrier Lifetime Measurements

The impurities, dangling bonds, atomic vacancies, and defects in unpassivated Si surface generate intermediate e^--h^+ trap levels. Similar defects arise during laser processing, which affect the overall performance of IBC-HJ solar cells. The passivation quality can be characterized by photoconductance carrier lifetime measurement and μ -PL technique. The μ -PL is a reliable tool to measure the degree of passivation at a spatial resolution in micrometers.

In the case of both-side-textured passivated Si substrates, the radiative recombination emits PL at around 1150-1170nm wavelength [25]. The µ-PL data for different laser fluences are shown in Fig. 3. There is a drop in the PL signal as laser fluence increases from the unablated to 1.27 J/cm² condition. For all IBC-HJ solar cell fabrication, laser fluence at 0.254 J/cm2 was used except for sample# 04 and an insignificant decrease in both Noc (~3 mV) and MCL was observed, as shown in Table I, measured at minority carrier density (MCD) of 1 × 1015 cm-3. The sample# 04 was laser processed at a higher laser fluence, 0.61 J/cm², and a significant drop of 19 mV in iV_{∞} and \sim 500 μ s in MCL was observed. Although the QSSPC characterization is generally used for reliable lifetime and iV_{cc} measurements for IBC devices, there has been a report suggesting QSSPC artifacts influencing the lifetime results at MCD greater than 1×10^{15} cm⁻³ because of lateral inhomogeneity in the IBC structures [26]. The µ-PL method was successfully used to determine the optimum laser processing condition for IBC-HJ

Authorized/licensed use limited to: University of Virginia Libraries. Downloaded on November 01,2023 at 01:41:22 UTC from IEEE Xplore. Restrictions apply.



Fig. 3. µ-PL data for different laser fluence ablations. Each of the measurements was an average over 20 scans.



Fig. 4. Peak μ -PL intensity and ΔiV_{oc} versus laser fluence.

solar cell fabrication. Fig. 4 provides a correlation between the μ -PL intensity and $\Delta i V_{\infty}$ for every increase in laser fluence. As the fluence increases, the peak μ -PL intensity decreases along with the decrease in the $i V_{\infty}$.

B. Optical Characterization

The optical characterizations, such as optical imaging and ellipsometry, provide very useful insights on the changes in absorption depth, reflectance, and transmittance from each layer at a particular wavelength. Thus, it becomes easier to understand the surface features after laser processing. One important aspect of such characterizations is the color identification chart which can serve as a reliable stand-alone tool for determining changes in layer thickness and optical constants under laser processing.

In Fig. 5, we show different surface morphologies and color changes because of different laser fluence processing conditions. The images were obtained using an optical microscope. Prior to optical microscopy, standard white balancing and color default were performed. The formation of fringes in SiN_x layer becomes prominent as the laser fluence increases from 0.254 to 1.27 J/cm². In addition, the laser-induced damage at the center of the laser-ablated spots increases with the increase in the fluences.

The material optical constants form the quantitative basis of the design and allows the interpretations of properties of multilayer stack and tandem-structure devices. We can use these optical constants to simulate the reflections from the different stack layers to find the approximate thickness of the laser-ablated and etched layers. The optical constants, refractive index n and extinction coefficient k, were measured using an optical ellipsometer with 5nm roughness consideration at a 70° incidence angle. The results are shown in Fig. 6. The measured n and k values were fed into Essential Macleod software for simulations of normalized reflectance and color chart. From the simulation, the total thickness of top blanket a-Si:H layers was calculated to be ~26 nm, which is close to the expected thickness of 30 nm for a-Si:H layers deposited by PECVD. The optical reflectance was measured by an optical spectrophotometer. Although both the normalized experimental and simulation curves closely match each other as shown in Fig. 7, the difference in the magnitude of normalized reflectance is because of the semipolished textured surface, while the simulations were made on the assumption of a smooth surface.

The simulation also provides the color chart for a range of incidence angle from 0° to 70° for each layer. The illuminant source is chosen as D65 for average daylight and the observer response as defined in CIE1931 standard [27]. The International Commission on Illumination (CIE) defines D65 to be a standard white light illuminant source with a correlated color temperature (CCT) of 6504 K. The color-mapping function CIE 1931 is termed as the standard colorimetric observer to represent an average human's chromatic response within 2° arc inside the fovea. In Fig. 8(a)-(c), we show the simulation colors (0°-70° incidence) of IBC-HJ test structure before any laser ablation. after laser-ablation of sacrificial layers which expose SiNx layer, and underlying c-Si because of the higher laser fluence, respectively. Fig. 8(d)-(f) shows their respective actual optical images. The colors do closely match. The different predicted colors could be compared with the actual optical colors, thus allowing the determination of the changes in the laser-processed layer thicknesses. Hence, the color identification chart can be a reliable tool to know the thickness of a particular layer and its removal.

C. Surface and Cross-Section Morphology

High-resolution SEM imaging allows the characterization of the laser-induced changes in surface topology, morphology, and composition. The optical images and the color chart results in the previous section can be further validated here. The top-view SEM images were taken in a secondary electron (SE) mode at 15 kV beam energy. In Fig. 9, the top-view SEM images show the formation of rings on the SiN_x layer as a function of laser fluence. At fluence greater than 1.01 J/cm², the top SiN_x layers rupture and peel off at the laser spot center, which has been

Authorized/licensed/use/limited/to: University of Virginia Libraries. Downloaded on November 01,2023 at 01:41:22 UTC from IEEE Xplore. Restrictions apply.



Fig. 5. Optical images of different laser processed regions at different laser fluences (a) 0.254 J/cm², (b) 0.427 J/cm², (c) 0.439 J/cm², (d) 0.595 J/cm², (e) 0.783 J/cm², (f) 1.01 J/cm², and (g) 1.27 J/cm². All the pictures were taken with a scale of 30 µm.



Fig. 6. Optical constants n, k versus wavelength (nm) curve of the IBC-HJ test structure.

verified later with our EDS results. Since SiN_x is transparent to 532 nm laser, the laser fluence coincides with the melting threshold of Si [28], [29]. At the center of the laser beam, the underlying a-Si:H (n and i) layers are in the molten liquid state for a long enough time for H₂ gas pressure to build up and escape [30] along with possible a-Si vapor. Because of the laser heat, the surrounding a-Si melts all around the laser spot.

Fig. 9(a) shows a minimum removal of top sacrificial a-Si:H layer at fluence $0.254 Jkcm^2$. Fig. 9(b) shows a more significant laser removal of a-Si:H thin film at a laser fluence of $0.427 Jkcm^2$ and less debris are formed. As the laser fluence is increased further, some fringe formation can be observed on the surface as seen in Fig. 9(c) and (d). At higher laser fluence, the top sacrificial a-Si:H layer is ablated away and some of the laser light is absorbed by the n-layer underneath the SiN_x. The SiN_x







Fig. 8. Simulated colors for test structures (a) before any laser ablation, (b) after laser-ablation of sacrificial layers which expose SiN_a layer, and (c) underlying c-Si exposed due to the higher laser fluence, and (d) to (f) their inspective optical images of IBC-HJ test structure.

Authorized/licensed use limited to: University of Virginia Libraries. Downloaded on November 01,2023 at 01:41:22 UTC from IEEE Xplore. Restrictions apply.

16.52



Fig. 9. Top-view SEM images of ablations at different laser fluences of (a) 0.254 H cm², (b) 0.427 H cm², (c) 0.439 H cm², (d) 0.595 H cm², (e) 0.783 H cm², (f) 1.01 H cm², and (g) 1.27 H cm².



Fig. 10. FIB-SEM image of the cross section at the edge of an ablated spot at the fluence 0.254 *Hem*².

layer is essentially transparent to 532nm wavelength of the laser so that most of the light absorption occurs in the n-layer [31]-[33]. The laser light absorption causes heating, melting, and vaporization of the n-layer along with the release of H2. The vapor absorbs part of the laser energy and reaches high temperatures. The high temperature causes ionization of the vapor and forms plasma [34], [35]. The rapid laser heating in a localized region and formation of plasma generates a shock wave as it expands. Because of the presence of an overlayer of SiNx, the generated pressures are much higher than without the overlayer. The generated shock wave gives rise to the observed fringes as the material solidities after laser heating. As the laser fluence is increased further, the generated plasma pressure becomes higher and the rupture of the SiNs layer occurs as observed in Fig. 9(f) and (g). This interpretation was further validated by EDS and XPS characterization.



Fig. 11. Line-map EDS spectra for N K α 1 at different laser fluences of (a) 0.254 *J*/cm², (b) 0.427 *J*/cm², (c) 0.595 *J*/cm², and (d) 1.01 *J*/cm². The green spectrum denotes N (K α) and the red spectrum denotes Si (J.1).



Fig. 12. (a) Raman spectra of undemeath a-Si/H passivation layer undergoing amorphous to polycrystalline phase under various laser fluences. (b) Raman spectra of decreasing SiN_n under different laser fluence conditions.

Authorized licensed use limited to: University of Virginia Libraries. Downloaded on November 01,2023 at 01:41:22 UTC from IEEE Xplore. Restrictions apply.

| Fluences (J/cmi) | Intensity of Si (2p) (a.u.) | Intensity of N (1s) (a.u.) | Si (2p): N (1s) Ratio |
|---------------------|--------------------------------|----------------------------|--------------------------|
| Unablated | 37.1 ± 3.96 | 0.4 ± 0.04 | 92.8 ± 19.11 |
| 0.2.54 | 27.2 ± 2.91 | 2.9 ± 0.31 | 9.3793 ± 2.00 |
| 0.427 | 22.57 ± 2.41 | 2.89 ± 0.30 | 7.8096 ± 1.64 |
| 0.595 | 22.93 ± 2.44 | 3.62 ± 0.38 | 6.3342 ± 1.34 |
| 1.01 | 25.6 ± 2.73 | 2.1 ± 0.22 | 7.0718 ± 1.49 |

TABLE II DATA OF SUN RATIO AT VARIOUS LASER PLUENCES+



+ The average measurement error across all elements was found to be ${\sim}10.79$.

Fig. 13. XPS Si(2p) spectra of (a) unablated, (b) 0.254 J/cm², (c) 0.427 J/cm², (e) 1.01 J/cm² fluences, and (fl N(1s) spectra of all the laser fluences. The average measurement error across all elements was found to be ~ 10.7%.

The FIB-SEM imaging allows the characterization of the cross-section morphology after removing materials by ionmilling process. The gallium source was used for ion-milling and the device was coated with 10nm of Au and ~1.5 μ m thick layer of Pt prior to imaging. In Fig. 10, the FIB-SEM image shows the cross section of the laser-ablated region at the fluence of 0.254 J/cm².

D. Surface Elemental and Chemical Characterization

Note that the line-mapping EDS spectra acquisition was made at 5kV beam energy so as to only measure the nitrogen element N (K α 1) (denoted by green color spectrum) along the scan length *D* which corresponds to the existence of SiN_n layer. From Fig. 11(a)–(d), we can see that with the increase in laser fluence, a dip in N-peak at the center of the laser spot was observed, which indicates the decrease in the SiN_n layer thickness. At laser fluences 0.254 and 0.427 J/cm², as shown in Fig. 11(a) and (b), the N (K α 1) profiles were quite similar, which indicated the removal of top a-Si/H layer and exposure of the SiN_x layer underneath. In Fig. 11(c) and (d), at a laser fluence of 0.595 and 1.01J/cm², respectively, the line mapping was done for half of the laser spot area. Note the gradual decline in the N peak, which ultimately plummets down at the center. This shows that the exposed SiN_x thickness tapers towards the spot center. This concludes that at fluences greater than 0.427 J/cm², a gradient in SiN_x thickness was observed, ultimately leading to rupture.

Using n and k values from Fig. 6, the calculated absorption depth for 405 nm blue wavelength Raman excitation laser in a-Si:H layer (n = 5.155; k = 1.954) is ~16.49 nm and for SiN_x layer (n = 2.344; k = 0.0003), it is ~54.9 μ m. Hence, ~16% of incident blue light intensity gets transmitted through 30 nm of the top sacrificial a-Si layer and reaches the SiN_x layer. In Fig. 12(a), we show the Raman scattering data of the underlying a-Si:H layer undergoing phase changes from amorphous to polycrystalline form at different laser fluences. Here, we can see

Authorized/licensed use limited to: University of Virginia Lbraries. Downloaded on November 01,2023 at 01:41:22 UTC from IEEE Xplore. Restrictions apply.

that there is a broad Raman peak centered at ~480 cm-1 which signifies the presence of a-Si:H layer according to literature [36]. There is a slight shift of a-Si:H peak with an increase in laser fluence. At 1.01 J/cm2, there is an observable sharp peak at 498.6 cm-1 approaching toward crystalline Si peak. In Fig. 12(b), we show the decreasing trend of a broad ~800 cm⁻¹ peak with an increase in laser fluences, which is assigned to the presence of SiNx [37], [38]. Under the unablation regime, the Raman scattering is because of the light scattering from both top sacrificial a-Si:H layers and underlying SiN, and merely $\sim 16\%$ of the incident blue light is reaching the a-Si:H/ SiN_x interface. Hence, the broad SiNx Raman peak at ~800 cm-1 has the lowest intensity counts. Under ablation conditions, there is an increase in total intensity counts of SiNx peak since there is an insignificant amount of a-Si:H layer remaining. With the increase in the laser fluences, a decreasing trend in the peak has been observed. The reason can be attributed to the fact that the quantity of underlying SiNx gets ablated out, and hence, less Raman scattering occurs. This fact of thinning out of the SiNx layer has already been validated by EDS spectra.

The HR-XPS measurements were done with 50 µm spot size; therefore, the signal gives an average over two laser spots of 20 μ m beam diameter with a \pm 0.2 eV error. The XPS spectra have C (1s) peak calibrated to 284.8 eV according to ASTM/ NIST [39]. The average measurement error across all the elements, calculated from five different XPS measurements at the unablated region, was found to be ~10.7%. From Table II, we can see the decreasing trend in Si(2p): N(1s) ratio with an increase in laser fluence, indicating an increasing exposure of the SiNx layer after sacrificial a-Si:H layers' removal. The slight increase in Si(2p): N(1s) ratio at a laser fluence of greater than 1.01 J/cm2 is seen because of the underlying c-Si getting exposed at the laser spot centers, which account for the sudden increase in Si (2p) count, as discussed earlier in Sections III-A and III-C. In Fig. 13(a)-(e), the presence of a Si (2p) peak at 99.4 eV indicates the presence of Si-Si bond in a-Si:H and c-Si layers. A Si-O peak at 103.5 eV indicates SiO2 formation, as reported by He et al. [40]. The Si-N peak at 101.84 eV, as well as, possible N-Si-O complex peak at 102.64 eV under 0.595 J/cm2 fluence are found to coincide with the literature [41]-[43]. Fig. 13(a) shows the presence of top a-Si:H layer and its natural oxide for unablated condition. Fig. 13(b) shows the presence of Si-N peak, which proves the selective ablation of top a-Si:H layer and exposure of SiNx. Fig. 13(c) shows peak structure formation similar to Fig. 13(b). Fig. 13(d), at fluence of 0.595 J/cm2, the new strong N-Si-O peak indicates that the SiN, layer had been converted into silicon oxy-nitrile (N-Si-O) complex at the ablation spot center because of the laser Gaussian beam profile. Fig. 13(e) shows the disappearance of N-Si-O peak because of the peel-off observed at the laser spot centers. Fig. 13(f) shows the absence of N (1s) peak in unablated sample and N (1s) peak at 397.9 cm-1 because the N-Si bond shows the presence of the SiNx layer, as shown in [44]. Hence, the overall XPS study and Raman reveals that the a-Si:H layer can be laser ablated to expose the underlying SiN, layer using ns laser processing without affecting the passivation.

IV. CONCLUSION

The ns pulsed laser patterning for the fabrication of IBC-HJ solar cells is demonstrated. The laser fluence required for the removal of the top sacrificial a-Si:H layer was found to be 0.254J/cm2. At this laser fluence, minimal effect on carrier lifetime and a change of iV_{ce} of only $\sim 5 \text{ mV}$ was observed. At these laser fluences, the sacrificial layer of a-Si:H gets ablated, and the SiN, layer is exposed. With the increase in laser fluence, the removal of the SiN, layer was observed because of the laser light absorption in the underneath layers and the development of vapor pressure. The underneath a-Si:H (i and n) layers, acting as passivation and dopant layers, convert to the polycrystalline phase as laser fluence is increased beyond 0.595 J/cm2. At laser fluences greater than 1.01 J/cm2, direct laser crystallization was observed and resulted in the rupturing of SiNx layer at the center of the laser spot. The presence of the SiNx layer because of the laser ablation of the a-Si:H layer was confirmed by line-mapping EDS and Raman measurements. The Raman data also showed the gradual crystallization at the laser spot and decrease of the underlying SiNx layer with an increase in laser fluence. The XPS measurements showed the growth of SiO2, SiNs, a complex N-Si-O at the surface (at 0.595 J/cm2), and a decrease in the Si/N ratio after laser processing. The optical constants of the layers were measured using ellipsometry and it helped to generate the color charts which can be reliably used to identify the changes in layer properties under different laser processing parameters. Such a method can also be used for multilayer identification in different thin-film devices. The ns pulsed lasers optimized in this work can be successfully used for the fabrication of IBC-HJ solar cells with no significant degradation of iV_{ce} by the proper selection of laser fluence.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

The authors would like to thank the NSF MRI Award #1626201 for using PHI Versaprobe III XPS (UVA NMCF) instrument to obtain the XPS data.

REFERENCES

- J. Dréon et al., "23.5%-efficient silicon heterojunction silicon solar cell using molybdenum oxide ashole-selective contact," Nano Energy, vol. 70, 2020, Art. no. 104495.
- [2] K. Masuko et al., "Achievement of more than 25% conversion efficiency with crystalline silicon heterojunction solar cell," *IEEE J. Photovolt.*, vol. 4, no. 6, pp. 1433–1435, Nov. 2014.
- [3] F. Haise et al., "Laser contact openings for local poly-Si-metal contacts enabling 26.1%-efficient POLO-IBC solar cells," Sol. Energy Mater Sol. Cells, vol. 186, pp. 184–193, May 2018.
- [4] K. Yoshi kawa et al., "Silicon heterojunction solar cell with interdigitated back contacts for a photoconversion efficiency over 26%," Nature Energy, vol. 2, no. 5, May 2017, Art. no. 17032.
- [5] A. Tomasi et al., "Back-contacted silicon heterojunction solar cells with efficiency >21%," IEEE J. Photovolt., vol. 4, no. 4, pp. 1046–1054, Jul. 2014.
- [6] J. Nakamura, N. Asano, T. Hieda, C. Okamoto, H. Katayama, and K. Nakamura, "Development of heterojunction back contact Si solar cells," *IEEE J. Photorolt.*, vol. 4, no. 6, pp. 1491–1495, Nov. 2014.
- [7] G. Yang, A. Ingenito, O. Isabella, and M. Zeman, "IBC c-Si solar cells based on ion-implanted poly-silicon passivating contacts," *Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells*, vol. 158, part 1, pp. 84–90, 2016.

Authorized licensed use limited to: University of Virginia Libraries. Downloaded on November 01,2023 at 01:41:22 UTC from IEEE Xplore. Restrictions apply.

IEEE JOURNAL OF PHOTOVOLTAICS, VOL. 10, NO. 6, NOVEMBER 2020

- [8] M. Duhlinger, K. Carstens, E. Hoffmann, R. Zapf-Gottwick, and J. H. Werner, "23.2% laser processed back contact solar cell: Fabrication, characterization and modeling," *Prog. Photovolt. Res. Appl.*, vol. 25, pp. 192–200, 2017.
- [9] E. Franklin et al., "Design, fabrication and characterisation of a 24.4% efficient interdigitated back contacts olar cell," Prog. Photorolt. Res. Appl., vol. 24, pp. 411–427, 2016.
- S. Harrison, O. Nos, G. D' Alonzo, C. Denis, A. Coll, and D. Munoz, "Back contact heterojanction solar cells patterned by laser ablation," *Energy Proceedin*, vol. 92, pp. 730–737, 2016.
 R. Vasadevan et al., "Laser-induced BSF: A new approach to simplify
- [11] R. Vasudevan et al., "Laser-induced BSF: A new approach to simplify IBC-SHJ solar cell fabrication," AIP Conf. Proc., vol. 1999, 2018, Art. no. 040024.
- [12] L. Zhang, U. Das, and S. Hegedus, "Gap passivation structure for scalable n-type interdigitated all back contact silic on hetero-junction solar cell," in *Proc. IEEE 44th Photorols. Spec. Conf.*, 2018, pp. 408–411.
- [13] U. Das, L. Zhang, and S. Hegedus, "Processing approaches and challenges of interdigitated back contact Si solar cells," in *Proc. IEEE 44th Photovolt.* Spec. Conf., 2018, pp. 1761–1764.
- [14] Z. Sun et al., "Direct laser isolation for intendigitated back contact heterojunction solar cells," in *Proc. IEEE 7th World Conf. Photoroal: Energy Convers.*, 2018, pp. 2074–2077.
 [15] J.M. Y. Ali et al., "Analysis of nanose cond and femtose cond laser ablation
- [15] J. M. Y. Ali et al., "Analysis of nanose cond and fermose cond keer ablation of ear dielectrics of silicon wafer solar cells," *Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells.*, vol. 192, pp. 117–122, 2019.
- [16] S. Hermann et al., "Impact of surface topography and laser pulse duration for laser ablation of solar cell front side passivating SiN₈ layers," J. Appl. Phys., vol. 108, 2010, Art. no. 114514.
- [17] S. De Vecchi, T. Desrues, F. Souche, D. Muñoz, and M. Lemiti, "Laser assisted patterning of hydrogenated amophous silic on for interdigitated back contacts ili conheterojunction solar cell," *Proc. SPIE*, vol. 8473, 2012, Att. no. 847308.
- [18] T. Desrues, S. De Vecchi, F. Souche, D. Munoz, and P. J. Ribeyron, "SLASH concept: A novel approach for simplified interdigitated back contact solar cells fabrication," in *Proc. Conf. Rec. IEEE Photorol. Spec. Conf.*, 2012, pp. 1602–1605.
- [19] D. Qi, Z. Zhang, X. Yu, and Y. Zhang, "Visualization of nanos econd laserinduced devecting, ablation and crystallization processes in thin silicon films," *Phys. Lett. A*, vol. 382, pp. 1540–1544, 2018.
- [20] L. Zhang, N. Ahmed, C. Thompson, U. Das, and S. Hegedus, "Study of passivation in the gap region between contacts of intendigitated-back-contact sili con heterojunction solar cells: Simulation and voltage-modulated laserbeam-induced-current," *IEEE J. Photosolst.*, vol. 8, no. 2, pp. 404–412, Mar. 2018.
- [21] M. Kim, D. Kim, D. Kim, and Y. Kang, "Analysis of laser-induced damage during laserablation process using picosecond palse width laser to fabricate highly efficient PERC cells," *Sol. Energy*, vol. 108, pp. 101–106, 2014.
- [22] D. Lai et al., "Optical design considerations of transide dielectric for higher efficiency of PERC solar cells," *Opt. Express*, vol. 27, pp. A758–A765, 2019.
- [23] U. J. Nsofor et al., "Analysis of silicon wafer surface preparation for heterojanction solar cells using X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy and effective minority carrier lifetime," Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells, vol. 183, pp. 205–210, 2018.
- [24] A. Soman, U. Nsofor, U. Das, T. Gu, and S. Hegedus, "C orrelation between in situ diagnostics of the hydrogen plasma and the interface passivation quality of hydrogen plasma post-treated a-Si:H in silicon heterojunction solar cells," ACS Appl. Matex. Interfaces, vol. 11, pp. 16181–16190, 2019.

- [25] W. S. Yoo, K. Kang, G. Murai, and M. Yoshi moto, "Temperature dependence of photoluminescence spectra from crystalline silicon," ECS J. Solid State Sci. Technol., vol. 4, 2015, Art. no. P456.
- [26] M. Juhl, C. Chan, M. D. Abbott, and T. Trupke, "Anomalously high lifetimes measured by quasi-steady-state photoconductance in advanced solar cell structures," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 103, 2013, Art. no. 243902.
- [27] A. K. R. Choudhury, "Characteristics of light sources," in *Principles of Colour and Appearance Measurement*. Cambridge, U.K.: Woodhead, 2014.
- [28] J. S. Yahng, B. H. Chon, C. H. Kim, S. C. Jeoung, and H. R. Kim, "Nonlinear enhancement of femtose cond laser ablation efficiency by hybridization with nanosecond laser," Opt. Express, vol. 14, pp. 9544–9550, 2006.
- [29] W. Marine, N. M. Bulgakova, L. Patrone, and I. Ozerov, "Electronic mechanism of ion expulsion under UV nanosecond laser excitation of silicon: Experiment and modeling," *Appl. Phys. A*, vol. 79, pp. 771–774, 2004.
- [30] C. Simann, J. Köhler, M. Dahlinger, M. Schubert, and J. Werner, "Pulsed laser porosification of silicon thin films," *Materials*, vol. 9, no. 7, Jun. 2016, Art. no. 509.
- [31] R. Baets et al., "Silicon photonics: Silicon nitride versus silicon-oninsulator," in Proc. Opt. Fiber Commun. Conf. Exhib., 2016, pp. 1–3.
- [32] R.-Y. Tsui, L.-C. Kuo, and F. C. Ho, "Amorphous silicon and amorphous silic on nini de films prepared by a plasma-enhanced chemical vapor deposition process as optical coating materials," *Appl. Opt.*, vol. 32, pp. 5561–5566, 1993.
- [33] E. Ozbay, K. Guven, K. Aydin, and M. Bayindir, "Physics and applications of photonic nanocrystals," Int. J. Nanotechnol., vol. 1, pp. 379–398, 2004.
 [34] A. H. Clauer, J. H. Holbrook, and B. P. Fairand, "Effects of laser induced
- [34] A. H. Chater, J. H. Holbrook, and B. P. Fairand, "Effects of laser induced shock waves on metals," in *Shock Waves and High-Strain-Rate Phenomena* in *Menhls*, M.A. Meyens and L. E. Murr, Eds., Boston, MA, USA: Springer, 1981, pp. 675–702.
- [35] M. A. Meyers, L. E. Mair, and U. S. Lindholm, "Shock waves and highstrain-rate phenomena in metals," *J. Appl. Mech.*, vol. 49, p. 683, 1982.[36] W. E. Hong and J. S. Ro, "Kinetics of solid phase crystallization of
- [36] W. E. Hong and J. S. Ro, "Kinetics of solid phase crystallization of amorphous silicon analyzed by Raman spectroscopy," *J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 114, 2013, Art. no. 073511.
 [37] W. C. Ding et al., "Strong visible and infrared photoluminescence from
- [37] W. C. Ding et al., "Strong visible and infrared photoluminescence from En-implanted silicon nitride films," J. Phys. D. Appl. Phys., vol. 41, 2008, Art. no. 135101.
- [38] C. J. Oliphant, C. J. Arendse, T. F. G. Muller, and D. Knoesen, "Characterization of silic on nitride thin films deposited by hot-wire CVD at low gas flow rates," *Appl. Surf. Sci.*, vol. 285, part B, pp. 440–449, 2013.
- [39] A. V. Naumkin, A. Kraust-Vass, S. W. Gaarenstroom, and C. J. Powell, "NIST X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy database," Nat. Inst. Standards Technol., Gaithersburg, MD, USA, NIST Standard Reference Database Number 20, 2000.
- [40] J. W. He, X. Xu, J. S. Corneille, and D. W. Goodman, "X-my photoelectron spectroscopic characterization of ultra-thin silicon oxide films on a Mo(100) surface," Surf. Sci., vol. 279, pp. 119–126, 1992.
- [41] W. Ding et al., "An XPS study on the chemical bond structure at the interface between SiO_xN_y and N doped polyethylene terephthalate," J. Chem. Phys., vol. 138, 2013, Aut. no. 104706.
- [42] G. Beamson and D. Briggs, High Resolution XPS of Organic Polymers: The Scienta ESCA 300 Database. Hoboken, NJ, USA: Wiley, 1992.
- [43] J. F. Moulder, W. F. Stickle, P. E. Sobol, and K. D. Bomben, Handbook of X-Ray Photoe lectron Spectroscopy: A Reference Book of Standard Spectra for Identification and Interpretation of XPS Data. Waltham, MA, USA: Perkin-Elmer, 1992.
- [44] J. Lu et al., "Enhanced retention characteristic of NiSi₂/SiN_x compound nanocrystal memory," Appl. Phys. Lett., vol. 96, 2010, Att. no. 262107.

Authorized licensed use limited to: University of Virginia Libraries. Downloaded on November 01,2023 at 01:41:22 UTC from IEEE Xplore. Restrictions apply.

16.56

Rapid Thermal Annealing of p-Type Polysilicon Passivated Contacts Silicon Solar Cells

Arpan Sinha⁽⁰⁾, Graduate Student Member, IEEE, Sagnik Dasgupta⁽⁰⁾, Graduate Student Member, IEEE, Aject Rohatgi⁽⁰⁾, Life Fellow, IEEE, and Mool C. Gupta⁽⁰⁾, Fellow, IEEE

Abstract-The carrier selective contacts Si solar cells based on tunnel oxide passivated contact (TOPCon) have provided an efficiency of over 25%, and the large-scale production is planned. One of the crucial steps in TOPCon solar cells fabrication is furnace annealing at around 875 °C. We have investigated the rapid thermal annealing (RTA) for TOPCon solar cells. We discovered that the RTA carried out in air showed much fewer hydrogen-induced blisters than in the N2 atmosphere. Second, the optical radiation and heat generated in RTA had a significant effect on the degradation of iVot. The RTA with a SiNx: H layer on top of polysilicon generated iVor of 706 mV. The mechanism of degradation under air versus nitrogen atmosphere and the effect of high-intensity light during the annealing process were inferred through various characterizations, such as surface morphology, surface passivation, crystallinity determination, chemical compositional changes, electrical sheet resistances, and oxidation state of ultrathin SiOx. The TOPC on after air RTA performed better than in nitrogen, optimally at 825 °C. Forming gas annealing further improved the iVoc. Crystallization and sheet resistance were dependent on the annealing temperature and time.

Index Terms—Annealing, blister, polysilicon, rapid thermal annealing (RTA), solar cells, tunnel oxide passivated contact (TOPCon).

I. INTRODUCTION

The architecture of high-efficiency c-Si-solar cells based on tunnel oxide passivated contact (TOPCon) generally consists of stack layers of heavily doped (B-doped or P-doped) polycrystalline silicon (poly-Si) layer and ultrathin oxide SiO₂ on the doped c-Si substrate. Although the term TOPCon was coined under the assumption of tunneling current as the charge transport mechanism in these selective contacts, several publications show that the dominating current transport mechanism is through the pinholes formed during the annealing process [1], [2]. There are many parameters and constraints in the fabrication

Manuscript received 21 November 2022; accepted 30 January 2023. Date of publication 14 February 2023; date of current version 20 April 2023. This work was supported by the National Science Foundation (NSF) under Grant ECCS-2005098 and Grant FUCRC-1338917. (Corresponding author: Mool C. Gapta.)

Arpan Sinha and Mool C. Gupta are with the Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering, University of Virginia, Charlottesville, VA 22904 USA (e-mail: as 2ag @virginia.edu; mgupta @virginia.edu).

Sagnik Dasgupta and Ajeet Rohatgi are with the School of Electrical and Computer Engineering, Georgia Institute of Technology, Atlanta, GA 30332 USA (e-mail: sdasgupta@gatech.edu; ajeet.sohatgi@ece.gatech.edu).

Color versions of one or more figures in this article are available at https://doi.org/10.1109/JPJHOTOV.2023.3241790.

Digital Object Identifier 10.1109/JPHOTOV2023.3241790

steps that influence the intrinsic open-circuit voltage (iV_{oc}) and efficiency of a solar cell.

The recent research laboratory record-breaking efficiencies of p-TOPCon (based on p-type Si wafer) and n-TOPCon (based on n-type Si wafer) solar cells are 26.1% and 25.8%, respectively [3], [4]. The thermal annealing is a very important fabrication step required for achieving polycrystallization dopant activation and minimizing interfacial defects by improved passivation, thus enhancing the iV_{coc} and efficiency of a TOPCon solar cell.

Previously, the traditional tube-furnace annealing was used for thermal annealing of n- and p-TOPCon at high temperatures under inert atmospheres, such as N2 [5], [6], [7], [8], [9], [10] The thermal processing with heating durations of tens of minutes is widely used in photovoltaic device fabrication and even in some of the industrial processes for POCI₃ diffusion. The firing process of the metallization, which includes heating, dwell, and cooling, is done in tens of seconds. Borden et al. [12] reported a firing process of 30 s for their poly-Si contacts. The blister formation is an important bottleneck in the fabrication of TOPCon architectures as under intense dehydrogenation pressure, the physical rupturing of ultrathin SiO, and poly-Si layers occurs. This results in the degradations of the passivation quality [6]. Ingenito et al. [13] described even faster processes while addressing the minimization of the blistering formation issue. Recent reports have shown that the rapid thermal annealing (RTA) has been used for annealing purposes in n- and p-TOPCon fabrication [14], [15], [16]. Rapid annealing is focused on time duration from a few seconds to several minutes. RTA has a fundamental advantage of a short period of annealing time as compared with tube-furnace annealing. Yang et al. [15] reported blister formations during RTA of n-TOPCon solar cells. Although earlier studies have been on suppressing blisters, there is a lack of a comprehensive study on blister formation under the RTA and the role of different atmospheres, such as air versus nitrogen, for p-TOPCon structures [13], [17].

In the RTA chamber, the a-Si:H layer in the TOPC on device faces direct exposure to the intense lamp light and heat for the whole period of rapid annealing. In such circumstances, the effect of intense light intensity under heat during RTA needs to be investigated.

Different dielectric capping layers of SiN₈:H and Al₂O₃ and thermal annealing steps have been known to be excellent hydrogenation sources for passivating TOPCon structures using tube furnaces [18], [19], [20], [21], [22]. Moreover, dielectric layers protect TOPCon structures from spiking and damage during

2156-3381 © 2023 IEEE. Personal use is permitted, but republication/redistribution requires IEEE permission. See https://www.ieee.org/publications/rights/index.html for more information.

Authorized licensed use limited to: University of Virginia Libraries. Downloaded on Novembar 01,2023 at 01:3607 UTC from IEEE Xplore. Restrictions apply.



Fig. 1. Schematic diagram of a fabricated TOPCon test structure. The dotted a-SiNg :H layers are considered when the test structure is TOPCon/SiNg:H.

screen-printing metallization [23]. Therefore, it is necessary to investigate the utility of using the dielectric SiN_x:H layer.

In this article, we present the results of RTA under air versus N₂ and the effect of high-intensity light under heat on *in situ* B-doped p-TOPCon solar cells. The mechanism of passivation degradation was investigated through various measurements, such as surface morphology, carrier lifetime, crystallinity, chemical compositional changes, electrical sheet resistances, and oxidation state of SiO_x.

II. EXPERIMENT

A. Fabrication of the p-TOPCon Test Structure

The p-TOPCon architecture used here is based on the type of poly-Si layer(in situB-doped poly-Si/SiOx stack) on n-type c-Si wafers. The in situ boron doping has several advantages over ex situ boron doping, such as simplicity, independent of dopant predeposition process, higher throughput, higher deposition rate of poly-Si layer, higher boron concentration, higher field-induced passivation, and lower optimal annealing temperature [24], [25], [26]. Fig. 1 shows the schematic diagram of the TOPCon test structure and with SiNx:H layer (dotted). These test structures were fabricated on 200 µm thick n-type monocrystalline Cz-type <100> silicon wafers with a bulk resistivity of 3.2 \Omega cm. Saw damage was removed in 9% wt. KOH at 80 °C for 12 min resulting in a semiplanarized surface. Wafers were cleaned in piranha solution (96% wt. H2SO4: H2O2: DI :: 1:1:2) and SC-2 (38% wt. HCl: H₂O₂: DI :: 1:1:2) along with oxide removal (5% wt. HF solution) between each step and at the end. The solution temperature was between 50 and 60 °C. Subsequently, an ultrathin (~1.5 nm) layer of SiOx was grown on both sides of Si in 70% wt. electronics grade HNO3 at 100 °C for 15 min. In situ boron-doped polysilic on was then grown on both sides of the wafer in a Tystar tube low pressure chemical vapor deposition (LPCVD) system at 530 °C for 27 min using precursor gases of silane and diborane resulting in a thickness of approximately 30 nm. A selected sample was annealed in nitrogen at 875 °C for 30 min in a Centrotherm tube furnace to improve crystallinity and activate dopants. Additionally, some samples were coated with 80 nm of SiNx:H layer on both sides in a Centrotherm plasma enhanced chemical vapor deposition (PECVD) reactor for improved passivation due to hydrogenation.

The samples were cut into a 1 cm \times 1 cm area from a single 6-in test wafer before the start of any further processing. The quasi-steady-state photoconductance (QSSPC) measurements were done on 1 in² test samples. The QSSPC sensor coil diameter was 4 cm. Three samples were prepared for each thermal annealing test. The maximum film thickness variation over 1 cm length was found to be $\pm 5\%$. The boron concentration homogeneity was not measured.

Both the RTAs and forming gas anneals (FGAs) were done in the AnnealSys rapid thermal processing (RTP) system under different processing gas environments, such as ultrapure N2 and forming gas (5% H2: 95% Ar) from Praxair. In the case of air annealing, the surrounding air was used with no pumping. The humidity recorded in the room was 40%-42%. The temperature regime for breaking Si-H bonds and dehydrogenation is from 300 to 550 °C, and a slower heating rate is beneficial to avoid blister formations [27]. All the RTAs were done using the three-step process, where the first step of annealing started with a 30-min ramp-up from room temperature to 350 °C and dwelling for further 30 min, followed by the second step of a 30-min ramp-up to 500 °C and dwell there for further 30 min. Subsequently, the final step was a 10-min ramp-up to different annealing temperatures, such as 625, 750, 825, and 875 °C, for a 5-min dwell time. The RTAs were done both in N2 and air atmospheres. The three-step method was adapted from Lee et al.'s article [17], but their study was limited only to the tube-furnace annealing. The reference samples were annealed in the tube furnace at 875 °C for 30 min in N2 with a ramp-up from 600 °C at the rate of ~10 °C/min. The cooling rate in the RTA was ~300 °C/min as compared with ~3 °C/min in the tube furnace. This fast cooling rate emphasizes the rapidity of our RTA processing. The FGA process consisted of annealing treatment at 425 °C in forming gas for 1 h. To investigate the light-induced damaging effects due to the direct exposure from the tungsten-halogen lamp in the RTA system, a 500 µm thick p-type c-Si wafer cover of 1.05" × 1.05" area was placed over the test samples during all the annealing, irrespective of the anneal atmospheres. It was ensured that there was no actual physical contact between the Si wafer cover and the test sample by using small Si spacers. Test samples were annealed with direct exposure to the light using the three-step process of RTA at 875 °C both in N2 and air in order to investigate the effect of light-induced degradation. The sample with SiNx:H layer was directly annealed in RTA at 825 °C in N2, followed by FGA.

B. Characterizations

Except for the QSSPC iV_{cc} measurements, all the characterization studies were accomplished using 1 cm² area test samples. The SEM surface morphology was characterized using a 15° stage tilt in FEI Quanta 650 Field Emission Scanning Electron Microscope. The QSSPC iV_{oc} measurements were conducted on (1" × 1") area test samples using WCT-120 Silicon Wafer Lifetime Tester made by Sinton Instruments. The iV_{oc} data were generated at 1 Sun condition. The photoluminescence (PL) setup for passivation characterization consisted of a 532 nm wavelength and 2 W continuous-wave laser (Melles Griot) as an excitation source with a spot size of ~1 mm, a spectrometer Horiba Jobin Y von iHR320 operated by SynerJY v3.5

Authorized licensed use limited to: University of Virginia Libraries. Downloaded on November 01,2023 at 01:3607 UTC from IEEE Xplore. Restrictions apply.


Fig. 2. Top-view SEM images of (a) as-deposited sample, (b) blisters (black areas) after RTA at 875 °C in air, and (c) blisters (black areas) after RTA at 875 °C in N2.

software, an InGaAs detector, and an SR830 DSP lock-in amplifier (Stanford Research Systems). The excitation laser power was reduced to 70 mW by neutral density filters and quartz glass reflection so that it does not saturate the PL detector, does not heat the test samples significantly, and provides a high S/N ratio. Each PL spectrum reading consisted of an average of ten scans. The absolute PL intensity values are arbitrary but can be used for a relative comparison of the passivation quality. The PL intensity has a peak value at ~1150 nm due to the c-Si bandgap of ~ 1.1 eV [28]. The μ -PL measurement (with a spot size of \sim 150 μ m) was also done to characterize and differentiate the passivation quality on the blisters and outside-the-blister region. The PL data had an approximate intensity error of ~2.6%. The Raman spectroscopy for crystallinity measurements was done on Renishaw InVia TM Confocal Raman Microscope with a 405 nm excitation wavelength laser and spotsize of 1.8 µm. All Raman scattering data had been taken as an average of ten scans with each of 15 s of acquisition time. To calculate the Raman peak "area under the curve," a reference sample was used every time before making measurements on test samples to account for the changes due to optics, mounting effects, crystallinity, etc. The sheet resistances were measured by Jandel four-point probe station for electrical characterization. The Fourier transform infrared (FTIR) spectroscopy was done in Thermo Scientific Nicolet iS 50 FT-IR for chemical compositional characterization. Each FTIR reading was taken as an average of 256 scans, and the background readings were taken as an average of 200 scans. All these characterizations had an error of ~5%. The X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS) characterization was done for quantitative surface chemical and elemental composition, depth profiling, and oxidation state determination on PHI Versaprobe III scanning X-ray photoelectron spectrometer with a spot size of ~200 µm and Al monochromatic X-ray source. The pass energy was 280 eV with a 0.5 eV acquisition step. All the XPS spectra for TOPCon structures had C (1s) peak calibrated to 284.8 eV according to ASTM/NIST [29]. The XPS spectra for the TOPCon/SiNx:H samples had N(1s) peak calibrated to 397.86 eV [30]. The error bar of XPS measurements for oxidation states of SiOx was approximately 0.2 eV.

III. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

We present the results of the RTA of p-TOPCon with and without SiN_x:H layer under N₂ versus air and the effects of high-intensity light environment.



Fig. 3. Graph showing the dependence of iV_{oc} on the KTA temperatures. The data are given for KTA both in N₂ and air atmospheres. The graphs also show the iV_{oc} value for the sample with no annealing and after furnace annealing.

A. Study of the Effects of RTA Atmospheres

1) Surface Morphology: Fig. 2(a) shows the top-view image of as-deposited samples. No blisters were observed except for the octahedral pyramidal features on the surface. The pyramidal structures were caused due to the KOH etching during the semiplanarization process, and they were unaffected by annealing temperatures and time conditions. Schröder et al. [31] have reported the observation and possible mechanism of such pyramidal features during the KOH etching of Si.Fig. 2(b) shows the top-view SEM image of blisters on the air-annealed samples at 875 °C. A higher number density of such similar blisters was observed in the N2-annealed test samples at 875 °C, as shown in Fig. 2(c). The blisters covered $\sim 1\%$ of the total surface area of air-annealed samples, whereas the blisters covered ~3%-4% of the total surface area of N2-annealed samples. The morphology of samples annealed in the tube furnace is not shown here as no change was noted.

The high-temperature annealing caused the dissociation of Si-H bonds, which resulted in the release of atomic hydrogen in the poly-Si/SiO_x/k-Si stack. These atomic hydrogens combined to form molecular H₂ under its own immense pressure and consequently escaped while rupturing through the polysilicon layer in the form of blisters [32]. The three-step process of lower temperature annealing minimized the formation of blisters. The furnace-annealed samples showed fewer blisters possibly due to slower heating rates compared with the RTA.

Authorized licensed use limited to: University of Virginia Libraries. Downloaded on November 01,2023 at 01:3607 UTC from IEEE Xplore. Restrictions apply.



Fig. 4. (a) Qualitative dependence of peak PL intensity on the RTA temperatures for various annealing conditions. The *IV*_{oc} (in mV) numbers are provided on the graph and (b) dependence of *IV*_{oc} on the peak PL intensity. The data are given for RTA in N₂ and subsequent FGA only, and (c) PL intensity on and outside blister areas.



Fig. 5. (a) Raman spectra for the dependence of crystallization of a-Si-H on the anneal time duration while the sample was kept at hot stage at various temperatures. (b) Room temperature Raman spectra for the dependence of crystallization on the RTA temperature, anneal time was 5 min and curves are normalized to fumace anneal. The as-deposited sample curve is magnified ten times due to lower Raman intensity and (c) growth of crystallinity (area under curve) as a function of temperature.

2) Surface Passivation Quality: Fig. 3 shows the variation of iV_{coc} with the RTA temperatures under N₂ and air. The optimal regime of annealing temperature was found to be near 825 °C, and the iV_{coc} started decreasing at temperatures beyond 825 °C. This could be due to the possible degradation to the SiO₂ passivation layer. The iV_{coc} peak value was higher in the air (649 mV) than in N₂ (600 mV). Since the *in situ* B-doped poly-Si layers of these test samples were fabricated by the LPCVD process at a lower temperature of 530 °C, there was a significant starting amount of hydrogen, which increased the chances of blister formations. The RTA sample did not reach the tube-furnace-annealed sample iV_{oc} value of 688 mV, possibly due to the higher density of blisters leading to the passivation degradation.

3) Photohumine scence: Fig. 4(a) shows the variation of peak PL intensity w.r.t. RTA temperatures in the N₂ and air atmosphere and FGAs. It was observed that the annealing temperature of 825 °C provided the highest PL intensity, and FGA improved it further. In N₂-annealed test sample, the highest PL intensity was 563 a.u. and FGA pushed it to 632 a.u. Similarly, in the case of air anneal, the highest PL intensity was 652 a.u. and FGA helped to reach 673 a.u. The furnace-annealed sample had a higher peak PL intensity. This showed that the passivation quality of air-annealed samples was better than that of N₂. Fig. 4(b) shows the observed relationship between iV_{coc} and peak PL intensity. Note when the junction is present, a logarithmic relationship is expected [33]. However, in this case, the PL change occurs due to the oxidation, crystallinity increase, and decrease in defect density. Therefore, it shows a linear relationship.

Fig. 4(c) shows the μ -PL intensity between the blister region and outside the blister region. It was found that the peak PL intensity at the blister region was 9 a.u. as compared with ~570 a.u. outside the blister region of an air-annealed test sample at 825 °C. This showed that the blisters caused extensive passivation degradation in the test samples.

4) Crystallinity Determination: Fig. 5(a) shows the Raman peak intensity of the polycrystalline phase w.r.t. anneal temperature and time duration in the N₂ atmosphere. Choi et al. [6] reported that the deposition temperature of LPCVD poly-Si should be above 580 °C to ensure lower hydrogen content that prevents blister formation. An increase in crystallinity was observed starting at 588 °C, shownby the Raman peak at 508 cm⁻¹, and it increased further as the annealing time was increased. These measurements were carried out in a heated chamber filled

Authorized licensed use limited to: University of Virginia Libraries. Downloaded on November 01, 2023 at 01:3607 UTC from IEEE Xplore. Restrictions apply.



Fig. 6. (a) FTIR spectra for c-Si, TOPCon samples annealed at 825 °C in N₂ and air. (c) FTIR spectra for TOPCon/SiN_x:H samples as deposited and annealed at 825 °C in N₂ and air. (c) FTIR spectra for TOPCon/SiN_x:H samples from 3400 to 2000 cm⁻¹ wavenumber region. All the samples were FGA treated before FTIR.

with N2. The standard room temperature Raman peak of c-Si at 520.5 cm-1 is shifted to 508 cm-1 due to the measurements done at the high temperature [34]. The as-deposited in situ B-doped poly-Si film was a mixture of amorphous and polycrystalline phases. Fig. 5(b) shows the change of a-Si:Hpeak Raman peak at 480 cm-1 toward the crystalline phase at 519.1 cm-1 as the RTA temperature increased from 625 to 875 °C in the N2 atmosphere. Similar phenomena were observed when the test samples were subjected to RTA under an air atmosphere (not shown here). Fig. 5(c) shows the increase of the "area under the curve" of the Raman curve w.r.t. RTA temperatures in the N2 atmosphere, indicating the increase in crystallinity. The degree of crystallinity in the in situ B-doped TOPCon depends on RTA temperatures and annealing time, not on anneal atmospheres or postanneal FGAs. At room temperature, the Raman peaks for poly-Si and c-Si substrate both occur at 520.5 cm-1. The Raman peak of poly-Si is much broader than that of c-Si due its polycrystalline nature. At the Raman excitation wavelength of 405 nm, the transmission through 30 nm poly-Si is only ~12% based on the optical n and k constants, and therefore, the contribution to the Raman peak from the c-Si substrate was very small.

5) Chemical Composition: Fig. 6(a) shows the FTIR absorbance spectra of c-Si, as-deposited tilm, TOPCon structure annealed at 825 °C in N₂ and air, and furnace annealed in N₂.

In Fig. 6(a), the absorbance peak at 1107 cm⁻¹ generally corresponds to the presence of the vibrational stretching mode of Si-O, indicating the presence of interstitial oxygen and native oxide [35], [36]. The shift of this peak toward the 1080 cm⁻¹ peak corresponds to the stretching mode of Si-O-Si and indicates the formation of typical thermal SiO₂ on the surface after air annealing [37], [38]. The peak at 455.6 cm⁻¹ for the air-annealed sample corresponds to the rocking-mode vibration of Si-O bonds, which also indicates the formation of SiO₂ [39]. The vibrational state of the Si–Si bond was observed at 611.7 cm⁻¹ [40].

The different peak positions indicated that the air annealing converted the top part of the poly-Si layer into the SiO₂ layer. Under the N₂ RTA and furnace annealing, there was no significant SiO₂ formation except native oxide growth.

6) Sheet Resistance: The conversion of the a-Si:H layer to poly-Si will enhance lateral transport of carriers, dopant



Fig. 7. Depth-profiling XPS spectra showing the atomic percentage profile of (a) air-annealed and (b)N₂-annealed samples based on the atomic concentrations of Si (2p), O (1s), C (1s), and N (1s).

activation, and passivation. Fig. 5(c) shows the sheet resistances measured at different annealing temperatures in N₂ along with a degree of crystallinity. It was possible to achieve sheet resistances as low as furnace anneal test samples [0.9 kΩ/sq, not shown in Fig. 5(c)]. The sheet resistance of the nonannealed sample was > 1 MΩ/sq. The RTA atmospheres, such as the air, had a negligible effect on the sheet resistance of *in situ* B-doped poly-Si, measured at a constant annealing temperature of 875 °C.

7) Oxidation State and Elemental Composition: The depthprofiling XPS composition spectra of test samples after RTA both in air and N₂ at 825 °C are shown in Fig. 7(a) and (b), respectively. The sputtering rate of SiO₂ is expected to be ~8.9 nm/min, and the Si/SiO₂ sputter rate ratio was ~1.1 [41]. Hence, the exact locations of the surface oxide, poly-Si, and buried ultrathin oxide layers are prone to some error due to the

Authorized licensed use limited to: University of Virginia Libraries. Downloaded on November 01,2023 at 01:3607 UTC from IEEE Xplore. Restrictions apply.



Fig. 8. Surface XPS spectra of ultrathin SiO₂ layer of TOPCon test structures at (a) as-deposited, (b) furnace, (c) air, and (d) N₂ annealing conditions.

undetermined sputter rate through the poly-Si layer. In the case of air annealing, a thicker oxide layer was observed on the top of the remaining poly-Si layer. This proved that the oxygen from air diffused through the surface oxide layer on poly-Si. An increase in oxygen concentration and a decrease in Si concentration under the poly-Si layer is due to the presence of an ultrathin oxide layer. Past the ultrathin oxide/c-Si interface, the Si/O ratio concentration increased. In the case of N2 annealing, a very thin surface oxide was observed along with the broader peak of Si and oxygen concentrations at the ultrathin oxide region. This shows higher concentration of oxygen present in the ultrathin oxide layer in air-annealed samples. The boron was not able to be detected due to its relatively low concentration. The as-deposited sample had a negligibly thin surface native oxide layer with an intact poly-Si/ ultrathin oxide/c-Si structure (not shown here). This also reiterated our findings from the FTIR study. Fig. 8 shows the XPS spectra of the ultrathin passivating SiO2 layer after the removal of polysilicon by the chemical etching process for different annealing conditions at 825 °C. XPS spectra show

a peak at 99.8 eV due to the Si–Si bond, and another peak at 103.8 eV is due to the presence of the SiO_x layer. The Si-O peak was deconvoluted and showed the two major oxidation states of Si³⁺ and Si⁴⁺ [42]. The negligible differences in SiO_x/SiO₂ ratios and their respective peak positions suggested that the RTA atmosphere (air or N₂) did not significantly affect the chemical composition of the ultrathin silicon oxide. Only for furnace anneal, there was a visible shift in the Si-O peak. In addition, the area of silicon peak was higher after thermal annealing, indicating the increase in elemental Si [43]. The decrease in SiO₂ concentration was noted, possibly which can come from the incorporation of Si into the oxide layer [44].

B. Effects of High-Intensity Light Environment

Initially, the RTA samples showed poor PL intensity and very low iV_{co} value. It was discovered that the source of poor performance is related to the exposure of samples to the presence of high-intensity light and heat in RTA for sample heating. We

Authorized licensed use limited to: University of Virginia Libraries. Downloaded on November 01,2023 at 01:3607 UT C from IEEE Xplore. Restrictions apply.



Fig. 9. Spectrum of the RTA lamp used in this study.

TABLE 1 EFFECTS OF HIGH INTENSITY RTA LAMPLICHT ON THE PL. INTENSITY AND IV_{CC} OF TOPCON STRUCTURES AT 875 °C

| Sample As fabricated | | Before FGA | | After FGA | | |
|---------------------------|-----|--------------------|--------------------------------|----------------------|------------------------------|---------------------------------|
| | | PL (a.u.) 41 | iV _w (mV) 525 | PL. (a.u.) 107 | iV _{cc} (mV) 537 | |
| | | | | | | Without Si wafer cover |
| Air | 27 | 493 | 45 | ~520 | | |
| With Si wafer cover | N2 | 501 | 572 | 517 | 588 | |
| | Air | 519 | 585 | 642 | 618 | |

carried out experiments with samples exposed to RTA intense light along with the samples that were covered with Si wafer cover.

Fig. 9 shows the spectrum of the halogen IR lamp used in the RTA studies. The RTA durations were about 5 min at high temperatures, which was long enough to generate the thermal equilibrium. Approximately, 88.9% of the base 4-in Si wafer received the full spectrum of the RTA lamp radiation, as the test samples only occupied 11.1% of the area. Therefore, the base wafer temperature would be expected to be similar to the one without cover. The Si wafer cover absorbed all of the visible light from the lamp and radiated heat to the test sample. In addition, the temperature readout from the thermocouple touching the base Si wafer indicated the sample temperature.

Fig. 4(a) shows the light-induced degradations of peak PL intensity measured at ~1150 nm without Si wafer cover (denoted by "underlight" legend) for both N₂ and air at different annealing temperatures. The rest of the data were recorded using an Si wafer cover without light exposure. The data from Fig. 4(a) have been summarized and tabulated in Table I. It was observed that under high RTA temperature without the Si wafer cover, there were degradations of $iV_{\rm osc}$. Later, the post-anneal FGAs recovered from this passivation loss back to the starting passivation quality. It did not improve the $iV_{\rm osc}$ further from the original value. By using the Si wafer cover during RTA and postanneal FGA, it was possible to get higher $iV_{\rm osc}$. This light-induced



Fig. 10. Top-view SEM image showing a blister formed on the SiNs H layer after RTA at 825 $^\circ C$ in N2 .

TABLE II EFFECTS OF SIN_X H Coarding on the PL Netrosity and W_{OC} of Topcon Structures Under Deference RTA Atmospheres at 825 °C

| | Befor | e FGA | After FGA | | |
|------------------|--------------|--------------------------|--------------|-----------------------|--|
| Sample | PL (a.u.) | iV _{ot} (mV) | PL (a.u.) | iV _{ov} (mV) | |
| As fabricated | 638 | 622 | 678 | 634 | |
| RTA in N2 | 935 | 693 | 1414 | 706 | |
| RTA in Air | 730 | 659 | 775 | 672 | |

degradation occurred irrespective of RTA atmospheres at only high temperatures above 625 °C.

C. Effect of RTA on SiN₃: H Coated TOPCon Structure

1) Effect on Surface Morphology: An SiN_x:H coated TOP-Con sample went through RTA at 825 °C in an N₂ atmosphere. The top-view SEM image in Fig. 10 shows one of the blisters observed on the SiN_x:H layer due to high hydrogen pressure under RTA. The broken SiN_x:H fragments can be observed lying surrounding the blister. The area fraction of blisters was measured as 7%–9% of the total surface area. If the blister formation can be minimized, that would lead to higher iV_{oe} value.

2) Effect on Passivation Quality: Fig. 4(a) shows the peak PL intensity of TOPCon/SiNx:H test structures annealed by the three-step process at 825 °C under both N2 and air environments and the subsequent FGAs. All the related data have been summarized and tabulated in Table II. The highest iVcc of 706 mV was achieved after N2 annealing. For reference, the Noc of the furnace-annealed p-TOPCon structure reached 688 mV without SiNx:H and 698 mV with SiNx:H coating. This displayed the usefulness of using the SiNx H layer for passivation purposes. The optical n and k values for as-deposited SiNx H film were measured by ellipsometry and were 2.108 and 0.00001, respectively. The SiN_n:H layer would act as an antireflection layer, allowing higher transmission of the excitation laser light and would enhance the PL intensity. However, we are comparing the change in PL intensity between unannealed and annealed samples. The absorption properties of SiN_n:H are assumed to be unchanged after thermal annealing. Therefore, it does not impact

Authorized Isensed use Imited to: University of Virginia Libraries. Downloaded on November 01, 2023 at 01:3607 UTC from IEEE Xplore. Restrictions apply.



Fig. 11. XPS spectra of (a) N Is peaks, (b) Si 2ppeaks, and (c) O Is peaks of the TOPC on/SiNx:H samples after RTA at 825 °C under N2 and air atmospheres.

the PL measurement, except in the enhancement of absolute PL signal by ~30% based on the light interference calculations.

3) Effect on SiN, H Stoichiometry: Fig. 6(b) and (c) shows the FTIR absorbance spectra of the TOPCon/SiNx H structures under N2 and air annealing at 825 °C and compared with as-deposited film. In Fig. 6(b), it was observed that the wagging mode 1107 cm-1 and bending mode 467.8 cm-1 peaks of Si-O bond increased after air annealing, which indicated a greater amount of Si-O complexes being formed [45]. The absorbance peak at 612.1 cm-1 corresponds to the Si-Si bond. The broad peak centered at 840 cm-1 is generally attributed to the presence of the Si-N bond. The spectra from 830.7 to 854.2 cm-1 denote the presence of the asymmetric stretching modes of Si-N, which underwent stoichiometric changes likely from Si3-Si-N to Si2-(H)Si-N [46]. In Fig. 6(c), it was observed that the presence of the stretching modes of N-H and Si-H peaks at 3325.4 cm-1 and 2185.2 cm-1, respectively, in the as-deposited samples showed that they were highly hydrogenated [47]. Later, these peaks disappeared after RTA, which is due to the dehydrogenation.

4) Effect on Chemical Composition of SiN_x:H: Fig. 11 shows the compositional XPS spectra of the TOPCon/SiNx:H stack annealed at 825 °C both in N2 and air. In Fig. 11(a), it was observed that there was a comparatively lower count of the N (1s) peak at 397.86 eV in the air-annealed sample than in N2 annealed. This suggested that there was a decrease in the Si-N bond in the top 3-5 nm thickness of the SiNx:H layer film after air annealing compared with the N2 annealing. This is due to the possible Si-O bonds formation on the SiNx:H surface. In Fig. 11(b), it was observed that there was an Si (2p) peak at 100.4 eV in N2 annealing and at 102.1 eV in air. The XPS peak at 100.4 eV, observed after N2 annealing, is attributed to the presence of the Si-Si₃N₁ complex and the peak at 102.1 eV, observed after air annealing, is attributed to the formation of SiOx complexes [48], [49], [50], [51]. The Si-N peak is expected to be located at 101.7 eV, and the SiO2 peak to be at 103.5 eV, but peak positions are sensitive to stoichiometry [52]. Finally, after air annealing, the intensity of O (1s) peak at 533.1 eV was higher as compared with N2 annealing, as shown in Fig. 11(c). This proved that there were more surficial SiO2 and stoichiometric changes that occurred during the air annealing, as previously showed by Miller and Linton [53] and Lin and Hwu [54].

The results on crystallinity property determination by Raman spectroscopy, chemical changes by FTIR and XPS, and electrical property changes by sheet resistance measurement have been presented. As the annealing temperature increases, the poly-Si crystalline fraction and iV_{oc} increase, implying lower charge-carrier recombination. The FTIR measurements were not sensitive to detect the passivation quality; however, it detects dehydrogenation in SiN_x:H capped samples. The depth-profiling XPS measurements show higher concentration of oxygen in the ultrathin oxide after air annealing, which could lead to higher iV_{oc} compared with that of N₂ for uncapped samples. The surface morphology shows the blister formation affecting the carrier selectivity and, hence, the surface passivation.

IV. CONCLUSION

In this article, the effect of RTA atmosphere on surface morphology (blister formation), surface passivation, changes in polysilicon crystallinity, composition, sheet resistance, and determination of oxidation state of ultrathin SiO₂ passivation layer in *in situ* B-doped poly-Si-based p-TOPCon was investigated. Second, it was discovered that the high-intensity light exposure during RTA significantly degraded the surface passivation quality and, hence, iV_{cc} . Third, first depositing an SiN_x:H layer on top of polysilicon and carrying out a single step of RTA provide a high iV_{cc} value of 706 mV. In summary, this article shows the following.

- During annealing, hydrogen-induced blisters must be minimized as confirmed by the PL measurements in which they lead to the loss of surface passivation.
- A higher *lV*_{oc} was observed under air RTA compared with nitrogen in SiN_x:H-uncapped samples,
- UV and visible light radiation during high-temperature RTA induces degradation and its exposure must be avoided during the annealing process.
- The Si-O bond changes from wagging mode to stretching mode under annealing at 875 °C.
- The RTA can provide low sheet resistance value of 0.9 kΩ/sq for a 30 nm in situ B-doped polysilicon film.
- Under RTA, the fraction of polycrystalline phase maximizes at around 825 °C.
- RTA in N₂ of SiN_x:H coated polysilicon film provided the higher iV_{coc} compared with uncoated film.
- RTA can provide iV_{oc} value similar to the furnace annealing.

Authorized licensed use limited to: University of Virginia Libraries. Downloaded on November 01,2023 at 01:3607 UTC from IEEE Xplore. Restrictions apply.

The initial hydrogen content in the as-deposited TOPCon structure should be minimized to avoid blister formation, and the LPCVD of *in situ* B-doped a-Si:H should be done at 588 °C to minimize hydrogen incorporation as well as to obtain a higher poly-crystalline fraction.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

The authors would like to thank the NSF MRI Award #1626201 for using PHI Versaprobe III XPS (UVA NMCF) instrument to obtain the XPS data.

REFERENCES

- L. Galleni et al., "Mechani sms of charge carrier transport in polycrystal line sili con passituting contacts," *Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells*, vol. 232, 2021, Art. no. 111359, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2021.111359.
- [2] M. Firat et al., "Local enhancement of dopant diffusion from polycrystalline silicon passivating contacts," ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces., vol. 14, no. 15, pp. 17975–17986, Apr. 2022, doi: 10.1021/acsami.2x01801.
- [3] F. Hasse et al., "Laser contact openings for local poly-Si-metal contacts enabling 26.1%-efficient POLO-IBC solar cells," *Sol. Energy Mater Sol. Cells*, vol. 186, pp. 184–193, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.solmar.2018.06.020.
- [4] A. Richter et al., "n-type Si solar cells with passivating electron contact: Identifying sources for efficiency limitations by wafer thickness and resistivity variation," Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells, vol. 173, pp. 96–105, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2017.05.042.
- [5] Y. Tao, V. Upadhyuya, K. Jones, and A. Rohatgi, "Tunneloxide passivated rear contact for large area n-type front junction silicon solar cells providing excellent carrier selectivity," *AIMSMatex Sci.*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 180–189, Jan. 2016, doi: 10.3934/matex.ci.2016.1.180.
- [6] S. Choi et al., "Formation and suppression of hydrogen blisters in tunnelling oxide passivating contact for crystalline silicon solar cells," *Sci. Rep.*, vol. 10, no. 1, Jun. 2020, Art. no. 9672, doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-66801-4.
- [7] T. Gao et al., "An industrially viable TOPCon structure with both ultrathin SiO₂ and n+poly-Si processed by PECVD for p-type c-Si solar cells," *Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells.*, vol. 200, 2019, Art. no. 109926, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2019.109926.
- [8] F. Feldmann, M. Bivour, C. Reichel, M. Hennle, and S. W. Glunz, "Passivated rear contacts for high-efficiency n-type Si solar cells providing high interface passivation quality and excellent transport characteristics," *Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells*, vol. 120, 2014, pp. 270–274, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2013.09.017.
- [9] A. Harter et al., "Influence of intrinsics ilic on layer and intermediate silic on oxide layer on the performance of inline PECVD deposited boron-doped TOPCon," *IEEE J. Photoroll.*, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 936–943, Jul. 2021, doi: 10.1109/JPI/GTOV.2021.3071220.
- [10] F. Feldmann et al., "Efficient carrier-selective p- and n-contacts for Si solar cells," Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells, vol. 131, pp. 100–104, 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2014.05.039.
- [11] U. Römer et al., "Recombination behavior and contact resist ance of n+ and p+ poly-crystalline Silm ono-crystalline Si junctions," Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells, vol. 131, pp. 85–91, 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2014.06.003.
- [12] P. Borden et al., "Polysilicon tunnel junctions as alternates to diffuse d junctions," in Proc. 23rd Eur. Photoroth. Sol. Energy Conf. Exhib., Valencia, Spain, 2008, pp. 1149–1152, doi: 10.4229/23rdEUPVSEC2008-2DO.1.4.
- [13] A. Ingenito et al., "A passivating contact for silicon solar cells formed during a single firing thermal annealing," *Nature Energy*, vol. 3, no. 9, pp. 800–808, 2018, doi: 10.1038/s41560-018-0239-4.
- [14] M. Fong et al., "Rapid-thermal-annealing-induced passivation degradation and recovery of polysilicon passivated contact with Czochralski and cast multicrystalline silicon substrates," *Physica Status Solidi A Appl. Mates Sci.*, vol. 218, no. 21, 2021, Art. no. 2100344, doi:10.1002/pssa.202100344.
- [15] Q. Yang et al., "In-situ phosphorus doped polysilic on prepared using mpidthermal anneal (RTA) and its application for polysilic on passinated contact solar cells," *Sol. Energy Mater Sol. Cells*, vol. 210, 2020, Art. no. 110518, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2020.110518.
- [16] C. Reichel et al., "Tunnel oxide passivated contacts formed by ion implantation for applications in silicon solar cells," J. Appl. Phys., vol. 118, no. 20, 2015, Att. no. 205701, doi: 10.1063/1.4936223.

- [17] C. Lee et al., "Amorphous silicon thin film deposition for poly-Si/SiO₂ contact cells to minimize parasitic absorption in the nearinfrared region," *Energies*, vol. 14, no. 24, Dec. 2021, Art. no. 8199, doi: 10.3390/en14248199.
- [18] B. W. H. van de Loo et al., "On the hydrogenation of poly-Si passivating contacts by Al₂O₃ and SiN₈ thin films," *Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells.*, vol. 215, 2020, Art. no. 110592, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2020.110592.
- [19] B. Steinhauser et al., "On the influence of the SiNx composition on the firing stability of poly-SiXSiN_x stacks," *Physica Status So-Idd A Appl. Matex Sci.*, vol. 217, no. 21, 2020, Att. no. 2000333, doi:10.1002/pswa.202000333.
- [20] C. Hollemann et al., "Firing stability of tube furnace-annealed n-type poly-Si on oxide junctions," *Prog. Photorolt.: Res. Appl.*, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 49–64, 2022, doi:10.1002/pp.3459.
 [21] G. Nogay et al., "Interplay of annealing temperature and doping in
- [21] G. Nogay et al., "Interplay of annealing temperature and doping in hole selective rear contacts based on silicon-rich silicon-carbide thin films," Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Colls, vol. 173, pp. 18–24, Dec. 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2017.06.039.
- [22] D. Kang et al., "Comparison of firing stability between p- and n-type polysilicon passivating contacts," *Prog. Photorol.t.*, *Res. Appl.*, vol. 30, no. 8, pp. 970–980, 2022, doi: 10.1002/pip.3544.
- [23] V. Aryu et al., "Laser ablation and Ni/Cu plating approach for tunnel oxide passivated contacts solar cells with variate polysilicon layer thickness: Gains and possibilities in comparison to screen printing," *Physica Status Solidi A*, *Appl. Matex Sci.*, vol. 217, no. 24, 2020, Art. no. 2000474, doi: 10.1002/pssa.202000474.
- [24] R. C. G. Naber, B. W. H. van de Loo, and J. R. M. Luchies, "LPCVD in-situ n-type doped polysilicon process throughput optimization and implementation into an industrial solar cell process flow," in *Proc. 36th East Photoroll. Sol. Energy Conf. Exhib.*, 2019, pp. 180–183.
- [25] C.-A. Chang, "On the enhancement of silicon chemical vapor deposition rates at low temperatures," J. Electrochem. Soc., vol. 123, no. 8, pp. 1245–1247, 1976, doi: 10.1149/1.2133045.
- [26] W.-J. Choi et al., "Optimization of in-situ and ex-situ doped p+ passivaring contact for high efficiency p-TOPCon solar cell application," in Proc. IEEE 48th Photorols. Specialists Conf., 2021, pp. 1907–1912, doi: 10.1109/IPVSC43889.2021.9518759.
- [27] A. de Calheiros Velozo, G. Lavareda, C. Nunes de Carvalho, and A. Amaral, "Thermal dehydrogenation of amorphous silicon deposited on c-Si:Effectof the substrate temperature during deposition," *Physica Status Solidi C, Curr. Topics Solid State Phys.*, vol. 9, no. 10/11, pp. 2198–2202, 2012, doi: 10.1002/pssc.201200194.
- [28] A. Sinha, A. Sornan, U. Das, S. Hegedus, and M. C. Gupta, "Nanos econd pulse d laser patterning of interdigitate d back contact het erojanction silic on solar cells," *IEEE J. Photoroilt*, vol. 10, no. 6, pp. 1648–1656, Nov. 2020, doi: 10.1109/JPHOTOV.2020.3026907.
- [29] A. V. Naumkin, A. Kraust-Vass, S. W. Gaarenstroom, and C. J. Powell, "NIST X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy database, national institute of standards and technology," Nat. Inst. Standards Technol, Gaithenburg, MD, USA, 2000.
- [30] D. K. Agarwal, N. Maheshwari, S. Mukherji, and V. R. Rao, "Asymmetric immobilization of antibodies on a pizzo-resistive micro-cantilever surface," *RSC Adv.*, vol. 6, no. 21, pp. 17606–17616, Feb. 2016, doi:10.1039/deia014406.
- [31] H. Schröder, E. Obermeier, and A. Steckenborn, "Micropytamidal hillocks on KOH otched (100) silicon surfaces: Formation, prevention and removal," J. Micromech. Microeng., vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 139–145, 1999, doi:10.1088/0960-1317/92/2009.
- [32] Q. Li et al., "Replacing the amorphous silicon thin layer with microcrystalline silicon thin layer in TOPCon solar cells," *Sol. Energy*, vol. 135, pp. 487–492, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.solener.2016.06.012.
- [33] U. Ran, "Reciprocity relation between photovoltaic quantum efficiency and electroluminescent emission of solar cells," *Phys. Rev. B*, vol. 76, no. 8, 2007, Art. no. 085303, doi: 10.1103/PhysRevB.76.085303.
- [34] C. B. Saltonst all, J. Serrano, P. M. Norris, P.E. Hopkins, and T. E. Beechem, "Single element Raman thermometry," *Rev. Sci. Instrum.*, vol. 84, no. 6, 2013, Art. 064903, doi: 10.1063/1.4810850.
- [35] T. N. Tran, T. V. A. Pham, M. L. P. Le, T. P. T. Nguyen, and V. M. Tran, "Synthesis of amorphous silica and sulfonic acid functionalized silica used as reinforced phase for polymer electrolyte membrane," *Adv. Natural Sci. Nanosci. Nanotechnol.*, vol. 4, no. 4, 2013, Art. no. 045007, doi: 10.1088/2043-6262/44/045007.
- [36] M. Watanabe and N. Takenawa, "FTIR measurement of nitrogen in silicon using shuttle type sample stage," Proc. - Electrochem Soc., vol. 5, pp. 121–131, 2004.

Authorized licensed use limited to: University of Virginia Libraries. Downloaded on November 01,2023 at 01:3607 UTC from IEEE Xplore. Restrictions apply.

223

IEEE JOURNAL OF PHOTOVOLTAICS, VOL 13, NO. 3, MAY 2023

- [37] L. X. Yi, J. Heitmann, R. Scholz, and M. Zacharias, "Phase separation of thin SiO layers in amorphous SiO/SiO₂ superlattices during annealing," *J. Phys. Condens. Matter*, vol. 15, no. 39, pp. S2887–S2895, Sep. 2003, doi: 10.1088/0953-8984/15/390012.
- [38] T. Jutarosaga, J. S. Jeoung, and S. Seraphin, "Infrared spectroscopy of Si-O bonding in low-dose low-energy separation by implanted oxygen materials," *Thin Solid Films*, vol. 476, no. 2, pp. 303–311, Apr. 2005, doi: 10.1016/j.sf.2004.10.006.
- [39] S. Matsuda et al., "Correlation between temperature coefficient of elasticity and Fourier transform infrared spectra of silicon dioxide films for surface acoustic wave devices," *IEEE Trans. Ultrasonics, Ferreelectr., Freq. Control.*, vol. 58, no. 8, pp. 1684–1687, Aug. 2011, doi: 10.1109/TUFFC.2011.1996.
- [40] T. F. Young, C. P. Chen, J. F. Liou, Y. L. Yang, and T. C. Chang, "Study on the Si–Si vibrational states of the near surface region of porous silicon," *J. Porous Mater.*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 339–343, 2000, doi: 10.1023/ar1009622601723.
- [41] G. Betz and G. K. Wehner, "Spattering of multicomponent materials," in Spattering by Particle Bombardnent II: Spattering of Alloys and Compounds, Electron and Neutron Spattering, Surface Topography, 1st ed., vol. 52, R. Behrish, Ed. Berlin, Geumany: Springer, 1983, pp. 11–90.
- [42] R. Alfonsetti, L. Lozzi, M. Passacantando, P. Picozzi, and S. Santucci, "XPS studies on SiOx thin films," *Appl. Surf. Sci.*, vol. 70–71, pp. 222–225, 1993, doi: 10.1016/0169-4332(93)90431-A.
- [43] I. Lisovskyy et al., "Transformation of the structure of silicon oxide during the formation of S1 nanoinclusions under thermal annealing," *Ukrainian J. Phys.*, vol. 54, no. 4, pp. 383–390, 2009.
- [44] C.-M. Park et al., "Characterizations and electrochemical behaviors of disproportionated SiO and its composite for nechargeable Li-ion batteries," *J. Mates. Chem.*, vol. 20, no. 23, pp. 4854–4860, 2010, doi: 10.1039/b923926j.
- [45] B. B. Zviagina, V. A. Drits, and O. V. Dorzhieva, "Distinguishing features and identification criteria for K-dioctahedral 1M micas (Illitealuminoceladonite and illite-glauconite-celadonite series) from middleinfrared spectroscopy data," *Minerals*, vol. 10, no. 2, 2020, Art. no. 153, doi: 10.3390/mmi10020153.

- [46] G. Scarden, T. Puzzer, G. Conibeer, and M. A. Green, "Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy of annealed silicon-rich silicon nitride thin films," *J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 104, no. 10, 2008, Art. no. 104310, doi: 10.1063/J.3021158.
- [47] I. Guler, "Optical and structural characterization of silicon nitride thin films deposited by PECVD," *Mater Sci. Eng.*, B, vol. 246, pp. 21–26, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.mseb.2019.05.024.
- [48] A. Kitao, K. Imakita, I. Kawamura, and M. Fujii, "An investigation into second harmonic generation by Si-rich SiN_x thin films deposited by RF spattering over a wide mage of Si concentrations," *J. Phys. D*, Appl. Phys., vol. 47, no. 21, 2014, Art. no. 215101, doi: 10.1088/0022-3727/47/21/215101.
- [49] W. A. M. Aarnink, A. Weishaupt, and A. van Silfhout, "Angleresolved X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (ARXPS) and a modified Levenberg-Marquardt fit procedure: A new combination for modeling thin layers," *Appl. Surf. Sci.*, vol. 45, no. 1, pp. 37–48, Aug. 1990, doi: 10.1016/0169-433260190018-U.
- [50] J. Finster, E. D. Klinkenberg, J. Heeg, and W. Braun, "ESCA and SEXAFS investigations of insulating materials for ULSI micinelectronics," *Warman*, vol. 41, no. 7/9, pp. 1586–1589, 1990, doi: 10.1016/0042-2070590940254.
- [51] X. Zhao, M. Leavy, N. P. Magtoto, and J. A. Kelber, "Copper wetting of a tanalum silicate surface: Implications for interconnect technology," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 79, no. 21, pp. 3479–3481, 2001, doi: 10.1063/J.1418025.
- [52] M. Biesinger, "X-ray photoe lectron spectroscopy (XPS) reference pages," Accessed on: Apr. 24, 2022. [Online]. Available: http://www.xpsfitting. com/2012/01/silicon.html
- [53] M. L. Miller and R. W. Linton, "X-ray photoelectron spectros copy of thermally treated silica SiO₂ surfaces," *Anal. Chem.*, vol. 57, no. 12, pp. 2314–2319, 1985, doi: 10.1021/ac00289a033.
- [54] Y.-P. Lin and J.-G. Hwu, "Quality improvement in LPCVD silicon nitrides by anodic and mpid thermal oxidations," *Electrochem. Solid-State Lett.*, vol. 7, no. 5, 2004, Art. no. G87, doi: 10.1149/1.1664053.

Authorized licensed use limited to: University of Virginia Libraries. Downloaded on November 01,2023 at 01:3607 UTC from IEEE Xplore. Restrictions apply.

364

PAPER

Microscale patterning of semiconductor c-Si by selective laser-heating induced KOH etching

To cite this article: Arpan Sinha and Mool C Gupta 2021 Semicond. Sci. Technol. 36 085002

View the article online for updates and enhancements.

You may also like

 Tunnel magneto-Seebeck effect T Kuschel, M Czerner, J Walowski et al.

 A <u>power-balance model</u> for local helicity injection startup in a spherical tokamak. J.L. Barr, M.W. Bongard, M.G. Burke et al.

 Continuous, edge localized ion heating during non-solanoidal plasma startup and sustainment in a low aspect ratio tokamak M.G. Burke, J.L. Barr, M.W. Bongard et al.

This content was downloaded from IP address 128.143.1.11 on 01/11/2023 at 01:37

Semicond. Sci. Technol. 36 (2021) 085002 (12pp)

Microscale patterning of semiconductor c-Si by selective laser-heating induced KOH etching

Arpan Sinha⁽⁰⁾ and Mool C Gupta^{*} (0)

Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering, University of Virginia, Charlottes ville 22904, VA

E-mail: mgupta@virginia.edu

Received 7 March 2021, revised 6 June 2021 Accepted for publication 9 June 2021 Published 29 June 2021



Abstract

Laser patterning has been used for the micro-scale fabrication of semiconductor devices like solar cells, photodetectors, LEDs, and also for modification of surfaces for wettability, reflected colors, initial bacterial adhesion, etc, due to its several advantages of patterning flexibility, spatial resolution, and mask-free operation over complex conventional lithography. Currently, laser-induced ablation is a promising patterning method in silicon solar cell fabrication; however, laser-induced defects, and thermal stresses remain a significant concern. In this paper, we demonstrate a laser ablation-free method for patterning c-Si based on the observation that the anisotropic etching of c-Si by KOH is highly temperature-dependent as the etching rate is about 100 times faster at 80 °C compared to room temperature. The laser heating-induced chemical etching (LHICE) of crystalline silicon can help alleviate such laser-induced damage by providing the necessary low temperature on the localized area(s) on the silicon substrate. We investigated the micro-second pulsed laser-assisted chemical etching of c-Si substrate for microscale patterning and showed that laser-induced damage could be eliminated as indicated by the minority carrier lifetime preservation. We also present results of the effect of laser processing parameters such as laser power, scan speed, and duty cycle on etching depth and surface morphology. The optical, surface morphology, depth profile, and LCPSim simulation results are also presented to optimize and understand the LHICE process. This versatile methodology of temperature-selective chemical etching could be applied to various thin-film and bulk materials used in diverse device fabrication.

Keywords: KOH etching, laser heating-induced etching, microsecond pulsed laser, silicon

(Some figures may appear in colour only in the online journal)

1. Introduction

As of 2017, the crystalline silicon PV modules accounted for about 90% of the world PV solar cell market share [1]. Currently, the interdigitated back-contact hetero-junction (IBC-HJ) silicon solar cells and the passivated emitter rear contact (PERC) silicon solar cells are very popular for commercial applications due to their higher efficiency and lower

* Author to whom any correspondence should be addressed.

manufacturing costs [2–4]. Recently, a record 26.1% efficiency for polycrystalline on oxide junction interdigitated back contact (POLO-IBC) solar cell and 26.3% efficiency for IBC-HJ c-Si solar cell have been reported [4, 5] utilizing a laser ablation patterning method. One of the major issues in using laser processing for Si solar cell fabrications lies in the occurrence of laser-induced defects and thermal stress in the lattices, which eventually lowers down the effective minority carrier lifetime (MCL) and hence, conversion efficiency. Hence, the widespread commercialization of high-efficiency IBC and PERC solar cells depends on the availability of a

1361-6641/21/085002+12\$33.00

© 2021 IOP PublishingLtd Printed in the UK

low-cost laser-patterning method, which ensures minimum laser-induced damage. The isotropic etching of c-Si can be achieved using a mixture of HF (49%) and HNO₃ (69%) in the ratio of 1:19 by volume and is widely used in the semiconductor industry [6]. Potassium hydroxide (KOH) and tetramethylammonium hydroxide (TMAH) are widely used to create an anisotropic-etched micro-texture surface on c-Si [7–11].

Recent reports show that by using ultrafast femtosecond (fs), picosecond (ps) lasers, and nanosecond (ns) pulse width lasers combined with anisotropic chemical etching (using KOH and TMAH aqueous solutions), SF6 or HCl gases, or stain etchants (using HF-HNO3, NH4HF2-H2O, NH4HF2-NaMnO4), it has been possible to produce various kinds of micro-and nano-sized structures and microtextures like pores, pillars, porosified pillars, macro-pores, pin-holes and polygonal pits in c-Si using laser ablation process [12-16]. These micro-/nano-structures have been made for the fabrication of photoluminescent porous Si (Poro-Si) [13, 16]; better hydrophobicity and enhanced light-trapping mechanism in c-Si solar cells and self-cleaning c-Si microelectronic devices [14]; controlled reflectance, absorbance, and emissivity of Si-based optical devices [15, 17]. A few other applications of Poro-Si are Li-ion battery anodes [18] and other minority carrier devices like photodetectors, thin-film transistors, and LEDs, etc, where their performances degrade due to carrier traps and defect density [19-21]. But the advantages of such microand nano-structures are not just limited to the c-Si based solar cell and micro-electronics devices but also to various materials-based devices for novel purposes like surface superhydrophobicity and wettability [22, 23], reflected colors [24], tribological behaviors [25], bacterial anti-biofouling [26], etc. According to Ji et al, when the accumulation and transfer of energy from the laser to c-Si reach the phase explosion conditions (>0.9 T_c, T_c = 7925 K, it is the thermodynamic critical temperature of silicon), it leads to an explosion splash of ionized surface material caused by explosive stress, leaving micropores on the silicon surface [14]. Obviously, there were significant defects formed to the surface and bulk of c-Si wafers/ substrates due to the extensive laser ablation process and high-temperature chemical etch in all these processes. As a matter of fact, the effects of the direct laser-crystalline silicon interactions seemed to be dominant over the laser-assisted chemical etch interaction effects. The laser-induced damages were not characterized adequately, and the preservation of MCL was not previously investigated. Additionally, there is a lack of understanding of the role that micro-second (µs) pulse width lasers play in low-temperature laser-assisted KOH etching of c-Si and how it influences the change in the MCL. Several works on laser-assisted photochemical wet etching methods have been reported where the exposure of a particular laser wavelength with an optimized intensity selectively enhances the photochemical etch rate at a localized place and does not depend on the laser heating. However, such a method is limited to only semiconductor materials like c-Si, GaAs since the etching rate depends on the formation of e-h+ pairs and requires toxic etchants like HF [27, 28].

From semiconductor processing, it is well known that the KOH etching rate increases exponentially above the room temperature as described by the Arrhenius equation, and the optimum temperature range lies within 80 °C to 100 °C. The 30 wt% concentrated KOH etch rate of c-Si (100) at 20 °C is \sim 1.44 µm h⁻¹ (=24 nm min⁻¹) whereas at 80 °C, the etch rate becomes \sim 79 μ m h⁻¹ (=1316 nm min⁻¹) [9]. The mechanism of silicon etching by KOH is a two-step sequential oxidation and etching reaction. During the rate-limiting process of oxidation, H-terminated Si atoms at the surface get oxidized to OH-terminated Si atoms due to OH' ions from KOH aqueous solution. In the presence of H2O, polarization and weakening of the back bonds occur due to differences in electronegativity between Si and O. Consequently, etching (removal) of Si atoms occurs in the form of Si(OH)4 complexes [29]. The rate-limiting oxidation process can be accelerated by an optimal temperature range from 80 °C to 100 °C. Moreover, it is a non-toxic, economical, and commonly used alkali metal hydroxide silicon etchant, which requires a simple etch setup and provides high silicon etch rate, a high degree of anisotropy, moderate Si/SiO2 etch rate ratio, and low etched surface roughness.

Generally, the prime goal of creating textures and pyramidal shapes on a c-Si surface has been to enhance light trapping, using alkaline KOH, NaOH, and TMAH, ensuring surface reflectivity as low as 6% [30]. The KOH etching/ texturizing of c-Si does not cause any major damage to the surface quality, and the surface passivation on the etched/textured c-Si can be further improved by the deposition of SiO₂/Al₂O₃ and SiN₈/Al₂O₃ stack layers [31-33]. The surface passivation, as in IBC solar cell fabrication, can also be done by depositing the PECVD stack of a-Si /SiO₂ /SiN, (aSON) layers on the textured c-Si to obtain effective surface recombination velocities (SRVs) below 1 cm s-1 [34]. Zielke et al reported that a very low saturation current density of (174 ± 11) fA cm-2 was measured on the PERC cells after KOH pyramidal texturization, followed by atomic-layer-deposited AlO_x, indicating better contact passivation [35]. The report by Werner et al shows that it has been possible to achieve a low SRV below 2.9 cm s-1 with a 10 nm thick Al2O3 layer, deposited by spatial ALD process, on a KOH-etched n-type Czochralski-grown (Cz) silicon [36]. Hence, an optimum temperature range (80 °C to 100°C) has to be achieved, which would suffice for KOH etching/texturization. Similar laser-assisted temperature-selective micro-etch/ texturization is quite feasible for controlled etching steel in etchant FeCl₃ and aqueous solution mixture of FeCl₃/ HCl/ HNO₃ for super-hydrophobicity, wettability and surface-reflected colors [23, 24, 37, 38], Ni-Co alloys on steel in etchant 30% v/v HCl/ethyl alcohol for tribological properties [25, 39] and many more. Moreover, such methodology can also overtake the extensive electrochemical etching for Poro-Si texturization, which eventually lowers down the carrier lifetime [40].

In this paper, we describe a highly localized micronresolution patterning using a micro-second (μ s) pulsed laser based on the laser heating-induced chemical etching (LHICE) process, where the carrier lifetime is preserved. This methodology's fundamental approach lies in the increase in the temperature at localized areas irradiated by laser and enhancing the forward reaction rate of temperature-dependent chemical etching of c-Si. Hence, by proper selection of laser processing parameters, the patterning of c-Si was achieved, and no direct ablation by laser was required. Such a temperature regime was considered low and safe for silicon solar cell fabrication. Consequently, the direct laser-induced defects and thermal stresses in the c-Si lattice were minimized.

After using microsecond pulse-width laser-heated KOH etch patterning of c-Si, we investigated the effect on MCL. Analytical techniques like optical microscopy, scanning electron microscopy (SEM), Sinton QSSPCD MCL measurement, white-light Zygo optical profilometry, and LCPSim simulation were used for characterizations to understand the laser-assisted chemical etching process. This low-cost, lowtemperature patterning method will find other applications in a variety of solar cell designs based on inorganic and organic materials, and the availability of such a method for the fabrication of high-efficiency solar cells will greatly help the solar industry. It will also be applicable to a variety of other materials like metals, ceramics, and semiconductors.

2. Experimental

The laser used in the experiment was IPG Photonics YLR-150/1500-QCW-AC-Y11 with a wavelength of 1070 \pm 5 nm operating at quasi-continuous mode. The pulse energy was \sim 1.5 J with a maximum peak power of 1500 W. The laser repetition rate was kept constant at 500 Hz. To study the effects of duty cycles on LHICE, the laser pulse widths were 100 μs , 150 μs , 200 μs , and 250 μs . Hence, the corresponding duty cycles were 5%, 7.5%, 10% and 12.5% respectively. In order to study the effects of the laser scan speeds on LHICE, the scan speeds of 10 mm s^{-1}, 15 mm s^{-1}, and 50 mm s^{-1} were used. To investigate the effect of laser power, the average laser powers of 14.1 W, 16.4 W, 18.6 W, and 21 W were used. The laser spot size was fixed at \sim 430 μm at FWHM at the focal plane, and the total scan number was kept constant at 4.

The double-side polished n-doped FZ c-Si <100> type wafer with a thickness of 300 μ m and 1–5 Ω cm resistivity was used for the experiments. The c-Si wafer was cut into a 1 × 1 inch size sample and then cleaned with methanol and HF solutions to get rid of surface contaminants. A total of nine straight parallel lines were patterned, quite similar to the pattern used by Sinha et al [41], each 13 mm long and separated by gaps of \sim 500 μ m in between while keeping it immersed in a 30 wt% concentration of KOH alkaline solution in a polystyrene petri dish. The petri dish was filled up to 1 mm in the height of the KOH solution above the wafer. The schematic diagram of the experimental setup is shown in figure 1. The MCL was measured before and after the laser processing using a chemical passivation technique of 0.08 mol 1-1 concentration of I2-methanol solution [42]. The investigative analysis was further carried out using optical microscopy, SEM, whitelight Zygo optical profilometry, and LCPSim simulation [43].



Figure 1. Schematic diagram of the experimental setup.

The optical images were taken using a Hirox 3D Digital Microscope. The QSSPCD MCL was measured using WCT-120 Silicon Wafer Lifetime Tester made by Sinton Instruments. The surface morphology was characterized using an FEI Quanta 650 Field Emission Scanning Electron Microscope, and the depth profiles were measured using the whitelight optical profilometer Zygo New View 7300.

3. Results and discussions

3.1. Influence of laser processing parameters, surfactant, and solution stirring

The understanding of the effects of various laser processing parameters like laser scan speed, duty cycle, and laser power on the surface morphology is essential for laser-patterning optimization. In addition to that, the effects of the usage of surfactant and solution stirring process were examined. The nondestructive white-light Zygo optical profilometry was used for the characterization of all the depth profiles of the laserassisted etched groove lines under these different conditions.

3.1.1 The effect of laser scan speed variation. The effect of laser scan speed on LHICE was investigated. From figures 2(a)–(c), it was observed that at a constant average power of 18.6 W and 5% duty cycle, the etch depth increased from ~25 nm to 135 nm as the scan speed was reduced from 50 mm s⁻¹ to 10 mm s⁻¹. Lower scan speed corresponded to the higher number of laser pulses, and hence, more heating occurred, which resulted in deeper etchings. The depth–color maps show distinct groove features with increasing etch depth as the scan speed was reduced, as shown in figures 2(d)–(f). But as the scan speed was reduced below 10 mm s⁻¹, excessive heating occurred, which resulted in direct evaporation of KOH and laser-induced ablations of the c-Si.

The color map also proves that there is negligible impact outside the desired etched region, and the process was highly spatially localized. Laser processing in a liquid etchant medium is different from laser processing in air/vacuum. From the literature, it is known that the lattice thermal conductivity



Figure 2. Zygo profilometry showing the surface profile of laser-induced KOH etched lines on the c-Si substrate at scan speed (a) 50 mm s⁻¹, (b) 15 mm s⁻¹, and (c) 10 mm s⁻¹, respectively while keeping other parameters constant. The figures(d)-(f) show the depth-color mapping images of the lines corresponding to the scan speeds of 50, 15, and 10 mm s⁻¹, respectively.

of c-Si (~5.1 W (m K)-1) is greater than the thermal conductivities of 30 wt% KOH (~0.727 W (m K)-1) and air (~0.02-0.03 W (m K)-1) [44-46]. Hence, much of the laser-induced heat is redistributed within the c-Si lattice and a small amount of the heat gets dissipated out to an immediate liquid etchant medium. This results in the heating of the liquid surrounding the laser-irradiated region on c-Si, Figure 3 shows the top-view SEM image of a laser-assisted KOH etched line on the c-Si substrate at a scan speed of 15 mm s⁻¹. The average width of the etched groove line was found to be $\sim 280 \pm 10 \ \mu m$. The SEM results indicate that the localized laser-induced heat was responsible for the KOH-etched groove and not the direct laser ablation and stress. The laser power was low enough not to cause direct melting of the silicon surface. Minor turmoil and boiling of the etchant liquid near the Si surface caused the groove boundaries to be slightly irregular. Too high a laser power will cause melting of silicon, a significant amount of bubble formation and vaporization and would lead to uncontrolled etching.

3.12. The effect of laser duty cycle. Figures 4(a)–(c) show an increasing etch depth from ~25 nm to 80 nm and groove line-width increase from ~150 μ m to 350 μ m as the duty cycle was increased from 5% to 10%. For constant laser average power and scan speed, the shorter pulse-width caused higher peak energy per pulse, resulting in limited etching even though the laser-induced temperature was quite high. As the duty cycle increased, the pulse-width increased, which



Figure 3. Top-view SEM image of the laser-induced KOH etched lines obtained under the scan speed 15 mm s⁻¹.

caused a longer heating duration. Consequently, more time was available for KOH chemical reaction to occur, resulting in deeper etch depth and wider groove lines. Thus, the duty cycle was found to be an important factor influencing the LHICE method. The LCPSim simulation model, discussed in the later section, also proved the importance of a longer duration of heating and a larger duty cycle.

3.1.3. The effect of laser power variation. The results of the influence of varying average laser power while keeping 7.5% duty cycle and a scan speed of 50 mm s⁻¹ are shown in figures 5(a)–(c). As the average laser power was increased



Figure 4. Zygo profilometry showing the surface profile of the KOH-etched groove lines at various laser duty cycles (a) 5%, (b) 7.5%, and (c) 10% while keeping average power (18.6 W) and scan speed (50 mm s⁻¹) constant.



Figure 5. Zygo profilometry showing the surface profile of the KOH-etched groove lines at various average laser powers (a) 14.1 W, (b) 16.4 W, and (c) 18.6 W while keeping other parameters constant (duty cycle = 7.5% and scan speed = 50 mm s⁻¹).



Figure 6. Optical image showing the laser-induced ablation at an average power of 21 W.

from 14.1 W to 18.6 W, there was a small increase in the etch depth. Although the etch depth increase was not that significant, but the groove lines widened. Average power lower than 14.1 W did not create any etch grooves and average power higher than 18.6 W caused direct laser ablation of silicon, as shown in figure 6. So, it was concluded that the average power solely could not determine to etch depth in LHICE.

3.14. The effect of using surfactant and solution stirring. The surfactant Triton X-100 is generally used for improving surface wetting during KOH etching of c-Si. A 100 ppm of Triton X-100 was added to 30% KOH solution. Figures 7(a) and (b) show the etch depth for KOH solution with and without surfactant. It was found that under constant average power of 18.6 W, 5% duty cycle, and a scan speed of 10 mm s⁻¹, the sample etched with Triton containing KOH had shallower etch depth (\sim 75 nm) than the one etched with only KOH (\sim 130 nm). The etching rate was found to be slower in the case of Triton-added KOH etch, but the average roughness improved from 36 nm to 20 nm. Similar lower etch rates and smoothening effects of Triton addition to KOH etchant had been shown earlier by Rola *et al* [47].

In order to remove bubbles formed during heating, solution stirring was attempted using a magnetic stirrer, rotating at 50–100 rpm. The liquid stirring caused an increase in unwanted turbulences on the liquid surface. This led to the irregularity in etch depth due to the higher scattering of the laser beam.

3.1.5. Reproducibility and scalability Reproducibility and scalability are the important factors that determine its reliability and industrial application. Three identical samples were etched using the same laser parameter conditions. From figure 8, it is observed that using average power of 18.6 W, 5% duty cycle and a scan speed of 15 mm s⁻¹, similar etch depth (~110 ± 10 nm) and width (~300 ± 20 nm) were obtained. So, the LHICE process is reproducible and reliable.



Figure 7. Zygo profilometry showing the surface profile of the KOH-etched groove lines (a) without Triton X-100 and (b) with Triton X-100 while keeping all laser parameters constant (duty cycle = 5% and scan speed = 10 m m s^{-1}).



Figure 8. Zygo profilometry showing the reproducibility of the etch depths in three different 1 × 1 inch c-Si samples using the same laser parameters: average power 18.6 W, 5% duty cycle, and scan speed of 15 mm s⁻¹.

3.16. The effect of laser-assisted chemical etch time. The silicon etching rate is dependent on KOH concentration and temperature. In our study, KOH concentration was fixed at 30 wt%. The etching rate initially increases with concentration and then decreases. So, it may be possible to choose higher KOH concentration which will allow increase in the boiling point of the solution and lower etching of the laser untreated area [48].

The applicability of the LHICE process should fulfill the short time criterion to achieve high throughput in the solar cell industry. Commercially, 6×6 inch silicon solar cells are quite dominant in the market, and hence, selective laserassisted KOH etching of 6×6 inch c-Si wafers must be a time-efficient process.

The approximate time taken to pattern four scans of a single 13 mm straight line was 1.65 s to obtain \sim 110 \pm 10 nm groove depth. Hence, the total time taken to pattern nine such parallel patterns was 14.85 s. The time taken for a complete selective laser-assisted KOH etching of c-Si samples can be improved by an optimized combination of multiple-beam systems, spot size, KOH concentration, average laser power, pulse width, laser wavelength, and the number of laser scans. So, to draw a single 6 inches (i.e. 152.4 mm) line pattern on a 6 inch wafer with four scans and similar groove depth, it would take 18.9 s. To create each etched line of ~20 nm etch depth, it would take approx. 4 s. The amount of etched depth can be chosen according to the industry needs. By using a multiple beam system, it is possible to shorten the large-area processing time further. Instead of using circular laser beams, one-dimension line beams can be used to generate faster uniform line patterns. By using higher power lasers, the focused laser beamline length can be made longer than used in our experiments, which will allow much faster throughput.

3.2. QSSPCD carrier lifetime characterization of semiconductor c-Si

QSSPCD characterization tool is useful to investigate the extent of damages and defects on the surface and bulk of the c-Si substrate after the laser processing. Figure 9 shows the QSSPCD MCL data vs. carrier density measured before and after the LHICE process. The lifetime was measured for three separate c-Si substrates, each of dimension 1 × 1 inch, which were used for etch-depth reproducibility earlier, as discussed in section 3.1.5. Each of the measurements was done at the minority carrier density of 1 × 1015 cm-3 over an average of three measurements. The effect of LHICE on c-Si substrates had been investigated based on the MCLs and implied opencircuit voltages (iV oc), which are tabulated in table 1. From the point-of-view of silicon solar cell fabrication, such decrease in MCL and iVoc do not affect the performance profoundly. Such insignificant decreases in the carrier lifetime (-17.1%) and iV_{oc} (-1.25%) shows our successful attempt at localized



Figure 9. QSSPCD carrier lifetime measurements before and after LHICE for three different 1 × 1 inch c-Si samples showing its reproducibility. The temporary passivation for lifetime measurement was made by the iodine-methanol passivation method.

laser-assisted KOH etching and minimizing the laser-induced stress and ablation damage on a c-Si substrate. The direct laser ablation would significantly reduce the carrier lifetime due to defects and damage in bulk. Wilkes has shown that laser processing in the air generally causes lifetime reduction and damage to the silicon, although the 1070 nm wavelength is not generally favored for surface micro-patterning on silicon [49].

3.3. Modelling and simulation for wavelength and power optimizations

Using the Fraunhofer ISE sim-3.3.1. LCPSim simulation. ulation software LCPSim 1.3 designed by Fell et al, we had been able to generate simulation results to predict the relation between the laser power and the temperature on the c-Si surface [43]. Due to the limited scope in wavelength and medium selection in the simulation program, Near-Infrared 1064 nm wavelength laser was chosen as the laser wavelength and air as the medium for simulations, keeping all other physical and laser parameters constant. The process parameters for simulation were similar to the experimental conditions. The laser spot size was kept constant at ~430 µm. The LCPSim simulations were done to show the effect of a single 1064 nm laser pulse on c-Si. Figure 10(a) shows the increase in the simulated peak temperature as the average laser power was increased from 14.1 W to 21 W. All other laser parameters like duty cycle (7.5%) and scan speed (50 mm s⁻¹) were kept constant. The simulations show that the peak temperatures lie in the range from ~140 °C to 1000 °C. As the average power increased, the FWHM of temperature curves increased. The wider FWHM of the curves implies longer heating duration time. At 800 µs, all the temperature curves saturated to above ~50 °C.

Figure 10(b) shows the effect of laser duty cycles on LHICE while all other laser parameters like average power and scan speed were kept constant at 18.6 W and 50 mm s⁻¹, respectively. There are two major observations from the simulation: (a) lower laser duty cycle increased the peak temperature, and (b) higher duty cycle ked to the increase in the FWHM. At lower duty cycles, KOH chemical reaction time was too short of producing significant etch depth. As a result, very shallow grooves were observed, as shown in figure 4(a). Also, the FWHM width was narrow over a short time span which also explains the shallow etch depth at lower duty cycles.

It can be safely assumed that the liquid (KOH/water) medium must have resulted in a lower peak temperature simulation result due to the higher thermal conductivity value of the KOH solution compared to air. Hence, the whole simulation result coincides with our experiments on localized laserassisted KOH etching of c-Si. The localized temperature was raised enough for KOH etch mechanism but not for the direct melting/ ablation of the c-Si substrate.

3.3.2. The effect of laser wavelength. Near-surface heating is generally favored for fabricating low defect-density devices. The near-surface heating in laser-assisted chemical etching would ensure to limit the laser energy absorption at the interface of the KOH solution and the c-Si surface where the actual chemical etching would take place. The bulk heating of the device could induce thermal stress-related defects within the bulk due to heat accumulation. The laser heating depth can be controlled by a proper selection of laser fluence, wavelength, spot size, and other related process parameters. According to Beer's law, the choice of laser wavelength determines the absorption depth of light propagating through a particular material. Shorter wavelengths like UV wavelengths can be opted for near-surface heating of c-Si due to its near-surface absorption depth. The absorption depth of UV 355 nm wavelength in c-Si is ~10 nm, and for 1070 nm, the wavelength is ~0.1 cm [50]. Figure 11 shows the LCPSim simulation of achieving a maximum temperature of ~250 °C for a single laser pulse of wavelength 355 nm. The laser parameters used were spot size of 25 µm, pulse-width of 25 ns, a repetition rate of 50 kHz, and average power of 0.05 W. It took approx. 0.045 µs to reach the peak temperature and eventually plummeted down to 50 °C within 0.2 µs. It can be concluded that using nano-second pulse-width UV 355 nm would be beneficial for LHICE without any enormous heat diffusion in bulk. However, the short heating times would lead to lower chemical etching times and would produce much shallower etch depths. Higher etch rates could be achieved by using higher repetition rate lasers.

3.4. Direct applicability of LHICE process to diverse semiconductor device fabrication

The laser-assisted spatially localized temperature-selective method is applicable for diverse materials, which includes semiconductors, dielectrics, metals and alloys, glass, and polymers using different etchants. A few such examples are shown in table 2.

| | | Before | LHICE | After | LHICE | |
|--|--|--------|--------|---------------|---------------|--|
| Sample | Laser parameters | MCL | iVac | MCL | iV_{∞} | Percentage change |
| Average of all three starting samples | - | 320 µs | 640 mV | - | - | _ |
| Sample 1 | 18.6 W, 5% D.C. and 15 mm s ⁻¹ . | - | - | 265 µs | 632 mV | $\Delta MCL = -17.1\%$ $\Delta iV_{oc} = -1.25\%$ |
| Sample 2 | -do- | - | - | 285 µs | 635 mV | $\Delta MCL = -10.9\%$ $\Delta iV_{\infty} = -0.78\%$ |
| Sample3 | -do- | - | - | $301 \ \mu s$ | 639 mV | $\Delta MCL = -5.93\%$ $\Delta iV_{oc} = -0.15\%$ |



Figure 10. LCPSim simulation results of a single 1064 nm laser pulse showing (a) the maximum temperature profile with respect to time at different average laser powers while other laser parameters constant and (b) the maximum temperature profile with respect to time at different duty cycles while other laser parameters constant.



Figure 11. LCP Sim simulation results for a single laser pulse of spot size 25 μm with the wavelength 355 nm, pulse-width of 25 ns, the repetition rate of 50 kHz, and average power of 0.05 W.

The LHICE process is implementable for etching holes and grooves required for diverse device fabrication. In PERC and Al-BSF solar cells, direct laser drilling of local openings in Al, AlO_x , SiO_2/SiN_x , and AlO_x/SiN_x stack layers had been previously attempted with some laser-induced defects and passivation damages. Such local openings can be made by selective laser patterning of SiNx in H3PO4, AlOx and Al in KOH, and SiO2 in KOH [65-67]. Wu et al showed the KOH etching process for bulk micromachining of 100 mm diameter (100) silicon substrate, SiO2, and SiNz passivation layers for the fabrication of high-temperature pressure sensors based on polycrystalline and single-crystalline 3C-SiC piezo-resistors [68], which are also achievable by selectively chemical-etching by laser patterning in KOH and H3PO4 solutions. Such LHICE process is also useful even in the fabrication of microfluidic devices based on glass and silicon where the channel grooves/holes are created using photoresists or a-Si masks [69]. The LHICE process can replace the conventional etching method of soda-lime glass for the fabrication of high aspect ratio-microfluidic channels, which had been previously shown by Lin et al [70]. Lastly, in the fabrication of MEMS devices, removal of Parylene C layers on silicon and silicon oxide substrates is accomplished by piranha solution (7:3 mixture of H2SO4 and H2O2) and chloronaphthelene or benzyl benzoate, wet KOH etching [71], which can be fabricated using LHICE process. So, it is quite evident that such a method will find its applicability in many other thin-film and

| Materials & | | | | | | |
|--|---|-----------------------------|----------------------------------|-----------------------------------|-----------------------------------|---------|
| description | Etchant | Etch rate at a lower temp | Etch rate at a lower temperature | | Etch rate at a higher temperature | |
| Au | Transene Au-etchant TFA | ${\sim}30{\rm \AA~s^{-1}}$ | $20^{\circ}C$ | ${\sim}150~{\rm \AA~s^{-1}}$ | 60°C | [51] |
| AIN | Photoresist developer AZ400K. | $\sim 50 nm min^{-1}$ | 40°C | $\sim 600 \text{ nm min}^{-1}$; | 75°C | [52] |
| Boron-doped c-Si (100) | Ethylene diamine- pyrocatechol-water (EDP) | 167 nm min ⁻¹ | 66°C | $\sim 500 \text{ nm min}^{-1}$ | 110 °C | [53] |
| Monel-400 alloy | FeCl ₃ , CuCl ₂ | $6 \mu m min^{-1}$ | 40°C | $12.5 \mu m min^{-1}$ | 80°C | [54] |
| Polyimide polymer | 2 M NaOH + 50% ethylene diamine | $0.1\mu\mathrm{m~min^{-1}}$ | 30°C | ${\sim}0.9~\mu\mathrm{mmin^{-1}}$ | 80°C | [55] |
| SiasGea2 | 25% TMAH | 5 nm min ⁻¹ | ~50 °C | 19 nm min ⁻¹ | ~75 °C | [56] |
| SiN _x (low refractive index) | 30-40 wt% KOH | Negligible | 25°C | 0.67 nm min ⁻¹ | 80°C | [57] |
| Si3N4 | BOE | 2 nm min ⁻¹ | 40°C | 62 nm min ⁻¹ ; | 90°C | [58] |
| Si ₃ N ₄ | 94.5% H ₃ PO ₄ | 0.6-3 nm min ⁻¹ | 140 °C | 11.5-20 nm min ⁻¹ ; | 180 °C-200 °C | [59-61] |
| SiO ₂ | BOE | 0.2 nm min ⁻¹ | $40^{\circ}C$ | 0.6 nm min ⁻¹ ; | 90°C | [58] |
| SiO ₂ | 5 wt% TMAH | 100 Å h^{-1} | 60°C | >400 Å h ⁻¹ | 76°C | [62] |
| Soda-lime glass | BOE/HCl mixture | $1.5 \mu m min^{-1}$ | 5°C | $\sim 5.5 \ \mu m \ min^{-1}$ | 55°C | [63] |
| TiO ₂ | H ₂ O ₂ :NH ₄ OH:H ₂ O (1:1:5 by vol.) | $0.29\pm 0.09nmmin^{-1}$ | 25°C | $15\pm1.4nmmin^{-1}$ | 65°C | [64] |

Table 2. Etching rates of different etchants on various materials at higher operating temperatures.

MEMS device fabrication fields, which are not discussed here, where flexible localized laser patterning will make it possible for achieving high through put without creating any defects in the devices.

The fluorescent dyes (both water- and IPA-soluble) may be added into the etchant solution for better absorption of a particular laser wavelength. This approach will only heat the KOH solution and accelerate the etching reaction without any thermal effects on c-Si. The water-soluble dyes like BBTmPEG, benzothiopyrylium pentamethine cyanines, and commercial fluorescent dyes like CFTM dyes and LUWSIR4 dyes having a wide range of diverse wavelength absorptionsensitivities can be used for the LHICE process [72–75].

4. Conclusion

A new method of laser patterning using localized laser-heating induced KOH etching of c-Si substrates with minimal impact on electronic properties has been demonstrated. The effect of various processing parameters such as laser scan speed, duty cycle, average power, and other factors like the addition of surfactant, solution stirring, etchant concentration, and etching time was investigated. LCPSim simulations were done to calculate the laser-generated temperature and provided an understanding of the laser-induced heating of KOH.

The etching depth was found to increase as the laser scan speed was reduced from 50 mm s⁻¹ to 10 mm s⁻¹. The scan speed, faster than 50 mm s⁻¹, did not induce any observable etching, and slower than 10 mm s⁻¹, introduced direct laserinduced damage to c-Si. The increase in laser pulse width from 100 μ s to 200 μ s led to an increase in etching depth. A longer pulse width provided more laser heating time and higher KOH chemical etching reaction time. At an average laser power of 14.1 W, no noticeable etching was observed, whereas greater than 18.6 W induced damage to the c-Si. The etching depth was found to increase steadily as the laser power was increased. Both average laser power and pulse width can be optimized for the desired etch depth. The addition of surfactant Triton X-100 slowed down the KOH etch rate, resulting in shallower etch depths as compared to the condition without surfactant. The surface roughness was reduced with the presence of the surfactant. The solution stirring proved unreliable to drive away bubbles in the liquid etchant as it impacted the incident laser beam.

The reproducibility and scalability of LHICE were examined using three identical samples and measurement of etching depth and MCL. From the QSSPCD lifetime measurement, an insignificant drop in carrier lifetime (~55 µs) and less than a few percent change in implied open-circuit voltage were observed. Such changes are insignificant for solar cell devices. The optical and SEM images showed the smooth etched grooves with no visible damage outside the etched region, which proved the high selectivity and localization. The laser-generated groove boundaries were slightly irregular due to minor turmoil and bubbles in the liquid KOH medium, which could be improved by further optimization of laser parameters. The width of the grooves was found to be approximately $\sim 300 \pm 10 \ \mu m$, and the highest depth was \sim 130 ± 20 nm using a laser spot diameter of \sim 430 μ m. The throughput of chemical etching can be improved further by using an optimized combination of KOH etchant concentration, multiple laser beam system, 1D line beams, and laser processing parameters. Higher KOH concentration will The LCPSim simulation software was used to simulate the maximum temperature reached at the center of the laser beam as a function of time for a single laser pulse of different pulse-width and average powers of 14.1–21 W and a wavelength of 1064 nm. The temperature gradient on the c-Si surface was also determined at different times. The simulated peak temperature and the temperature gradient showed the required temperature range of KOH-etch operation at localized regions without reaching the melting point of c-Si. Using smaller laser wavelength like 355 nm could be used for more surface-oriented etch.

The demonstrated temperature-dependent localized laserassisted etching methodology could be equally applicable on various kinds of bulk and thin-film materials like semiconductors, metals, dielectrics, polymers, glasses, which can find applications in surface-enhanced super-hydrophobicity, wettability, tribology, bacterial anti-fouling, solar cells, photodetectors, light emitters, and diverse micro-device fabrication.

Data availability statement

All data that support the findings of this study are included within the article (and any supplementary files).

Acknowledgments

We thank the NASA Langley Professor program, NSF IUCRC program, and NSF Award Number 2005098 for their financial support.

Credit authorship contribution statement

Arpan Sinha: Methodology, Software, Formal analysis, Investigation, Writing—Original Draft, Writing—Review & Editing, Validation.

Mool C Gupta: Conceptualization, Supervision, Project administration, Funding acquisition, Technical discussion, Writing—Review & Editing.

ORCID iDs

Arpan Sinha O https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5459-5949 Mool C Gupta O https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1782-5354

References

- Klugmann-Radziemska E and Ostrowski P 2010 Chemical treatment of crystalline silicon solar cells as a method of recovering pure silicon from photovoltaic modules *Renew*. *Energy* 35 1751–9
- [2] Chiu J S, Zhao Y M, Zhang S and Wuu D S 2020 The role of laser ablated backside contact pattern in efficiency improvement of mono crystalline silicon PERC solar cells Sol. Energy 196 462–7

- doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-22864-4_5)
 [4] Haase F, Hollemann C, Schäfer S, Merkle A, Rienäcker M, Krügener J, Brendel R and Peibst R 2018 Laser contact openings for local poly-Si-metal contacts enabling 26.1% -efficient POLO-IBC solar cells Sol. Energy Mater: Sol. Cells 186 184-93
- [5] Yoshikawa K et al 2017 Silicon heterojunction solar cell with interdigitated back contacts for a photoconversion efficiency over 26% Nat. Energy 2 17032
- [6] Negi S and Bhandari R 2013 Silicon isotropic and anisotropic etching for MEMS applications *Microsyst. Technol.* 19 203–10
- [7] Rao A V N, Swarnalatha V and Pal P 2017 Etching characteristics of Si{ 110} in 20 wt% KOH with addition of hydroxylamine for the fabrication of bulk micromachined MEMS *Micro Nano Syst. Lett.* 5 23
- [8] Sato K, Shikida M, Matsushima Y, Yamashiro T, Asaumi K, Iriye Y and Yamamoto M 1998 Characterization of orientation-dependent etching properties of single-crystal silicon: effects of KOH concentration Sens. Actuators A 64 87–93
- [9] Seidel H, Csepregi L, Heuberger A and Baumgörtel H 1990 Anisotropic etching of crystalline silic on in alkaline solutions: I. Orientation dependence and behavior of passivation layers J. Electrochem. Soc. 137 3612–26
- [10] Tanaka H, Yamashita S, Abe Y, Shikida M and Sato K 2004 Fast etching of silicon with a smooth surface in high temperature ranges near the boiling point of KOH solution Sens. Actuators A 114 516–20
- Barycka I and Zubel I 1995 Silicon anisotropic etching in KOH-isopropanol etchant Sens. Actuators A 48 229–38
- [12] Ross C A, MacLachlan D G, Choudhury D and Thomson R R 2018 Optimisation of ultrafast laser assisted etching in fused silica Opt. Express 26 24343
- [13] Kolasinski K W, Mills D and Nahidi M 2006 Laser assisted and wet chemical etching of silicon nanostructures J. Vac. Sci. Technol. A 24 1474–9
- [14] Ji L, Lv X, Wu Y, Lin Z and Jiang Y 2015 Hydrophobic light-trapping structures fabricated on silicon surfaces by picosecond laser texturing and chemical etching J. *Photonics Energy* 5 053094
- [15] Saito M and Kimura S 2017 Polygonal pits on silicon surfaces that are created by laser-assisted chemical etching AIP Adv. 7 025018
- [16] Mills D, Nahidi M and Kolasinski K W 2005 Stain etching of silicon pillars and macropores *Phys. Status Solidi* a 202 1422–6
- [17] Gupta M C, Harrison J T and Islam M T 2021 Photoconductive PbSe thin films for infrared imaging *Matex Adv.* 2 3133–60
- [18] Westover A S, Freudiger D, Gani Z S, Share K, Oakes L, Carter R E and Pint C L 2015 On-chip high power porous silicon lithium ion batteries with stable capacity over 10000 cycles Nanoscale 7 98–103
- [19] Ismail R A, Al-Samarai A M E and Ali A Y 2018 Preparation and characteristics study of CdS/macroporous silicon/c-Si double heterojunction photodetector by spray pyrolysis technique *Optik* 168 302–12
- [20] Molpeceres C, Lauzurica S, Ocaña J L, Gandía J J, Urbina L, Cárabe J, Villar F, Escarré J, Bertomeu J and Andreu J 2006 Characterization of UV laser ablation for microprocessing of a-Si: H thin films *Photonics Sol. Energy Syst.* 6197 619706
- [21] Jaguiro P, Katsuba P, Lazarouk S and Smirnov A 2007 Porous silicon avalanche LEDs and their applications in optoelectronics and information displays Acta Phys. Pol. A 112 1031–6

- [22] Chakraborty A, Mulroney A T and Gupta M C 2021 Superhydrophobic surfaces by microtexturing: a critical review Rev. Adhes. Adhes. 9 35–64
- [23] Long J, Fan P, Gong D, Jiang D, Zhang H, Li L and Zhong M 2015 Superhydrophobic surfaces fabricated by femtosecond laser with tunable water adhesion: from lotus leaf to rose petal ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 7 9858–65
- [24] Dusser B, Sagan Z, Soder H, Faure N, Colombier J P, Jourlin M and Audouard E 2010 Controlled nanostructrures formation by ultra fast laser pulses for color marking *Opt. Express* 18 2913
- [25] Wang L, Gao Y, Xue Q, Liu H and Xu T 2005 Microstructure and tribological properties of electrodeposited Ni-Co alloy deposits Appl. Surf. Sci. 242 326–32
- [26] Valle J, Burgui S, Langheinrich D, Gil C, Solano C, Toledo-Arana A, Helbig R, Lasagni A and Lasa 1 2015 Evaluation of surface microtopography engineered by direct laser interference for bacterial anti-biofouling *Macromol. Biosci.* 15 1060–9
- [27] Ngan M L, Lee K C and Cheah K W 2000 Photochemical etching of silicon J. Porous Mater 7 41–5
- [28] Edwards C, Wang K, Zhou R, Bhaduri B, Popescu G and Goddard L L 2013 Digital projection photochemical etching defines gray-scale features Opt. Express 21 13547
- [29] Gosálvez M A, Zubel I and Viinikka E 2010 Chapter twenty four—wet etching of silicon BT—handbook of silicon based MEMS materials and technologies *Micro Nano Technol.* 375–407
- [30] Bachtouli N, Aouida S, Laajimi R H, Boujmil M F and Bessais B 2012 Implications of alkaline solutions-induced etching on optical and minority carrier lifetime features of monocrystalline silicon Appl. Surf. Sci. 258 8889–94
- [31] Benick J, Hoex B, Van De Sanden M C M, Kessels W M M, Schultz O and Gluzz S W 2008 High efficiency n-type Si solar cells on Al2O 3-passivated boron emitters Appl. Phys. Lett. 92 253504
- [32] Schmidt J, Merkle A, Brendel R, Hoex B, Van De Sanden M C M and Kessels W M M 2008 Surface passivation of high-efficiency silicon solar cells by atomic-layer-deposited Al₂O₃ Prog. Photovolt., Res. Appl. 16 461–6
- [33] Hsu C H, Cho Y S, Wu W Y, Lien S Y, Zhang X Y, Zhu W Z, Zhang S and Chen S Y 2019 Enhanced Si passivation and PERC solar cell efficiency by atomic layer deposited aluminum oxide with two-step post annealing Nanoscale Res. Lett. 14 139
- [34] Herasimenka S Y, Tracy C J, Sharma V, Vulic N, Danksher W J and Bowden S G 2013 Surface passivation of n-type c-Si wafers by a-Si/SiO₂/SiN x stack with <1 cm/s effective surface recombination velocity Appl. Phys. Lett. 103 183903
- [35] Zielke D, Petermann J H, Werner F, Veith B, Brendel R and Schmidt J 2011 Contact passivation in silicon solar cells using atomic-layer-deposited aluminum oxide layers *Phys. Status Solidi* 5 298–300
- [36] Werner F, Stals W, Görtzen R, Veith B, Brendel R and Schmidt J 2011 High-rate atomic layer deposition of Al2O₃ for the surface passivation of Si solar cells *Energy Proc.* 8 301–6
- [37] Çakır O 2007 Review of etchants for copper and its alloys in wet etching processes Key Eng. Mater. 364-366460-5
- [38] Nageswara Rao P and Kunzru D 2007 Fabrication of microchannels on stainless steel by wet chemical etching J. Micromech. Microeng. 17 N99–N106
- [39] Wood G C, Ferguson J M, Vaszko B and Whittle D P 1967 Substructures in oxide scales on nickel, cobalt, and nickel-cobalt alloys J. Electrochem. Soc. 114 535
- [40] Ou W, Zhao L, Diao H, Zhang J and Wang W 2011 Optical and electrical properties of porous silicon layer formed on

the textured surface by electrochemical etching J. Semiconduct. 32 056002

- [41] Sinha A, Soman A, Das U, Hegedus S and Gupta M C 2020 Nanosecond pulsed laser patterning of interdigitated back contact heterojunction silicon solar cells *IEEE J Photovoltaics* 10 1648–56
- [42] Chen J, Zhao L, Diao H, Yan B, Zhou S, Tang Y and Wang W 2013 Surface passivation of silicon wafers by iodine-ethanol (I-E) for minority carrier lifetime measurements Adv. Matex. Res. 652–4 901–5
- [43] Fell A and Willeke G P 2010 Fast simulation code for heating, phase changes and dopant diffusion in silicon laser processing using the alternating direction explicit (ADE) method Appl. Phys. A 98 435-40
- [44] Park M, Lee I H and Kim Y S 2014 Lattice thermal conductivity of crystalline and amorphous silicon with and without isotopic effects from the ballistic to diffusive thermal transport regime J. Appl. Phys. 116 043514
- [45] Takeuchi J, Satake S I, Morley N B, Kunugi T, Yokomine T and Abdou M A 2008 Experimental study of MHD effects on turbulent flow of Flibe simulant fluid in circular pipe *Fusion Eng. Des.* 83 1082–6
- [46] Lide D R 2003 CRC Handbook of Chemistry and Physics, 84th edition, 2003-2004 J. Am. Chem. Soc. 126 1586
- [47] Rola K P and Zubel I 2013 Triton surfactant as an additive to KOH silicon etchant J. Microelectromech. Syst. 22 1373–82
- [48] Wagner A 2005 Koh Si Wet Etch Review (available at: https:// www.semanticscholat.org/paper/KOH-Si-Wet-Etch-Review-Wagner/2b26c161902b1789dc9769c6c 317b60203ae4dd3) (Accessed 18 June 2021)
- [49] Wilkes G C et al 2020 Laser Annealing of Carrier-Selective Layers in High-Efficiency Photovoltaic Device Doctoral dissertation University of Virginia, Charlottesville, VA
- [50] Honsberg C B and Bowden S G 2019 Photovoltaics education website (available at: www.pveducation.org)
- [51] Transene Company (available at: https://transene.com/auetchant/) (Accessed 20 June 2021)
- [52] Mileham J R, Pearton S J, Abernathy C R, MacKenzie J D, Shul R J and Kilcoyne S P 1995 Wet chemical etching of AIN Appl. Phys. Lett. 67 1119–21
- [53] Seidel H, Csepregi I, Heuberger A and Baumgartel H 1990 Anisotropic etching of crystalline silic on in alkaline solutions. II—influence of dopants J. Electrochem. Soc. 137 3626–32
- [54] Patil D H, Thorat S B, Khake R A and Mudigonda S 2018 Comparative study of FeC13 and CuCl2 on geometrical features using photochemical machining of monel 400 *Proc. CIRP* 68 144–9
- [55] Lian S M, Chen K M, Lee R J, Pan J-P and Hung A 1995 Chemical etching of polyimide film J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 58 1577–84
- [56] Loup V, Gabette L, Roure M-C, Kachtouli R, Jourdan M, Besson P and Petitdidier S 2013 Si and SiGe alloys wet etching using TMAH chemistry ECS Trans. 58 47–55
- [57] Williams K R, Gupta K and Wasilik M 2003 Etch rates for micromachining processing—Part II J. Microelectromech. Syst. 12 761–78
- [58] Burham N, Sugandi G, Nor M M and Majlis B Y 2017 Effect of temperature on the etching rate of nitride and oxide layer using buffered oxide etch 2016 Int. Conf. on Advances in Electrical, Electronic and Systems Engineering, ICAEES 2016 (Putrajaya, Malaysia, 14–16 November) pp 516–9
- [59] Van Gelder W and Hauser V E 1967 The etching of silicon nitride in phosphoric acid with silicon dioxide as a mask J. Electrochem. Soc. 114 869
- [60] Chien Y-HC, Hu -C-C and Yang C-M 2018 A design for selective wet etching of Si 3 N 4 /SiO 2 in phosphoric acid

using a single wafer processor J. Electrochem. Soc. 165 H3187–91

- [61] Cho S, Lee Y B, Han J H, Park H S, Kim H H, Kwak S, Yang K, Hong K, Park S K and Kang H S 2012 Development of high selectivity phosphoric acid and its application to flash STI pattern ECS Trans. 45 251–6
- [62] Ashok A and Pal P 2015 Room temperature synthesis of silicon dioxide thin films for MEMS and silicon surface texturing 28th IEEE Int. Conf. on Micro Electro Mechanical Systems (MEMS) (Estoril, Portugal, 18–22 January) pp 385–8
- pp 385–8 [63] Mazurczyk R, El Khoury G, Dugas V, Hannes B, Laurenceau E, Cabrera M, Krawczyk S, Souteyrand E, Cloarec J P and Chevolot Y 2008 Low-cost, fast prototyping method of fabrication of the microreactor devices in soda-lime glass Sens. Actuators B 128 552–9
- [64] Suh D 2019 Etch characteristics and morphology of Al2O3/TiO₂ stacks for silicon surface passivation Sustainability 11 3857
- [65] Biswas K and Kal S 2006 Etch characteristics of KOH, TMAH and dual doped TMAH for bulk micromachining of silicon *Microelectron*. J. 37 519–25
- [66] Jaffrennou P, Moors M, Uruena A, Das J, Duerinckx F, Penaud J, Rothschild A, Lombardet B and Szlufcik J 2011 Laser ablation of AIOx and AIOx/SINx backside passivation layers for advanced cell architectures 37th IEEE Photowolkik: Specialists Conf. (Seattle, WA, 19–24 June) pp 001074–78
- [67] Bounaas L, Auriac N, Grange B, Monna R, Pirot M, De Vecchi S, Jourdan J, Mialon S, Pasquinelli M and Barakel D 2013 Laser ablation of dielectric layers and formation of

local Al-BSF in dielectric back passivated solar cells Energy Proc. 38 670–6

- [68] Wu C H, Zorman C A and Mehregany M 2006 Fabrication and testing of bulk micromachined silicon carbide piezoresistive pressure sensors for high temperature applications *IEEE Sens. J.* 6 316–24
- [69] Iliescu C, Taylor H, Avram M, Miao J and Franssila S 2012 A practical guide for the fabrication of microfluidic devices using glass and silicon *Biomicrofluidics* 6 016505
- [70] Lin C H, Chen K W and Li T Y 2014 Rapid soda-lime glass etching process for producing microfluidic channels with higher aspect ratio *Microsyst. Technol.* 20 1905–11
- [71] Charmet J, Bitterli J, Sereda O, Liley M, Renaud P and Keppner H 2013 Optimizing parylene C adhesion for MEMS processes: potassium hydroxide wet etching J. *Microelectromech. Syst.* 22 855–64
- [72] Hao Y, Zheng M and Chen Y 2014 A highly stable and water-soluble fluorescent dye for fluorescence imaging of living cells J. Matex. Chem. B 2 7369–74
- [73] Wang L, Du W, Hu Z, Uvdal K, Li L and Huang W 2019 Hybrid rhodamine fluorophores in the visible/NIR region for biological imaging Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 58 14026–43
- [74] Meador W E, Autry S A, Bessetti R N, Gayton J N, Flynt A S, Hammer N I and Delcamp J H 2020 Water-soluble NIR absorbing and emitting indolizine cyanine and indolizine squaraine dyes for biological imaging J. Org. Chem. 85 4089-95
- [75] Wang S, Fan Y, Li D, Sun C, Lei Z, Lu L, Wang T and Zhang F 2019 Anti-quenching NIR-II molecular fluorophores for in vivo high-contrast imaging and pH sensing Nat. Commun. 10 1058

Materials Science in Semiconductor Processing 166 (2023) 107762



Process-induced losses by plasma leakage in lithography-free shadow masked interdigitated back contact silicon heterojunction architectures

Anishkumar Soman ^{a, b, *}, Ujjwal K. Das ^b, Nuha Ahmed ^{a, b}, Arpan Sinh a ^c, Mool C. Gupta ^c, Steven S. Hegedus ^{a, b}

^a Department of Bestrical and Computer Engineering, University of Dilaware, Newark, DE, 19716, USA ^b Institute of Energy Conversion, University of Delaware, Navark, DE, 19716, USA

4 Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering, University of Virginia, Charlotteeville, VA, 22904, USA

A R TICLEINFO

Keywords: Interdigitated back contact Silicon hoterojunction Lithography-free patterning Pleana material processing Solar cells

ABSTRACT

Silicon (Si) Heterojunction (HJ) solar cells with interdigitated back contact (IBC) are considered a promising candidate for next-generation silicon photovoltaics due to the highest efficiency on a single junction device achieved by this architecture. However, the complex fabrication process involving photolithography has limited in prospect for commercial scalability and adoption by the industry. To overcome this challenge, we have investigated a lithography-free process for HJ IBC using in-situ shadow masking during the deposition of doped layers to form an interdigitated pattern combined with laser ablation for contact formation. However, this paces resulted in poor open-circuit voltage (Voc). Lifetime measurements, Photoluminescence (FL) and paces resulted in poor open-circuit voltage (Voc). Lifetime measurements, Photoluminescence (FL) analysis revealed the plasma leaking charing the process resulted in shurts, a barrier to injection, and resistive losses. To mitigate this process-induced loss, we developed a uniform controllable wet-tech method to remove the plasma leakage during the process resulted in shurts, a barrier to injection, and resistive losses. To mitigate this process-induced loss, we developed a uniform controllable wet-tech method to remove the plasma leakage layer. This resulted in improving Voc: in the HJ IBC cells by greater than 300 mV, thereby validating the detrimental effect of plasma leak and its significance in developing a low-cost, manufacturable and scalable paces for high-efficiency Si HJ IBC solar cells.

1. Introduction

Solar Photovoltaics is the third largest renewable electricity source globally, currently contributing to 3.6% of the global electricity production [1] and has reached the terawatt scale [2,3]. The way forward for the market-dominant silicon (Si) photovoltaics is to develop lower-cost industrially manufacturable processes retaining higher efficiency to reduce the cost per watt. The world record efficiency of 26.81% for single junction silicon solar cell is held by silicon heterojunction (HJ) by LONG [4]. The interdigitated back contact (IBC) architecture, which was introduced by Schwartz and Lammert for solar concentration application [5], was first combined with the HJ structure by our lab in 2007 [6] to demonstrate the HJ-IBC concept. The HJ-IBC concept combines the high open-circuit voltage (V_{OC}) of HJ, which comes from the superior interface passivation by intrinsic amorphous silicon (a-Si:H) and higher short-circuit current density (J_{EC}) of IBC, originating from the absence of front metal shading loss since both the emitter and the back surface field are shifted to the rear surface. The HJ-IBC concept also helps achieve simpler cell interconnection, increases active module area, and improves the aesthetics of the solar panel. However, despite these many advantages, the Si HJ1BC solar cell has been unsuccessful to find commercial market penetration due to the complexity of its fabrication process and the involvement of lithography steps to fabricate the interdigitated pattern [7,8]. Though companies like Maxeon/Sunpower have shown commercially scalable IBC, they remain one of the most expensive modules in the market, and also the technology hasn't been translated for commercial success in silicon heterojunction solar cells, hence a method for low-cost patterning would be beneficial. It is interesting to note even after a decade of IBC being commercialized there haven't been any competitors to this technology, the reason has been assumed to be the complexity and cost of IBC manufacturing. Additionally, there is ambiguity in the exact steps

* Corresponding author. Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering, University of Delawase, Newark, DE, 19716, USA. E-mail address: alsoman@udel.edu (A. Soman).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mssp.2023.107762

Received 11 January 2023; Received in sevised form 7 July 2023; Accepted 27 July 2023 1369-8001/© 2023 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

A. Soman et al.

followed for the fabrication of IBC in the industry, most laboratory scale cell fabrication relies on multiple lithography steps using resists which not only inhibits scaling but also introduces contaminants that can affect the doped layers. They also require an expensive and slow mask alignment process. Such challenges can be overcome by using a simplified patterning process without lithography. There are multiple methods in the literature that uses non-lithographic methods for patterning the rear side of IBC structures, such as inkjet printing [9], hard masking [10], direct laser writing [11], screen printing [12] and ion-implantation [13] to name a few. Though all these approaches show promising results and avoid the complexities of multi-step photolithography, they all have inherent limitations. Using hard masks like silicon oxide [14] or dielectric mirrors [15] can provide a well-defined emitter pattern, however, the lift-off with chemical etch is not scalable for the industry. Additionally, the dielectric mirror hard mask mentioned previously requires multiple bilayers of dielectric layers using rf-PECVD [16], for acting as a selective reflector to laser light to prevent damage to the bottom passivation layer during laser ablation, which could make the entire process costlier for large area applications. Inkjet and screen printing, though industrially relevant, still require to etch resists and resist stripping by lift-off, which inhibits their manufacturing capability for IBC cells. Direct laser writing can help achieve high throughput for patterning; however, the quality of the interface passivation, post-transfer process, and the adhesion of these layers to the surface is still a topic of concern. In our previous work, our group [17] demonstrated that although laser-firing localized metal contacts that had been deposited through a single shadow mask was viable, it resulted in low Fill Factor (FF) due to high series resistance and low Voc coming from the laser damage. Ion-implantation can offer well-defined, controlled, and repeatable patterning; however, it requires a very large capital cost for equipment and a high-temperature defect anneal step, which is incompatible with low-temperature a-Si layers.

In recent years there has been an increased interest in the shadow masking approach for patterning interdigitated back contact [18-21] which has shown promising results for fabricating viable HU-IBC solar cells. In this work, we present an approach to obtain interdigitated pattern by using shadow masking in-situ while depositing the doped layer in a plasma enhanced chemical vapor deposition (PECVD) chamber and making the contact opening using laser ablation. This process gives the advantage of developing the patterned doped layers in-situ with no additional equipment cost. Also, using laser ablation only for opening the contacts reduces the possibility of large area laser-induced Materials Science in Saniconductor Processing 166 (2023) 107762

damage, which could severely impact the V_{CC} [22]. But using a mask in the PECVD deposition introduces plasma leakage at the edge of the mask [23,24], which can result in edge recombination due to the lateral spread of the doped layers as well as shunting of the p- and n-fingers. We have found that this approach drastically affects the V_{CC} in spite of having superior passivation before metallization. The reason for this V_{CC} loss is investigated here using a novel approach: creating patterned back junction test structures. Methods to mitigate this loss are discussed for its widespread application to fabricate Si HJ IBC solar cells. Thus, our work will pave the way for kw-cost scalable manufacturing processes for HJ IBC solar cells by discussing methods to mitigate the process-induced losses.

2. Experimental section

2.1. Fabrication

The Si HJ IBC solar cells are fabricated on n-type one-inch square Czochralski (Cz) silicon wafers having a resistivity of 1-10 Ω-cm, <100> orientation, and thickness of 140 µm. The process flow for the fabrication of the cell is given in Fig. 1. The substrate initially under goes a standard cleaning procedure [25] and single-sided texturization using tetramethylammonium hydroxide (TMAH) for light trapping [26]. After texturization, the intrinsic (i-laver) a-Si:H is denosited on both sides of the wafer using a direct current (d.c.) PECVD system. The i-layer deposited at 200 °C at a rate of -1 Å/s has a thickness of 10 nm, and the detail of its deposition is given in our previous work [27,28]. The front anti-reflection coating (ARC) consists of a bilayer of a morphous silicon nitride (a-SiN, :H or SiN) and amorphous silicon carbide (a-SiC:H or SiC) which is deposited a fter the i-layer. The a-SiNs: H is deposited at a rate of -2.5 Å/s in a separate rf-PECVD chamber at a temperature of 300 °C. pressure of 1000 mTorr, and power of 40 W. Since the electrode area of the chamber is 1188 cm² (33 cm × 36 cm), so the power density for a-SiNx:H deposition is 34 mW/cm2. The a-SiNx:H deposition uses silane (SiH₄), hydrogen (H₂), and ammonia (NH₃) as precursor gases in the ratio 3:10:6 respectively. This is followed by a a-SiC:H deposition at 200 °C using dc-PECVD at a pressure of 700 mTorr and current of 60 mA. For this deposition SiH4, H2 and methane (CH4) are used as precursor gases at a flow rate of 5 sccm, 60 sccm, and 28 sccm respectively. The Front i-layer/a-SiNx:H/a-SiC:H stack is optimized for superior passivation from the i-layer combined with anti-reflection properties of a-SiNx: H, whereas a SiC:H acts as an etch barrier for the downstream processes.



Fig. 1. Schematic of process steps to fabricate PMLP IBC solar cells.

A Soman et al

Next, we deposit a stack of n-layer [a-Si:H(n)], a-SiNx:H, and i-layer through the shadow mask of n-finger. The blocking shadow mask is in intimate contact to the samples to minimize the gap between the sample and the mask. The n-layer [a-Si:H(n)], a-SiN, H, and i-layer has thicknesses of 50 nm, 160 nm, and 10 nm respectively. The n-layer [a-Si:H (n)] is deposited at 250 °C, 1.75 Torr, and a current of 60 mA using 20 sccm SiH4, 120 sccm H2, and 10 sccm phosphine (PH3) [2% diluted in hydrogen]. The capping a-SiNx:H over n-finger is done at a similar condition as the front ARC except the SiH4 H2:NH3 ratio is 6:17:10. This change is to make the a-SiN, :H layer a better etch barrier by changing its stoichiometry as against the front a-SiN, H which is only used as an ARC layer. After the stack layers, we deposit a 20 nm blanket p-layer [a-Si:H (p)] on the entire rear surface. The p-layer [a-Si:H(p)] is deposited at a temperature of 200 °C using 20 sccm SiH4, 120 sccm H2, and 15 sccm diborane (B2H6) [2% diluted in hydrogen] at a pressure ranging from 1.25 Torr to 1.75 Torr and current ranging from 60 mA to 120 mA. It is important to note that the intrinsic, p- [a-Si:H(p)] and n-layers [a-Si:H (n)] are deposited in different chambers of the PECVD system to prevent cross-contamination. The laser ablation of the i/p layer is done using either a 355 nm (Ultraviolet) or 532 nm (Green) nanosecond pulsed laser, the details of which are given elsewhere [29,30]. After the la ser ablation, the exposed a-SiNx-H is etched using 2% hydrofluoric acid (HF). Following the etch, the interdigitated p and n fingers are metalized with 3 µm Aluminium (AI) by electron beam (e-beam) evaporation using a shadow mask aligned with the n- and p-fingers. The contact resistivity of the Al/a-Si:H interface is reduced by a heat treatment at 150 ° C for 15 min in ambient air which results in interdiffusion of Al & Si forming partially crystallized aluminium silicide alloy at the interface.

2.2. Characterization

At each stage of the device fabrication, the injection level dependent minority carrier lifetime (τ_{eff}) was measured using Sinton quasi-steady state photoconductance (QSSPC) tool WCT-100 which helps understand the loss in passivation quality. The implied Voc (iVoc) at 1-sun illumination estimated from reff is used as the figure of merit to determine passivation quality. The iVoc provides an estimate of the upper limit of Voc after each step of the process. EL measurements were taken using a germanium-silicon (Ge-Si) detector held at -80 °C with a thermoelectric cooler. The sample was placed on a vertical stage that could move along the X-Y direction. To provide the injection current, a source meter was used in a 4-wire mode. The camera and stage were placed inside a dark box with cooling fans housed in the camera enclosure to ventilate the dark box. In addition to the dark frame subtraction provided by the camera, a dark frame (no current image at the same EL condition) was subtracted from each image to further eliminate the dark signal. The emission intensity for each image was normalized to exposure times, so that images could be compared directly. The detector array size is 480×640 pixels, and the resolution of the system is -25μm. The camera sensitivity is in the 300-1600 nm wavelength range. EL images were taken without active thermal control of the sample. PL measurements were taken using a 690 nm continuous wave (CW) laser diode with a power of 30 mW. The laser beam diameter is about 1 mm, and a beam expander has been coupled to the laser, so the beam diameter roughly covers a region of 3 mm on the device. A long pass filter (830 nm) was placed between the sample and detector to ensure only emission light from the device reaches the detector and to prevent any laser light that might be reflected off the solar cell from reaching the camera. The current density-voltage (J-V) characteristic of the device was measured using a class AAA AM1.5 simulator from Optical Association Incorporated (OAI). The cells were measured under a light intensity of 100 mW/cm2 with the cell temperature maintained at 25 °C using a cooling fan underneath the stage for standard testing conditions (STC). A Keithley source-meter (SMU 2400) was used as the voltage source as well as the current measurement unit. An in-depth analysis of the solar cells was carried out using the diode analysis described

elsewhere [31].

3. Results and discussion

3.1. Fabrication of Plasma Masked Laser Processed (PMLP) HI-BBC solar cells

To design an IBC architecture which could be commercially scalable. it is important to eliminate complex steps like lithography and avoid using resists that could contaminate the active layers. We propose an architecture in which the interdigitated pattern of doped layer is achieved by using shadow masks during the PECVD process, and the contacts are for med by creating an opening on the fingers by laser ablation. We use d.c. PECVD method to deposit our intrinsic and doped layers, this has a commercial advantage due to its simpler design assisting in easier industrial implementation and does not need a complex impedance matching network. This combined with a non-lithographic masking step for patterning and laser ablation for contact formation assists in lowcost, high-throughput, manufacturable silicon heterojunction IBC solar cells. The schematic of one possible process flow and the resulting architecture is given in Fig. 1. We call this proof-of-concept structure the 'Plasma Masked Laser Processed' (PMLP) IBC solar cells. The process involves one shadow mask step for making n-layer [a-Si:H(n)] pattern and one self-alignment step to deposit the metal using an interdigitated metallization mask. Though in this work we have used wet etching method to form contacts after laser ablation to demonstrate the proof-ofconcept, it could be replaced by dry etching techniques which are more amenable to low-waste manufacturing [32]. Other groups have already shown the use of Nitrogen trifluoride (NF3)/Argon (Ar) [14] and sulfur hexafluoride (SF6) [33] to etch a-St.H. The process step for PMLP IBC solar cells starts with single-sided texturization of the front, deposition of a-Si:H on both sides of the substrate followed by a deposition of Anti Reflection Coating (ARC) on the front. From Fig. 1, the second step involves the deposition of a Si:H (n), a SiN, H and a Si:H fingers using a shadow mask. This is followed by the third step of blanket a-Si:H (p) deposition on the entire rear side. Later in the text, we will introduce an additional etch step between steps 2 and 3, the details of which will be elucidated in the result section. Step 4 consists of laser a blation of the i/p layer over the n-finger followed by the etching of the exposed a-SiNx:H layer. The last step involves metallization of the p and n fingers using a self-aligned mask. Thus, from the process flow shown in Fig. 1, we can see that a combination of in-situ masking during PECVD combined with laser ablation can result in a simple non-lithographic, high throughput, and industrially relevant method for HJ-IBC cells.

To understand the loss of passivation due to each step of the process flow we have measured the iV_{OC} of 8 cells before metallization as shown in Fig. 2(a). The iV_{OC} of 733 \pm 12 mV after both side i-layer passivation increases to 738 \pm 14 mV after adding the high temperature a-SiN_x:H (ARC) deposition process that acts as an annealing step. After deposition of the rear surface n/SiN/i finger through the shadow mask of width 350 μ m we see a slight drop in iV_{OC} to 732 \pm 11 mV. A further drop in iVoc to 723 ± 9 mV is observed after the p-blanket [a-Si:H(p)] layer deposition due to passivation degradation phenomenon observed previously [34]. Another drop in iVoc happens after the laser ablation layer where the iV_{OC} drops to 699 \pm 22 mV. The large variation in standard deviation for this step a rises from the fact that different laser conditions were applied to optimize the iVoc loss for our initial trials. A large iVoc drop (>20 mV) has been considerably reduced to < 5 mV by optimizing the laser conditions. However, despite having cells which gave an iVoc > 700 mV before metallization, the final cells after metallization only had a Voc of -300-400 mV, as shown in Fig. 2(b) by plotting J-V curve of a representative cell. We have previously shown [35] that Voc drops significantly due to an increase in interface defect states (Dit) and therefore an increased surface recombination velocity (SRV) indicative of poor passivation. To make sure the severe drop in Voc after metallization does not come from loss in passivation, we etched the Al contacts

A. Soman æ al

Materials Science in Saniconductor Processing 166 (2023) 107762



Fig. 2. (a) iV_{OC} at different steps of PMLP HJ-IBC fabrication process flow namely – after both side i-layer (S1), front ARC (S2), rear masked n/a-SiN_x:H/i layers (S3), rear p-layer [a-SiH(p)] (S4) and after laser ablation (S5) (b) Light and Dark J-V characteristics of PMLP HJ IBC solar cell.

4

of the cells having low V_{GC} and re-measured their iV_{GC} . We found that the same cells which gave low V_{GC} after metallization had iV_{GC} >700 mV close to their initial iV_{GC} values before metallization. The results of this study are elaborated in detail below.

In order to understand the origin of the low Voc in PMLP HJ-IBC solar cells, we performed a study in which the implied Voc (iVoc) of the devices were measured using a Sinton WCT-100 QSSPC tool before and after metallization. To confirm that the low Voc was not due to surface damage caused during the e-beam evaporation of aluminium (Al) for metal contacts, a few PMLP HJ-IBC cells had the Al etched off and iVoc was remeasured. The first measurement involved measuring the iVoc of the devices just before metallization after all the processing steps including laser ablation and silicon nitride (SiN) etch. The second measurement involved measuring the actual Voc of the device after metallization. Finally, for the last measurement Al was etched off and the iVoc of the devices were remeasured, the results are shown in Table 1. The iVoc values from Table 1 show that the PMLP HJ-IBC devices recovered to nearly the original value of their iVoc before metallization, over 300 mV higher than the measured Voc. This confirms that the low Voc problem is not due to recombination or poor passivation due to surface damage, but due to the injection of current at Voc-

This result indicates that the low V_{OC} observed in the final metalized devices was not due to a loss in passivation.

To understand this poor performance and confirm the above hypothesis, we measured the EL and PL of one of the cells, to probe a Voc loss (ΔVoc) of ~400 mV, as shown in Fig. 3. For PL imaging we selected a cell having a high iV oc of 739 mV after i-layer deposition but showed a poor final Voc of approximately 400 mV after metallization. For the PL imaging, we have etched the metal contacts of the final devices and used PL as a method to investigate any loss of passivation during the contact formation. The PLimage in Fig. 3(a) after the rear metal etch shows high emission spatially over most regions of the device, corresponding to the high implied V_{OC} we observed while remeasuring the iV_{OC} of the devices after etching the metal contacts. The non-uniformity in the PL comes from the limitation in the beam expander to expand the laser light onto the entire cell area. This verifies that the loss of Voc is not due to loss of passivation, as for example, some have reported it can come from the sputtering damage due to ion bombardment or the radiation damage during the e-beam deposition of contacts [36,37]. After device processing, with the proposed non-lithography technique, the actual measured Voc dropped to <400 mV (>45% decrease in Voc), much less than the implied V_{OC}. The EL emission shown in Fig. 3(b) has

Table 1

IV_{OC} and V_{OC} of PMLP HJ-IBC solar cells at different stages of processing.

| THE MAN | CC or come the more | and serve of server conde | to a brossead. |
|-------------|---|--|--|
| Sample | iV _{DC} before metallization (mV) | Measured V _{CC} after metallization (mV) | iV _{OC} after met al etch (mV) |
| Device 1 | 710 | 366 | 705 |
| Device 2 | 720 | 355 | 711 |

non-uniform low intensity where the reduced intensity could either be due to non-radiative recombination of minority carriers or a barrier to injection for minority carriers. For this EL study, the minority carriers (holes) were injected through the p-strip busbar while the majority carriers (electrons) were injected through the n-strip busbar, both at the back. Holes then recombine with electrons in the bulk of the device and photons are emitted. EL which is equivalent to the rate of spontaneous emission is directly proportional to the minority carrier concentration in the device [38]. The pattern of non-uniform EL over the p-strip (wider) and the n-strip (narrower) corresponds to the minority carrier concentration in the corresponding regions of the device. The n-fingers appear darker due to a phenomenon called electrical shadowing [39] where the minority carriers generated over the n-fingers get recombined with the majority carriers resulting in no emission. Also, the EL injection current was 160 mA/cm² (- 4 times J_{SC} of the device) to obtain a visible emission profile across the active cell area. For well-behaved devices, considerable emission is readily obtainable at an injection current that is below the Jac of the device. The need to go to a higher injection current is due to the very low Voc. which is indicative of either the high non-radiative recombination rate or barrier to minority carriers [40].

3.2. Back Junction test structures with rear IBC pattern to understand the origin of low V_{OC} in PMLP architecture

From the discussion above, we can infer that the loss of V_{OC} does not originate from the loss of passivation resulting from a high surface recombination velocity. This is reinforced by the PL images which show high intensity even after etching the metal. To probe this loss, we look into the fabrication process and find that during the deposition of the doped layer using a shadow mask, there is a lateral spread of the doped layer into the emitter region shaded by the mask, as can be visualized from the schematic in Fig. 4(a). To verify this, we have taken the optical image of the doped layer deposited on glass with a thickness of -50 nm as seen in Fig. 4(b), and a thickness profile of this leakage is shown in Fig. 4(c).

In the PECVD reactor, the precurs or gases enter the chamber through the showerhead below the substrate holder, and the plasma is generated in the gap between the two. Because of this geometry, the deposition is upwards on the substrate, which is covered using a shadow mask. The shadow mask is mechanically kept in contact with the wafer, and there is no additional force that holds the mask to the wafer. Since the shadow mask under the wafer is suspended by gravity, the open ends of the mask near the bushar are pulled in the downward direction resulting in a greater spread of the leakage near the bushar as seen in Fig. 4(b). To overcome this bottleneck, we even substituted the mechanical mask with a magnetic mask however, plasma leakage was observed at the edges of the patterned deposition by this method as well. The silicon wafers we use to fabricate cells are not mirror-polished and have a high surface roughness of the order of a few microns which results in a gap between the shadow mask and the substrate, for the plasma species to per colate. As we can see in the graphic illustrated in Fig. 4(a), the plasma

A Somen a al



Fig. 3. (a) Photohuminescence (PL) image of PMLP cell after metal etch that had an initial $W_{OC} = 739$ mV after i-layer deposition (b) Electroduminescence (EL) image of PMLP cell with a $V_{OC} = 400$ mV at an injection current of 160 mA/cm.².



Fig. 4. (a) Graphical illustration of plasma leakage through the edge of the shadow mask during the PECVD process (b) Optical micrograph of n-layer [a-Si:H(n)] deposited through n-fleger shadow mask on glass with noomed inset image of different regions of the flager showing the extend of plasma leakage. The brownish film is deposited through the openings in the shadow mask, the bottom part of the flager which is attached to the mask has more defined pattern (blue square) as against the top part, where the tip of the mask is free floating (red square). (c) Thickness profile of the patterned doped layer showing leakage superpositioned over the optical image of n-flager on silicon.

radicals seep under the edges of the mask between the gap due to the imperfect contact, leading to the spreading of the doped layer under the masked region, resulting in n-type contamination along the covered pstrip. To understand the spreading of the doped layer, we deposited the doped amorphous film through the same mask on a glass sample, as shown in Fig. 4(b). We can observe from the optical image that the spread of the film is wider towards the busbar whereas it tapers towards the bottom. Also, Hartenstein et al. has observed similars preading of the dopant radicals [33] while shadow masking due to the low sticking coefficient of the doped species on the growth surface. This phenomenon along with the leak due to the gap in the mask, giver ise to the spreading of the deposition along the edge of the films in Fig. 4(c).

In order to investigate if the origin of loss in $V_{\rm OC}$ of the device stems from plasmaleakage, we fabricated back junction (BJ) solar cells having p-type a-SEH emitter on the rear side of the wafer. Along with the reference BJ cell, we also fabricated test structures that had the n-finger pattern similar to the PMLP structure to mimic the rear side of PMLP IBC structures, as shown in Fig. 5(a). The intrinsic and doped layers used for this study have the same deposition conditions as our PMLP cells. We fabricated 2 batches of BJ test structures, one in which the cells underwent plasma leak etch (PLE) and the other had no PLE. For the PLE samples, etch was performed after the a-Si:H(n)/a-SiN_2:H finger deposition through the mask to remove the plasma leakage before the deposition of p-layer [a-Si:H(p)]. The PLE of BJ cells having n-finger leak of a-SiNx:H/n-layer [a-Si:H(n)] is done by dipping it in hydrofluoric acid (2% HF) to remove a SiNz: H leak followed by an approximately 5 min etch either in potassium hydroxide (45% KOH) or 25% TMAH to remove n-layer [a-SiH(n)] leakage. Additionally, a non-optimized BJ cell with the same condition having no rear pattern was fabricated for reference, as shown in Fig. 5(a). The reference cell has 10 nm i-layer on both sides followed by 30 nm n-layer at the front and 20 nm p-layer at the back. This is followed by 80 nm ITO layer by sputtering on the top as ARC. Then the cells are metalized with 50 nm Nickel with 3 µm Al grid at the front and 500 nm Al blanket layer at the rear. The front layer stack is kept the same between the reference RJ cell and RJ test structures with n-finger patterning described above. The schematic of the rear patterned BJ test structures and the reference cell can be seen in Fig. 5(a). The dark and light J-V characteristics of the different cells are given in Fig. 5(b). The J-V plot shows BJ cells having no PLE has the worst performance

A. Somon a al



Fig. 5. (a) Schematic of back junction (BJ) test structures with and without rear n-finger pattern (b) Dark and Light J-V characteristics of 3 different BJ cell structures – reference (green), with (blue) & without (red) plasma back etch (PLE).

with a V_{OC} of 253 mV. But after PLE the V_{OC} improves considerably to 592 mV. Though the V_{OC} shows improvement, nevertheless, the cell has poor performance due to the 'S-shaped curve' which originates in a Schottky rectifying barrier typical in HJ cells where the extraction of carriers is limited due to the barrier. As against this, the reference cell had a V_{OC} of 671 mV, which is close to the iV_{OC} of -700 mV for the cells after doped layers. This difference arises from the non-optimized conditions of the reference BJ cell, which can be clearly seen in the J-V characteristics. Nevertheless, the trend shows the severity of the effect of plasma leakage on the V_{OC} of the device and the overall performance in general.

To better understand the performance of these BJ test structures we have analyzed their EL imaging. In this experiment, the BJ reference cell has ap-blanket [a-Si:H(p)] layer at the back and an n-layer [a-Si:H(n)] at the front. Whereas the BJ test structures have rear n/SiN fingers by masked deposition with a blanket p-layer [a-Si:H(p)] over it, thus forming interdigitated p and n doped fingers at the rear similar to the PMLP IBC rear side. The reference BJ cell in Fig. 6(a) shows uniform and high EL emission image corresponding to high optical and electronic properties [41]. The EL emission in Fig. 6(a) shows no major localized regions where emission is lower due to high non-radiative recombination of minority carriers. Unlike the IBC device discussed in the previous section, the p-region in the BJ reference cell in Fig. 6(a) makes up the whole rear side: hence II, emission is uniform. In the all-back junction test structures in Fig. 6(b) and (c), minority hole carriers are injected through the back p strip and majority carriers are injected through the front metal grids into the front ITO and then into the base region of the device. The EL emission in Fig. 6(a) is measured under an injection current comparable to the J_{3C} of the device which indicates this device has better performance, compared to the PMLP IBC devices described in Fig. 3(b) which had poor performance. However, the EL of the BJ device with the a-SiN, :H/n-layer [a-Si:H(n)] strips without etching the plasma leakage (no PLE) in Fig. 6(b) shows significantly lower emissions than the reference IIJ device discussed previously in Fig. 6(a). Injection



Fig. 6. Electrohuminescence images of back junction solar cells along with their intensity histograms for (a) Reference with no rear pattern at 28 mA/cm² injection current (b) cell with no plauma leak etch (no PLE) at 400 mA/cm² injection current (c) cell with PLE of the rear pattern at 28 mA/cm² injection current. The red square shows the active area defined by the ITO on front. The grid pattern on front is also visible since it blocks E1 emission.

A. Soman et al

current of EL had to be increased by more than an order of magnitude to achieve an ELimage with high enough contrast to be compared to the EL of the reference device. The EL of the reference device in Fig. 6(a) is measured at 28 mA/cm2 (70 mA) which is comparable to its Jpc of 32.1 mA/cm2. Jac of the device in Fig. 6(b) without PLE is 23.6 mA/cm2. while its injection current was 400 mA/cm2 (1 A). Thus, we can infer that it takes -14 times more injection current for the BJ cell without PLE as compared to a reference BJ cell to get images of similar contrast. Also, the EL emission for the BJ cell without PLE is non-uniform as can be seen in Fig. 6(b). It is interesting to see the pattern of EL observed in Fig. 6(b) resembles the pattern seen in Fig. 4(b) thereby confirming that its the region of plasma leakage which acts as a region of low emission. It is important to note that the n-finger showing leakage pattern in Fig. 6(b) is flipped as compared to Fig. 4(b) thus it is the i/n region that has lower EL emission. The low EL emission indicates either a region of high recombination or a barrier to injection of minority carriers. Thus, it is plausible that the plasma leakage results in a barrier to injection causing Voc loss in the device. This barrier can cause the minority carriers injected into the back p-strip to not be able to recombine radiatively with the majority carriers in the bulk of the device. For the case where the plasma leakage has been etched in Fig. 6(c), EL shows a much more uniform emission as compared to no PLE with no reduced intensity. The possible barrier to minority carrier injection seems to have been significantly decreased by etching the leakage. Emission is mostly uniform and hence shows that the detrimental effect of plasma leakage is reversible to a considerable extent by etching. The EL emission after PLE is significantly increased as compared to no PLE. The EL in Fig. 6(c) is measured at an injection current of 28 mA/cm² that is comparable to the J_{2C} of the device and is the same current used to measure the reference BJ cell. The EL emission in Fig. 6(c) shows slight regions to the side where the etching might not have been uniform and the effective EL emission compared to that of the reference BJ cell is about -8%. We speculate that EL emission is not restored to initial values as the reference BJ cell due to the formation of a barrier between the a-Si:H p- and i-layers due to the remnant plasma leakage after etching which can be deduced from the S-shaped light J-V curve seen in Fig. 5(b). This barrier will hinder the injection of minority carriers and will result in a decreased EL emission compared to the reference cell emission. Both reference BJ and BJ with PLE devices show similar contrast for an injection current of 28 mA/cm² as against BJ without any PLE showing poor contrast even at an injection of 400 mA/cm2. This hints at the role of plasma leakage as a barrier to injection. Thus, the EL results are indicative of the fact that plasma leakage is detrimental to device performance which can be improved by etching the leakage.

The dark J-V analysis of the test structures discussed in Fig. 5 is presented in Table 2. It shows that for a BJ cell that has not undergone PLE has high series resistance (Rg) of 2.12 Ω cm² which decreases to 1.13 Ω cm² after PLE but does not reach as low as the reference cell having R_S of 0.89 Ω cm². We can also find that BJ cells without PLE have shunt paths due to the n-leakage extending into the p region resulting in R_{6h} of 0.18 k Ω cm² which is more than two orders of magnitude smaller than 20.8 k Ω cm² after PLE. However, R_{6h} of reference remains much higher at 140.5 k Ω cm² hinting at further scope of improvement to optimize the etching to remove any shunt effect. The recombination current (J₀) also shows considerable improvement after PLE, from 0.94 mA/cm² to 1.8 × 10⁶ mA/cm², further reinforcing the significance of removing plasma leak to obtain better device performance. Thus, the diode analysis along with the EL results high lights the deleterious effect

Table 2

| Dark 3-Y analysis (| a no sest sum coures. | | |
|---------------------|--------------------------------------|-----------------------|------------------------|
| Sample | R_s (Ω , cm ²) | $R_{sh}(\Omega cm^2)$ | $J_0 (mA/cm^2)$ |
| BJ with PLE | 1.13 | 20829 | 1.80 × 10 ⁿ |
| BJ w/o PLE | 2.12 | 189 | 0.94 |
| Reference BJ | 0.89 | 140490 | 2.27×10^{-6} |

of plasma leakage and supports our argument that eliminating processinduced plasma leak can significantly improve device performance by reducing resistive losses, injection barriers, and shunt paths.

3.3. Process optimization to mitigate the losses due to plasma leakage in the fabrication of HJ-IBC cell architectures

Though the plasma leak can be etched either by a dry or wet etching process, in this work, we have focused on wet etching methods. After understanding the effect of plasma leak removal in the test structures we fabricated a series of PMLP cells with and without plasma leak etch. This additional step of etching plasma leakage has been introduced between step 2 and step 3 shown in Fig. 1. In our initial trial of etching the leak, we used a mixture of 10% HF with Nitric acid (HNO3) in the ratio 1:100 as a single step etch. We avoided the KOH etch method used for our test structures to avoid metal ion contamination in the IBC cells. However, the HF + HNO3 mixture had a high etch rate limiting the etch time to -5 s making it difficult to have a controllable etch process. Moreover, the etch was non-uniform and resulted in major constraints to obtaining a reproducible etch profile. To overcome both of these limitations, we performed a 'triple etch' method as against a 'single etch'. After forming the n/SiN/i stack n-fingers through the masking step, we first etch the ilayer leak using a short 5% TMAH etch for 5 min, followed by a 2% HF etch for 150 s to remove the a-SiNx'H leak. This is followed by a longer 5% TMAH etch for 15 min which assists in the complete removal of the rear i-layer along with the n-layer [a-Si:H(n)] leak. Then a new i-layer is redeposited as a blanket layer to re-passivate the rear before depositing the blanket p layer in step 3. Since 5% TMAH has a slow etch rate, it helps in developing a controllable process for leak removal. From Fig. 7 it can be observed that the triple etch method results in a uniform etch profile and results in sharper edges of the n-finger. The light and dark J-V results of the fabricated PMLP cells are shown in Fig. 8. We can observe that even a single etch step introduced in the fabrication process can considerably improve the cell performance. The cell with no plasma leak etch has a Voc of 312 mV consistent with the unetched baseline cell in Fig. (2). The Voc improves to 537 mV after 'single etch' step despite having a non-uniform etch profile. With a more controllable and defined 'triple etch' method the device shows further improvement in Voc to 637 mV. The trend in the increase in Voc after the leak etch in Fig. 8 is in agreement with the improvement in Voc observed in BJ test structures after plasma leak etch thereby verifying the detrimental effect of process-induced leak and how its removal can significantly improve device performance.

The dark and light J-V curves of the cells from Fig. 8 were analyzed. The dV/dJ versus 1/J plot of the PMLP cells after etch in Fig. 9 shows a linear trend in the dark which is expected for a single diode. However, in the light we see a peak indicating that there is a barrier to hole collection which validates our hypothesis presented during the EL results. Such inflection attributed to block ing behavior in solar cells has been reported in detail elsewhere [31]. Also, the parameters extracted from the diode analysis in Table 3 show that the etch process helps in reducing the shunt paths in the IBC cells due to the plasma leak. The R_{dt} in the dark improves considerably from 0.49 kΩ cm2 for cells with no etch to 3.3 kΩ cm2 for single etch cells to 5.4 kΩ cm2 for triple etched cells. The etch also reduces the series resistance by reducing the resistive losses coming from the dielectric plasma leak in the current collection path. J₀ also considerably decreases due to etching the plasma leak, hinting at reduced recombination loss. Thus, we can see that plasma leak removal can improve the Voc of the devices by > 300 mV, though these devices need further optimization to improve the uniformity of etch either by dry etch methods or developing alternative masking methods to reduce Vocloss and obtain values close to the implied Voc of -700 mV after all the process. It is also interesting to note that the laser process for contact formation is a viable approach for the fabrication of HJ devices as the iVoc only decreased by <5 mV. In a subsequent paper, simulations have been performed of the band alignment to identify barriers and will A Soroan at al.



Fig.7. Optical image of n-finger consisting of n/SiN/i-layer stuck along with the magnified images of the finger showing the leak removal process during triple etch method (a) before etch (b) after 5% TMAH etch (c) After 5% TMAH + 2%HF + 5% TMAH triple etch. We can see the gradual progression of leak removal and sharper edges of the fingers after each step of the process along with a reduction in film thickness.



Fig. 8. Light and dark J-V characteristics of PMLP cells under no etch, single each and triple each.

present the results of applying these methods to improve the performance of actual IBC-HJ cells.

4. Conclusion

In summary, we have developed a novel non-lithographic process for heterojunction IBC architecture using in-situ shadow masking combined with laser ablation as a path towards a low-cost manufacturable process to replace lithography with an industrially-friendly process. Our initial results showed poor V_{OC} of < 400 mV. Investigation using a combination of minority carrier lifetime measurements, photoluminescence and electroluminescence revealed the loss in Voc does not come from the loss of passivation. To investigate the origin of this loss, we designed and fabricated back junction cells with the same rear architecture as our IBC cells. A detailed characterization of these devices revealed the loss originates in the plasma leakage during the shadow masking process while depositing the patterned doped layer by PECVD. The chemical etching of the leakage considerably improved the Vocas well as reduced



Fig. 9. Plot of the first derivative of voltage with respect to current density (dV/dJ) versus the inverse of current density (1/J) for both 'single etch' and 'triple etch' PMLP IBC cells in light and dark.

| Tat | le 3 | | | | | |
|-----|------------|--------|--------|--------|---------|-------------|
| J-V | analysis o | d PMLP | HJ-IBC | cel ls | in dark | conditi ons |

| Samples | R _{sh} (G.em ²) | R _s (St. em ²) | $J_0 (mA/cm^2)$ | |
|-------------------|--------------------------------------|---------------------------------------|-----------------------|--|
| PMLP(no etch) | 485 | 3.81 | 7.00×10^{2} | |
| PMLP(single etch) | 3344 | 2.48 | 5.13×10^{-6} | |
| PMLP(triple etch) | 5399 | 0.89 | 3.10×10^{-3} | |

shunt channels and resistive loss in the device. Using the insights from these results as a guideline, we fabricated HJIBC cells incorporating the plasma leak chemical etch step. We developed a controllable uniform etch method which significantly improved the Voc of the device by >300 mV from -300 to 637 mV. Thus, we showed the proof of concept of a novel manufacturable process which can be commercially viable wherein mitigating the process-induced losses can improve the device performance. We plan to further optimize this process to fabricate highefficiency heterojunction IBC solar cells having higher Voc in our future A. Soman et al.

work.

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Anishkum ar Som an: Writing - review & editing, Writing - original draft, Visualization, Validation, Methodology, Investigation, Formal analysis, Data curation, Conceptualization. Ujjwal K. Das: Writing review & editing, Conceptualization, Formal analysis, Funding acquisition, Methodology, Project administration, Supervision. Nuha Ahm ed: Data curation, Formal analysis. Arpan Sinha: Investigation, Validation, Writing - review & editing. Mool C. Gupta: Writing - review & editing, Conceptualization, Funding acquisition, Resources. Steven S. Hegedus: Supervision, Resources, Project administration, Methodology, Funding acquisition, Formal analysis, Conceptualization, Writing - review & editing.

Declaration of competing interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Data availability

Data will be made available on request.

Acknowledgement

This work was supported by the U.S. Department of Energy's Office of Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy (EERE) under Solar Energy Technologies Office (SETO) agreement Number DE-EE0007534. A.S. acknowledges support from the University of Delaware Graduate College Dissertation Fellowship. The authors would also like to thank Ugochukwu Nsofor for assistance in device fabrication and Jason Anderson for cell J-V testing,

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi. org/10.1016/j.mssp.2023.107762.

References

- Solar PV Analysis IEA, (n.d.). http://dxia.
- [2] N.M. Haegel, H. Atwater, T. Barnes, C. Beryer, A. Burrell, Y.M. Chiang, S. de Wolf, B. Dimmler, D. Feldman, S. Glunz, J.C. Goldschmidt, D. Hochschild, R. Inzunza, I. Kaizuka, B. Kroposki, S. Kartz, S. Leu, R. Margolis, K. Matsuhara, A. Metz, W. K. Metzger, M. Merjarin, S. Niki, S. Nowak, LM. Peters, S. Philipps, T. Reindl, A. Richter, D. Rose, K. Sakumi, R. Schlatmann, M. Shikano, W. Sinke, R. Sinton, B J. Stanbery, M. Topic, W. Turnas, Y. Ueda, J. van de Lagemant, P. Verlinden, M. Vetter, E. Warren, M. Werner, M. Yamaguchi, A.W. Bett, Tenawatt-scale photovoltaics transform global energy improving costs and scale reflect loaning opportunities, Science 364 (2019) (1979) 836–838, https://doi.org/10.1126/ PPLFILE/AAW1845-HAEGEL-SM.PD NCE, AAW1845/
- [3] Humans have installed 1 torowatt of solar capacity, generated over 1 petawatt of solar electricity in 2021 pv magazine USA, https://pv-magazine-usa.com/2022/ -of-solar-c acity-genera to-over-1-petawatt-of-03/14/hum
- [4] At 26.81% LONG sets a new world record efficiency for silicon solar cells LONG.
- [5] M.D. Lammert, R.J. Schwartz, The interdigitated back contact solar cell: a silicon solar cell for use in concentrated sunlight, IEEE Trans. Electron. Dev. 24 (1977) 337-342, https://doi.org/10.1109/T-ED.1977.18738.
- [6] M. Lu, S. Bowden, U. Das, R. Birkmire, Interdisitated back contact silico nction solar cell and the effect of front surface passivation, Appl. Phys. (2007), 63507, https://doi.org/10.1063/1.2768635. Lett. 91 (2007), 63507, h
- [7] J. Nakamura, N. Asano, T. Hieda, C. Okamoto, H. Katayama, K. Nakamura J. Nekamara, K. Asimo, L. Inkan, C. Osamino, R. Sarayama, K. Patamura, Development of hoteroplunction hack contact Si solar colls, IEEE J. Matowolnics 4 (2014) 1491-1495, https://doi.org/10.1104/JPHOTOV.2014.238337.
 S.N. Ganata, M. Aleman, T. Boarda, J. Govaerts, M. Brizzi, Y. Abdalinhoem, I. Gordon, J. Poortmans, R. Mertans, Hoterojunction interdigitated back-contact
- solar cells fabricated on wafer bonded to glass. IEEE J. Photovoltaics 4 (2014) 807-813, https://doi.org/10.1109/JPHOTOV.2014.2307170.

Materials Science in Semiconductor Processing 166 (2023) 107762

- [9] H. Takagishi, H. Noge, K. Saita, M. Kondo, Fabrication of interdigitated back contact silion heterojunction solar cells on a 53-µm-thick crystalline silicon substrate by using the optimized inkjet printing method for etching mask formation, Jpn. J. Appl. Phys. 56 (2017), 040308, https://doi.org/10.7567/ JJAP 56.040308/304L
- [10] A. Singh, B. Turan, S. Haas, A. Lambertz, K. Ding, U. Rau, Damage-free ablation process for back-contacted silicon heterojunction solar cells, J.Luser Micro Nanoeng 13 (2018) 314-323, https://doi.org/10.2961/JLMN.2018.03.0029. B. Tumn, K. Ding, S. Hans, A Concept for Lithography-free Patterning of Silicon
- Heterojunction Back-Contacted Solar Cells by Laser Processing, 2015, https://doi. 10.48550 iv.1506.02879.
- [12] D. Thibaut, D.V. Sylvain, S. Horent, D. Djicknoum, M. Delfina, G.F. Marie, K. Jean-Paul, R. Pierre-Jean, Development of interdigitated back contact allicon heterojunction (IBC Si-HJ) solar cells, Energy Proc. 8 (2011) 294–300, https://doi. 101016/JEGY980.2011.06139
- [13] Y.S. Kim, C. Mo, D.Y. Lee, S.C. Park, D. Kim, J. Nam, J.Y. Yang, D. Suh, H.J. Kim, H. Park, S.J. Park, D. Kim, J. Seng, H.S. Lee, S. Park, Y. Kang, Gapless point back surface field for the counter doping of large-area interdigitated hack contact solar cells using a blanket shadow mask implantation process, Prog. Photovoltaics Res. ie //da
- [14] H. Sivaramakrishnan Radhakrishnan, M.D.G. Uddin, M. Xu, J. Cho, M. Ghannam, L Gordon, J. Szlufak, J. Poortmans, A novel silicon heterojunction IBC process flow using partial etching of doped a-SiH to switch from hole contact to contact in situ with efficiencies close to 23, Prog. Photovoltaics Res. Appl. 27 (2019) 959-970, https://doi.org/10.1002/91
- [15] M. Xu, T. Bearda, M. Hasan, H.S. Radhakrishnan, I. Gordon, J. Szlufek, Poortmans, Selective deposition of a-Siff: a proof-of-concept study, in: 2018 IEEE 7th World Conference on Photovoltaic Energy Conversion, WCIEC 2018 - A Joint Conference of 45th IEEE PVSC, 28th PVSEC and 34th EU PVSEC, 2018, pp. 3148–3151, https://doi.org/10.1109/PVSC2018.8547827.
 [16] M. Xu, T. Bearda, M. Filipić, H.S. Radhakrishnan, I. Gordon, J. Sclufcik,
- Poortmans, Simple emitter patterning of silicon heterojunction interdigitated hack-contact solar cells using damage-free laser ablation, Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cell, 186 (2018) 78-83, htt reg/10.1016/J.SOLMAT.2018.0
- [17] J. He, S. Hegedus, U. Das, Z. Shu, M. Bennett, L. Zhang, R. Birkmire, Laser-fired contact for n-type crystalline Si solar cells, Prog. Photovoltaics Res. Appl. 23 (2015) 1091–1099, https://doi.org/10.1002/Phr.2520.
- [18] D. Lachenal, P. Papet, B. Legradic, R. Kramer, T. Kössler, L. Andreetta, N. Holm, W. Frammelsberger, D.L. Bretzner, B. Strahm, L.L. Senaud, J.W. Schüttauf, A. Descoeudres, G. Christmann, S. Nitolay, M. Despeisse, B. Paviet-Salomon, C. Ballif, Optimization of tunnel-junction IBC solar cells based on a series resistance model, Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cell. 200 (2019), 110036, https://doi.org/10.1016/
- [19] A. Tomasi, B. Paviet-Salamon, Q. Jeangros, J. Haschke, G. Christmann, L. Barraud, A. Descoudres, J. PeterSeif, S. Nicolay, M. Despeisse, S. De Wolf, C. Ballif, Simple processing of back-contacted silicon heterojunction solar cells using selective-area crystalline growth, Nat. Energy 2 (5) (2017) 1-8, https://doi.org/10.1038/
- [20] J. Wang, H. Lin, Z. Wang, W. Shen, J. Ye, P. Gao, Hard mask processing of 20% efficiency back-contacted allicon solar cells with dopart-free heterojunctions, Nano Energy 66 (2019), 104116, https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NANOEN.2019.104116.
- [21] H. Lin, J. Wang, Z. Wang, Z. Xu, P. Gao, W. Shen, Edge effect in silicon solar cells with dopant-free interdigitated hack-contacts, Nano Energy 74 (2020), 104893. si.org/10.1016/J.NANCEN.2020.104893
- [22] S. Harrison, O. Nos, G. D'Alonzo, C. Denis, A. Coll, D. Munoz, Back conta hsterojunction solar cells patterned by laser ablation, Energy Proc. 92 (2016) 730–737, https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EGYPRO.2016.07.051.
 M.B. Hatterstein, W. Nemeth, V. Lasabvia, S. Harwey, M. Page, D.L. Young.
- P. Stadins, S. Agarwal, Understanding and mitigating the contamination of intrinsic poly-Si gaps in passivated IBC solar cells, in: Conference Record of the IEEE Photovoltaic Specialists Conference, 2019, pp. 2207-2210, https://doi.o 09//PVSC40 201.03
- [24] S.Y. Hemsimenka, C.J. Tracy, W.J. Dauksher, C.B. Honsberg, S. Bowden, A simplified process flow for silicon heterojunction interdigitated back contact solar cells: using shadow masks and tunnel junctions, in: 2014 IEEE 40th Photovoltaic Specialist Conference, PVSC 2014, 2014, pp. 2486-2490, https://doi.org/10.1109/PVSC.2014.6925434.
- [25] U.J. Niofor, L. Zhang, A. Soman, C.M. Goodwin, H. Liu, K.D. Dobson, U.K. Das, T. P. Beebe, S. Hegedus, Analysis of silicon wafer surface preparation for heterojunction solar cells using X-my photoelectron spectroscopy and effective minority carrier lifetime, Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cell. 183 (2018) 205-210, 0.1016 SCIEMB. 018.03
- [26] B. Shu, U. Das, L. Chen, L. Zhang, S. Hegedus, R. Birkmine, Design of anti-reflection coating for surface textured interdigitated back contact silicon hetero-junction solar cell, in: Conference Record of the IEEE Photovoltaic Specialists Conference, 2012, pp. 2258-2262, https://doi.org/10.1109/WSC.2012.6318047.
- [27] A. Soman, U. Nsofor, U. Das, T. Gu, S. Hegedus, Correlation between in situ diagnostics of the hydrogen plasma and the interface possivation quality of hydrogen plasma post-treated a SEH in silicon heterojunction solar cells, ACS Mater. Interfaces 11 (17) (2019) 16181–16190, https://doi.org/10.1021/ cells, ACS Appl
- [28] A. Soman, U. Das, S. Hegedus, Interface engineering by intermediate hydroge planma traatment using dc-PECVD for silicon heterojunction solar cells, ACS Appl Electron Mater 5 (2) (2023) 803–811, https://doi.org/10.1021/neurolm.2c01336, [29] A. Sinha, A. Soman, U. Das, S. Hogedas, M.C. Gapta, Nanosecond pulsed laser
- patterning of interdigitated hack contact heterojunction silicon solar cells, IEEE J.

9

A. Soman at al.

Materials Science in Saniconductor Processing 166 (2023) 107762

Photovoltaics 10 (2020) 1648-1656, https://doi.org/10.1109/

- (30) A. Sonka, A. Sonwa, U. Das, S. S. Hogedus, M.C. Gupta, Interdigitated Back Contact (BC) Hoteonjunction (HJ) Si Solar Coll Fabrication by Laser Patterning, in: Conference Record of the IEEE Photovoltaic Specialists Conference, 2020, and 100, 2006. https://doi.org/10.1000/00007021.2020.00000707.
- pp. 502–505, https://doi.org/10.1109/PVSC45281.2020.9300867.
 [31] S.S. Hogedus, W.N. Shufarman, Thin-film solar cellic device measurements and analysis, Prog. Photovoltaics Res. Appl. 12 (2004) 155–176, https://doi.org/ 10.1002/PW3518.
- [32] H.S. Radhalerishnan, T. Benedra, M. Xu, S.K. Jonnak, S. Malik, M. Hawan, V. Depnow, M. Filipic, K. van Nieswenhuysen, Y. Adulanheam, M. Debacquoy, I. Gordon, J. Solafek, J. Proetman, Module-level cell processing of silicon heterojanction interdigitated back-contacted (SHO-BC) solar cells with efficiencies above 225% towards a B-dey processing, in: Conference Record of the IEEE Photovoltaic Specialists Conference. 2016-November, 2016, pp. 1182–1187, https://doi.org/ 10.1103/PMSC.2016.5774(980).
- [33] M.B. Hasternstein, W. Norneth, V. Lasalvia, S. Harvey, H. Guthroy, S. Theingi, M. Page, D.L. Yoang, P. Stradins, S. Agaawal, holoting p- and n-doped fingers with intrinsic poly-8i in possivated intendigitated back contact silicon solar cells, IEEE J. Photovoltaics 10 (2020) 1574–1581, https://doi.org/10.1109/ JMH0707.2020.3021.668.
- [34] S. De Wolf, M. Kondo, Boron-doped a -Si:H/e-Si interface passivation: degradation mechanism, Appl. Phys. Lett. 94 (2007), 112109, https://doi.org/10.1063/ 1.2783972.

- [35] Z. Shu, U. Das, J. Allen, R. Birkmire, S. Hogedus, Experimental and simulated analysis of front versus all-back-contact silicon heterojunction solar cells: effect of interface and doped a Silid layer defects, Prog. Photovoltaics Res. Appl. 23 (2015) 78–03, https://doi.org/10.1002/spi.2400.
- [36] A.H.T. Le, V.A. Buo, D.P. Phane, S. Kim, S. Durta, C.P. Thi Nguyen, Y. Lee, Y. Kim, J. Yi, Damage to passivation contact in silicon heterojunction solar colls by IDO spottering under various plasma excitation modes, Sol. Europy Mater. Sol. Cell. 192 (2019) 36–43, https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SOLMAT.2018.12.001.
- [37] B.J. Osullivan, T. Boarda, S. Nadupalli, R. Labio, K. Baert, I. Gordon, J. Poortmans, Process-induced degradation of SiO2 and a SciP passivation layers for photovoltaic applications, IEEE J. Photovoltaics 4 (2014) 1197–1203, https://doi.org/10.1109/ JBHOTOV.2014.2326711.
- [38] P. Würfel, T. Tsuplee, T. Puzzeer, E. Schaffler, W. Warta, S.W. Glunz, Diffusion long-the of silicon solar colls from huminecence images, J. Appl. Phys. 101 (2007), 12311 (0, https://doi.org/10.1063/1.2390201.
- [39] C. Roichel, P. Granek, M. Hermin, S.W. Glunz, Investigation of electrical shading effects in back-contacted back-junction silicon solar colls using the twodimensional charge collection probability and the neciprocity theorem, J. Appl. Phys. 109 (2011), 024807, https://doi.org/10.1063/1.3524806.
- [40] P. Wagnari, A. Cru, J.C. Shang, L. Korto, Low-neutration bale constant stacks for inter-diginated reas-constact silicon het enzinction solar cells, IEEE J. Photovolinics 11 (2021) 9141–925, https://doi.org/10.1109/JMHOTOV.2021.3074031.
- (2021) 914–925, https://doi.org/10.1109/JPHOTOV.2021.3074031.
 U. Rau, Raciprocity relation between photovoltaic quantum efficiency and electrolumine scent emission of solar cells, Phys. Rev. B Condens. Matter 76 (2007), 085303, https://doi.org/10.1103/PHTS1809.876.085303/PEGUR05// MEDUUM.